Intervention to enhance adherence to mandibular advancement appliance in patients with obstructive sleep apnoea: a randomised clinical trial

Harishri Tallamraju

A thesis submitted for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

Institute of Dentistry Bart's and the London School of Medicine & Dentistry Queen Mary, University of London

#### STATEMENT OF ORIGINALITY

I, Harishri Tallamraju, confirm that the research included within this thesis is my own work or that where it has been carried out in collaboration with, or supported by others, that this is duly acknowledged below, and my contribution indicated. Previously published material is also acknowledged below.

I attest that I have exercised reasonable care to ensure that the work is original and does not to the best of my knowledge break any UK law, infringe any third party's copyright or other Intellectual Property Right or contain any confidential material. I accept that the College has the right to use plagiarism detection software to check the electronic version of the thesis.

I confirm that this thesis has not been previously submitted for the award of a degree by this or any other university. The copyright of this thesis rests with the author and no quotation from it or information derived from it may be published without the prior written consent of the author.

Signed

Date: 29/07/2022

## Abstract

#### Aims:

To systematically review the factors influencing adherence to mandibular advancement appliances (MAA) in adults with obstructive sleep apnoea (OSA) and the potential effectiveness of interventions to promote improved adherence.

To assess the effectiveness of a stage-matched intervention on adherence to MAA in participants with OSA.

To qualitatively explore and understand adherent and non-adherent patients' experiences.

#### Methods:

A systematic review and meta-analysis were performed.

A randomised parallel-arm, Hospital-based, clinical trial was undertaken at the Royal London Dental Hospital, UK. Fifty-six participants (Adults 18 years or over) with newly diagnosed OSA were enrolled in the study and randomised to intervention care (IC) and standardized care (SC) groups. Participants in the SC group received routine care whilst participants in the IC group received the stage-matched intervention, developed using the behaviour change model, the Health action process approach (HAPA). Data indicating MAA adherence was collected both objectively and subjectively, from micro-sensors embedded in the MAA design and sleep diaries, respectively at 3- and 6-months. In addition, a range of questionnaires designed to assess risk perception, outcome expectancy, and self-efficacy (SEMSA) and quality of sleep and life, socio-economic and social support scales were used.

One-to-one interviews were conducted to identify patients' perceptions concerning adherence and non-adherence. The Behaviour change taxonomy by Crane et al. was applied as a coding framework to identify behaviour change techniques influencing adherence.

#### **Results:**

The review observed a weak relationship between objective adherence and patient and disease characteristics such as age, sex, obesity, AHI, and daytime sleepiness. Non-adherent patients reported more side effects than users and tended to discontinue treatment within the first 3 months. Increased patient adherence was identified with custom-made MAA in comparison to ready-made MAA. The review identified limited evidence concerning the influence of psychological and social factors on MAA adherence. Given that majority of the studies relied upon patient-reported adherence, the review observed a considerable lack of objective adherence monitoring.

The mean objective adherence for 30 participants at 3-month (IC = 15, SC = 15) was 2.02 (SD = 2.68) vs 2.63 (SD = 2.57) hours/night in the IC and SC group respectively. Whilst the mean objective adherence for 25 participants at 6-month (IC = 10, SC = 15) was 2.42 (SD = 2.59) vs 3.21 (SD = 3.37) hours/night for IC and SC groups respectively. No correlation was seen between ESS (p = 0.24), PSQI (p = 0.96), social support (p = 0.52), socio-economic position (p = 0.96) and mean adherence. However, linear regression for adherence presented a positive coefficient for risk perception (p = 0.035) (r<sup>2</sup> = 0.16) and outcome expectancy (p = 0.003) (r<sup>2</sup> = 0.28).

The behaviour change techniques that were observed to have a positive influence on adherence were reward and threat, repetition and substitution, antecedents, associations, natural consequences, feedback and monitoring, social support and comparison of outcomes. Whilst a negative influence on adherence was observed with antecedents.

#### Conclusion:

Further research would be beneficial to describe the determinants of adherence, such as risk perception, self-efficacy, and outcome expectancy and to facilitate patient education and development of tailor-made interventions to enhance adherence to MAA. Similarly, the lack of objective adherence monitoring necessitates the need for future studies that assess adherence objectively.

The analysis to-date demonstrates the stage-matched intervention does not enhance adherence to MAA. Notwithstanding this, adherence might be dependent on predictors such as risk perception and outcome expectancy.

A varied range of behaviour change techniques was observed in the current study that aided participants in the initiation, enactment and maintenance of the behaviour. Further research is needed to better understand the application of these techniques in a clinical setting to enhance MAA adherence.

**Limitation**: The clinical trial was severely impacted due to the COVID-19 Pandemic as eight months of recruitment and data collection time was lost. Hence, a limited data quantity of data was available for analysis.

## Table of Contents

Abstract
Table of Contents
List of Tables9
List of Figures
List of Appendices
List of Abbreviations
Acknowledgements
Impact of COVID-1915
Chapter 1. Introduction
Chapter 2. A review of obstructive sleep apnoea causes, consequences and treatment 18
2.1. Definitions
2.2. Prevalence
2.3. Pathogenesis
2.4. Clinical Symptoms
2.5. Medical complications
2.5. Diagnosis
2.6. Treatment
2.7. Adherence
2.8. MAA Adherence54
2.10. Conclusion
Chapter 3. A systematic review and meta-analysis of factors influencing adherence to oral appliance therapy in adults with obstructive sleep apnoea
3.1. Introduction
3.2. Objectives
3.3. Materials and methods59
3.4. Data collection and management61
3.5. Results
3.5. Discussion
3.6. Conclusion
Chapter 4. Intervention to enhance adherence to mandibular advancement appliance in patients with obstructive sleep apnoea: a randomised clinical trial

4.1. Introduction	100
4.2. Objectives	106
4.3. Methodology	107
4.4. Results	109
4.5. Discussion	120
4.6. Conclusion	128
Chapter 5. Behaviour change techniques to enhance adherence to Mandibular adv appliance in Patients with Obstructive Sleep Apnoea: A Qualitative study	/ancement 129
5.1. Introduction	129
5.2. Hypothesis	130
5.3. Aim	130
5.4. Methodology	130
5.8. Results	133
5.8. Discussion	
5.9. Conclusion	
Chapter 6. Overall conclusions and future recommendations	144
References:	146
Appendices	170
Appendix 1 Epworth sleepiness scale	170
Appendix 2 Published systematic review	171
Appendix 3 Ethical approval	
Appendix 4 Published protocol of the randomised clinical trial	
Appendix 5 Participant information leaflet for the randomised clinical trial	
Appendix 6 Consent from for the randomised clinical trial	
Appendix 7 Sleep diary	
Appendix 8 Self-efficacy measure for sleep apnoea questionnaire	211
Appendix 9 Pittsburgh sleep quality index questionnaire	
Appendix 10 EuroQol – 5 Dimension questionnaire	
Appendix 11 Socio-economic position questionnaire	
Appendix 12 Social support questionnaire	
Appendix 13 Health pamphlet	
Appendix 14 Pre-screening questionnaire	
Appendix 15 Participant information leaflet for the qualitative study	

Appendix 16 Consent from for the qualitative study	235
Appendix 17 Topic guide	

## List of Tables

- Table 3.1 Search Strategy (MEDLINE OVID)
- Table 3.2
   Characteristics and principal outcomes of the included studies.
- Table 3.3 Excluded studies along with the reason for exclusion
- Table 3.4
   Categorisation of studies based on the influencing factor
- Table 3.5Risk of bias assessment for RCTs using Cochrane risk of bias tool
- Table 3.6Risk of bias tool for observational studies using the QUIPS tool
- Table 3.7
   Factors of influence on MAA adherence
- Table 4.1Schedule of assessment
- Table 4.2Intervention care content specified by behaviour change techniques and<br/>linked to constructs of the HAPA model
- Table 4.3
   Intervention and standardised care components
- Table 4.4
   Clinical and demographical characteristics
- Table 4.5Difference in adherence i.e. (hours/night) between the groups at 3- (T2) and<br/>6- (T3) months
- Table 4.6Linear regression scores for adherence at 3- months (T2) by adherence at 6-<br/>months (T3) and mean adherence by risk perception, outcome expectancy<br/>and self-efficacy representing the mean of Likert scores 1 to 4. Higher scores<br/>indicate greater perceived susceptibility, higher outcome expectancy and<br/>greater perceived self-efficacy
- Table 4.7Scores for risk perception, outcome expectancy and self-efficacy at baseline<br/>(T0), 3- (T2) and 6- (T3) months representing the mean of Likert scores 1 to 4.<br/>Higher scores indicate greater perceived susceptibility, higher outcome<br/>expectancy and greater perceived self-efficacy
- Table 4.8Scores of risk perception, outcome expectancy and self-efficacy over time by<br/>treatment groups representing the mean of Likert scores 1 to 4. Higher scores<br/>indicate greater perceived susceptibility, higher outcome expectancy and<br/>greater perceived self-efficacy.
- Table 4.9Scores for risk perception, outcome expectancy and self-efficacy over time<br/>representing the mean of Likert scores 1 to 4. Higher scores indicate greater<br/>perceived susceptibility, higher outcome expectancy and greater perceived<br/>self-efficacy
- Table 5.1 The sampling matrix table
- Table 5.2Behaviour change techniques (BCTs) identified in the interviews.
- Table 5.3Excerpts from the interview drawing upon the specific behaviour change<br/>techniques

## List of Figures

- Figure 2.1 Generic diagram of Health Action Process Approach (HAPA)
- Figure 3.1 A PRISMA flow diagram shows the number of articles identified at each stage of the search.
- Figure 3.2 Forest plot of patient reported adherence for custom-made MAA and ready- made MAA.
- Figure 4.1 Mandibular advancement appliance (MAA), with attached micro sensor and adjustment key.
- Figure 4.2 Study schematic diagram
- Figure 4.3 Consort flow

## List of Appendices

- Appendix 1 Epworth sleepiness scale
- Appendix 2 Published systematic review
- Appendix 3 Ethical approval
- Appendix 4 Published protocol of the randomised clinical trial
- Appendix 5 Participant information leaflet for the randomised clinical trial
- Appendix 6 Consent form for randomised clinical trial
- Appendix 7 Sleep diary
- Appendix 8 Self-efficacy measure for sleep apnoea questionnaire
- Appendix 9 Pittsburgh sleep quality index questionnaire
- Appendix 10 EuroQol 5 Dimension questionnaire
- Appendix 11 Socio-economic position questionnaire
- Appendix 12 Social support questionnaire
- Appendix 13 Health pamphlet
- Appendix 14 Pre-screening questionnaire
- Appendix 15 Participant information leaflet for qualitative study
- Appendix 16 Consent form for qualitative study
- Appendix 17 Topic guide

## List of Abbreviations

AHI	Apnoea/Hypopnoea index
BCTs	Behaviour change techniques
BMI	Body mass index
CI	Confidence interval
CPAP	Continuous positive airway pressure
ESS	Epworth sleepiness scale
EDS	Excessive daytime sleepiness
EQ-5D	EuroQol-5 Dimension
HAPA	Health action process approach
IC	Intervention care
MAA	Mandibular advancement appliance
NC	Neck circumference
NREM	Non-rapid eye movement
NS-SEC	National Statistics Socio-economic Classification
OSA	Obstructive sleep apnoea
PSQI	Pittsburgh sleep quality index
QUIPS	Quality in prognosis studies
REM	Rapid-eye movement
SEMSA	Self-efficacy measure for sleep apnoea
SDB	Sleep disordered breathing
SSQ	Social support questionnaire
SC	Standardized care
S.E.	Standard error
SD	Standard deviation
ТО	Baseline
T1	Fit appointment
T2	3-month follow-up observation
Т3	6-month follow-up observation
TMD	Temporomandibular disorder

## Acknowledgements

I want to acknowledge the following people without whose help this thesis would not have come to fruition:

Professor Ama Johal, for his excellent supervision, guidance, expertise, knowledge and endless words of encouragement.

Professor Padhraig Fleming and Professor Tim Newton, for their time and expert advice.

Ron Horne, for all the statistical support.

Sutinder Saroi, Siri Hopper, and the whole nursing staff for all their support in the clinics.

Ashwaq Alkahtani, for her fantastic company along this journey and endless conversations on all those late work nights.

Hawra'a, Ken, Roy and Tom, for always keeping the enthusiasm up in office 2.

My family in the UK for being my home away from home.

Lastly, I would like to dedicate this work to my loving parents, Srinivas and Seema, from whom I inherited the passion for learning and my affectionate brothers, Rakesh and Sai Chandra, for always looking out for me.

Some realize the Self within them through the practice of meditation, some by the path of wisdom, and others by selfless service. Others may not know these paths but hearing and following the instructions of an illumined teacher, they too go beyond death.

- Bhagavad Gita

## Impact of COVID-19

The present study was significantly adversely affected due to the COVID-19 pandemic. The global scale lockdown set the recruitment and data collection eight months behind, and recruitment was stopped once fifty-six participants were enrolled into the study. In-turn, this had an impact on the data that was available for analysis as only 30 and 25 participants completed the 3- and 6-month treatment follow-up period.

Furthermore, participants withdrew, discontinued and were lost to follow-up, as they felt no longer safe to commute to the hospital environment, even after the restrictions were made more lenient.

Therefore, it would be much appreciated if the above were considered whilst interpreting the results of the current study.

## Chapter 1. Introduction

Obstructive sleep apnoea (OSA) is a sleep-related breathing disorder characterised by the repeated episodic collapse of the upper airway during sleep, with accompanying apnoeas and hypopnoeas, resulting in sleep deprivation amongst the many associated co-morbidities (Banno and Kryger, 2007).

Based on the severity of OSA, there are two primary treatment modalities: continuous positive airway pressure (CPAP) and mandibular advancement appliance (MAA) therapy (Network, 2003, McDaid et al., 2009). CPAP is prescribed to those suffering from moderate to severe OSA. According to the recent NICE guideline, MAA therapy is prescribed as a non-surgical treatment for mild to moderate OSA and is the second line treatment of choice for patients who remain intolerant or refuse CPAP therapy (NICE, 2021).

MAA act to enlarge the cross-sectional upper airway dimension by anterior displacement of the mandible and the attached tongue, resulting in improved upper airway patency (Tsuiki et al., 2004, Ng et al., 2005, Clark et al., 1993).

Studies evaluating MAA adherence have observed variable adherence in relation to MAA use and a gradual decline over time (Hui et al., 2000, Saglam-Aydinatay and Taner, 2018). The removable nature of MAA renders it highly patient dependant and adherence to treatment is crucial for its effectiveness (Dieltjens and Vanderveken, 2019). However, there is a lack of evidence concerning the factors influencing adherence remains (Pahkala and Suominen, 2021) and minimal research has been undertaken in relation to methods to enhance adherence to MAA therapy (Liu et al., 2022). The current NICE (2021) guidelines have identified this shortfall and emphasises the need for further research in relation to optimising adherence to MAA therapy. In addition, no qualitative evaluation has been conducted to-date, in relation to the factors associated with MAA adherence.

Thus, the current research aims to bridge the above gaps in the literature in the following ways:

I. Identify the factors influencing adherence to MAA therapy

- II. Evaluate the effectiveness of stage-matched intervention in enhancing adherence to MAA treatment
- III. Conduct a qualitative assessment of the factors influencing adherence to mandibular advancement appliance.

# Chapter 2. A review of obstructive sleep apnoea causes, consequences and treatment

### 2.1. Definitions

**Sleep-disordered breathing (SDB)** comprises a pathophysiologic spectrum of sleep-related breathing abnormalities, ranging from snoring to the more severe obstructive sleep apnoea-hypopnoea.

**Obstructive sleep apnoea (OSA)** is characterized by repetitive episodes of upper airway obstruction that occur during sleep, usually associated with a reduction in blood oxygen saturation.

**Habitual snoring (non-apnoeic snoring)** is a condition of regular snoring during sleep that does not cause the consequence of excessive daytime sleepiness (EDS). It results from an insufficient increase in upper airway resistance during sleep, with excessive vibration of upper airway tissues resulting in a loud audible snoring (Lévy et al., 1996).

**Sleep Apnoea** is defined as a reduction in airflow greater than  $\ge$  90 per cent of baseline for  $\ge$  10 seconds. There are three different types of sleep apnoea: central, characterised by the absence of respiratory effort; obstructive, presented as continued respiratory effort against an obstructed upper airway and mixed, which initiates with a central apnoea and accompanied with one or more obstructed breaths (Berry et al., 2012).

**Hypopnoea** in adults has been defined as a reduction in airflow below 50 per cent for 10 seconds or longer associated with a reduction in oxygen saturation  $\geq$  3 per cent from baseline prior to the event or appearance of an arousal. Alternatively, it can be defined as a respiratory event that characterised by a reduction in airflow  $\geq$  30 per cent from baseline for  $\geq$  10 seconds and reduction in saturation at least  $\geq$  4 per cent from baseline SpO2 per cent prior to the event (Iber, 2007).

**Apnoea-hypopnoea index** (AHI) is defined as the number of apnoeas and hypopnoeas occurring per hour of sleep and thus gives an indication of the severity of OSA. The AHI has

been classified into the following severity grades (FORCE, 1999) mild (AHI of 5-15 events per hour), moderate (AHI of 16-30 events per hour) and severe (AHI greater than 30 events per hour).

#### 2.2. Prevalence

OSA is emerging as a major health problem, particularly in high-income countries. Its high disease burden is related to both, the health care costs attributable to OSA and to its contribution as an independent risk factor for cardiovascular, metabolic, and psychiatric disorders such as hypertension, stroke, diabetes, and depression (Park et al., 2011) which are global health priorities.

One early study on the prevalence of snoring and OSA estimated that 40% and 3.8% of the UK population reported snoring and breathing pauses during sleep, respectively (Ohayon et al., 1997). The study also went on to report that 1.9% of the population suffered from OSA syndrome according to the International Classification of Sleep Disorders (1990). However, the last 20 years has observed a significant increase in the rates of sleep apnoea and obesity (Lechner et al., 2019), with the association between OSA and obesity theorised to be directly proportional (Ryan et al., 2014). Similarly, a recent systematic review confirms that with advancing age, males and a high body-mass index, increase OSA prevalence (Senaratna et al., 2017).

Recent, global estimates demonstrate that the number of people with moderate to severe OSA, for which treatment is recommended, is 425 million (Benjafield et al., 2019). Moreover, the prevalence at  $\geq$ 5 events/h AHI, in the elderly population is strikingly high; and reported 88 per cent in men aged 65-69 years (Lee et al., 2014) and 90 per cent in men aged 60-85 years (Heinzer et al., 2015). The corresponding figures in women being 66 per cent (Lee et al., 2014) and 78 per cent (Heinzer et al., 2015). Even at the clinically important level ( $\geq$  15 AHI), the prevalence in the overall adult population ranged from 6 (Reddy et al., 2009) to 17 per cent (Tufik et al., 2010), whereas in the advanced age groups this was as high as 49 per cent (Heinzer et al., 2015). Although these studies have different designs, ethnic groups and defined cut-off values for OSA, the overall prevalence rate reported remains approximately similar (Senaratna et al., 2017).

Nevertheless, methodological heterogeneity in sampling methods, diagnostic criteria and methods used to measure airflow can preclude epidemiological studies in estimating a global prevalence of OSA (Senaratna et al., 2017, Benjafield et al., 2019). Heizner et al demonstrated that AHIs is analysed differently between AASM 1999 and AASM 2007 or AASM 2012, even within the same age- and sex- specific subgroups (Heinzer et al., 2015). Furthermore, risk factors of OSA such as obesity and population ageing can pose as confounders in studies reporting prevalence from different timeframes. Hence, it is important to consider OSA as having a continuum in the general population and to generate a consensus on methodology and diagnostic threshold to define OSA so that the prevalence can be validly compared across regions and countries and within age-/sex-specific subgroups (Senaratna et al., 2017).

#### 2.3. Pathogenesis

During wakefulness, the airway is patent and held open by the high activity of the numerous upper airway dilator muscles, but after the onset of sleep, when the muscle loses its tone, the airways of vulnerable patients collapses (Mezzanotte et al., 1992, Malhotra and Loscalzo, 2009). Although this is characteristic of obstructive sleep apnoea, several factors are attributed to the narrowing of the upper airway.

#### 2.3.1. Anatomical Factors

#### 2.3.1.1. Narrowing of the upper airway

Anatomically, the upper airway is composed of the nasal cavity and the pharynx. The pharynx is a potentially collapsible tube lined by mucosa and supported by connective tissue, the constrictor muscles and the cervical spine posteriorly. Airflow within the pharynx is directly proportional to the pressure difference across the pharynx and its radius (to the power of four) and, it is inversely proportional to the length of the pharynx (Dempsey et al., 2010). Imaging of the pharyngeal airway has consistently showed that individuals with OSA have a narrower pharyngeal airway in comparison to their non-OSA counterparts (Whyte and Boeddinghaus, 2020).

Obesity leads to excess fat deposition and increased volume of the soft tissues surrounding the upper airway and is therefore, a major cause of the upper airway narrowing. Accumulation of adipose tissue surrounding the neck and the pharyngeal muscles directly reduces the pharyngeal airspace (Hamilton and Joosten, 2017). Studies have also observed that central adiposity is also attributed to OSA, as fat around the abdomen leads to a reduction in lung volume. Given, that men are more likely to accumulate fat around the neck muscles, OSA is more prevalent in men as compared to women (Vos et al., 2010, Whyte and Gibson, 2018).

The pharyngeal dilator muscles insert into soft tissues forming the margin of the pharynx and attach to other soft-tissue structures, cartilage (the Eustachian tube), the skull base and several bones of the surrounding maxillofacial skeleton, including the palate, mandible, hyoid bone and styloid process. Consequently, these craniofacial structures encompassing the

upper airway also influence the cross-sectional area of the pharyngeal airway (Susarla et al., 2010). A deficient maxillofacial system contributes to oropharyngeal crowding as observed in the Asian population. Whilst obesity is seen as major cause of OSA in the Caucasian population (Lam et al., 2007). Furthermore, recent investigations have also indicated that the stiffness of the tongue is lower in individuals diagnosed with OSA (Eckert, 2018).

#### 2.3.1.2. Elongation of the upper airway

An anatomically elongated upper airway is common in individuals diagnosed with OSA (Whyte and Gibson, 2018). The airflow within the pharynx is inversely proportional to the length of the pharynx. Studies have observed that the inferior displacement of the hyoid results in elongation and narrowing of the pharynx. This is mainly associated with the posterior and inferior prolapse of an enlarged and flaccid tongue. Consequently, this is yet another factor accounting for higher incidence of OSA in men, as men have longer upper airways compared to women (Eggensperger et al., 2005, Eckert and Malhotra, 2008, Whyte and Gibson, 2020).

#### 2.3.1.3. Upper airway collapsibility during sleep

The collapsibility of the upper airway is quantified using the pharyngeal critical closing pressure technique (Pcrit) (Carberry et al., 2016). Pharyngeal Pcrit is the pressure at which the airway can no longer remain patent and collapses. The collapsibility behaviour of the pharyngeal air way can be explained using the Starling resistor model. Knowlton and Starling devised a model for collapsible tube behaviour of most of the biologic systems, such as the vascular system, respiratory system, as well as the pharyngeal airway. The modalities of the starling resistor model can be summarised in the following statements:

 When the inflow pressure is greater than the outflow pressure, and the outflow pressure is greater than the surrounding pressure, the flow is proportional to the difference between the inflow and the outflow pressure, independent of the surrounding pressure.

- When the inflow pressure is greater than the surrounding pressure, and the surrounding pressure is greater than the outflow pressure, the flow is proportional to the difference between the inflow pressure and the surrounding pressure, independent of the changes in the outflow pressure.
- When the surrounding pressure is greater than the inflow pressure, there will be no flow throughout the tube.

Furthermore, in a Starling resistor the pressure gradient that drives the flow and the maximum flow is fixed. Any increase in the surrounding pressure higher than the internal pressure within the tube, results in the collapse of the pharynx. At the moment of collapse, right before the surrounding pressure rises to a level above the pressure inside the tube and causes its collapse, the pressure within the tube is equal to the surrounding pressure. The pressure at this specific moment is known as the Pcrit of that segment. During wakefulness, the upper airway is patent by increased drive to the dilator muscles, especially genioglossus. However, during sleep, specifically during the rapid eye movement phase, there is maximum reduction in the tone of genioglossus. In patients with OSA, this leads to severe circumferential narrowing of the oropharynx and contributes to increased collapsibility (Kazemeini et al., 2022). The more negative the pressure is, compared to the atmospheric pressure, less effort is needed to open the airway. Therefore, the lower the Pcrit is, the less collapsible the upper airway is. Therefore, normal or "good" upper airway anatomy prevents collapse such that suction pressures below -5cmH<sub>2</sub>O are required to close the airway. These individuals are anatomically protected from OSA. On average, people with OSA have a higher Pcrit than people without OSA (-5 to > +5 cmH2O). Furthermore, OSA severity, measured by the AHI, is directly proportional to the Pcrit; however, there is considerable variance in the AHI for a given level of anatomical predisposition. Thus, upper airway patency during sleep is also dependent on several non- anatomical factors for many individuals (Eckert and Malhotra, 2008).

#### 2.3.2. Non-anatomical factors

#### 2.3.2.1. Impaired function of the pharyngeal dilator muscles

The pharyngeal dilator muscles, such as the genioglossus and tensor palatini, receive complex patterns of neural drive. The neural drives in turn are received from pattern generator neurons in the brainstem, reflex input from pressure sensitive mechanoreceptors in the upper airway and chemical drive via increases in CO<sub>2</sub> and hypoxia. This summation of various drives results in the constant level of activation i.e. tonic activity during quite breathing (Edwards and White, 2011). Both, genioglossus and tensor palatini have a similar short-latency reflex excitation to oppose the collapsing forces when larger brief suction pressures are applied to the upper airway during wakefulness. Consequently, neural drive to genioglossus and tensor palatini is strongly influenced by the sleep-wake system (Eckert et al., 2007). However, the mechanisms responsible are not as simple as a loss of reflex excitation during sleep as initially suspected. Lack of upper airway resistance progressively decreases genioglossus muscle activity from slow wave sleep, to N2 and REM (Rapid eye movement) sleep. In contrast to this, tensor palatini activity markedly decreases during sleep onset, however, remains consistent across the different sleep stages. However, these sleep-dependant changes in the upper airway reflex and neural control only partly attribute to OSA (Cori et al., 2018).

Muscle effectiveness is the ability of the muscle to translate the neural drive received by the upper airway muscles into airway dilation to increase airflow (Eckert and Malhotra, 2008). The pharyngeal muscles are capable of increasing their activity when challenged with respiratory stimuli during sleep. This concept is known as muscle responsiveness (Loewen et al., 2011). In individuals with OSA, there is failure of the pharyngeal muscles to respond appropriately from neural drive perspective. A lack of muscle responsiveness alone, in the absence of impaired upper airway anatomy, does not lead to OSA (Dempsey et al., 2010). This poor muscle responsiveness during sleep, in combination with impaired upper airway anatomy is likely to be a cause of OSA in these individuals (Edwards and White, 2011). Nevertheless, normal or good muscle can compensate for impaired upper anatomy during sleep. Despite this, respiratory events can occur during the REM phase due to decreased muscle activity and

lower chemosensitivity than NREM (Non-rapid eye movement) sleep. Some individuals generate adequate pharyngeal muscle activity when the airway is narrowed during sleep. However, this does not lead to adequate pharyngeal dilation and increased airflow due to poor muscle effectiveness (Eckert and Malhotra, 2008). Evidence concerning poor muscle effectiveness is limited; however, factors such as poor coordination of the neural drive to the various upper airway muscles during sleep, excess fat or muscle hypertrophy or changes in muscle fibre type can contribute to it.

#### 2.3.2.2. Low respiratory arousal threshold

Premature awakening in response to mild airway narrowing, rather than collapse, contributes to OSA by disrupting sleep continuity and limiting the opportunity for adequate upper airway muscle recruitment to restore airflow during sleep (Eckert et al., 2014).

#### 2.3.2.3. Loop gain

Loop gain describes the stability of the respiratory feedback control system; a high loop gain indicates an unstable ventilator chemoreflex control system. The overall loop gain is governed by the ratio of the ventilator response to the disturbance that elicited the response (Khoo 2000). The theory suggests there is a controller and a plant component, with a delay between the two. The controller senses the stimulus and dictates the action of the plant, which responds to decrease the stimulus. In ventilatory control, chemoreceptor sensitivity to blood gases reflects controller gain, and the effectiveness of the lungs to alter blood gases reflects plant gain. The product of controller and plant gain provides the overall loop gain of the system (Khoo 2018). Furthermore, there is a circulation delay between when ventilation begins to alter blood gases and when the chemoreceptors sense the change. Therefore, if the gain of either the controller or the plant is too high, there is the potential for ventilatory overshoot producing instability in the system (Khoo 2000). People with high loop gain have an exaggerated ventilator response to minimal increases in carbon dioxide levels, usually during a hypopnoea, as detected by chemoreceptors in the carotid body (Li et al., 2019). In OSA, the delay in the closed loop system is not just a function of lung to chemoreceptor circulatory delay. When the

airway is obstructed, the delay is the duration of the event, as chemical drive continues to build and the ventilatory response cannot be expressed until the airway re-opens (Younes 2014). Loop gain is also not a static value, rather it changes constantly. During an apnoeic event, as there is no ventilatory response, loop gain is actually zero (Dempsey, Smith et al. 2004). However, as chemical drive accumulates, because hypoxia sensitizes the carotid body hypercapnic response, progressive hypoxia and hypercapnia increases controller gain. As PaO<sub>2</sub>, the partial pressure of oxygen in the arterial blood, is depleted and CO<sub>2</sub> accumulates in the lungs, plant gain progressively increases such that when the airway opens, every unit increase in minute ventilation would produce greater fluctuations in alveolar gas tensions (Khoo 2000, Dempsey, Smith et al. 2004). Thus, in OSA, the loop gain that is most relevant to apnea propagation is the loop gain at airway opening, when both controller and plant gains are at their peak. However, if the airway does not fully open the ventilatory response will be restricted, such that the net loop gain, being the loop gain that is actually expressed, will be lower than the chemical loop gain, being the actual drive to breathe (Younes 2014).

# 2.4. Clinical Symptoms2.4.1. Symptoms during sleep2.4.1.2. Snoring

Snoring is the vibration, especially of the soft palate and uvula, within a narrow but patent upper airway that occurs during sleep and creates noise as the air passes in and out while breathing. Habitual snoring affects 95% of OSA subjects, however, it is highly prevalent in the general population affecting around 35–45 per cent of men and 15–28 per cent of women (Campos et al., 2020). The negative consequences of snoring include both a social and medical impact such as embarrassment and decreased quality of sleep for the bed partner and, is the hallmark symptom of OSA and therefore, most often the primary reason to seek medical help. A reduction in snoring is perceived by patients as therapeutic efficacy and therefore favours treatment adherence (Dieltjens et al., 2015).

#### 2.4.1.3. Choking and grasping

Complete closure of the airway, usually at the retropalatal level, results in cessation of snoring and apnoea. This can result in the sudden awakening of patients with the feeling of choking or gasping (Liu et al., 2016).

#### 2.4.1.4. Nocturia

Nocturia is an often-described symptom of sleep-disordered breathing (SDB). The frequency of nocturnal urination in OSA patients increases by between 52 and 72 per cent depending on OSA severity (Kaynak et al., 2004). A recent meta-analysis suggested that men with OSA have a high incidence of Nocturia in comparison to women (Zhou et al., 2020). The pathophysiological link between OSA and Nocturia involves a complete or partially obstructed upper airway and increased intra-abdominal pressure. A corresponding decrease in the atrial natriuretic peptide and increase in the vasopressin secretion, consequently leads to an increase in urine production (Roux et al., 2000).

#### 2.4.1.5. Abnormal Motor activity

Subjects with OSA experiencing asphyxiation during sleep due to upper airway obstruction may complain of restlessness, which may be manifested by increased tossing and involuntary movements during sleep (Zhou et al., 2021b).

## 2.4.2. Daytime symptoms 2.4.2.1. Daytime sleepiness

Increased daytime sleepiness is an important symptom of OSA resulting from sleep fragmentation (Verstraeten et al., 2004) which significantly affects neurocognitive performance. There is a clear relationship between excessive daytime sleepiness and limitation in work performance, which in turn can have serious implications on the quality of life (Turner et al., 2019). Furthermore, hypertensive patients with OSA have been associated with increased daytime sleepiness, as measured by the Epworth sleepiness scale (ESS). However, studies have reported conflicting observations concerning this interaction. Kapur et al. (2008) observed that the association of OSA with hypertension is stronger in individuals who report daytime sleepiness, than in those who do not. Notwithstanding this, recent studies have found that ESS scores are higher in normotensive OSA patients as compared to hypertensive counterparts (Martynowicz et al., 2017, Tam et al., 2019). Hence, more studies with standardised methodologies are needed to evaluate this association.

#### 2.4.2.2. Depression & Psychological dysfunction

Depressive symptoms are common in OSA and related to its severity. Using the patient health questionnaire (PHQ-9), with score  $\geq$  10 as an indication for clinically significant depressive symptoms, Edwards et al (2015) found significant positive association at baseline between PHQ-9 score and AHI (p < 0.0001), particularly in men and women with severe OSA (p < 0.001). After effective treatment of 228 OSA patients with CPAP, symptoms of depression were improved, changing PHQ-9 from 11.27 ± 6.09 to 3.71 ± 2.86 (p < 0.001). This highlighted that the effective treatment of OSA with CPAP seems to improve depression symptoms (Edwards et al., 2015). Moreover, research has observed an association between OSA and

reduction in grey matter and argues in the favour of early treatment (Morrell et al., 2010). Similarly, a recent review has reported that cognitive functions (e.g. attention) deficit caused by untreated OSA can be irreversible and shows only partial recovery after a period of treatment with CPAP. Consequently, the review highlighted the need of more research to analyse the relationship between OSA and cognitive disorders, in terms of treatment (Vanek et al., 2020).

#### 2.4.2.3. Sexual problems

Several studies have shown a high incidence of sexual dysfunction among OSA patients, ranging from 47.1 per cent to 80.0 per cent (Budweiser et al., 2009, Li et al., 2016, Kellesarian et al., 2018). The underlying mechanism of interaction between OSA and sexual dysfunction remains unknown, although several theories have been proposed, including peripheral neuropathy due to hypoxemia, or vascular endothelial dysfunction (Shin et al., 2008). Interestingly, severity of OSA is considered to be an important factor in the development of impotence in men (Margel et al., 2004, Zhang et al., 2016). In contrary to this, Jeon et al (2015) demonstrated that no significant association was observed between erectile dysfunction and OSA severity (Jeon et al., 2015). The role of OSA severity is still unclear concerning sexual dysfunction and therefore, further research is emphasised in this context (Steinke et al., 2016). Furthermore, Jeon et al (2015) also demonstrated that sexual dysfunction was independently associated with sleep apnoea quality of life index (SAQII) and depressive symptoms. This is consistent with recent findings that has observed the same association between depression and sexual dysfunction in women with mild OSA (Coelho et al., 2021). Nevertheless, the above findings lack generalisability, as they cannot be applied to men or to those women with moderate or severe OSA.

#### 2.4.2.4. Headaches

Morning Headaches or headaches in general are frequent in patients with OSA due to fragmented or non-restful sleep. It has been hypothesised that OSA does play a role in triggering Hypnic headaches (Ferini-Strambi et al., 2019), a very rare primary

headachecharacterized by recurring attacks developing only during sleep (Raskin, 1988). Nevertheless, a lack of a temporal correlation of headache attacks with the drop of oxygen saturation has been observed in OSA patients (Ferini-Strambi et al., 2019). Furthermore, Studies have reported an increased prevalence of tension-type headaches (TTH) in individuals with sleep disturbances. However, the association between TTH and OSA is contentious, since headaches associated with OSA are categorised separately in the International Classification of Headache Disorders (ICHD-3) and reported to be distinct from TTH. Hence, there is no definitive evidence concerning the association between TTH and OSA (Engstrøm et al., 2014, Russell et al., 2014, Wang et al., 2015).

## 2.5. Medical complications

#### 2.5.1. Hypertension

OSA is one of the major modifiable risk factors of hypertension and is significantly associated with short sleep duration and poor sleep quality scores. Cross-sectional studies have observed that the odds of hypertension increased by 1% for every episode of apnoea per hour of sleep and increased by 13% for every 10% decrease in oxygen saturation (Lavie et al., 2000). The prevalence of hypertension was found to be 59%, 62%, and 67% in a cohort of 6132 mild, moderate and severe sleep apnoea patients, respectively (Nieto et al., 2000). Hedner et al. (1988) demonstrated that patients with OSA have progressively increased sympathetic activity during apnoeic events. Furthermore, patients with OSA have also demonstrated elevated sympathetic activity during wakefulness (Somers et al., 1995). Consequently, a persistent increase in sympathetic drive ultimately leads to an increase in vascular resistance and vascular remodelling, contributing to increased blood pressure (Phillips and O'Driscoll, 2013). Similarly, a recent systematic review and meta-analysis has demonstrated a significant correlation between OSA and hypertension (Odds Ratio [OR] = 6.44, Confidence interval [CI] = 95%, P < 0.00001) (Hou, Zhao et al. 2018). Nonetheless, the findings should be interpreted with caution, as the quality of most of the studies included in the analysis was low.

#### 2.5.2. Coronary Heart Disease

OSA has reported to be a potential trigger for coronary heart disease (CHD) (Peker et al., 2006, Somers et al., 2008). Studies have attributed this association to intermittent hypoxia, formation of free radicals that enhance lipid peroxidation, downregulation of antioxidant activity, increased expression of markers of systematic inflammation and immune cells, increased sympathetic activation and impairment of vasomotor activity (Bradley and Floras, 2009, Ali et al., 2014). Given, that patients with OSA generally present with comorbidities, the association between OSA and CHD could be ascribed to the clustering of comorbidities, especially type 2 diabetes or due to a true causal role (Somers et al., 2008, Lurie, 2011,

Sánchez-de-la-Torre et al., 2013). Similarly, genetic investigations have also revealed high genetic correlations between OSA and CHD, and including other comorbidities such as hypertension, type 2 diabetes, stroke, depression, hypothyroidism, asthma and inflammatory rheumatic disease (Strausz et al., 2021).

#### 2.5.3. Heart Failure

Epidemiological studies have demonstrated a significant correlation between OSA and heart failure (Kasai and Bradley, 2011), given, that patients with OSA present with severe coronary heart disease and increased cardiovascular risk and ventricular deterioration. Patients with OSA are at higher odds of having heart failure compared to their counterparts (Nakashima et al., 2006). Furthermore, observational studies in relation to heart failure have revealed that survival is generally reduced in patients with OSA, as compared to those without OSA (Wang et al., 2007, Yumino et al., 2007). Moreover, research has emphasised the cautious use of adaptive servo-ventilation therapy in patients with heart failure as no significant effect was observed in such patients (Cowie et al., 2015, Arnaud et al., 2020).

#### 2.5.4. Stroke

OSA is a recognized risk factor for stroke occurrence. Epidemiological studies of 4- and 8- year follow-up data have demonstrated a 2-3-fold increased risk for incident stroke in those with moderate to severe OSA (Redline, Yenokyan et al. 2010). Although, the mechanism by which OSA causes stroke is still being investigated. OSA causes intermittent and repetitive hypoxia during sleep, recurrent arousals and the generation of negative intrathoracic pressure. This cascade might entail sympathetic activation and catecholamine release leading to post apnoeic surges in blood pressure and heart rate, increased sleep fragmentation, and intermittent reductions in cerebral blood flow. The acute effects of this downstream cascade include arrhythmias; reactive oxidative stress, endothelial dysfunction and atherosclerosis; altered cerebral blood flow; hypertension; autonomic dysfunction and hypercoagulability might predispose to stroke (Dempsey, Veasey et al. 2010). Furthermore, post-stroke period OSA leads to longer hospitalisation and rehabilitation, increased stroke recurrence, and increased

mortality. Stroke patients with moderate OSA, followed-up for a period of 10 years showed an increased mortality rate by 75% when adjusted for multiple confounders (Khot and Morgenstern 2019). However, CPAP therapy for OSA with a follow-up data of 5-7 years has exhibited a reduction in mortality and morbidity. Alternative treatment modalities for OSA (e.g. mandibular advancement appliances, weight reduction, and positional therapy) have undergone limited or no assessment in the stroke population and therefore their efficacy is uncertain (Ou, Chen et al. 2015). Nevertheless, a recent scientific statement by American Heart Association has summarised the evidence in relation to the efficacy of MAA in stroke patients. The authors highlighted the improvement in 24-hours ambulatory blood pressure measures and inflammation markers of cardiovascular disease with mandibular advancement therapy (Roger, Go et al. 2012).

#### 2.5.5. Sudden Death

Research has demonstrated a two-fold higher risk of deaths associated with OSA. However, this risk is mainly attributed to increased number of comorbidities associated with OSA (Pan et al., 2016). A recent systematic review and meta-analysis has demonstrated OSA to be a significant risk-factor for all-cause mortality and cardiac mortality (Heilbrunn et al., 2021). However, the authors combined adjusted and unadjusted risk ratios (RR) whilst calculating pooled estimates which could have introduced between-study heterogeneity. Therefore, the results should be interpreted with caution. Notwithstanding this, the review also emphasised on the urgency of strategies for the prevention and treatment to elevate the survival and quality of life in patients with OSA (Heilbrunn et al., 2021).

#### 2.5. Diagnosis

#### 2.6.1. History

A comprehensive sleep oriented history, physical examination, sleep evaluation, investigations and pharyngeal airway imaging are involved in the diagnosis of OSA. The clinical examination comprises the examination of the nose, soft palate, fauces and tongue, including awake nasendoscopy, in order to identify an obvious physical obstruction to breathing. Anthropometric measures such as neck circumference, height and weight are also recorded (Semelka et al., 2016).

The current NICE guidelines (NICE, 2021) states that an initial assessment for individuals suspected with OSA comprises of a sleep history and a clinical examination for the presence 2 or more of the following features:

- Snoring
- Witnessed apnoeas
- Unrefreshing sleep
- Waking headaches
- Unexplained excessive sleepiness, tiredness or fatigue
- Nocturia (waking from sleep to urinate)
- Choking during sleep
- Sleep fragmentation or insomnia
- Cognitive dysfunction or memory impairment

The guidelines have also highlighted the increased odds of having OSA in individuals with the following conditions/phenotypes:

- Obesity or overweight
- Obesity or overweight in pregnancy
- Treatment-resistant hypertension
- Type 2 diabetes
- Cardiac arrhythmia, particularly atrial fibrillation
- Stroke or transient ischaemic attack
- Chronic heart failure
- Moderate or severe asthma
- Polycystic ovary syndrome
- Down's syndrome
- Non-arteritic anterior ischaemic optic neuropathy (sudden loss of vision in 1 eye due to decreased blood flow to the optic nerve)
- Hypothyroidism
- Acromegaly
# 2.6.2. Investigations 2.6.2.1. Daytime sleepiness

The assessment of sleepiness is important in OSA and therefore, a number of tools are used to determine sleepiness. These include objective measures such as the multiple sleep latency test, maintenance of wakefulness test, and psychomotor vigilance testing as well as validated questionnaires. Likewise, the NICE guidelines (NICE, 2021) have recommended the use of Epworth sleepiness scale (Appendix 1).

#### 2.6.2.2. Subjective assessment

The Epworth sleepiness scale is a validated questionnaire widely used in both research and clinical practice (Johns, 1991). The self-administered questionnaire invites patients to rate on a scale of 0 (less likely) to 3 (more likely) how likely they would be to doze off or fall asleep in eight situations, based on their usual way of life in recent times. The scores for these eight situations, in the questionnaire, are added to give a final score for the patient, ranging between 0 to 24. Scores of 0 to 9 is considered normal while a score of 10 and above indicates excessive daytime sleepiness and that expert medical advice should be sought (Johns, 1991). However, the accuracy and test-retest reliability of ESS is a matter of debate. Studies with opposing views have emerged in the field of sleep medicine. Whilst studies have argued that ESS demonstrates a robust acceptable level of test-retest reliability (Walker et al., 2020, Rosenberg et al., 2021). Notwithstanding this, studies have suggested to interpret the ESS scores with caution because of its low test-retest reliability (Grewe et al., 2020, Lee et al., 2020, Rozgonyi et al., 2021). Hence, a wide-ranging assessment of a patient's daytime sleepiness beyond the ESS is necessary (Mazzotti et al., 2022).

#### 2.6.2.3. Objective assessment

The multiple sleep latency test (MSLT), is designed to measure excessive daytime sleepiness, in a series of 4 to 6 half-hour naps taken 2 hours apart, during the day, in surroundings designed to encourage sleep (Carskadon, 1986). Conversely, the Maintenance of Wakefulness test (MWT) measures the patient's ability to stay awake, whilst sitting for 40

minutes, in a dimly lit room (Littner et al., 2005). These objective assessments provide an accurate measurement of sleepiness and overcome the limitation of subjective assessment scale. However, such tests are time-consuming and expensive and, accordingly, are rarely used in everyday clinical practice (Lévy et al., 2015).

## 2.6.2.4. Sleep studies

An overnight sleep study is required for the diagnosis of OSA. In accordance with the NICE guidelines (2021), the following should be considered while prioritising individuals within the sleep service:

- They have a vocational driving job
- They have a job for which vigilance is critical for safety
- They have unstable cardiovascular disease, for example, poorly controlled arrhythmia, nocturnal angina or treatment-resistant hypertension
- They are pregnant
- They are undergoing preoperative assessment for major surgery
- They have non-arteritic anterior ischaemic optic neuropathy

#### 2.6.2.5. Polysomnography

Overnight polysomnography performed in a sleep laboratory in the presence of an attendant is considered the gold standard diagnostic study for OSA (Qaseem et al., 2014). A full night study is generally indicated for diagnosis and determines the severity of OSA, with a followup study used for positive airway pressure titration (Balachandran and Patel, 2014). However, a split-night study, in which diagnosis and positive airway pressure titration occur in the same night, can also be performed. Split-night studies are most useful in patients who have an apnoea-hypopnea index greater than 20 events per hour discovered within the first two hours of the study (Epstein et al., 2009) Although considered as a "gold-standard," polysomnography is time consuming, labour intensive, and can be costly. It requires an overnight stay in a sleep laboratory staffed with gualified personnel that can collect and interpret complex physiologic data (Punjabi, 2008). Given this, home sleep studies, which allow the patients to sleep in their own environment and potentially reflect normal ambient conditions, better than a sleep laboratory, appear more convenient and cost-effective. Moreover, home sleep tests can be an alternative to sleep laboratory studies in patients who are unable to present to a sleep laboratory (Collop et al., 2007, NICE, 2021). However, home sleep studies are limited to the estimation of AHI index and are unable to distinguish between sleep and wakefulness (El Shayeb et al., 2014). Additionally, home sleep tests are not recommended in patients with comorbidities such as congestive heart failure, chronic lung disease, or neurologic conditions because they have not been verified in these populations. These tests are more accurate in identifying patients with a higher probability of OSA and can rule out OSA in low-risk patients (Qaseem et al., 2014). Although, if home sleep studies are inaccessible, home oximetry can be prescribed for individuals with suspected OSA. Nonetheless, oximetry alone may be insufficient in distinguishing between OSA and other causes of hypoxemia in individuals with cardiovascular or respiratory conditions (NICE, 2021).

#### 2.6.2.6. Imaging of the oropharyngeal airway

Studies in imaging have demonstrated a significant association between the dimensions and shape of the airway with the measure of airway collapsibility, as well as the severity of OSA (Susarla et al., 2010, Genta et al., 2014, Liu et al., 2016, Barrera et al., 2017, Whyte and Gibson, 2018). An inferiorly positioned hyoid bone has been reported to significantly correlate with the apnoea/hypopnoea index (Barkdull et al., 2008, Vos et al., 2010). Cross-sectional imaging the pharyngeal airway demonstrate a significantly narrowed, abnormally shaped and elongated airway in OSA but does not confirm the diagnosis (Ogawa et al., 2007).

The main limitation of traditional otorhinolaryngologic examinations is that they are performed during wakefulness. Drug-induced sleep endoscopy (DISE), introduced in the last decade by Pringle and Croft, entails endoscopic evaluation of the upper airway during pharmacologically induced sleep (Croft and Pringle, 1991). The advantage of observing upper airway collapse during sleep enables clinicians to target therapy according to the location and degree of the obstruction of the upper airway (De Corso et al., 2013, De Vito et al., 2014). Although, the similarity of DISE and natural sleep is debatable, Park et al., 2019 observed moderate to good agreement between DISE and natural sleep endoscopy (Park et al., 2019). Furthermore, DISE can be employed in OSA patients intolerant to CPAP therapy as can be used in identifying reasons for treatment withdrawal, especially in patients with a laryngeal collapse (Civelek et al., 2012). Moreover, mandibular thrust during sleep endoscopy can also aid in determining the prognosis of mandibular advancement therapy in OSA patients (Johal et al., 2007). However, despite the advantage of DISE in treatment selection, there still lacks a consensus concerning the scoring and classification (De Vito et al., 2014, Dijemeni et al., 2017, De Vito et al., 2018).

# 2.6. Treatment

Currently, treatment is recommended for all patients with an AHI of 15 or more events per hour, as well as for those with an AHI 5 to 14 events per hour with symptoms of sleepiness, impaired cognition, mood disturbance, or insomnia or with coexisting conditions such as hypertension, ischemic heart disease, or a history of stroke (NICE, 2021). Therapies for obstructive sleep apnoea have been designed to reduce the frequency of sleep-disordered breathing events and normalisation of the AHI. These therapies can be broadly classified as non-surgical or surgical therapies. Additionally, treatments can also vary based on the severity of OSA (NICE, 2021).

# 2.7.1. Non-surgical treatments 2.7.1.1. Lifestyle changes & weight reduction

Obesity results in fatty deposits around the neck, which contribute to pharyngeal collapse (Shelton et al., 1993). Weight loss of more than 10 kg may resolve obstructive sleep apnoea in more than 50 per cent of persons with mild disease and improve cardio-metabolic health (Chirinos et al., 2014). However, there are inconsistent findings on the association between weight reduction and overall improvement in sleep and breathing patterns (Hargens et al., 2013). Notwithstanding this, lifestyle advice alone for mild OSA patients who have no symptoms or symptoms that do not affect usual daytime activities can aid to prevent OSA from deteriorating (NICE, 2021).

Several studies have examined the effect of weight reduction drugs in alleviating the signs and symptoms of OSA. A randomised, placebo-controlled trial of sibutramine, given to overweight males with OSAHS, found no change in AHI or weight over one month (Martinez and Basile 2005). However, the results of a cohort study, in which obese males with OSA were enrolled into a 6-month sibutramine-assisted weight loss program incorporating a dietary prescription and advice on exercise, have reported a significant improvement in ESS, AHI and RDI (Yee, Phillips et al. 2007, Phillips, Yee et al. 2009). In a further study, CPAP treatment vs sibutramine-assisted weight loss demonstrated no change in AHI or in ESS with sibutramine but an improvement in mean nocturnal oxygen saturations and also an improvement in sleep architecture, and led to improvements in other sleep and respiratory variables (Ferland, Poirier et al. 2009). Moreover, sibutramine-assisted weight loss is concluded to be inferior to CPAP and sibutramine has been suspended by the Medicines and

Healthcare products Regulatory Agency due to concerns that cardiovascular risks outweigh the benefits (NICE 2006).

#### 2.7.1.2. Change in sleeping posture

Studies have shown that sleeping in the supine position compared with the lateral position may double the apnoea-hypopnea index in patients with OSA. Strategies to avoid the supine position include placing tennis balls in a sock or pocket and pinning or sewing them onto the back of a shirt; wearing vests with posterior bumpers; and using positional alarms, verbal instruction, neck vibration devices and pillows (Randerath et al., 2011). Because of poor long-term compliance, positional therapy is not routinely recommended over standard positive airway pressure therapy (Bignold et al., 2009, de Vries et al., 2015). This is in accordance with the current NICE (2021) guidelines which does not advocate the positional modifiers as first-line of treatment over CPAP or MAD in patients with mild or moderate positional OSA. Furthermore, the guidelines also advise against their use in severe OSA patients.

#### 2.7.1.3. Continuous positive airway pressure (CPAP)

Continuous positive airway pressure (CPAP) is regarded as the gold standard treatment for obstructive sleep apnoea (NICE, 2008). CPAP works via pneumatic splinting of the upper airway and provides a constant level of positive pressure across inspiration and expiration. Airway pressure may be applied through oro-nasal and nasal devices (Gay et al., 2006). Although CPAP is highly effective in reducing the AHI (to < 5 events per hour) in most patients, whilst reducing snoring and daytime sleepiness, when assessed in the sleep laboratory, it requires tremendous effort on the patient's part to position the mask properly and maintain the machine (Pépin et al., 2018). Hence, CPAP adherence rates ranges between 17 to 85 per cent, with adherence to treatment being defined as use for more than 4 hours per night for more than 70 per cent of nights (Sin et al., 2002, Weaver and Grunstein, 2008, Wolkove et al., 2008). However, interventions to improve adherence with CPAP have focused on patient education, clinical support, and behavioural interventions (Moran et al., 2010, Wozniak et al., 2014, Hoet et al., 2017). Baker et al. (2014) demonstrated increased CPAP adherence (n = 83) of 99min/hour for 6 months from a motivational enhancement intervention compared to 42 | P a g e

CPAP alone and the effect of the intervention lasted for 12 months in a subset of the participants. This was achieved by targeting the intervention on behaviour change rather than attempting to lengthen the sleep duration. Similarly, a number of studies in the field of sleep medicine have observed enhanced patient adherence to CPAP therapy due to behaviour change interventions (Stepnowsky et al., 2006, Richards et al., 2007, Aloia et al., 2013, Deng et al., 2013).

#### 2.7.1.4. Mandibular advancement appliance (MAA)

The MAA is the most widely used intra-oral appliances for the treatment of OSA (Johal and Battagel, 2001). According to the current NICE guidelines, MAA therapy is recommended to individuals diagnosed with Mild OSA and symptoms that affect their usual daytime activities. The guidelines also prescribe MAA therapy to those with moderate or severe OSA intolerant to CPAP treatment as a second line of treatment. Patients recommended for MAA therapy are aged 18 and over and should present with optimal dental and periodontal health (NICE, 2021). MAA are categorised into the following types: custom titratable; custom non-titratable; noncustom titratable; and non-custom non-titratable. Seven studies evaluating the impact of ready-made (non-adjustable/ non-titratable) and custom-made MAA, observed an overwhelming patient-reported preference for custom-made MAA in comparison to readymade devices (Vanderveken et al., 2008, Friedman et al., 2012, Quinnell et al., 2014, Wang and Liu, 2014, Al-Dharrab, 2017, Gagnadoux et al., 2017, Johal et al., 2017). Given the variation in the appliance fabrication and titration, all the appliances attempt to maintain an open airway by positioning the mandible forward. Although, CPAP has found to be more efficient than MAA in reducing AHI, arousal indices, and oxygen desaturation, particularly in patients with moderate to severe OSA, quality-of-life indices appear to be the same for both (Ramar et al., 2015). However, self-reported adherence with MAA is highly variable. Whilst, short-term adherence ranges from 76 to 95%, long-term adherence is reported to decline to 32% after 4 years of use (Marklund et al., 2012, Saglam-Aydinatay and Taner, 2018). Studies have observed that treatment withdrawal is more likely to occur in the first 2 years (Hoffstein, 2007, Doff et al., 2013a, Attali et al., 2016). Similarly, recent data concerning objective MAA

adherence detected that mean wearing time decreased by 4% after 1 year (Pahkala and Suominen, 2021). The study also observed that only half of the participants (Sample size = 24) were adherent to MAA therapy after 12 months (Pahkala and Suominen, 2021). Furthermore, adherence to MAA is highly patient dependent and influenced by numerous factors.

#### 2.7.1.5. Surgical treatments

Surgical treatments proposed and attempted to correct anatomic obstruction in patients with OSA include: procedures septoplasty), nasal (e.g. oral procedures (e.g. uvulopalatopharyngoplasty [UPPP], uvulopalatopharyngoplasty with uvula preservation [HUPPP]), hypopharyngeal procedures (e.g. tongue reduction and stabilization), laryngeal procedures (e.g. epiglottoplasty), and global airway procedures (e.g. maxilla-mandibular advancement [MMA]) (Epstein et al., 2009). The current NICE guidelines recommend the referral of patients for surgical options who are unable to tolerate CPAP and a customised MAA despite medically supervised interventions. However, systematic reviews have observed insufficient evidence to support surgery in general or any type in particular for the management of OSA (Sundaram et al., 2005). Notwithstanding this, the results should be interpreted with caution as the review includes randomised controlled trials of mixed quality. More recently, a network meta-analysis evaluating the efficacy of surgical options in treatment of OSA observed MMA combined with HPPP demonstrated the highest efficacy. Nevertheless, the finding should be interpreted with caution due to increased level of heterogeneity among the included studies (Zhou et al., 2021a).

# 2.7. Adherence

### 2.8.1. Definitions of Adherence and Compliance

Adherence to treatment is a key link between process and outcome in health care (Urquhart, 1996). In contrast to previous literature, adherence to treatment extends beyond the idea of taking prescribed pharmaceuticals. A WHO Adherence meeting of June 2001, defined adherence as 'the extent to which the patient follows medical instructions' (Sabaté and Organization, 2001). Nevertheless, the term 'medical' is inadequate to encapsulate the variety of interventions implemented to manage chronic diseases. Additionally, the term 'instructions' infers that the patient is a merely passive, acquiescent receiver of expert medical guidance, rather than an involved participant in the treatment process. Consequently, the WHO Adherence project (2000) chose a definition of adherence, which was an amalgam of several previous definitions. It also extended the concept of adherence to include other elements of the patient's behaviour, such as following recommendations about diet or lifestyle. Accordingly, this project defined adherence as: "the extent to which a person's behaviour, taking medication, following a diet, and/ or executing lifestyle changes, corresponds with agreed recommendations from a health care provider" (WHO, 2003).

The oldest term used to describe such behaviour is 'compliance'. The most common definition of compliance is "the extent to which the patient's behaviour matches the prescriber's recommendations" (Chakrabarti, 2014). Compliance implies a one-sided interaction, where the clinician decides on the suitable treatment, which the patient has to consent to regardless of the suitability (Julius et al., 2009). Thus, compliance is synonymous with a paternalistic conceptualisation medication/treatment-taking behaviour, in which patient autonomy is disregarded. However, adherence focuses on the patient being an active collaborator in the decision-making process regarding the most suitable treatment and consequently yields the most appropriate treatment regimen to be followed, whilst emphasising the participation of both the clinician and the patient in a discussion. Thus, it has been suggested as an improvement over the term compliance, which has negative implications since it disapproves

of any patient-behaviour, which does not comply with the clinician's recommendations (Perkins, 1999).

#### 2.8.2. Health beliefs and health behaviour change

Adherence to a new health behaviour change encapsulates a variation in of social, emotional and cognitive factors (Schwarzer, 2008). In health psychology, health behaviours are defined as any behaviour that is related to an individual's health status. Health behaviour aims to prevent disease, and was further defined by Matarazzo (1984) as health-impairing habits (e.g. smoking, eating a fat diet) or health protective behaviours (e.g. attending a health check). Decades of research indicate that knowledge and awareness is instrumental in how individuals choose to behave (Lashley, 1987, Champion, 1990, Rimer et al., 1991). However, further research has shown that awareness alone is insufficient. Individual beliefs, also known as health beliefs are fundamental in predicting behaviour change. Some of these health beliefs are identified as perceived self-efficacy, outcome expectancy and risk perception (Schwarzer, 2008). Bandura (1986) explained Perceived self-efficacy as 'one's belief in one's capabilities to organise and execute the sources of action required to manage prospective situations'. Outcome expectancies are defined as anticipated consequences (positive or negative) as a result of engaging in a behaviour (Reesor et al., 2017). Whilst, risk perception is a key health belief, concerning one's belief about the severity of a condition and individual vulnerability (Ogden, 2019).

Social-cognitive theories assume that an individual's intention to adopt a new behaviour is the best direct predictor of actual change. Notwithstanding this, people mostly do not act according to their intentions. Many factors account for this disparity in intent and behaviour (Luszczynska and Schwarzer, 2005). Unforeseen obstacles might arise, for example, people could give in to the temptations. Intent must, therefore, be complemented by the above-mentioned health beliefs that can facilitate the translation of intention into action. These beliefs also known as post intentional factors and help to bridge the intention-behaviour gap (Schwarzer, 2008). This has led to the use of behavioural strategies, specifically tailor-made interventions to improve patient adherence to treatment.

# 2.8.3. Continuum models versus Stage models of Health Behaviour Change

In recent decades, social-cognitive prediction models have mainly revealed the mechanisms of health self-regulation. Models of health behaviour change propose a sequence of variables that enhance motivation and would eventually facilitate behaviour change (Ogden, 2019). These models of behaviour can be categorised as stage or continuum models of health behaviour change. Stage models describe behaviour change as a dynamic process where individuals move through various stages, as they change their behaviour. Whilst, continuum models assume that a person's behaviour is the outcome of a conscious intention. Intention forming is seen as being determined by beliefs and attitudes (Lippke and Ziegelmann, 2008). They take inspiration from the subjective expected utility theory proposed by Edwards (1954), that any change in one's behaviour stems from weighing up the pros and cons of any action. The theory depicts individuals as 'rational informational processors' and emphasises on identifying a set of predictors that includes constructs such as, perceived barriers, social norms, disease severity, personal vulnerability, or perceived self-efficacy (Edwards, 1954). Similarly, continuum models also draw upon on the social cognition theory, which advocates that behaviour is guided by expectancies, incentives and social cognitions (Bandura, 2005). The integration of these factors facilitates the development of a prediction model for explaining changes in behavioural intention and behaviour change. The most widely applied continuum models are the theories of reasoned action, planned behaviour, and protection motivation theory (Weinstein, 2007, Abraham and Sheeran, 2013).

Despite the wide application of continuum models in health psychology, research has proposed major theoretical drawbacks. An overall drawback of continuum models is that they account more for intention variance than for behaviour variance. Additionally, the 'one-sizefits-all' intervention approach of continuum models suggests cognitive and behaviour change transpires in a linear process. This fails to account for the qualitative changes such as changing mind-sets, phase transitions, or relapse or discontinuation of the behaviour (Armitage and Arden, 2002). Accordingly, continuum models do not necessarily aim for interventions to initially change perceived vulnerability, perceived consequences, or perceived self-efficacy. Thus, interventions are not expected to proceed in a structured sequence but can be applied randomly, or even concurrently. Furthermore, the continuum models exclude the post intentional phase, which bridges 'the intention-behaviour' gap', in which goals are translated into action (Armitage and Arden, 2002, Abraham and Sheeran, 2013) . The post-intentional phase relates to the interplay of various factors that can hinder or facilitate behaviour change. These factors or beliefs are identified as maintenance and recovery self-efficacy, as well as action and coping planning. Thus, motivation alone is not sufficient to bring about the desired behaviour change. The motivation phase must be followed by a subsequent action phase, that is more decisive for behaviour change (Luszczynska et al., 2007a). Therefore, it is implicitly assumed that behaviour change is the integration of two processes, a motivational one that ends with an intention, and a volitional one that ends with the desired behaviour change. Thus, any advancement of traditional continuum models in this course implicitly implements the idea of distinct processes, stages, or phases in health behaviour change (Schwarzer, 2008).

# 2.8.4. Health action process approach (HAPA): A model of adoption and maintenance of health behaviour change

The HAPA model of behaviour change explicitly includes the post-intentional factors to overcome the intention-behaviour gap, which are not taken into account by the traditional continuum models (Presseau et al., 2017). The purpose of such a model is twofold: It allows better prediction of behaviour and it reflects the assumed casual mechanism of behaviour change. HAPA constitutes a hybrid model in the sense that one can apply it either as a continuum model or a stage model. As a continuum model, it includes two mediators between intention and behaviour. As a stage model, it advocates a distinction between a) pre-intentional motivation processes that lead to a behaviour (Schwarzer, 2008). These stages are comprised of different patterns of social-cognitive predictors (Schwarzer and Renner, 2000).



Figure 2.1 Generic diagram of Health Action Process Approach (HAPA)

In the motivational phase, a person develops an intention to act whilst risk perception is seen as a distal antecedent (e.g., I am at risk of cardiovascular disease). However, risk perception in itself is insufficient as it only sparks a contemplation process and further elaboration ofthoughts about consequences and competencies (Lippke et al., 2010). Positive outcome expectancy is equally important to enable a person to form an intention in the motivation phase. It allows the individual to address the pros and cons of certain behavioural outcomes (e.g., If I use my sleep apnoea treatment every night, I will reduce my risk to cardiovascular diseases) (Luszczynska et al., 2007b). Consequently, perceived self-efficacy operates in combination with outcome expectancies to form an intention (Bandura, 1997). Perceived self-efficacy is one's belief in one's capability to perform a desired behaviour no matter what the obstacles (e.g., I am capable of adhering to my sleep apnoea treatment in spite of the discomfort). Once an intention is developed, detailed instructions on how to perform the behaviour facilitate the transformation of the intention into the desired action (Wilson et al., 2016). Furthermore, maintenance of this action encompasses self-regulatory skills and strategies. Hence, the post-intentional phase involves proximal factors, such as planning and recovery self-efficacy. Most social-cognition models do not explicitly acknowledge these factors (Luszczynska and Schwarzer, 2005).

#### 2.8.4.1. Components of HAPA

#### 2.8.4.1.1. Volitional factor: phase-specific self-efficacy beliefs

The rationale for the distinction between several phase-specific beliefs is that during the course of health-behaviour change, different tasks have to be mastered and different self-efficacy beliefs are required to master these tasks carefully (Scholz et al., 2005). Hence, the meaning of self-efficacy is context-specific and differs for individuals who may be more or less advanced in the change process e.g. a person might be confident in his or her capability to initiate sleep apnoea treatment (i.e. high action self-efficacy), but might not be very confident about resuming treatment after a setback (i.e. low recovery self-efficacy). Baer et al. (1995) emulated the difference between action self-efficacy, coping self-efficacy and recovery self-efficacy in the field of addictive behaviours (Baer et al., 1995).

Action self-efficacy (also called "pre-action self-efficacy") is involved in the motivational phase of behaviour change, in which an individual develops a motivation to act. It is an optimisticbelief during the pre-action phase (Schwarzer and Renner, 2000). Individuals high in action self-efficacy anticipate success and potential outcomes of diverse strategies. Those with less self-efficacy imagine failure, harbour self-doubts, and tend to procrastinate.

As action self-efficacy is instrumental in the motivational phase, maintenance self-efficacy and recovery self-efficacy are instrumental in the subsequent volitional phase and can, therefore, be summarised under the heading of 'volitional self-efficacy' (Schwarzer, 2008). A new health behaviour might turn out to be much more difficult to adhere to than expected, but individuals with high maintenance self-efficacy invest more effort and persist longer than those who are less self-efficacious. Hence, maintenance self-efficacy (coping self-efficacy) refers to one's capability to deal with barriers that arise during the maintenance period (Scholz et al., 2005). If a lapse occurs, individuals tend to attribute their setbacks to internal, stable, and global causes, dramatise the event, and interpret it as a full-blown relapse (Baer et al., 1995). However, individuals with high recovery self-efficacy avoid this affect by attributing the setback to an external high-risk situation and by finding ways to control the damage and to restore hope. Thus, recovery self-efficacy refers to one's conviction to get back on track after being derailed (Schwarzer et al., 2007). Although there is a functional difference between the selfefficacy beliefs and how they operate, the constructs may be harboured at the same point in time. For example, recovery self-efficacy is most functional when it comes to resuming an interrupted chain of action, whereas action self-efficacy is most functional when facing a novel challenging demand (Luszczynska and Sutton, 2006, Luszczynska et al., 2007a).

A recent meta-analysis has demonstrated that action and maintenance self-efficacy have been observed to be persistent along the process of behaviour prediction and change (Zhang et al., 2019). Meta-analytic structural equation modelling revealed that action self-efficacy had the largest effects on health behaviour through intentions and maintenance self-efficacy. Whilst, effects of recovery self-efficacy on behaviour change were found to be less pervasive and more context-specific, specifically in situations more prone to behavioural lapses (Zhang et al., 2019). Hence, research has emphasised on behaviour change interventions that are highly context-sensitive (Bandura, 2004, Conroy and Hagger, 2018).

#### 2.8.4.1.2. Action planning and coping planning

Research on action plans have observed that intentions can facilitate health behaviour change only when in combination with specific instructions on how to perform them. Action planning comprises of specific situation parameters ("when, where") and a sequence of action ("how") (Schwarzer, 2008, Pakpour et al., 2014). It is more effective than intentions when it comes to the likelihood and speed of performance, partly because behaviour might be elicited almost "automatically" when the relevant situational cues are encountered. As people do not forget their intentions easily when specified in a when, where, and how manner (Gollwitzer and Sheeran, 2006). After people contemplate the when, where, and how of action, they generate coping strategies for the foreseeable barriers. Coping with strategies, thus, comes on top of action planning. Planning is a variable which can be modified and easily communicated to individual with self-regulatory deficits. A number of randomised controlled trials have recently documented the evidence in favour of such planning interventions (Luszczynska, 2006, Luszczynska et al., 2007b). Similarly, meta-analysis of HAPA has shown that action and coping planning predicted behaviour and mediated effects of intentions and maintenance self-efficacy (Zhang et al., 2019).

#### 2.8.4.3. Application of HAPA in interventions: An explicit stage model

Including planning and self-efficacy as volitional mediators renders the model into an implicit stage model because it implies the existence of two phases or stages, a motivational one and a volitional one (Schwarzer, 2008). However, when it comes to the design of interventions, the implicit stage model is transformed into an explicit stage model. This is achieved by identifying individuals who reside at either the motivational stage or the volitional stage (Gollwitzer and Sheeran, 2006). Then, each group becomes the target of a specific treatment that is tailored to this group. Moreover, it is theoretically meaningful and has been found useful to further subdivide the volitional group into those who perform and those who only intend to perform.

In the post-intentional pre-actional stage, individuals are labelled "intenders", whereas in the actional stage they are labelled "actors". Thus, a suitable subdivision within the health behaviour change process yields three groups: non-intenders, intenders and actors

(Luszczynska et al., 2007b). As individuals pass through different mind-sets during the course of behaviour change, interventions are more efficient when tailored to these particular mind-sets (Deng et al., 2013). For example, non-intenders will benefit from risk awareness and outcome expectancy communication. As this will help them to balance the pros and cons of the desired behaviour. However, intenders would benefit from planning to translate their intentions into actions. Similarly, actors do not need any intervention at all, unless one wants to improve their relapse prevention skills. As this can be done by teaching them to anticipate such situations and by acquiring the necessary levels of perceived recovery self -efficacy (Marlatt et al., 2011).

Several studies have examined the efficacy of HAPA as a staged-matched intervention in bringing about behaviour change and increasing patient adherence to treatment. As mentioned previously, HAPA differentiates between individuals who have not yet decided to change their behaviour and those who have decided to change or who have already implemented the changes and performed the target behaviour. Those who become active are the ones with higher volitional self-efficacy (Schüz et al., 2007). Similarly, a recent systematic review highlighted the use of goal setting, self-monitoring and planning as effective interventions for improving oral hygiene-related behaviour in patients with periodontal disease (Newton and Asimakopoulou, 2015). Interestingly, in the field of sleep medicine, Deng et al. (2013) conducted a randomized control trial to examine the efficacy of staged-match intervention, based on the HAPA model, on intention formation and 3-month adherence to CPAP. The study observed that a 3-month stage-matched intervention had a favourable influence on patients' intention formation, acceptance, and adherence to CPAP. These findings are in are in agreement with previous studies indicating that stage-matched intervention promotes stage progression (Lippke et al., 2004).

Furthermore, the current evidence on HAPA has demonstrated its universal applicability for a number of health behaviours and for diverse samples from various cultures (Bierbauer et al., 2017b, Presseau et al., 2017). The finding that a structural equation model fits the data, however, does not prove that the chosen model is the only one or the best one that fits. The question is whether this model appears to be empirically superior to alternative models. To test the validity of a model in comparison with other theories of health behaviour change, experimental studies are required (Weinstein et al., 1998a). To-date, studies that aim at comparing determinants from different theories are mainly correlational ones. Nevertheless, researchers tend to prefer heterogeneous approaches, such as selecting attractive elements from one model and implanting them into another one, which can also be seen as a means of theory evolution (Schwarzer, 2008, Bierbauer et al., 2017b).

# 2.8. MAA Adherence

Recent evidence concerning MAA adherence has observed that patient adherence is not associated with patient or disease dependant factors (Murphy et al., 2020, Pahkala and Suominen, 2021, Tallamraju et al., 2021). Furthermore, Pahkala and Suominen (2021) reported a positive correlation between reduction in snoring, and a negative correlation between mandibular retrognathia and patient-reported adherence. The authors also highlighted the need for 'a patient-tailored therapy in combination with objective monitoring of adherence' to optimise adherence to mandibular advancement therapy (Pahkala and Suominen, 2021).

Interestingly, Liu et al. (2022) evaluated the efficacy of a multifactorial intervention in enhancing patient adherence to mandibular advancement device. The study randomised 82 subjects into control and experimental groups, and monitored adherence objectively. Whilst, the control group received routine care, the experimental group received a single intervention to promote adherence. This single intervention entailed of educational counselling concerning the aetiology of OSA and risk of untreated OSA, tailored for the patient and his/her bed partner. Such counselling was reinforced by the clinicians at follow-up appointments. The intervention

also enabled the patients to communicate with the clinicians via phone messages, email or phone calls for follow-up communication. After 3-months of follow-up, results indicated no significant difference in the number of nights the appliance was worn between the two groups, however, the nightly adherence was significantly more in the experimental group than the control group (p < 0.039) (Liu et al., 2022). Although the study reported significant results, the multifactorial approach did fail to consider heath beliefs that govern adherence in patients with OSA (Stepnowsky et al., 2006, Carballo et al., 2016). In many chronic conditions, patient education is observed to be instrumental in improving patient adherence. Educational interventions have reported to be advantageous in increasing the risk awareness among patients concerning their conditions (Costa et al., 2015). Nevertheless, studies have observed that education alone is in an inadequate approach in enhancing patient adherence (Balkrishnan, 2005, Wozniak et al., 2014). A recent Cochrane review of educational support and behavioural interventions to improve usage of CPAP in adults with OSA concluded with high certainty that behavioural interventions produce a clinically significant increase in hourly CPAP usage (Askland, Wright et al. 2020). Behavioural interventions increased CPAP usage by 1 hour/night and increased the number of people who used CPAP for 4 hours or more per night (Rapelli, Pietrabissa et al. 2021). Thus, a unidimensional effort to improve patient adherence appears insufficient as adherence is influenced by a multitude of factors. Therefore, a multilevel patient intervention entailing tailored patient education, which is stage-specific and targets health beliefs such as risk perception, outcome expectancy and self-efficacy, is more likely to achieve optimum patient adherence to the prescribed treatment (Conroy and Hagger, 2018, Zhang et al., 2019).

# 2.10. Conclusion

Research in the field of sleep medicine has observed risk perception, outcome expectancy and self-efficacy, targeted by the HAPA model, as determinants of CPAP adherence (Stepnowsky and Dimsdale, 2002, de Zeeuw et al., 2003, Olsen et al., 2008, Deng et al., 2013). To-date, little research has been undertaken exploring these concepts in determining MAA adherence. Consequently, the current research aims to increase patient adherence to MAA treatment, in adult patients with OSA, using the staged-matched behaviour change model of HAPA.

# Chapter 3. A systematic review and meta-analysis of factors influencing adherence to oral appliance therapy in adults with obstructive sleep apnoea

# 3.1. Introduction

Obstructive sleep apnoea (OSA) is a sleep-related breathing disorder, characterized by the repeated episodic collapse of the upper airway during sleep, with resultant sleep deprivation (Banno and Kryger, 2007). Severe long-term effects of this disease include excessive daytime sleepiness, cognitive dysfunction, hypertension, impaired quality of life, and increased cardiovascular morbidity and mortality (Deng et al., 2013).

Based on the severity of OSA there are two main treatment modalities, continuous positive airway pressure (CPAP) and mandibular advancement appliances (MAA) (SIGN, 2003). Both treatments are lifelong with sustained adherence to treatment of paramount importance. Successful treatment may lead to improvements in quality of life, considerable cost saving to the health provider and a reduction in the risk of motor vehicle collisions and cardiovascular disease (Rejon-Parrilla, 2014).

CPAP is mainly used for those suffering from moderate to severe OSA, being highly effective and regarded as the gold standard of treatment (Zozula and Rosen, 2001). However, side effects such as pressure sores, mask dislodgement, claustrophobia, air leakage, and nasal congestion have made it unpopular and intolerable among patients. According to a recent update of the American Academy of Sleep Medicine guidelines, MAA can be prescribed to those with mild to moderate OSA, particularly if they express a preference for it. MAA remains the second-line treatment of choice for patients who refuse or are unable to tolerate CPAP therapy (Ramar et al., 2015).

MAA reduces daytime sleepiness and improves the AHI by posturing the mandible and maintaining an open pharyngeal airway (Lim et al., 2004). However, studies have consistently demonstrated that CPAP is more effective than MAA at reducing sleep disordered breathing and achieving complete control of OSA (Sharples et al., 2016). Despite the greater effect of **57 | P a g e** 

CPAP on objective polysomnographic parameters, it does not appear to be more effective at achieving better health outcomes. It seems that the higher efficacy of CPAP is offset by greater MAA adherence. Adherence with CPAP is reportedly over 1 hour per night lower than with MAA (Phillips et al., 2013). This discrepancy may explain why, despite the superior efficacy of CPAP, as determined by the apnoea-hypopnoea index (AHI), no significant differences were observed in terms of quality of life, cognitive, and functional outcomes (Schwartz et al., 2018).

The short-term efficacy of MAA has been studied in many randomized controlled trials, with encouraging results in all age groups (Marklund et al., 2012, Dal-Fabbro et al., 2014, Sutherland et al., 2014, Marklund and Franklin, 2015, Marklund et al., 2015). However, long-term studies report an unchanged or only minor decrease in the efficacy of MAA (Marklund et al., 2001, Rose et al., 2002b, Ghazal et al., 2009, Aarab et al., 2011, Gauthier et al., 2011). Rose et al observed an increase in the mean AHI, from 4.2 to 8.3 after 2 years of MAA (Rose et al., 2002b). Deterioration in OSA severity and a loss of MAA efficacy were found in a small sample of patients (n = 9) treated continuously for more than 15 years (Marklund, 2016). However, MAA was reported to be effective in two-thirds of patients (n = 279) after three years of treatment (Attali et al., 2016). Despite the limited number of long-term studies, no significant changes appear to have been detected in the efficacy of MAA (Marklund et al., 2001, Ghazal et al., 2009, Gauthier et al., 2011). Notwithstanding this, a decrease in blood pressure is reported from MAA compared with a placebo and equivalent to that of CPAP, in the relatively small samples studied (Schwartz et al., 2018).

Adherence with MAA has until recently been limited to self-reported data, with the inherent risks of over-reporting. Based on this subjective reporting, adherence with MAA therapy appears to decline over time, Hoffstein et al. reported a wide range of adherence (4-76%) in the first year of appliance use. In a further study, adherence after one year was 83% (Dieltjens et al., 2013a) declining to 62-64% after 4 to 6 years (Walker-Engstrom et al., 2002, de Almeida et al., 2005). The ability to assess adherence objectively provides a more valid measure of a treatment modality's effectiveness. With CPAP therapy, the presence of an inbuilt adherence

monitor has provided valuable insight into the limitations of self-reported use, with patients overestimating by up to 1 hour (Kribbs et al., 1993). More recently, Vanderveken et al. and Johal et al. reported on the safety and feasibility, at 3- & 18-months respectively, of objective measurement techniques with MAA in the same cohort of patients, who demonstrated a range of sleep-disordered breathing, from snoring to OSA.

# 3.2. Objectives

The systematic review aimed to assess the factors influencing adherence to MAA in adults with obstructive sleep apnoea and the potential effectiveness of interventions to promote improved adherence.

# 3.3. Materials and methods

Following the registration of the protocol with the International Register of Systematic review (Prospero: CRD42019122615), a systematic review of the literature was undertaken to identify studies exploring the factors influencing adherence to oral appliance therapy in patients with obstructive sleep apnoea.

# 3.3.1. Search strategy

The search strategy was designed to access both published and unpublished materials and comprised three stages:

- A search of MEDLINE Ovid and Embase to identify relevant keywords contained in the title, abstract and subject descriptors.
- Terms identified in this way, and the synonyms used by respective databases were then used in an extensive search of the literature.
- Reference lists and bibliographies of the articles collected from those identified in stage two were searched.

The initial search terms were 'obstructive sleep apnoea', 'oral appliance' and 'patient adherence' and 'Compliance'. Articles indexed in the following database with no restrictions in relation to the date of publication and language of the article were searched: Ovid, Embase, Scopus, Cochrane Library and Web of Science. Primary authors and experts in the field of **59 | P a g e** 

sleep and respiratory medicine were contacted. The additional literature search included Google Scholar to identify any other relevant published work. An example of the search strategy used is shown in Table 3.1.

Table 3.1. Search Strategy (MEDLINE OVID)

1	Sleep Apnoea Syndromes/ or Sleep Apnoea, Obstructive/	30535
2	Mandibular Advancement/	1736
3	Patient Compliance/	54886
4	Obstructive sleep apnoea.mp	3798
5	OSA.mp.	10389
6	Oral Appliance.mp.	486
7	Mandibular advancement appliance.mp.	0
8	Patient adherence.mp.	2838
9	Patient compliance.mp.	2838
10	1 or 4 or 5	34644
11	2 or 6	2098
12	3 or 8 or 9	63355
13	10 and 11 and 12	99

# 3.3.2. Selection criteria

The title and abstracts of the studies identified were assessed independently by two reviewers

(HT, AJ) and were included or excluded based on the following PEO criteria:

- 1. Population: Adults with OSA receiving oral appliance therapy
- 2. Exposure of Interest: Disease characteristics, patient characteristics, appliance features, psychological and social factors
- 3. Outcome: Adherence
- 4. Study Design: Prognostic studies both retrospective or prospective observational in nature and randomized or non-randomized controlled trials

5. Exclusions: Studies comparing CPAP or surgical intervention with oral appliance therapy were excluded

# 3.4. Data collection and management

# 3.4.1. Study selection

The first two reviewers (HT, AJ) obtained full-text reports of studies meeting the selection criteria for screening, and any disagreement was resolved by consulting a third reviewer to reach a consensus (TN).

# 3.4.2. Data extraction

The influence of independent variables such as disease characteristics, patient characteristics, appliance features, and psychological and social factors on the outcome, i.e. adherence, reported in the included studies was recorded and categorized based on these factors (Table 3.2). The findings of the studies were synthesised in a narrative manner. Information regarding study design, sample size, participants and settings, type of oral appliance used, strategies or interventions employed to increase adherence, and method of adherence measurement (objective or self-reported) were recorded.

Table 3.2 Characteristics and principal outcomes of the included studies.

Sr.no.	Study	Study Design	Participants & Settings	Exposure (Patient or disease Characteristics, type of appliance, psychological or social factor)	Outcome (Increased/Decreased or No effect on adherence)	Appliance	Measurement of Adherence	Intervention for adherence
1	Clark et al, 2000	Retrospective observational study	Orofacial Pain & Oral medicine, University of California (n=53, M/F: 46/7, Mean age: 55.7 yrs, Mean AHI <30/hr)	Side effects	Decreased adherence	Herbst Appliance	Self-reported	Nil
2	McGown et al, 2001	Retrospective observational study	Middlesex Hospital, RNTNE Hospital, RLH (n=126, Mean AHI <30/hr)	Patient Characteristics Side effects Psychological (Self-perceived changes) and Social factors	No association with adherence Decreased adherence Increased adherence	Modified Adjustable Silensor and Herbst Device	Self-reported	Nil

3	Rose et al, 2002	Retrospective observational study	Respiratory Care, University Hospital of Freinburg, Germany (n=188,	Patient & Disease Characteristics	No association with adherence	Custom-made MAA (Esmarch IPG)	Self-reported	Nil
			M/F: 168/23, Mean age: 54.4 yrs)	Side effects	Decreased adherence			
					Decreased adherence			
				Psychological (Self-perceived				
				Changes)				
4	De Almeida et al, 2005	Retrospective observational	University of British Columbia, Canada	Patient & Disease characteristics	No association with adherence	Oral Appliance	Self-reported	Nil
		study	(N= 544, IM/F:					

			202/49, Mean age:	Side effects	Decreased adherence			
			49.9 yrs, Mean AHI: 30.25/hr)	Social factors (Bed partners satisfaction) *	Increased adherence			
5	Izci et al, 2005	Retrospective observational study	Department of Sleep Medicine, Edinburgh University (n=144, M/F: 114/30, Mean	Patient characteristics	No association with adherence	Mandibular Repositioning Splint	Self-reported	Nil
			age: 51 yrs, Mean AHI: 24/hr)	Psychological factors (Marital Satisfaction) **	Increased adherence			
				Side effects	Decreased adherence			

6	Bates et al, 2006	Prospective observational study	Department of Orthodontics, Victoria Hospital (n=121, M/F: 83/38, Mean age: 49.55 yrs, Mean AHI: 18.21/hr)	Side effects	Decreased adherence	Mandibular Repositioning Splint	Self-reported	Nil
7	Vanderveken et al, 2008	Randomized Control trial	University of Antwerp, Belgium (n=35, M/F: 29/6, Mean age: 49 yrs, Mean AHI: 14/hr)	Appliance fabrication and titration procedure (Ready-made MAA vs Custom-made MAA)	Increased adherence with Custom-made MAA	Ready-made MAA (SnoreGuard Plus) and Custom-made MAA	Self-reported	Nil
8	Ghazal et al, 2009	Randomized Control trial	Respiratory Care, University Hospital of Freinburg, Germany (n=103, M/F: 48/55, Mean age: 50.5 yrs, Mean AHI: 34.5/hr)	Patient & Disease characteristics Appliance Fabrication (IST vs TAP)	No association with adherence Increased adherence with IST®	IST® and Thornton Anterior Positioner (TAP ™)	Self-reported	Nil

9	Tsuda et al, 2010	Prospective observational study	Kyushu Dental University, Japan (n= 47, M/F: 40/7, Mean age: 53.1 yrs, Mean AHI: 21.3/hr)	Patient & Disease Characteristics (BMI and ESS) Side effects	Decreased adherence in association with higher ESS and BMI Decreased adherence	Boil- Bite Appliance (TheraSnore)	Self-reported	Nil
10	Cunali et al, 2011	Randomized Control trial	Federal University of Sao Paulo, Brazil (n=29, M/F: 10/19, Mean age: 48.5 yrs, Mean AHI: 17/hr)	Intervention- Support Therapy	Increased adherence	MAA (Brazilian Repositioning device BRD ®)	Self-reported	Support Therapy (Mandibular Exercises)
11	Brette et al, 2012	Prospective observational study	Antoine-Beclere & Argenteuil Hospitals (n=140, M/F: 108/32, Mean age: 62 yrs, Mean AHI: 27/hr)	Patient & Disease Characteristics Social Support Appliance characteristics	Decreased adherence Decreased adherence Decreased adherence	Custom-made adjustable device (OPM4 J device)	Self-reported	Nil
12	Freidman et al, 2012	Case series	Advanced Centre for Specialty Care, Chicago (n=180, M/F: 130/50, Mean age: 61.5 yrs, Mean AHI: 33.9/hr)	Side effects Appliance Fabrication (Ready-made MAA vs Custom- made MAA)	Decreased adherence Increased adherence with Custom-made MAA	Ready-made MAA (SomnoGuard AP) and Custom-made MAA (Thornton Adjustable Positioner TAP)	Self-reported	Nil

13	Zhou et al, 2012	Randomized Control trial	Department of Orthodontics, Tongji University (n=16, M/F: 13/3, Mean age: 45.23 yrs, Mean AHI: 38/hr)	Appliance fabrication and titration procedure (Mono-bloc MAA vs two-piece MAA)	Increased adherence with Mono-bloc MAA	Mono-bloc MAA (Activator) and Bi-bloc MAA (Silent Nite)	Self-reported	Nil
14	Dieltjens et al, 2013	Case-control study	University of Antwerp, Belgium (n=82, M/F: 56/26,	Psychological factors (Type D personality)	Decreased adherence	Custom-made Mono Bloc MAA and Custom-	Self-reported	Nil

			Mean age: 49.5 yrs, Mean AHI: 18/hr)			made Bi-bloc titratable MAA (RespiDent Butterfly ®)		
15	Ingman et al, 2013	Retrospective observational study	Department of Oral & Maxillofacial Diseases, Helsinki University Hospital (n=96, M/F: 68/28, Mean age: 50.5 yrs, Mean AHI: 18.4/hr)	Patient characteristics (length of the maxilla, mandible and soft palate, oropharyngeal space, crepitation at TMJ)	Increased adherence with shorter mesio- distal length of the maxilla and mandible, and crepitation at right TMJ	Mandibular Advancement Splint	Self-reported	Nil
16	Lee at al, 2013	Non- randomized control trial	Department of Otorhinolaryngology, Seoul National University (n=153, M/F: 138/15, Mean age: 51.2 yrs, Mean	Appliance fabrication and titration procedure (Mono-bloc MAA vs Bi-bloc MAA)	Increased adherence with Bi-bloc MAA	Mono-bloc and Bi-bloc MAA	Self-reported	Nil

			AHI: 32.8/hr)					
17	Quinnell et al, 2014	Randomized Control trial	Papworth Hospital Sleep Centre, (n=90, M/F: 72/81, Mean age: 50.9 yrs, Mean AHI: 13.8/hr)	Appliance fabrication (Boil- Bite vs Semi- bespoke vs Be- spoke)	Increased adherence with the Be-spoke oral appliance	Boil-bite MAA (Sleep pro-1), Semi-bespoke MAA (Sleep pro 2), and Bespoke MAA	Self-reported	Nil
18	Wang et al, 2014	Randomized Control trial	Dept. of Otorhinology, Hospital of Anhui Medical University (n=22, M/F: 22/0, Mean age: 51.9 yrs, Mean AHI: 48.16/hr)	Appliance Type (Adjustable MAA vs Non-adjustable MAA)	Increased adherence with the adjustable MAA	Rod Type MAA (Erkodent Silensor) and Controllable appliance (Twin Bloc)	Self-reported	Nil
19	Dieltjens et al, 2015	Prospective observational study	Antwerp University Hospital, Belgium (n=51, M/F: 38/13,	Patient (Anthropometric) & Disease	No association with adherence	Custom-made titratable MAA	Objective (Theramon Sensors)	Nil

	Mean age: 49.3 yrs, Mean AHI: 14.9/h, Mean AHI: 18.4/hr)	characteristics (Polysomnographic measure)		(RespiDent Butterfly ®)	
		Side effects	Decreased adherence		

20	Prescinotto et al, 2015	Retrospective observational study	Federal University of Sao Paulo, Brazil (n=28, M/F: 9/19, Mean age: 48.8 yrs, Mean AHI; 17.5/hr)	Patient characteristics (upper airway abnormalities)	No association with adherence	Custom-made	Self-reported	Nil
21	Attali et al, 2016	Prospective observational study	Pitié-Salpétrière, France (n=279, M/F: 98/81, Mean age: 58 yrs, Mean AHI: 26/hr)	Appliance factors Side effects Psychological factors	Decreased adherence Decreased adherence Decreased adherence	Ready-made MAA (Naval Resmed) and Custom-made MAA (Somnodent SomnoMed)	Self-reported	Nil
22	Carballo et al, 2016	Retrospective observational study	Veterans Affairs Medical Centre, Brazil (n=33, M/F: 32/1, Mean age: 71.4 yrs)	Psychological and social factors	No association with Adherence	Oral Appliance	Self-reported	Nil
23	Makihara et al, 2016	Retrospective observational study	Kyushu Dental University, Japan (n=48, M/F: 35/13, Mean age: 64.9 yrs)	Side effects Psychological factors	Decreased adherence Decreased adherence	Boil- Bite Appliance (TheraSnore)	Self-reported	Nil
24	Nerfeldt et al, 2016	Prospective intervention study	Department of Clinical Science, Karolinska Institute Stockholm, Sweden (n=66, M/F: 37/35, Mean Age: 48.5 yrs, Mean AHI: 16/hr)	Disease Characteristics (Arousers vs Desaturaters)	Increased adherence in arousers	Mono-bloc titratable MAA	Self-reported	Nil

25	Vecchierini et al, 2016	Prospective intervention study	Multicentre (n=369, M/F: 273/96, Mean age: 52.6 yrs, Mean AHI: 29.5/hr)	Side effects	Decreased adherence in the early stages of the treatment	Custom-made MAA (Narval)	Self-reported	Nil
26	Al-Dharrab et al, 2017	Randomized Control trial	Faculty of Dentistry, King Abdul-Aziz University (n=12, M/F: 2/10, Mean age: 46 yrs, Mean AHI: 26/hr)	Appliance fabrication and titration procedure (Titratable vs Non- titratable)	Increased adherence with Titratable appliance	Custom-made titratable MAA (Foresta Dent, Bite Jumping screw) and non-titratable MAA	Self-reported	Nil
27	Gagnadoux et al, 2017	Non- randomized control trial	University of Angers and Saint-Antoine Hospital, France (n=158, M/F: 104/54, Mean age: 54 yrs, Mean AHI: 27.7/hr)	Appliance fabrication and titration procedure (Ready-made MAA vs Custom- made MAA)	Increased adherence with Custom-made MAA	Ready-made MAA (BluePro) and Custom-made MAA (Somnodent and Amo Device)	Self-reported	Nil
28	Haviv et al, 2017	Mixed- methods	Department of Oral Medicine, Hebrew university (n=52, M/F: 48/4, Mean age: 56.75 yrs, Mean AHI ≤40/hr)	Side effects Psychological factors	Decreased adherence Decreased adherence	Herbst Device	Self-reported	Nil

29	Johal et al, 2017	Randomized Control trial	Royal London Dental Hospital, Queen Mary University of London, (n=35, M/F: 21/14, Mean age: 44.9 yrs, Mean AHI: 13.3/hr)	Appliance fabrication and titration procedure (Ready-made MAA vs Custom- made MAA)	Increased adherence with Custom-made MAA	Ready-made MAA (Snoreshield) and Custom- made MAA	Self-reported	Nil
30	Nishigawa et al, 2017	Retrospective observational study	Department of General Dentistry, Tokushima University Hospital Japan (n=40, M/F: 28/12, Mean age: 57.8 yrs)	Side effects Psychological factors	Decreased adherence Decreased adherence	Herbst Appliance	Self-reported	Nil
31	Saglam- Aydinatay et al, 2018	Retrospective observational study	Department of Orthodontics, Hacettepe University, Ankara, Turkey (n=69, M/F: 52/17, Mean age: 54.4 yrs, Mean AHI <30/hr)	Patient & Disease Characteristics Side effects Psychological (Self-perceived changes) and social factors	No association with adherence Decreased adherence Increased adherence	Mono-bloc MAA and Twin-bloc MAA	Self-reported	Nil

# 3.4.3. Risk of bias and quality assessment in Individual studies

Two authors independently assessed the risk of bias of the included studies (HT, AJ) and any disagreements were resolved by further discussion and consensus. Due to the diversity in the design of the included studies, two different tools were used to assess their quality. Randomized controlled trials were assessed using the Cochrane Collaboration's risk of bias tool (Higgins et al., 2019). The following five domains were considered: random sequence generation, allocation concealment, blinding of outcome assessors, incomplete outcome data, selective reporting. The domain blinding of participants and personnel was not considered due to the nature of the questions addressed by this review. Observational studies were critically appraised using the QUIPS (Quality in Prognosis studies) tool (Hayden et al., 2013). This tool assesses the risk of bias in studies of prognostic factors and comprises of six domains: study participation, study attrition, prognostic factor management, outcome measurement, study confounding, and statistical analysis and reporting.

# 3.4.4. Meta-analysis

A meta-analysis was performed using Review Manager (RevMan; Version 5.3. Copenhagen, The Nordic Cochrane Centre, The Cochrane Collaboration, 2014) for studies with: low and /or unclear risk of bias, similar study design and comparing two types (ready-made vs custommade) mandibular advancement appliances, prescribed for patients with OSA in regards to patient adherence. Results were analysed using forest plots with weighted mean differences between ready-made versus custom-made appliances in relation to patient adherence i.e. mean nightly (hours) use of the appliance. The studies were weighted using the inverse variance method and tested for heterogeneity using the Chi<sup>2</sup> test to assess the significance of heterogeneity and  $l^2$  statistics to measure the diversity between studies. Pooled studies with  $l^2 < 25\%$  were regarded as homogenous, and those with  $l^2 > 75\%$  were considered to demonstrate high heterogeneity. A fixed-effects model was used and a P-value of less than

0.05 was considered statistically significant, reported along with the 95% confidence interval (CI).

# 3.5. Results

Following the removal of duplicates, 419 articles were considered eligible for screening of the title and abstract. The abstracts were assessed against the selection criteria, with 45 articles considered eligible for full-text screening. Subsequently, fourteen studies were excluded (Table 3.3), with a total of 31 studies included in the review, which consisted of eight RCTs, two CCTs, seven prospective cohorts, 11 retrospective cohorts, whilst the remaining three studies were a case-series, case-control and a mixed-methods study (Figure 3.1). All 31 included studies were subject to qualitative analysis, with four studies subject to a meta-analysis. All included studies were undertaken in academic medical centres or sleep centres.

Sr. no.	Study	Reason for Exclusion
1	Bachour et al, 2016	Excluded (Wrong outcome –no information in regard to influence of variables on patient adherence)
2	Banhiran et al, 2014	Excluded (Wrong outcome –no information in regard to influence of variables on patient adherence)
3	Basoglu et al, 2012	Excluded (Wrong outcome –no information in regard to influence of variables on patient adherence)
4	Bennett et al, 1998	Excluded (Wrong comparator- CPAP vs MAA)
5	Ferguson et al, 1996	Excluded (Wrong comparator- CPAP vs MAA)
6	Freidman et al, 2010	Excluded (Wrong outcome –no information in regard to influence of variables on patient adherence)
7	Gagnadoux et al, 2009	Excluded (wrong comparator –CPAP vs MAA)
8	Gindre et al, 2008	Excluded (wrong outcome –no information in regard to influence of variables on patient adherence)
9	Neill et al, 2002	Excluded (Wrong outcome –no information in regard to influence of variables on patient adherence)
10	Peled et al, 2009	Excluded (Wrong outcome –no information in regard to influence of variables on patient adherence)
11	Randerath et al, 2002	Excluded (Wrong comparator –CPAP vs MAA)
12	Tavares et al, 2009	Excluded- Full Text Not available
13	Tsai et al, 2004	Excluded (Wrong outcome –no information in regard to influence of variables on patient adherence)
14	Vanderveken et al, 2012	Excluded (Wrong study design)

Table 3.3 Excluded studies along with the reason for exclusion


Figure 3.1 A PRISMA flow diagram shows the number of articles identified at each stage of the search.

# 3.5.1. Characteristics of included studies

The majority of the included studies investigated the influence of side effects (45%), disease and patient characteristics (41%) and appliance characteristics (32%) on patient adherence (Table 3.4). The efficacy of strategies or interventions to increase patient adherence to MAA in adult patients with OSA was only assessed in a single study (Cunali et al., 2011). Whilst a self-reported measure of adherence was used in the majority of included studies, objective monitoring of adherence was reported in just one study (Dieltjens et al., 2015). Studies which considered psychological and social factors (38%) focused on the impact of constructs, such as bed-partner satisfaction levels (improvement reported in the patient's snoring by their partner), self-perceived changes and type D personality (a combination personality type of negative affectivity and social inhibition) on oral appliance adherence.

Sr no.	Exposure of interest	Study
1	<b>Disease and Patient Characteristics</b>	De Almeida et al, 2005
		Dieltjens et al, 2013
		Ghazal et al, 2009
		Izci et al, 2005
		McGown et al, 2001
		Brette et al, 2012
		Dieltjens et al, 2015
		Ingman et al, 2013
		Nerfeldt et al, 2016
		Prescinotto et al, 2015
		Rose et al, 2002
		Saglam-Aydinatay et al, 2018
		Tsuda et al, 2010
3	Appliance Fabrication and Titration Procedures	Gagnadoux et al, 2017
		Johal et al, 2017
		Lee at al, 2013
		Wang et al, 2014
		Zhou et al, 2012
		Al-Dharrab et al, 2017
		Dieltjens et al, 2013
		Ghazal et al, 2009
		Quinnell et al, 2014
		Freidman et al, 2012
		Vanderveken et al, 2008
4	Side Effects	Attali et al, 2016
		De Almeida et al, 2005
		Izci et al, 2005
		Makihara et al, 2016
		McGown et al, 2001

# Table 3.4 Categorisation of studies based on the influencing factor

		Bates et al, 2006
		Clark et al, 2000
		Freidman et al, 2012
		Dieltjens et al, 2015
		Haviv et al, 2017
		Nishigawa et al, 2017
		Rose et al, 2002
		Tsuda et al, 2010
		Vecchierini et al, 2016
5	Psychological & Social Factors	Attali et al, 2016
		Carballo et al, 2016
		De Almeida et al, 2005
		Dieltjens et al, 2013
		Izci et al, 2005
		Makihara et al, 2016
		McGown et al, 2001
		Brette et al, 2012
		Haviv et al, 2017
		Nishigawa et al, 2017
		Rose et al, 2002
		Saglam-Aydinatay et al, 2018

#### 3.5.2. Risk of bias within studies

The risk of bias assessment for random sequence generation, allocation concealment, blinding of outcome assessors, incomplete outcome data, selective reporting was assessed for the included RCTs (n = 8) and CCTs (n = 2). The majority of these studies demonstrated a low or unclear risk of bias for the above domains. Only two studies (Lee et al., 2013, Gagnadoux et al., 2017) demonstrated a high risk of bias for random sequence generation, otherwise a low risk of bias was assessed in relation to selective reporting for all included studies. In terms of allocation concealment, five studies (Ghazal et al., 2009, Zhou and Liu, 2012, Quinnell et al., 2014, Wang and Liu, 2014, Al-Dharrab, 2017) demonstrated an unclear risk of bias, three studies (Vanderveken et al., 2008, Cunali et al., 2011, Johal et al., 2017) indicated a low risk of bias and a high risk of bias was observed in two studies (Lee et al., 2013, Gagnadoux et al., 2017). Due to no clear description concerning blinding of outcome assessors, seven studies (Ghazal et al., 2009, Cunali et al., 2011, Zhou and Liu, 2012, Lee et al., 2013, Quinnell et al., 2014, Wang and Liu, 2014, Al-Dharrab, 2017) exhibited an unclear risk of bias and a low risk of bias was observed in the rest of the three studies (Vanderveken et al., 2008, Gagnadoux et al., 2017, Johal et al., 2017). High risk of bias for incomplete outcome data was observed in only one study (Gagnadoux et al., 2017) whereas the remaining nine studies (Vanderveken et al., 2008, Ghazal et al., 2009, Cunali et al., 2011, Lee et al., 2013, Quinnell et al., 2014, Wang and Liu, 2014, Al-Dharrab, 2017, Johal et al., 2017, Zhou and Liu, 2012) exhibited a low risk of bias. The findings along with the comments for the judgement are summarised in Table 3.5.

Similarly, observational studies (n = 21) were found to demonstrate a low or moderate risk of bias concerning study participation, study attrition, prognostic factor management, outcome management, study confounding and statistical analysis and reporting. Four studies (Prescinotto et al., 2015, Carballo et al., 2016, Nerfeldt and Friberg, 2016, Saglam-Aydinatay and Taner, 2018) exhibited a moderate risk of bias for study participation whereas the remaining studies (n = 17) indicated a low risk of bias. All studies demonstrated a low risk of bias for the domains-outcome measurement and, statistical analysis and reporting. In terms

of study attrition, three studies (Brette et al., 2012, Nerfeldt and Friberg, 2016, Nishigawa et al., 2017) exhibited a moderate risk of bias whilst a low risk of bias was observed in the remaining studies. Furthermore, eight studies (Tsuda et al., 2010, Brette et al., 2012, Ingman et al., 2013, Dieltjens et al., 2015, Prescinotto et al., 2015, Nerfeldt and Friberg, 2016, Vecchierini et al., 2016, Saglam-Aydinatay and Taner, 2018) demonstrated a low risk of bias for prognostic factor measurement and remaining studies exhibited a moderate risk of bias. The majority of the studies indicated a moderate risk of bias for study confounding while a low risk of bias was observed in two studies (Izci et al., 2005, Dieltjens et al., 2015) (Table 3.6).

1	Al Dharrab 2017	Risk of Bias	Support for judgement
i	Randomisation (Selection Bias)	Low risk	"The patients were then simply randomised to treatment with either Type A or Type B appliance."
ii	Allocation Concealment (Selection Bias)	Unclear risk	No clear description
iii	Blinding of outcome assessment (Detection Bias)	Unclear risk	No clear description
iv	Incomplete Outcome Data (Attrition Bias)	Low risk	"No patients were dropped from the study for any reason."
v	Selective Reporting	Low risk	The authors reported all the pre-specified outcomes.
2	Cunali 2011	Risk of Bias	Support for judgement
i	Randomisation (Selection Bias)	Low risk	"study was a double-blind, Randomised, and controlled trial in which patients were distributed"
ii	Allocation Concealment (Selection Bias)	Low risk	"The investigator who was blinded to the Randomisation has only applied all study instruments of evaluation such as the RDC, while a second investigator did the Randomisation and was responsible for explaining the exercises to the patients."
iii	Blinding of outcome assessment (Detection Bias)	Unclear risk	No clear description
iv	Incomplete Outcome Data (Attrition Bias)	Low risk	Small number of dropouts in both of the groups ( Support therapy n=1 dropout vs Placebo Therapy n=2 dropout)
v	Selective Reporting	Low risk	The authors reported all the pre-specified outcomes.
3	Gagnadoux 2017	Risk of Bias	Support for judgement
i	Randomisation (Selection Bias)	High risk	"This prospective non Randomised study was conducted"

ii	Allocation Concealment (Selection Bias)	High risk	Lack of Randomisation and allocation concealment
iii	Blinding of outcome assessment (Detection Bias)	Low risk	"Outcome assessors were unaware of the device assignment."
iv	Incomplete Outcome Data (Attrition Bias)	High risk	Large number of dropouts in both groups (Ready-made n=39 dropouts and Custom- made n= 23 dropouts) and imbalanced Randomisation (Ready-made n= 125 vs Custom-made n=95) due to lack of Randomisation.
v	Selective Reporting	Low risk	The authors reported all the pre-specified outcomes.
4	Lee 2013	Risk of Bias	Support for judgement
i	Randomisation (Selection Bias)	High risk	No description of Randomisation and allocation concealment. "Two groups of patients were included in the present study; one group of patients was prescribed
			mono-bloc MAD and the other group of patients was bi-bloc MAD."
ii	Allocation Concealment (Selection Bias)	High risk	No description of allocation concealment. "Two groups of patients were included in the present study; one group of patients was prescribed mono-bloc MAD and the other group of patients was bi-bloc MAD."
iii	Blinding of outcome assessment (Detection Bias)	Unclear risk	No clear description
iv	Incomplete Outcome Data (Attrition Bias)	Low risk	No dropouts or withdrawal as 153 patients were enrolled and 153 were analysed
v	Selective Reporting	Low risk	The authors reported all the pre-specified outcomes.
5	Quinnell 2014	Risk of Bias	Support for judgement
i	Randomisation (Selection Bias)	Low risk	"This open-label, randomised, controlled, crossover trial was undertaken at a UK sleep centre."
ii	Allocation Concealment (Selection Bias)	Unclear risk	No clear description

iii	Blinding of outcome assessment (Detection	Unclear risk	No clear description
	Bias)		
iv	Incomplete Outcome Data (Attrition Bias)	Low risk	Small number of dropouts only in one group (n=3 lost to follow-up)
v	Selective Reporting	Low risk	The authors reported all the pre-specified outcomes.
6	Vanderveken 2008	Risk of Bias	Support for judgement
i	Randomisation (Selection Bias)	Low risk	"Participants were randomly allocated (concealed Randomisation) to either treatment sequence A or B."
ii	Allocation Concealment (Selection Bias)	Low risk	"allocated (concealed Randomisation) to either treatment sequence A or B."
iii	Blinding of outcome assessment (Detection Bias)	Low risk	"Sleep recordings were scored manually in a standard fashion by a qualified sleep technician blinded to the subject's treatment status."
iv	Incomplete Outcome Data (Attrition Bias)	Low risk	No dropouts reported
v	Selective Reporting	Low risk	The authors reported all the pre-specified outcomes.
7	Wang 2014	Risk of Bias	Support for judgement
i	Randomisation (Selection Bias)	Low risk	"Randomisation at the beginning of the study."
ii	Allocation Concealment (Selection Bias)	Unclear risk	No clear description
iii	Blinding of outcome assessment (Detection Bias)	Unclear risk	No clear description
iv	Incomplete Outcome Data (Attrition Bias)	Low risk	Smaller no of dropouts (n=2 dropouts)
v	Selective Reporting	Low risk	The authors reported all the pre-specified outcomes.
8	Zhou 2012	Risk of Bias	Support for judgement

i	Randomisation (Selection Bias)	Low risk	"The 16 patients enrolled were randomly divided into two groups"
ii	Allocation Concealment (Selection Bias)	Unclear risk	No clear description
iii	Blinding of outcome assessment (Detection Bias)	Unclear risk	No clear description
iv	Incomplete Outcome Data (Attrition Bias)	Low risk	"All of the patients finished the treatment as expected"
v	Selective Reporting	Low risk	The authors reported all the pre-specified outcomes.
9	Johal 2017	Risk of Bias	Support for judgement
i	Randomisation (Selection Bias)	Low risk	"random identification numbers were compiled from Altman's randomisation table to one of the two treatment groups, using a block randomisation method"
ii	Allocation Concealment (Selection Bias)	Low risk	"Opaque envelopes to conceal the allocation were labelled with identification numbers only"
iii	Blinding of outcome assessment (Detection Bias)	Low risk	"Data analysis, was undertaken blind to the intervention by a statistician with coded data, using SPSS."
iv	Incomplete Outcome Data (Attrition Bias)	Low risk	Balanced dropouts from both the groups (Ready-made n= 6 and Custom-made n=4), "intention to treat analysis demonstrated that dropouts did not affect the validity of the current study results."
v	Selective Reporting	Low risk	The authors reported all the pre-specified outcomes.
10	Ghazal 2009	Risk of Bias	Support for judgement
i	Randomisation (Selection Bias)	Low risk	"Enrolled patients were Randomised according to a computer-generated Randomisation list."
ii	Allocation Concealment (Selection Bias)	Unclear risk	Not described
iii	Blinding of outcome assessment (Detection Bias)	Unclear risk	No clear description

iv	Incomplete Outcome Data (Attrition Bias)	Low risk	Balanced number of withdrawals from both the groups at follow-up 1 and 2.
v	Selective Reporting	Low risk	The authors reported all the pre-specified

outcomes.

# Table 3.6 Risk of bias tool for observational studies using the QUIPS tool

		Bias Domains					
Sr. no.	Study ID	Study Participation	Study Attrition	Prognostic Factor Measurement	Outcome Measurement	Study Confounding	Statistical Analysis and Reporting
1	Attali 2006	Low	Low	Moderate	Low	Moderate	Low
2	Carballo 2016	Moderate	Low	Moderate	Low	Moderate	Low
3	De Almeida 2005	Low	Low	Moderate	Low	Moderate	Low
4	Izci 2005	Low	Low	Moderate	Low	Low	Low
5	Makihara 2016	Low	Low	Moderate	Low	Moderate	Low
6	McGown 2001	Low	Low	Moderate	Low	Moderate	Low
7	Bates 2006	Low	Low	Moderate	Low	Moderate	Low
8	Brette 2006	Low	Moderate	Low	Low	Moderate	Low
9	Clark 2000	Low	Low	Moderate	Low	Moderate	Low
10	Freidman 2012	Low	Low	Moderate	Low	Moderate	Low
11	Dieltjens 2013	Low	Low	Moderate	Low	Moderate	Low
12	Dieltjens 2015	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low
13	Haviv 2017	Low	Low	Moderate	Low	Moderate	Low
14	Ingman 2013	Low	Low	Low	Low	Moderate	Low
15	Nerfeldt 2016	Moderate	Moderate	Low	Low	Moderate	Low
16	Nishigawa 2017	Low	Moderate	Moderate	Low	Moderate	Low
17	Prescinotto 2015	Moderate	Low	Low	Low	Moderate	Low

18	Rose 2002	Low	Low	Moderate	Low	Moderate	Low
19	Saglam- Aydinatay	Moderate	Low	Low	Low	Moderate	Low
	2018						
20	Tsuda 2004	Low	Low	Low	Low	Moderate	Low
21	Vecchierini	Low	Low	Low	Low	Moderate	Low
	2016						

## 3.5.3. Qualitative study analysis

## 3.5.3.1. Patient and disease Characteristics

The findings of the qualitative analysis are summarised in table 3.7. The current review identified 13 studies exploring the influence of patient and disease characteristics, which reported neither supine-dependent OSA, age, obesity, sex, or sleepiness to be related to MAA tolerability (McGown et al., 2001, Rose et al., 2002a, de Almeida et al., 2005, Izci et al., 2005, Ghazal et al., 2009, Tsuda et al., 2010, Brette et al., 2012, Dieltjens et al., 2013b, Ingman et al., 2013, Dieltjens et al., 2015, Prescinotto et al., 2015, Nerfeldt and Friberg, 2016, Saglam-Aydinatay and Taner, 2018). There were no significant gender differences detected in relation to the cessation of appliance use. Neither disease severity or baseline sleepiness was found to be a predictor of MAA adherence (de Almeida et al., 2005). Whilst the above-reported studies relied upon self-reported adherence, a further single study found no correlation between objective adherence and anthropometric characteristics, polysomnographic parameters or excessive daytime sleepiness (Dieltjens et al., 2015). Furthermore, among the 13 studies included, one study found no significant association between adherence and the following patient anatomical characteristics: upper-airway or facial skeletal abnormalities, such as pharyngeal alterations (p = 0.62), retrognathia (p = 0.34), Class II dental occlusion (p = 0.62) (0.64), craniofacial alterations (p = 0.44) or nasal alterations (p = 0.38) (Prescinotto et al., 2015). Although the findings are not statistically significant, these should be viewed carefully as the authors relied upon self-reported adherence, rather than objective adherence.

## 3.5.3.2. Appliance fabrication and titration

In terms of appliance factors, 11 studies examined the influence of appliance fabrication and titration on MAA adherence (Vanderveken et al., 2008, Ghazal et al., 2009, Friedman et al., 2012, Zhou and Liu, 2012, Dieltjens et al., 2013b, Lee et al., 2013, Gagnadoux et al., 2017, Al-Dharrab, 2017, Johal et al., 2017, Quinnell et al., 2014, Wang and Liu, 2014). One study compared the modified Herbst appliance (IST<sup>®</sup>) with the Thornton anterior positioner (TAP<sup>™</sup>), which differed in their ability to open the mouth during sleep in a protrusive position (Ghazal et al., 2013).

al., 2009). Although the TAP<sup>™</sup> was more effective in treating OSA, its long term acceptance was less than that of the IST<sup>®</sup> (Ghazal et al., 2009).

Three Studies comparing mono-bloc MAA with bi-bloc MAA, with regards to their adherence have reported rather conflicting results (Zhou and Liu, 2012, Dieltjens et al., 2013b, Lee et al., 2013). Zhou and Lou suggested that mono-bloc appliance should be considered, as almost half of the patients preferred the appliance to the bi-bloc device. However, the findings were based on a very small sample size (n = 16) (Zhou and Liu, 2012). On the contrary, a large prospective single-centre study, with a sample size of 153 patients, observed an adherence rate of 83.3% with the Bi-Bloc MAA and 68.8% with the Mono-Bloc MAA, at 1 year (P = 0.04). The authors concluded that the relatively free mandibular movement may explain the difference in adherence rates (Lee et al., 2013). Similarly, Dieltjens et al. whilst examining the association between Type D personality (a combination personality type of negative affectivity and social inhibition) and MAA adherence, observed a higher discontinuation rate with monobloc MAA in comparison to bi- or duo-bloc appliance (95% CI, 1.77 - 47.09; p = 0.008) when adjusted for Type D personality, age, gender and decrease in AHI (Dieltjens et al., 2013b). However, the findings of the above studies should again be interpreted with caution as they failed to assess adherence using an objective measure and the marked differences in study designs.

Seven studies evaluating the impact of ready-made (non-adjustable/ non-titratable) and custom-made MAA, observed an overwhelming patient-reported preference for custom-made MAA in comparison to ready-made devices (Vanderveken et al., 2008, Friedman et al., 2012, Quinnell et al., 2014, Wang and Liu, 2014, Al-Dharrab, 2017, Gagnadoux et al., 2017, Johal et al., 2017). The adherence was higher with the custom-made MAA despite more reported dental discomfort (p = 0.03) (Gagnadoux et al., 2017). In a further RCT, with a crossover design, Johal et al. reported a response rate of only 24% with a ready-made MAA versus the 64% in the custom-made MAA. It has to be acknowledged that adherence was assessed from self-reports and can be at risk of bias. More recently, the addition of objective adherence

monitors has served to confirm the reported levels of self-reported adherence with MAA (Vanderveken et al., 2013, Johal et al., 2016).

#### 3.5.3.3. Side effects

Side effects, such as dental pain, muscular pain and excessive salivation associated with MAA may prevent early acceptance of the device and contribute to non-adherence (Bates and McDonald, 2006). Moreover, side effects arising from long-term MAA use, such as bite change may also lead to poor patient adherence (Clark et al., 2000, McGown et al., 2001, Dieltjens et al., 2015, Attali et al., 2016). The current review identified 14 studies examining the influence of early and long-term side effects on MAA adherence (Clark et al., 2000, McGown et al., 2000, McGown et al., 2001, Rose et al., 2002a, de Almeida et al., 2005, Izci et al., 2005, Bates and McDonald, 2006, Tsuda et al., 2010, Friedman et al., 2012, Dieltjens et al., 2015, Attali et al., 2016, Makihara et al., 2016, Vecchierini et al., 2016, Haviv et al., 2017, Nishigawa et al., 2017).

The most common self-reported reason for discontinuing the treatment was a lack of treatment effect or discomfort or pain on MAA use, consistent with other reported studies (Clark et al., 2000, Bates and McDonald, 2006, Izci et al., 2005, Attali et al., 2016, Saglam-Aydinatay and Taner, 2018). Furthermore, early discontinuation (< 2 years) of treatment was observed due to side effects, discomfort and inefficacy. In contrast, patients discontinued treatment due to no specific reasons after 2 or more years (Attali et al., 2016). Additionally, the higher rates of treatment discontinuation with ready-made MAA was found to be associated with higher reported side effects in comparison to the custom-made MAA (Vanderveken et al., 2008, Quinnell et al., 2014, Gagnadoux et al., 2017, Johal et al., 2017).

#### 3.5.3.4. Psychological and Social factors

Among the 31 included studies, twelve studies (de Almeida et al., 2005, Attali et al., 2016, Carballo et al., 2016) examined the influence of the psychological and social factors on MAA adherence. One study reported low rates of perceived effectiveness, self-efficacy, and social support for MAA as a cohort (n = 39) of older patients had low expectation for positive outcomes (Carballo et al., 2016). However, given that other included studies identified psychological factors, such as a lack of perceived benefits by the patients and their bed partner, and cognitive perceptions such as complete symptom resolution as influential on MAA

adherence, the above findings are highly contentious (Rose et al., 2002a, de Almeida et al., 2005, Izci et al., 2005, Dieltjens et al., 2013b, Attali et al., 2016, Haviv et al., 2017, Nishigawa et al., 2017). Likewise, two studies identified that social factors, such as poor marital satisfaction (marital quality and bed sharing frequency) (p < 0.04), support from their partner and shame caused by the disease symptoms, to be associated with continued usage of MAA (Izci et al., 2005, Saglam-Aydinatay and Taner, 2018). Nevertheless, the above findings should be viewed carefully due to marked differences in study designs and lack of objective assessment of adherence.

actors	Decreased adherence	Increased adherence	No significant association with adherence	Caveat
Patient and disease			Anthropometric characteristics (Age, Sex, obesity)	
S			Disease severity	_
			Baseline Sleepiness	_
			Polysomnographic parameters	-
			Anatomical characteristics (length of the maxilla, mandible and soft palate, oropharyngeal space, crepitation at TMJ)	
			Upper airway or facial skeletal abnormalities	-
	Desaturaters (patients with oxygen desaturations)	Arousers (Patients with respiratory arousals)		Significant improvement in the ESS among the arousers
		MAA therapy as the first line of treatment		Strong predictor for treatment continuation
		Complete symptom resolution		Contributes to the perception of OSA but not a strong predictor alone
	Mono-bloc MAA	Bi-Bloc MAA		Relatively free mandibular movement

Appliance Fabrication and Titration	Ready-made (Non- titratable) MAA	Custom-made (Titratable) MAA	More reported side-effects with ready-made as compared to custom-made
Side effects	Dental, Muscular and TMJ pain Excessive salivation Bite change Patients not using the MAA for > 2 years	Regular dental follow-up	Prevents early acceptance of the device and weak but consistent factors for discontinuation Non-users reported more side-effects than users More likely to discontinue the treatment Helps in minimising early side-effects which lead to early discontinuation of the treatment
Psychologica I and social factors	Lack of perceived benefits	Support from their bed partners	Leads to early discontinuation of the treatment, consistent factor Improved sleep quality of the bed partner with MAA use is associated with increased adherence

# 3.5.4. Quantitative analysis

A meta-analysis was undertaken in relation to the use of ready-made MAA versus custommade MAA with regards to patient adherence (Figure 3.2). Based on these studies (Vanderveken et al., 2008, Quinnell et al., 2014, Gagnadoux et al., 2017, Johal et al., 2017), increased adherence was observed with custom-made appliances, with a pooled mean difference of -1.34 (-2.02 to -0.66b), with low levels of heterogeneity ( $I^2 = 0\%$ ).



The forest plot demonstrates four studies that indicate increased patient adherence with custom-made appliances in comparison to ready-made appliances. The squares represents the point estimate of the corresponding studies. The area of the each square is proportional to the study's weight in the meta-analysis and the lateral points (horizontal line) indicate the confidence intervals of the respective study. The overall effect or the summary estimate is plotted as a diamond and the lateral points demonstrate the confidence intervals of the estimate. A mean difference of zero (vertical line) indicates no effect; studies with confidence intervals crossing the vertical line are inconclusive. Powerful studies have narrower confidence intervals.

In the above graph the Quinnell study and the overall effect estimate have narrow confidence intervals that do not cross zero, indicating that the meta-analysis could be considered as statistically significant.

Figure 3.2 Forest plot of patient reported adherence for custom-made MAA and ready-made MAA.

## 3.5. Discussion

Given that mandibular advancement appliances are removable and have to be used indefinitely, adherence to treatment is of utmost importance for achieving successful therapy (Ramar et al., 2015). However, adherence to MAA for obstructive sleep apnoea is highly variable (Sutherland et al., 2014). The current review observed that the relationship between MAA adherence and patient and disease characteristics such as age, sex, obesity, AHI, daytime sleepiness is relatively weak. Furthermore, no association was observed between objective adherence and anthropometric characteristics, polysomnographic parameters, and excessive daytime sleepiness. It also appears that disease severity and sleepiness may not be associated with MAA adherence. The majority of the included studies, exploring the impact of patient and disease characteristics were retrospective in nature and highly heterogeneous in terms of study participants.

Dieltjens et al. conducted a prospective clinical trial to identify the determinants of objective adherence to MAA in patients with OSA. Previous studies on MAA adherence have relied upon patient-reported adherence which is subject to overestimation (de Almeida et al., 2005, Marklund and Franklin, 2007). Moreover, objective compliance monitors with MAA have only been introduced recently (Vanderveken et al., 2013). The trial (n = 51) observed no correlation between objective adherence and anthropometric characteristics, polysomnographic parameters and excessive daytime sleepiness. Nevertheless, the authors did emphasize the influence of socially disturbing snoring, reporting objective adherence correlated significantly with a decrease in socially disturbing snoring, as reported by the partner compared with baseline visual analogue scale scores (VAS) for snoring without the appliance (Dieltjens et al., 2015). Nerfeldt and Friberg investigated the difference between 'arousers (patients with respiratory arousals) and 'desaturaters' (patients with oxygen desaturations) in terms of adherence rates the authors observed that patients with greater numbers of arousal showed higher adherence (85%) than among the 'desaturaters' (55%; p=0.034). It was reasoned that the above difference in adherence rate was due to a significant improvement in the Epworth sleepiness score (ESS) among the 'arousers' (ESS

 $\geq$  10) which was not seen among the 'desaturaters' (Nerfeldt and Friberg, 2016). Furthermore, MAA as a first-line treatment was reported to be a strong predictor (OR 1.77, 95% CI 1.03-3.03; p = 0.0375) for treatment continuation (Attali et al., 2016). Similarly, complete symptom resolution (OR 1.78, 95% CI 1.03-3.03, p = 0.0384) was also a strong predictor for MAA adherence (Attali et al., 2016). These findings support an important role for disease chronicity in terms of patient adherence, which was similar to those reported for other chronic diseases (Iglay et al., 2015). They also reinforce the link between disease chronicity and long-term treatment persistence, whilst indicating that patients intolerant of or non-adherent with CPAP are more likely to discontinue MAA (Attali et al., 2016). However, Izci et al. in a large sample (n=144) of patients with OSA demonstrated that usage of MAA was not significantly affected by whether a patient was a CPAP failure or refuser (p>0.3) (Izci et al., 2005). Nonetheless, the findings of the above studies should be interpreted with caution, as the studies failed to provide an objective measure of adherence and also due to the marked differences in study design and participant settings with regards to race and ethnicity. However, Johal et al. demonstrated excellent long-term objective adherence with MAA in a sample of 42 patients with OSA, who were CPAP intolerant.

Nonetheless, it is interesting to evaluate these findings in the context of CPAP adherence. A weak association between patient and disease characteristics such as disease severity, AHI, oxygen desaturation and ESS on CPAP adherence has been observed (Engleman et al., 1994, Reeves-Hoche et al., 1994, Sin et al., 2002). Although nasal resistance influences initial CPAP acceptance, nasal anatomy, not necessarily patient-reported nasal complaints, may be influential on CPAP adherence (Li et al., 2005, Morris et al., 2006, Sugiura et al., 2007). Furthermore, initial CPAP adherence appears to be closely associated with higher neighbourhood socioeconomic factors, independent of individual demographic and clinical factors (Platt et al., 2009). These findings suggest that socio-environmental factors are important in terms of patient adherence among patients with OSA. Studies have also examined race as influential on CPAP adherence, all of which have reported lower CPAP adherence in African-Americans compared with Caucasian users (Scharf et al., 2004,

Budhiraja et al., 2007). Factors such as race and ethnicity-based differences in MAA adherence were not examined, as no studies have been published exploring such factors. Similarly, a low socio-economic index is only considered a barrier to accessing MAA, as its influence on treatment adherence is yet to be explored (Fleury et al., 2015). Thus, further studies are needed to understand and help characterise the individual considerations needed for initiating and managing MAA treatment within diverse patient groups.

In terms of appliance characteristics, both patient-reported adherence and preference favoured the use of custom-made appliances. The preference was not only reflected in the higher number of nights per week but also the number of hours per night that the appliance was used (Vanderveken et al., 2008, Johal et al., 2017). The findings are consistent with a recent systematic review and meta-analysis (Johal and Agha, 2018). Moreover, as MAA for OSA is entirely dependent on patient behaviour, patient preference or acceptance cannot be disregarded. However, the majority of the studies were limited to self-reported use and lacked an objective adherence measurement. This reflects the relatively recent introduction of objective adherence monitors (Vanderveken et al., 2013). Notwithstanding this, a lack of retention with the ready-made MAA was the most frequently cited reason for discomfort and non-adherence (Vanderveken et al., 2008, Tsuda et al., 2010, Friedman et al., 2012, Quinnell et al., 2014, Johal et al., 2017).

In relation to side effects, non-users experienced one or more adverse effects and tend to discontinue the treatment earlier i.e. within the first three months, whereas those who use the device for longer periods experienced milder problems (McGown et al., 2001, Makihara et al., 2016). In a questionnaire-based retrospective study, non-users reported a higher average number of side effects than users (McGown et al., 2001). Similarly, Makihara et al. reported that one-third of the non-users discontinued the MAA within the first month and 40% within in the next 3 months (Makihara et al., 2016). The most common reasons for discontinuation of treatment were discomfort or lack of treatment effects (Clark et al., 2000, McGown et al., 2001, de Almeida et al., 2005). Specifically, pain originating from the masticatory muscles or the temporomandibular joints may be one of the main reasons for poor adherence or **96 | P a g e** 

abandonment (Cunali et al., 2011). Consequently, Cunali et al. randomized 29 OSA adult patients with Temporomandibular disorders into two groups: the exercise support therapy (ST) and placebo therapy (PT) and were evaluated prior to and 120 days after MAA. The authors observed higher treatment adherence in the ST group (p < 0.05) as comparison to the PT group, as there was a significant reduction of pain intensity in the former group (p < 0.05), but not in the latter (Cunali et al., 2011). Long-term occlusal changes may occur with MAA (de Almeida et al., 2005), as such, dental follow-up may be useful in encouraging adherence while limiting possible side effects and the risk of cessation of treatment in long-term MAA users. In terms of the influence of gender, in a retrospective study (n=251), women experienced and reported more side effects and seemed to have a greater tendency to abandon treatment than males, as 46.8% of the women who answered a questionnaire based survey had discontinued the use of MAA compared to the 32.8% of males (de Almeida et al., 2005). However, given that the study was retrospective, with data collection from patients at different time intervals, the findings should be interpreted with caution (de Almeida et al., 2005).

Psychological and social factors, such as mood and perception of treatment benefits, and bed partner satisfaction levels were significantly correlated with MAA use (Izci et al., 2005). Dieltjens et al. identified that self-reported adherence to MAA was significantly lower for adults with OSA and Type D personality, a combination personality type of negative affectivity and social inhibition, as compared to patients with OSA without the said personality. These findings are in agreement with similar observations reported by Brostrom et al. in regards to lower CPAP adherence with type D personality (Brostrom et al., 2007). Objective adherence was found to be significantly correlated with a more pronounced decrease in socially disturbing snoring (Dieltjens et al., 2015). Research shows that adoption of new health behaviour, like a new physical activity routine or adhering to a prescribed medication regimen, is a challenging endeavour involving a variety of social, emotional, and cognitive factors (Schwarzer and Luszczynska, 2008). However, evidence in terms of psychological and social factors with regards to MAA adherence is highly underrepresented, which

contrasts with the volume of literature concerning CPAP adherence. Efforts to enhance patient education ranging from telephone support to home visits, motivational enhancement, or augmented support (Chervin et al., 1997, Hui et al., 2000) have been shown to improve CPAP adherence when compared to standard care. It has also been suggested in a recent Cochrane review that educational, supportive and behavioural interventions may increase CPAP usage to varying degrees (Wozniak et al., 2014). However, no studies evaluating the efficacy of the above-mentioned interventions in relation to MAA adherence were identified in this review. Evidence concerning the impact of psychological factors, such as patient's perceptions, self-efficacy, and social support on MAA adherence is highly underrepresented in the field of sleep medicine in comparison to various sleep apnoea treatments. Therefore, further research is imperative for the development of tailor-made interventions to enhance adherence in patients with low mood and/or psychological disorders.

## 3.5.1. Strengths and limitations

This is the first systematic review to assess the factors influencing adherence or nonadherence in adult patients with OSA on MAA. In order to limit publication bias, comprehensive search strategies were implemented along with the use of Covidence, a core component of Cochrane's review toolkit. The review followed the PRISMA reporting guidelines and the Cochrane Handbook of systematic review was used for risk of bias assessment for the included RCTs.

In terms of limitations, the search yield was limited to eight RCTs demonstrating low or unclear risk of bias. Furthermore, the application of a meta-analysis in non-randomized controls trials leads to bias arising from methodological issues and marked differences in study designs. Another possible limitation is the limited evidence identified concerning the impact of psychological and social factors, and the effect of strategies or interventions to improve MAA adherence.

# 3.6. Conclusion

A weak relationship was observed between objective MAA adherence and patient and disease characteristics such as age, sex, obesity, AHI, daytime sleepiness. Non-adherent patients reported more side effects than users and tended to discontinue treatment within the first three months. Increased patient adherence was identified with custom-made MAA in comparison to ready-made MAA. The review identified limited evidence concerning the influence of psychological and social factors on MAA adherence. Given that majority of the studies relied upon patient-reported adherence, the review observed a considerable lack of objective adherence monitoring.

Further research would be beneficial to describe the determinants of adherence, such as risk perception, self-efficacy, and outcome expectancy and to facilitate patient education and development of tailor-made interventions to enhance adherence to MAA. Similarly, the lack of objective adherence monitoring necessitates the need for future studies that assess adherence objectively.

# Chapter 4. Intervention to enhance adherence to mandibular advancement appliance in patients with obstructive sleep apnoea: a randomised clinical trial

# 4.1. Introduction

Obstructive sleep apnoea (OSA) is a sleep-related breathing disorder characterised by the repeated episodic collapse of the upper airway during sleep, resulting in sleep deprivation, giving rise to apnoeas and hypopnoeas (Banno and Kryger, 2007).

An overnight sleep study is required to establish a diagnosis of OSA and provides the apnoea-hypopnoea index (AHI), which is the sum of the average number of apnoea (complete airflow cessation) and hypopnoea (partial airflow cessation) events per hour of sleep. The AHI has been classified into the following severity grades: mild (5 -15), moderate (16 - 30) and severe (> 30) (Medicine, 2005).

Based on the severity of OSA, there are two primary treatment modalities: continuous positive airway pressure (CPAP) and mandibular advancement appliance (MAA) therapy (Network, 2003, McDaid et al., 2009). CPAP is prescribed to those suffering from moderate to severe OSA. According to the current NICE guideline, MAA therapy is recommended to in individuals diagnosed with Mild OSA and symptoms that affect their usual daytime activities. The guidelines also prescribe MAA therapy to those with moderate or severe OSA intolerant to CPAP treatment as a second-line of treatment (NICE, 2021). It was noted that MAA reduces daytime sleepiness and improves the AHI by protruding the mandible and thereby maintaining an open pharyngeal airway (Lim et al., 2004). However, studies have consistently demonstrated that CPAP is more effective than MAA at reducing sleep- disordered breathing and achieving complete control of OSA (AHI < 5) (Sharples et al., 2016). Despite the greater effect of CPAP on objective polysomnographic parameters (e.g. AHI), it does not appear to be more effective at achieving better health outcomes. It seems that the higher efficacy of CPAP is offset by greater MAA adherence. Phillips et al. (2011) showed that CPAP and MAA

achieved similar improvements in excessive daytime sleepiness and quality of life. Average MAA adherence was 6.5 hours/night compared to 5.2 for CPAP (p < 0.0001) (Phillips et al., 2011). These findings are consistent with the results of a recent systematic review and metaanalysis, which demonstrated that adherence was significantly lower with CPAP than MAA by 1.1 hours per night (p = 0.004) (Schwartz et al., 2018).

Although initial subjective treatment adherence to MAA therapy is relatively high, it appears to decline over time. A phone-based survey of 69 patients with mild to moderate OSA prescribed MAA, reported a 32 per cent adherence rate after 4 years of therapy, indicating a high level of non-adherence (Saglam-Aydinatay and Taner, 2018). The study also suggested the prevention of barriers, associated with MAA therapy adherence, to improve the efficiency of the appliance and disease outcome. In a systematic review, Hoffstein et al. (2007) reported a wide range (4 -76 per cent) of adherence rates in the first year of appliance use and further studies have highlighted that adherence decreases with time (Hoffstein, 2007): 83 per cent after 1 year (Dieltjens et al., 2013b), and 62 - 64 per cent after 4 - 6 year (Walker-Engström et al., 2002, de Almeida et al., 2005).

MAA adherence might differ depending on the type of the appliance, custom-made or readymade, disease severity, and patient management (Haviv et al., 2017). In a recent systematic review, patient-reported adherence (6.4 - 7 nights per week and 5 - 6.3 hours per night) and preference (p < .001) were strongly associated to custom-made MAA in comparison to readymade MAA (Johal and Agha, 2018). Subjective side effects such as dry mouth, excessive salivation, tooth discomfort, muscle tenderness, and jaw stiffness, were not reported to lead to treatment discontinuation (Pantin et al., 1999, Fritsch et al., 2001, McGown et al., 2001, Clark et al., 2000). In addition, tooth movement and occlusal changes have been noted after 1 to 4 years of follow-up, but these changes again do not appear to be related to treatment withdrawal (Bondemark, 1999, Fransson et al., 2003, Ringqvist et al., 2003, Robertson et al., 2003, Marklund et al., 2004). As mentioned in chapter 3, Dieltjens et al. (2013) were the first to investigate the impact of type D personality disorder on adherence to MAA therapy. Individuals with Type-D personality often possess a negative outlook towards life and are overwhelmed with emotions such as stress, anxiety, and anger. The study assessed 113 patients using two questionnaires: type D scale 14 and a postal questionnaire addressing side effects and adherence to MAA. The study included 83 patients with a baseline type D personality and reported a 45 per cent nonadherence rate amongst them (Dieltjens et al., 2013b). Patients with a type D personality had a higher discontinuation rate and lower adherence. These findings are in agreement with similar observations reported by Brostrom et al. (2007) in regard to lower CPAP adherence with type D personality (Broström et al., 2007). Nevertheless, the study has some limitations. The first being the relatively small sample size (sample bias) and the non-meaningful comparison groups, which may reduce the generalisability of the findings. The second is the subjective assessment of adherence and perceived side effects rather than employing objective means of adherence measurement. A further limitation is that the characteristic negative reporting trait of the type D patients may cause them to over-estimate their nonadherence (Dieltjens et al., 2013b).

Research shows that adoption of a new health behaviour, like a new physical activity routine or adhering to a prescribed medication regimen, is a challenging endeavour involving a variety of social, emotional, and cognitive factors (Schwarzer and Luszczynska, 2008). A multicentre study examined perceived effectiveness, self-efficacy and social support among 122 adult patients with OSA aged  $\geq$  65 years prescribed for MAA therapy (Carballo et al., 2016). The study reported a very low(30%) response rate (n = 39), in which the authors showed low rates of perceived effectiveness, self-efficacy and social support, highlighting the lack of self-efficacy, expectations for positive outcomes and social support experienced by the older patients in the sample. These findings are questionable, as literature has identified psychological and social factors and cognitive perceptions as determinants of CPAP adherence, including patients' risk perceptions, treatment outcome expectations, locus of control, and self-efficacy (Stepnowsky Jr and Dimsdale, 2002, De Zeeuw et al., 2007, Olsen et al., 2010). Another possible limitation of the study is that the questionnaires were mailed to the participants, who were only contacted once by the authors explaining the poor response rate (Carballo et al., 2016). As a result, further research involving larger samples of men and women incorporating modes, which increase the response rate, is necessary to gain a better understanding of the patient's perception of MAA therapy. In turn, this understanding could be implemented for the development of interventions enhancing patient's adherence and experience to MAA treatment.

Interestingly, previous studies in the field of Sleep Medicine have featured an aspect of enhanced patient education ranging from telephone support to home visits, motivational enhancement, or augmented support (Chervin et al., 1997, Hui et al., 2000), which have been proven to effectively improve CPAP adherence when compared to usual care. Bakker et al. (insert ref number not year) conducted a randomised controlled trial of CPAP use with motivational enhancement (ME) versus CPAP only in 83 participants, with moderate to severe OSA. The trial demonstrated a clinically significant increase in CPAP adherence in the intervention arm (CPAP with ME), supporting the use of a motivational enhancement approach to optimise the management of OSA (Bakker et al., 2016).

A recent Cochrane review has also emphasised the efficiency of interventions in enhancing adherence to CPAP by stating that educational, supportive and behavioural interventions increase CPAP usage to varying degrees (Wozniak et al., 2014). Stage theories such as the Health Action Process Approach (HAPA), a social cognition model for behaviour change, can be used to identify factors to target in an intervention and their interrelationships. The modelbased approach often uses a quantitative, questionnaire-based approach to assess a small set of factors linked within a model specifying how the factors are related to behaviour and to one another. It includes self-efficacy, outcome expectancies, and risk-perception as distal predictors, intention as a middle-level mediator, and volitional factors (such as action planning) as the most proximal predictors of behaviour. All are considered as determinants of adherence in CPAP therapy (Sawyer et al., 2011, Dzierzewski et al., 2016). A number of randomised controlled trials within medicine have examined the concept of stage-matched interventions based on HAPA, for example in the context of dietary behaviours (Wiedemann et al., 2009), physical activity (Lippke et al., 2010), and dental hygiene (Schüz et al., 2009). In order to investigate the efficiency of interventions on CPAP adherence, 110 OSA (AHI  $\geq$  15 events/h) patients were randomly assigned into staged-match intervention care (SMC) and standardised care (SC) groups (Deng et al., 2013). The staged-match intervention care design, following the principles of HAPA, significantly improved CPAP adherence whilst facilitating intention formation and enhancing treatment self-efficacy. Although the evidence for stage theories is somewhat inconsistent, a meta-analysis (Noar et al., 2007) suggests that tailoring interventions to behavioural stages is more effective than a generic, non-staged-tailored approach.

The above stage theory advocates that behaviour intervention takes account of the stages of change. Individuals are presumed to progress through an ordered set of stages while contemplating, initiating, and maintaining health behaviour change (Weinstein et al., 1998b). Risk perception is an antecedent, that forms an intention to adopt a precautionary action or treatment (Deng et al., 2013). After a treatment intention develops, it transforms into detailed action plans and these plans may promote moving further into action and/or a maintenance stage (Prochaska et al., 1992), which implies that understanding behaviour change over time, on dynamic variables instead of static variables, would achieve maximum intervention effectiveness (Deng et al., 2013). This feature differentiates stage theories from social cognition theories, such as the theory of planned behaviour (TPB), which interpret behaviour change as a continuous process.

The approach also recommends a distinction between pre-intentional motivational processes and post-intentional volitional processes (Schüz et al., 2009). The motivational phase comprises of growing risk perception and outcome expectancies, leading to the development of an intention. Although risk perception is the initial step for developing an intention, it alone is deficient and outcome expectancies, characterised by the advantages and disadvantages of the health behaviour in context are essential to promote intention formation. For example, **104 | P a g**  the more a patient feels vulnerable to the possible health threats of long-term untreated OSA (hypertension, cardiovascular diseases), the more he or she will expect from the MAA therapy.

In the volitional phase, Intention and behaviour implementation (adherence to MAA) would be mediated through action planning (Presseau et al., 2017). Action planning consists of specifying when, where and how to perform the behaviour (Pakpour et al., 2014). Selfefficacy is an important construct to consider for behaviour change (Wilson et al., 2016) and facilitates maintenance of action (Presseau et al., 2017). For example, after a patient has been provided MAA treatment, he or she would make concrete plans concerning the commencement and continuation of the treatment, while overcoming the difficulties. Highly self-efficacious individuals are more confident in coping with setbacks and easily tackle unanticipated difficulties, as opposed to individuals with low self-efficacy (insert ref number not year). Since patients with OSA experience different mind-sets from initiation to long-term adherence, it is imperative to frame interventions to optimise adherence, tailor-made to the patients' specific psychological variables at different stages of therapy (Deng et al., 2013). In summary, research on increasing adherence to mandibular advancement appliances in obstructive sleep apnoea patients in underrepresented, which is in sharp contrast to the literature regarding CPAP adherence. The current NICE guidelines have highlighted the need of further research to enhance adherence to MAA therapy (NICE, 2008). Thus, we aim to address this shortfall by identifying the factors influencing adherence to MAA in patients with OSA and simultaneously assess the effectiveness of stage theories/stage-matched intervention on subjective and objective adherence, using the HAPA model.

# 4.2. Objectives

# 4.2.1. Aims and research questions:

The aim and primary outcome of this study is

• To assess the effectiveness of stage-matched intervention on adherence to mandibular advancement appliances (MAA) in patients with obstructive sleep apnoea (OSA).

## 4.2.2. Secondary objectives:

The secondary outcomes are:

- To identify the psychosocial and socio-economic indicators enhancing adherence of MAA in patients with OSA.
- Use of the indicators to develop a psychological and socio-economic predictor model.

## 4.2.3. Null hypothesis:

• Stage-matched intervention does not enhance adherence to MAA in patients with OSA compared to standardised care.

# 4.3. Methodology

The study was undertaken at the Royal London Dental Hospital, Bart's Health NHS Trust in

line with the CONSORT reporting guidelines.

# 4.3.1. Selection criteria

## 4.3.1.1. Inclusion criteria

- Adult (≥ 40 years old)
- Confirmed diagnosis of OSA (AHI  $\geq$  5)
- Referred for MAA therapy
- Must be able to understand, read and write English; with the assistance of a translator

## 4.3.1.2. Exclusion criteria

- Insufficient teeth for MAA fabrication
- Poor dental or periodontal health
- Symptomatic temporomandibular disorder (TMD)
- Previously used an MAA
- Patients with uncontrolled epilepsy

# 4.3.2. Sample size

The study's sample size was based on the non-adherence rate of 30.45 percent and clinical wearing time of more than four hours demonstrated by previous research (Deng et al., 2013). A minimum sample size of 51 patients distributed in two groups, was proposed for given  $\alpha$  (0.01), power (0.8) and between-group variance of  $\eta^2 \approx 0.1$ . Finally, assuming a maximum of 15 per cent dropout, a total number of 58 patients is required for 2 randomly assigned groups, intervention care (n = 24) and (n = 24).

# 4.3.3. Recruitment

As part of the routine care for patients presenting with sleep-related breathing disorders, they are all diagnosed with OSA, based on an overnight sleep study, performed in sleep clinics. Patients requiring mandibular advancement appliance (MAA) therapy are then referred to specific dental sleep clinics for treatment, as part of a multi-disciplinary approach to care. Patients, with a confirmed diagnosis of OSA, that were specifically referred for MAA

therapy to Barts' Health NHS Trust and met the studies selection criteria were approached for recruitment.

#### 4.3.4. Trial design

The study was a single-centre, superiority, two-arm, parallel-group, individually randomised clinical trial, with 1:1 allocation, designed to test the effectiveness of stage-matched intervention in enhancing patient adherence to MAA therapy in patients with OSA.

Ethical approval (Appendix 3) was obtained from the Greater Manchester West Research ethics committee (REC ref: 19/LO/0972 & 19/NW/0391). Additionally, the study protocol was also accepted for publication in Trials 2021 22:699 issue <u>https://trialsjournal.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/s13063-021-05582-1</u> (Appendix 4). Furthermore, the study was registered in the international database, Clinicaltials.gov (Study ID: NCT04092660).

Patients meeting the eligibility criteria were provided with a participant information leaflet (Appendix 5) explaining the study. Written informed consent (Appendix 6) was then obtained, after which they were randomly assigned into two groups: intervention care (IC) and standardised care (SC). Only the investigator and chief investigator (CI) were aware of the participant's allocation.

Participants were provided with a sleep diary (Appendix 7) to record their hours of sleep and MAA wear-time, which provided a subjective record of the adherence (duration of usage of MAA). The TheraMon<sup>®</sup>, a micro-sensor was included in the MAA design (Figure 4.1), to provide objective data of MAA adherence. TheraMon<sup>®</sup> calculates the actual wear time by measuring temperature every 15 minutes and then transforms this information into wear time when the temperature ranges between two specific values. Vanderveken et al. and Johal et al. reported on the safety and feasibility, at 3- & 18-months respectively, of objective measurement techniques with MAA therapy in the same cohort of patients, who demonstrated a range of sleep-disordered breathing, from snoring to OSA (Vanderveken et al., 2013, Johal et al., 2016). In the present study, this range is defined as 28°C to 38°C,
which includes the vast majority of intraoral temperature values observed in an individual under normal conditions. At baseline (T0), routine clinical subject demographics were collected which included age, gender, body mass index (BMI), and neck circumference (Table 4.1). The AHI was also recorded during the initial screening. Following an oral examination, upper and lower alginate impressions were taken along with the participant's bite. In addition, participants were asked to complete the following questionnaires (Table 4.1):

- Epworth sleepiness scale (ESS) (Johns, 1991) (Appendix 1)
- Self-efficacy measure for sleep apnoea (SEMSA) modified for oral appliance (Weaver et al., 2003) (Appendix 8)
- Pittsburgh sleep quality index (PSQI) (Buysse et al., 1989) (Appendix 9)
- EuroQol-5 Dimension (EQ-5D) (EuroQol, 2009) (Appendix 10)
- Socio-economic position questionnaire (NS-SEC, 2010) (Appendix 11)
- Social support questionnaire (Stepnowsky et al., 2002) (Appendix 12)

The above questionnaires provided information concerning the participant's daytime sleepiness, personality, quality of sleep, health-related quality of life, socio-economic status and social support, respectively.

At Fit appointment (T1), participants underwent the initial fitting of the MAA and were provided instruction on appliance use and care.

Both IC and SC groups were called for follow-up at 3- (T2), and 6- (T3) months. Any problems that the patients were experiencing regarding MAA use was attended to at these appointments. However, patients were offered a sooner appointment if there were any issues before their follow-up visits. In addition, data indicating adherence was collected and evaluated at the appointments both subjectively and objectively by downloading the data from the sensor using dedicated software.

Furthermore, at T2, participants completed the SEMSA questionnaire, whilst at T3, participants completed the ESS, SEMSA, PSQI and EQ-5D questionnaires.



Figure 4.1 Mandibular advancement appliance (MAA), with attached micro sensor and adjustment key.

ASSESSMENT	Baseline	Fit appointment	3- months	6- months
	(Т0)	(T1)	(T2)	(T3)
Questionnaires				
Epworth Sleepiness Scale (ESS)	х			x
Self-Efficacy Measure for Sleep Apnoea	х		х	Х
Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index (PSQI)	х			x
EQ-5D	х			х
Socio-Economic Questionnaire Social Support Questionnaire	x x			
Age	Х			
Gender	Х			
Body Mass Index (BMI)	Х			
Neck Circumference	Х			
Objective Measure of Adherence			Х	Х
Subjective Measure of Adherence			Х	Х
One-to-one Interviews				Х



#### 4.3.5. Allocation and concealment

A simple computer-generated randomisation method was performed using a restricted (10number block) random number sequence (www.graphpad.com/quickcalcs/randomn2.cfm) to ensure equivalence of numbers in each group. Participants were stratified by OSA severity. In every 10-number block from the random table, the sequence was checked to ensure the even numbers were equal to the odd numbers. Each number in the random table were given a study number and assigned into one of the study groups. The allocation number of the participants were sealed in an opaque envelope from the investigator.

#### 4.3.6. Blinding

The participants were precluded from blinding due to the nature of trial and intervention. Only the research student (HT) and CI will have access to the Master file and patient allocation. Patients were anonymised and allocated a unique study number and the data then blinded to the statistician, for analysis.

# 4.3.7. Measurements 4.3.7.1. MAA adherence

Participants were provided with a sleep diary to record their hours of sleep and MAA weartime, which provided a subjective record of the adherence (duration of usage of MAA). The TheraMon<sup>®</sup>, a micro-sensor included in the MAA design, was used for the objective documentation of MAA adherence. TheraMon<sup>®</sup> calculates the actual wear time by measuring temperature every 15 minutes and then transforms this information into wear time when the temperature ranges between two specific values. In the present study, this range was defined as 28°C to 38°C, which includes a wide range of intraoral temperature values observed in an individual under normal conditions. Adherence was assessed at 3- and 6-month follow- up.

#### 4.3.7.2. Epworth sleepiness scale

The Epworth Sleepiness Scale (ESS) assesses subjective sleep propensity by asking the subject to rate his or her chance of dozing in eight different sedentary situations (Phillips et al., 2011). Likert scale ratings for each of the eight items are scored on a scale of 0-3. **100 | P a g e**  Summed scores range from 0 to 24, and scores  $\geq$ 10 suggest excessive daytime sleepiness. The ESS has strong internal consistency (Cronbach's alpha = 0.81) and half-split reliability (r = 0.82) (Johns, 1991). Excessive daytime sleepiness was assessed at baseline and at 6-month follow-up (T2).

#### 4.3.7.3. Self-efficacy measure for sleep apnoea

The Self-Efficacy Measure for Sleep Apnea (SEMSA) is a 27- item questionnaire assessing adherence-related cognitions (Weaver et al., 2003). It contains three subscales: risk perception, outcome expectancy, and self-efficacy. Items are rated on a Likert scale ranging 1–4, with higher scores indicating greater risk perception, higher outcome expectancies with treatment, and greater treatment self-efficacy, respectively. The SEMSA has strong internal consistency (Cronbach's alpha = 0.89) and half-split reliability (r = 0.80) (Olsen et al., 2010). The SEMSA was evaluated at baseline, 3- and 6-months of follow-up.

#### 4.3.7.4. Pittsburgh sleep quality index

The Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index (PSQI) questionnaire is a well-validated instrument to evaluate subjective sleep quality over a 1-month time interval (Buysse et al., 1989). The scale has seven components: (1) subjective quality, (2) sleep onset latency, (3) sleep duration, (4) sleep efficiency, (5) presence of sleep disturbances, (6) use of hypnotic–sedative medication, and (7) presence of daytime disturbances. The total scores of the PSQI are from 0 to 21, and higher the scores, poorer is the quality of sleep. The PSQI has strong internal consistency (Cronbach's alpha = 0.85) and test–retest reliability after 2 weeks (r = 0.81) (Buysse et al., 1989). Sleep quality was measured at baseline and 6-months of follow-up.

#### 4.3.7.5. EuroQol-5 Dimension

The EuroQol five-dimensions – 3-level (EQ-5 D) is a versatile quality of life (QOL) instrument with five dimensions (mobility, self-care, usual activities, pain/discomfort, and anxiety/depression) and a visual analogue scale (EuroQol, 2009). The instrument demonstrates good internal consistency (Cronbach's alpha = 0.76) and test-retest reliability

after 2 weeks (r = 0.72) (Tripathy et al., 2015). Quality of life was measured at baseline and 6-month follow-up.

#### 4.3.7.6. Socio-economic position

The National Statistics Socio-economic Classification (NS-SEC) scale was employed to assess the socio-economic position of the participants, which is the official classification system in the United Kingdom (NS-SEC, 2010).

#### 4.3.7.6. Social support questionnaire

The social support questionnaire (SSQ) develop by Stepnowsky et al. (ref number) was used to evaluate the social support variable in the participant's life. The tool demonstrates good internal consistency with a Cronbach's alpha of 0.70 (Stepnowsky et al., 2002). Furthermore, as the variable is considered dynamic and specific time, context and subject, a test-retest reliability was not deemed appropriate by the authors. Social support was evaluated at baseline.

# 4.3.8. Stage-matched intervention

Participants in the IC group received additional support in the form of behaviour change intervention (Table 4.2). The behaviour change intervention based on the HAPA model entails delivering interventions in a staged manner. The intervention that was delivered are described in table 4.3, along with the time point.

Table 4.2 Intervention care content specified by behaviour change techniques and linked to constructs of the HAPA model

Intervention component	Behaviour change technique	HAPA construct targeted	Content
Pamphlet	Information about consequences	Risk perception and outcome expectancy	The health pamphlet (Appendix 13), based on HAPA, divided into 6 sections, systematically provides information about the risk, benefits and treatment of OSA.
			Section 2 and 4 of the pamphlets provides spaces for the participants to discuss about risks and benefits that concern them the most.
			Section 3 explains the various treatments available and a brief explanation of the mechanism of the treatment.
	Action Planning	Task Self-efficacy	Section 5 and 6 provided valuable information for participants on how to begin with using the appliance and to continue using it regularly. Patients were advised that is normal to struggle at time when starting
	Goal Setting		with a new habit and setting short-term attainable goals will aid them in their struggles to adjust. The section suggests participants to seek feedback from their family, especially their sleeping partner regarding
	Problem Solving		their improvement. This type of support motivates the patient to work more towards achieving their goals.

	Social support (unspecified) Self-reward Relapse prevention	Coping and Recovery Self-efficacy Recovery Self-efficacy	In section 6, participants were told about the importance of rewarding themselves about the effort they put in to achieve their goals. Section 6 also advises the participants to focus on the positives and think about situations that effect their capability and then about options to avoid/cope with these situations.
Video	Credible Source Social Comparison Information about the negative and positive consequences Demonstration of Behaviour Feedback on the behaviour Social Support (Emotional & Practical)	Risk perception, Outcome expectancy and Task & Coping Self-efficacy	<ul> <li>Patients were shown a video (QMUL, 2019) of an OSA patients who are undergoing treatment, so that they can to relate to someone who is going through the same condition as him/her.</li> <li>The video consists of patients talking about how OSA effected their life and its negative consequences.</li> <li>The patients were encouraged to discuss about what motivated them to start the treatment, how has it changed their life and what helps them use the appliance regularly. It also consisted of a specialist in the field of Dental sleep medicine, briefly talking about the ill effects of untreated OSA and the specific oral appliance treatment available.</li> </ul>
Counselling	Information about health consequences	Risk perception, Outcome expectancy and Task Self- efficacy	Participants were given an initial counselling session in person along with their partner if they wish. During the session i.e. structured to fit the participants needs

	Social Support (unspecified and emotional) Verbal persuasion about capability		<ul> <li>Their knowledge regarding OSA was assessed</li> <li>The above video was shown</li> <li>Using the information provided on the pamphlets the risks of untreated OSA and the benefits of the treatment were discussed</li> <li>If the partner was present at the appointment, they were asked to complete a section of the pre-screening questionnaire (Appendix 14), which is part of the routine clinical examination. In the questionnaire, the partner was asked to indicate their and the participant's quality of sleep. In addition, the partner was asked to indicate the severity of the participant's snoring and whether it had an influence on their sleep.</li> </ul>
Follow up at sleep clinic	Monitoring the behaviour and the outcome	Coping and Recovery Self-efficacy	Participants were required to visit the sleep clinic for follow up at month 3 and 6. Their MAA usage was assessed both objectively and subjectively by downloading the data from the micro-sensor chip embedded in the appliance and by recording the hours from their daily sleep log respectively.
	Focus on Past success and Verbal persuasion about capability	Coping and Recovery Self-efficacy	Feedback would be provided depending on the participant's usage. Their planning sheets would be discussed, and appropriate feedback will be provided whilst encouraging them to set more active goals and plans.
	Social Comparison	Coping and Recovery Self-efficacy	To increase their emotional support other patient's feedbacks and successful treatment would be shared.
	Problem solving	Coping and Recovery Self-efficacy	Additionally, participants will be prompted to identify common factors that act as barriers for them in using the appliance and will be helped to find solutions to overcome such factors tailored to the participants needs.

Booster	Verbal persuasion	Coping and Recovery	Participants will receive calls at weeks 3,6,18 and 21 approximately 10-
phone calls	about capability	Self-efficacy	15 mins in duration, prompting them to keep working towards their goals and stating that they are capable of achieving them.
	Social support	Coping and Recovery	Participant's partner's experience of the treatment will also be
	unspecified	Self-efficacy	discussed by asking them to share their thoughts on the participant's improvement.
	Problem solving	Coping and Recovery	Additionally, participants will be prompted to identify common factors
		Self-efficacy	that act as barriers for them in using the appliance and will be helped to
			find solutions to overcome such factors tailored to the participants
			needs.

# Table 4.3. Intervention and standardised care components

Time Point	Intervention Care Group	Standardised Care Group
T0 (Baseline)	<ul> <li>Questionnaires         <ul> <li>ESS, SEMSA (Modified for Oral Appliance) PSQI, EQ-5D, Socio-Economic Position and Social Support</li> </ul> </li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Questionnaires         <ul> <li>ESS, SEMSA, PSQI,</li> <li>EQ-5D, Socio-</li> <li>economic position,</li> <li>Social Support scale</li> </ul> </li> </ul>
T1 (Fit appointment)	<ul> <li>Providing instruction about how to use the MAA</li> <li>Health pamphlet based on HAPA theory</li> <li>Assessment of knowledge of OSA and involvement of the partner in education</li> <li>A brief education focusing on the benefits associated with MAA</li> <li>10-min video education about OSA, emphasising the negative consequences if OSA is untreated</li> <li>Risk perception communication</li> <li>Setting Goals and action planning (steps to facilitate the use of MAA)</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Providing instruction about how to use the MAA</li> <li>Health pamphlet about OSA and MAA</li> </ul>
T2 (3-months into treatment)	<ul> <li>Phone calls to be made at 3 and 6 weeks         <ul> <li>Problem Solving</li> <li>Evaluation of the patient and partner perception of treatment</li> <li>Verbal Encouragement</li> <li>Setting attainable goals and action planning</li> </ul> </li> <li>Follow up at Sleep Clinic         <ul> <li>Assessment of MAA use</li> <li>Problem Solving</li> <li>Verbal Encouragement</li> </ul> </li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Follow up at Sleep Clinic         <ul> <li>Problem Solving</li> <li>Assessment of MAA</li> </ul> </li> <li>Use         <ul> <li>Questionnaires</li> <li>SEMSA</li> </ul> </li> </ul>

T3 (6-months into treatment)• Phone calls to be made at 18 and 21 weeks• Follow up at Sleep Clinic• Problem Solving• Problem Solving• Problem Solving• Partner involvement in treatment and family support• Assessment of MAA Use• Verbal Encouragement• Questionnaires• Setting attainable goals and action planning• Solving• Follow up at Sleep Clinic• One-to-one Interviews• Follow up at Sleep Clinic• One-to-one Interviews• Problem Solving• Verbal Encouragement• Sharing other Patient's Feedbacks and successful treatment experiences• Questionnaires• Questionnaires • Follow up at Sleep Clinic• One-to-one Interviews		<ul> <li>-Sharing other Patient's Feedbacks and successful treatment experiences</li> <li>Questionnaire -SEMSA</li> </ul>	
	T3 (6-months into treatment)	<ul> <li>Phone calls to be made at 18 and 21 weeks         <ul> <li>Problem Solving</li> <li>Partner involvement in treatment and family support</li> <li>Verbal Encouragement</li> <li>Setting attainable goals and action planning</li> </ul> </li> <li>Follow up at Sleep Clinic         <ul> <li>Assessment of MAA use</li> <li>Problem Solving</li> <li>Verbal Encouragement</li> <li>Sharing other Patient's Feedbacks and successful treatment experiences</li> </ul> </li> <li>Questionnaires         <ul> <li>ESS, SEMSA, PSQI, EQ-5D One-to-one interviews</li> </ul> </li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Follow up at Sleep Clinic <ul> <li>Problem Solving</li> <li>Assessment of MAA Use</li> </ul> </li> <li>Questionnaires <ul> <li>ESS, SEMSA, PSQI,</li> <li>EQ-5D</li> </ul> </li> <li>One-to-one Interviews</li> </ul>

#### 4.3.9. Outcomes

#### 4.3.9.1. Primary outcome

Adherence i.e. the number of the hours the patient uses their appliance every night was measured objectively at 3-months to assess the effectiveness of the interventions in enhancing adherence to MAA.

#### 4.3.9.2. Secondary outcome

Self-efficacy, risk perception, outcome expectancy, socio-economic status, and social support was measured to assess the ability of these variables in predicting adherence.

# 4.3.10. Statistical analysis

Both objective and subjective data of adherence i.e. duration of the usage of the appliance was collected at 3- and 6-months was analysed to assess the effectiveness of Intervention care in comparison with standardised care.

Comparison of pre- and post-treatment scores of ESS, SEMSA, PSQI, and EQ-5D, for both the groups, aided in identifying significant differences in terms of improvement.

Statistical evaluations were undertaken to assess the ability of the variables -self-efficacy, risk perception, outcome expectancy, social support, and socio-economic position, to predict patient adherence at 3- and 6-months.

Assuring random assignment to groups, tests were undertaken as to whether the observations differed in any of the time zero measurements. Indifference meant there was no allocation bias.

T-tests were applied for each of the following variables between SC and IC

- 1. Risk perception
- 2. Outcome expectancy
- 3. Self-efficacy
- 4. ESS -T0
- 5. PSQI T0
- 6. EQ5D T0
- 7. Social support
- 8. Socio-economic (ordinal) chi-square test

In any case of violation of the t-test assumption (normality of the error term), Wilcoxon tests were subsequently implemented.

In order to assess the aims of the study, each of the repeated measures was tested first by themselves, using a repeated measures ANOVA, controlling for groups:

1. Adherence - subjective at T2, T3 difference T2-T3

2. Adherence - objective at T2, T3 difference T2-T3

3. ESS - T3, difference T0-T6

4. PSQI - T3, difference T0-T6

5. EQ5D-T3, difference T0-T6

6. Risk perception - T2, T3, difference T0-T2, T0-T3, T2-T3

7. Outcome expectancy - T2, T3, difference T0-T2, T0-T3, T2-T3

8. Self-efficacy - T2, T3, difference T0-T2, T0-T3, T2-T3

Once the trends in the data were analysed, a multiple regressions model for Adherence variables was constructed. These were the final measurements from T3 or the differences between them and previous time points i.e. T0 and T3. In these models, the psychosocial variables and socio-economic position were used as predictors, beyond the group classification.

# 4.4. Results

# 4.4.1. Participants flow

Fifty-six OSA patients who satisfied the selection criteria were recruited in this study after written informed consent. The participants were then randomised into IC (n = 28) and SC (n = 28) groups. In SC group, two patients were lost to follow-up and one patient discontinued treatment. Whilst one patient withdrew from the trial and one patient failed to complete treatment in the IC group. Figure 4.3 illustrates the flow of the participants through the trial.

#### Figure 4.3 Consort flow



# 4.4.2. Participant characteristics

Table 4.4 summarises the clinical and demographic characteristics of the participants. The sample consists of 34 (60%) males, with the mean age of the overall sample 55 years (SD = 10.72). There were no significant differences in gender, age, BMI, neck circumference and AHI between the two groups (p > 0.05) at baseline (T0). The results demonstrate that the study groups were comparable.

	Overall sample	IC group	SC group
	(n = 56)	(n = 28)	(n = 28)
Gender, n (%)			
Male	34 (60%)	15(52%)	19(69%)
female	22(40%)	13(48%)	9(31%)
Mean age in years (SD)	55 (10.72)	56.86 (8.65)	54.46 (12.51)
BMI (kg/m²), mean (SD)	30.78 (6.63)	31.53 (5.49)	29.9 (7.83)
Mean neck circumference (cm) (SD)	38.85 (3.23)	38.9 (3.07)	38.7 (3.42)
AHI (events/h) (SD)	19.16 (13.06)	19 (12.97)	19.32 (13.39)

#### Table 4.4 Clinical and demographical characteristics

# 4.4.3. MAA adherence

The overall mean objective adherence for the whole sample was 2.34 ± 2.59 hours/night and 2.87 ± 3.02 hours/night at T2 (n = 30) and T3 (n = 23), respectively. Inspecting the difference between groups, at T2 the mean adherence ranged from 2.0.2 ± 2.59 hours/night in the IC group to 2.63 ± 2.57 hours/night in the SC group. Whilst the mean adherence at T3 ranged from 2.42 ± 2.59 hours/night for the IC group to 3.21 hours/night in the SC group. Furthermore, no statistical difference was detected for adherence amongst the two groups at T2 (p = 0.5296,  $x^2$  = 1.56) and T3 (p = 0.5344,  $x^2$  = 0.12) (Table 4.5).

In addition, 28% of the participants in the IC group (n = 14) wore their MAA for at least 4 hours/night compared with 31% of the SC group (n = 16) at T2. Whilst 30% of the participants in the IC group (n = 10) wore their MAA for at least 4 hours/night compared with 46% of the SC group (n = 13) at T3.

Linear regression results of adherence over the two time points i.e. T2 and T3, demonstrate a significant positive relationship (Table 4.6). The coefficient is essentially equal to a unit indicating the adherence readings were almost identical over time.

Concerning the relationship between the SEMSA constructs (risk perception, self-efficacy and outcome expectancy), mean adherence was positively correlated with risk perception (p = 0.0352,  $r^2 = 0.16$ ) and outcome expectancy at T2 (Table 4.6).

Table 4.5 Difference in adherence i.e. (hours/night) between the groups at 3- (T2) and 6- (T3) months.

Dependent	Time point	Group	Ν	Mean	SD	Pvalue > t
Adherence	T2	IC	15	2.02	2.68	0.5296
		SC	15	2.63	2.57	
Adherence	Т3	IC	10	2.42	2.59	0.5344
		SC	13	3.21	3.37	

Table 4.6 Linear regression scores for adherence at 3-months (T2) by adherence at 6 months (T3) and mean adherence by risk perception, outcome expectancy and self-efficacy. representing the mean of Likert scores 1 to 4. Higher scores indicate greater perceived susceptibility, higher outcome expectancy and greater perceived self-efficacy.

		Estimate			
Dependent	Independent	(B)	Pvalue >  t	R <sup>2</sup>	Ν
Adherence T3	Adherence T2	0.96	<.0001	0.754	22
	Intercept	0.38	0.4325		
Mean					
Adherence	Mean Risk perception	1.84	0.0211	0.170	31
	Intercept	-2.07	0.2774		
Mean	Mean Outcome				
Adherence	Expectancy	2.07	0.0175	0.180	31
	Intercept	-3.47	0.1518		
Mean					
Adherence	Mean Self Efficacy	2.46	0.0625	0.115	31
	Intercept	-4.89	0.2053		

# 4.4.4. Effect of stage-matched intervention

SEMSA questions were averaged per constructs, namely: risk perception, outcome expectancy and self-efficacy. Cronbach's alpha was used to test the reliability for each item. Reliability measurements were estimated in the range between 0.92 – 0.80 which was considered high and sufficient for aggregating the items.

The results for SEMSA constructs: risk perception, outcome expectancy, self-efficacy at baseline (T0), 3- (T2) and 6- (T3) months follow-up is summarised in table 4.7. The scores demonstrated no significant differences concerning the three constructs between the IC and SC groups at baseline (T0), 3- (T2) and 6- (T3) months follow-up.

Table 4.7 Scores for risk perception, outcome expectancy and self-efficacy at baseline (T0), 3- (T2) and 6- (T3) months representing the mean of Likert scores 1 to 4. Higher scores indicate greater perceived susceptibility, higher outcome expectancy and greater perceived self-efficacy

Dependent	Time point	Group	Ν	Mean	SD	Pvalue> t	χ²
	TO	IC	28	2.63	0.8	0.2053	1.16
		SC	28	2.38	0.68		
Risk	Т2	IC	15	2.53	0.83	0.6464	0.06
perception		SC	15	2.65	0.63		
	Т3	IC	10	2.4	0.48	0.8438	0.13
		SC	15	2.36	0.49		
	то	IC	27	2.86	0.65	0.3278	2.33
		SC	28	2.69	0.6		
Outcome	Т2	IC	15	2.79	0.72	0.3491	0.84
expectancy		SC	15	3.03	0.61		
	Т3	IC	10	2.92	0.73	0.6416	0.17
		SC	15	3.04	0.43		
	то	IC	27	2.83	0.56	0.6432	0.01
		SC	28	2.9	0.6		
Self-efficacy	Т2	IC	15	2.95	0.4	0.4379	0.14
		SC	15	3.07	0.48		
	Т3	IC	10	2.89	0.52	0.7955	0.03
		SC	15	2.94	0.28		

#### 4.4.4.1. Risk perception

Concerning risk perception, no significant effect was observed in regard to the 2 groups (p = 0.8438,  $x^2 = 0.13$ ). Similarly, no significant effect of time was demonstrated (p = 0.1563,  $x^2 = 1.43$ ) and no significant effect of time X group was observed, at T2 – T0 (p = 0.7262,  $x^2 = 0.08$ ) and at T3 – T0 (p = 0.9385,  $x^2 = 0.13$ ). The findings are summarised in Table 4.8 and 4.9.

#### 4.4.4.2. Outcome expectancy

In terms of outcome expectancy, there was no significant effect was observed between the two groups at T2 (p = 0.3491,  $x^2 = 0.84$ ) and at T3 (p = 0.6416,  $x^2 = 0.71$ ). Similarly, no significant effect of time was observed (p = 0.2677,  $x^2 = 1.81$ ). However, whilst no significant effect was observed of time X group at T2 – T0 (p = 0.717,  $x^2 = 0.28$ ), a significant effect was demonstrated at T3 – T0 (p = 0.0318,  $x^2 = 3.47$ ). Although, participants of both the groups received the same treatment, participants in the IC group had higher outcome expectancy than the SC group participants after the intervention. The findings are summarised in Table 4.8 and 4.9.

#### 4.4.4.3. Self-efficacy

In terms of self-efficacy, no significant effect was observed between the groups at T2 (p = 0.4379,  $x^2 = 0.14$ ) and T3 (p = 0.7955,  $x^2 = 0.03$ ). Similarly, no significant effect of time was observed (p = 0.7424,  $x^2 = 0.01$ ). Although, similar to outcome expectancy, a significant effect of time X group at T3 – T0 (p = 0.0252,  $x^2 = 4.48$ ) was observed with self-efficacy but no significant effect was demonstrated at T2 – T0 (p = 0.1642,  $x^2 = 2.91$ ). Hence, after intervention, participants in the IC group had higher self-efficacy than those in the SC group. The findings are summarised in Table 4.8 and 4.9.

Table 4.8 Scores of risk perception, outcome expectancy and self-efficacy over time by treatment groups representing the mean of Likert scores 1 to 4. Higher scores indicate greater perceived susceptibility, higher outcome expectancy and greater perceived self-efficacy.

Dependent		Group	N	Mean	SD	Pvalue> t	χ²
	T2-T0	IC	15	0.02	0.78	0.7262	0.08
		SC	15	0.11	0.63		
Risk perception	T3-T0	IC	10	-0.15	1.12	0.9385	0.13
		SC	15	-0.18	0.66		
	T2-T0	IC	14	0.11	0.68	0.717	0.28
		SC	15	0.19	0.48		
Outcome Expectations	T3-T0	IC	9	0.49	0.33	0.0318	3.47
		SC	14	0.08	0.53		
	T2-T0	IC	14	0.32	0.67	0.1642	2.91
		SC	15	-0.05	0.72		
Self-Efficacy	T3-T0	IC	9	0.41	0.64	0.0252	4.48
		SC	14	-0.23	0.53		

Table 4.9 Scores for risk perception, outcome expectancy and self-efficacy over time representing the mean of Likert scores 1 to 4. Higher scores indicate greater perceived susceptibility, higher outcome expectancy and greater perceived self-efficacy

Dependent	Group	Ν	Mean	SD	Pvalue> t	χ²
Mean Risk perception	IC	28	2.62	0.69	0.1563	1.43
	SC	28	2.37	0.61		
Mean Outcome Expectancy	IC	28	2.92	0.56	0.2677	1.81
	SC	28	2.75	0.57		
Mean Self Efficacy	IC	28	2.9	0.41	0.7424	0.01
	SC	28	2.86	0.47		

#### 4.4.5. Excessive sleepiness

At 6-months, ESS scores demonstrated statistically significant improvement across the whole sample (t = -3.51, p = 0.002). However, the ESS change over time across treatment groups showed no significant difference. Furthermore, the relationship between mean adherence and ESS at baseline demonstrated no significant correlations (p = 0.242,  $r^2$  = 0.047).

# 4.4.6. Quality of sleep

The mean PSQI for the whole sample ranged from  $8.48 \pm 4.11$  to  $6.08 \pm 4.12$  at baseline and 6-months, respectively. No significant differences were observed over time between IC and SC groups (p = 0.5483,  $x^2 = 0.41$ ). Whilst a significant negative correlation was demonstrated (B = -0.6, p = 0.04) between quality of sleep and adherence at T3. In addition, adherence at T2 showed a negative association with change in PSQI over time i.e. T0-T3 (B = -0.56, p = 0.035).

# 4.4.7. Socio-economic position

The distribution of SEP in the sample includes a majority (n=43; 82%) managerial, administrate and professionals. In estimating the difference in mean adherence by SEP category, no significant differences were detected regarding adherence (p = 0.96,  $x^2 = 0.398$ ).

# 4.4.8. Quality of life

The quality-of-life scores had an overall mean of 69.8 (SD=15.72) and 68.32 (SD=12.17) at T0 and T3 respectively across the sample. The difference over time was -1.36 (SD=12.5). Inspecting the difference between groups at each time point results indicate a statistically significant difference at T3 while not at T0. At T3, the mean quality of life scores for the IC and the SC group was 62.5 (SD=10.34) and 72.2 (SD=12.03) (t=2.15, p=0.04) ( $\chi^2$  = 4.53, P=0.03), respectively.

# 4.4.9. Social support

Across the whole sample, the mean social support score was 4.04 (SD=0.78). The social support score was measured by averaging the nine items from SSQ. The overall reliability, as measured with Cronbach's  $\alpha$ , was estimated at 0.927, which was high and sufficient for aggregating. Very little differences were evident in SSQ by groups, with averages ranging between 3.88 ± 0.84 and 4.22 ± 0.70. No statistical difference was detected (p = 0.1024,  $x^2 = 2.84$ ). Linear regression between adherence and social support showed no significant correlations (p = 0.5252,  $r^2 = 0.014$ ).

# 4.5. Discussion

Previous literature in the field of sleep medicine has highlighted the need for a multifaceted patient-tailored intervention associated with objective monitoring of usage to enhance adherence to mandibular advancement appliance therapy (Saglam-Aydinatay and Taner, 2018, Pahkala and Suominen, 2021). Similarly, the current NICE guidelines have reiterated the above need (NICE, 2021). Thus, the current study aimed to assess the impact of a stage-matched intervention specific to patient needs on adherence to MAA, through a randomised clinical trial. The trial recruited 56 participants into intervention and standard care groups in a 1:1 ratio. Due to the Covid-19 pandemic, recruitment and data collection were temporarily paused for eight months. Hence, only thirty participants had completed the data collection at three months (T2), whilst 25 had completed six months (T3) of treatment.

# 4.5.1. Effect of stage-matched intervention: Risk perception, outcome expectancy and self-efficacy

The current study is the first to implement a stage-matched intervention to enhance patient adherence to mandibular advancement appliance therapy. The findings of the study to-date indicate that the stage-matched intervention demonstrates no improvement in adherence to MAA. The intervention delivered at 3- and 6- months was designed based on the health action process approach (HAPA), a behaviour change model. The dual-phase model identifies three social-cognitive constructs in behaviour initiation and maintenance: risk perception, outcome expectancy and self-efficacy (Schwarzer, 2008). Research has consistently identified these constructs as predictors of behaviour change and determinants of adherence in OSA patients (Carballo et al., 2016). In addition, studies have demonstrated positive correlations between these constructs and behaviour change (Hattar et al., 2016, Maher and Conroy, 2016, Bierbauer et al., 2017a). Consequently, a positive association was observed between adherence and risk perception. Risk perceptions are beliefs regarding personal risk or susceptibility to conditions or outcomes. Similarly, the study found that patients who perceived a higher risk of untreated OSA were more adherent than those who did not. Therefore,

the ability of risk perception to determine adherence should not be underestimated in OSA patients, as they are at an increased risk of chronic diseases and treatment of their condition alleviates immediate symptoms (e.g. excessive daytime sleepiness, snoring, gasping and fatigue). Furthermore, health psychologists have regarded risk perception as an important facilitator for intention development (Lippke et al., 2004). Accordingly, the stage- matched intervention entailed strategies for risk awareness at T1 such as risk perception communication and a brief 10-minute video emphasising the negative consequences of untreated OSA (Table 4.2 and 4.3). This aided the participants to move from the pre-intention to the intention stage. This is consistent with previous research that considers perceptions of health threat to be the most obvious prerequisite for the motivation to adopt a health behaviour (Ruiter et al., 2001). However, the findings of the present study indicated no significant differences in terms of risk perception between the groups. This could be attributed to the limited number of observations available to-date for analysis. Additionally, the findings of a meta-analysis have demonstrated negligible effects of risk perception on behaviour initiation and indirectly on behaviour change across studies implementing the HAPA, with the authors argued that risk perception has a relatively minimal role in determining health-related behaviour (Zhang et al., 2019). Thus, risk perception might be less evident if no clear, explicit and proximal link is established between health-related behaviour and reduced risk (Ferrer and Klein, 2015). Nonetheless, research has emphasised on testing the collaborative effects of self-efficacy and risk perception on health behaviour, which may provide further insight into the process by which risk perception determines action (Zhang et al., 2019).

The current study also observed outcome expectancy as one of the drivers for adherence, with a positive correlation observed between outcome expectancy and adherence. Outcome expectancies reflect beliefs about whether engaging in the behaviour will result in desired outcomes (Strecher et al., 1986). Consistent with the HAPA model, participants who were more aware about the advantages of MAA therapy were more adherent than those who were not. Although risk perception is considered as a facilitator to pursue treatment, however, is

insufficient on its own to instil a behaviour change (Ferrer and Klein, 2015). Thus, the benefits perceived from MAA therapy and the alleviation of the symptoms are the key features that appear to drive individuals to initiate treatment. Hence, the intervention at T1 also entailed strategies that made patients more aware about the benefits of MAA therapy through education about the advantages of initiating treatment (Table 4.2 and 4.3). Moreover, the brief 10-minute video also contained testimonials of OSA patients talking about the benefits they have received from long-term MAA therapy (Table 4.2 and 4.3). Accordingly, the present study observed that participants in the IC group had a higher outcome expectancy in relation to the SC group over time i.e. T3 – T0. Hence, the stage-matched intervention appeared to have a favourable influence on participants' outcome expectancy. This is in consistent with previous research concerning CPAP adherence that has demonstrated positive outcome expectancies of initial CPAP to be related to subsequence adherence and regarded the first month of therapy to be a transition period for adaptation to treatment (Drake et al., 2003, Aloia et al., 2004). However, the transition from the motivational phase to volitional (action) phase requires planning (Schwarzer, 2008). Thus, the intervention also emphasised on setting attainable goals and action planning at T1, T2 and T3 (Table 5.2 and 5.3). In addition, the 'booster' phone calls undertaken at 3-, and 6- weeks attempted to deliver the same. Previous research has observed that early side effects to treatment can lead to treatment discontinuation (Attali et al., 2016). Hence, the 'booster' phone calls made at 3- and 6- weeks also helped patients in problem solving. Furthermore, studies have observed that individuals would normally imagine circumstances that would prevent them from performing the desired behaviour and this would lead to the development of coping strategies (Aloia et al., 2007, Deng et al., 2013). Participants in the IC group who demonstrated a higher outcome expectancy in the first 3 months of treatment, identified techniques that aided in their usage of MAA. These involved designating a specific place (e.g. bedside table or bathroom) for the MAA or incorporating the MAA into their night-time routine (after brushing their teeth or after applying night cream), which would function as a reminder for them to wear the MAA before going to bed. The study also observed

that setting short-term attainable goals such as setting targets for increasing the wearing time gradually helped participants to perform and maintain the behaviour.

As described in HAPA, the volitional (action) phase consists of two components that facilitate in the enactment of the intentions: self-efficacy and maintenance. Self-efficacy is described to be phase-specific as action self-efficacy is relevant during intention-formation, whilst maintenance (coping), and recovery self-efficacy is attributed to the enactment and maintenance of behaviour (Schwarzer and Renner, 2000). Consistent with the model, the intervention consisted of action planning, goal setting and problem solving at T1 to increase the participant's action self-efficacy (Table 5.2 and 5.3). Whilst the subsequent 'booster' phone calls and follow-up visits focused on increasing the participant's maintenance and recovery self-efficacy. This is in agreement with previous research concerning CPAP, which has demonstrated that frequent and regular follow-up, telephone calls, tailored education, and social support during the initial months of therapy can enhance long-term adherence to treatment (Fletcher and Luckett, 1991, Chervin et al., 1997, Hoy et al., 1999). Accordingly, participants in the IC group demonstrated a significantly higher self-efficacy in comparison to the SC group over time (T3 - T0). Nonetheless, no correlations were observed between adherence and self-efficacy. This is in sharp contrast to previous studies, which have observed that participants with higher self-efficacy reported a stronger correlation between CPAP usage and symptom improvement (Baron et al., 2011b). The lack of association in the present study may be a consequence of the limited data available for analysis. Action self-efficacy, described as an individual's capacity to perform the desired behaviour whilst overcoming the potential barriers seems to have a persistent effect on the health behaviour (Schwarzer, 2008). Furthermore, Action self-efficacy is a constant predictor of maintenance self-efficacy, and maintenance self-efficacy mediates action self-efficacy effects on behaviour, illustrating that the individual's estimates of their capacity to engage in health behaviour in future align closely with their estimates to maintain that behaviour (Schwarzer and Renner, 2000). Given that, adherence to MAA is variable and long-term adherence is observed in the literature to decline

(Sutherland et al., 2014). Further research is needed to assess ways to enhance self-efficacy in patients with OSA. In addition, the role of recovery self-efficacy, which is observed to be relevant only in situations of relapse (Schwarzer and Renner, 2000), cannot be underestimated, with participants on MAA therapy finding it challenging to maintain the therapy over a longer duration. Moreover, early side effects have resulted in early discontinuation of the treatment (Attali et al., 2016). Hence, future research comparing the role of recovery self-efficacy in determining behaviour in specific contexts where behavioural lapses are likely (e.g. situations where there is high opportunity to participate in rewarding, counter-intentional behavioural options) may demonstrate the context-specific value of this construct (Zhang et al., 2019).

#### 4.5.2. Effect of Up-stream factors

Additionally, the current study also aimed to assess the role of up-stream factors such as excessive daytime sleepiness, quality of sleep, socio-economic position, quality of life and social support in predicting adherence.

#### 4.5.2.1. Excessive daytime sleepiness

The results of disease characteristic such as excessive daytime sleepiness demonstrated no correlation with adherence. This is in agreement with the results of a systematic review that observed no association between objective adherence and anthropometric characteristics, polysomnographic parameters, and excessive daytime sleepiness (see Chapter 4 section 4.6). Although, consistent with previous research, a significant reduction in daytime sleepiness was observed across the whole sample at T3 (Saglam-Aydinatay and Taner, 2018, Pahkala and Suominen, 2021).

#### 4.5.2.2. Quality of sleep

In line with previous studies, findings for quality of sleep demonstrated a negative association with adherence at T3 (Deng et al., 2013, Dieltjens et al., 2015, Pahkala and Suominen, 2021). Hence, this indicates that increase in adherence was related to an improvement in the quality of sleep. However, no relationship can be drawn between quality of sleep at baseline and

adherence at T3. The findings can be attributed to the limited data available for analysis at T3. Nonetheless, the findings are consistent with previous research concerning both CPAP and MAA adherence (See chapter 4 section 4.5).

#### 4.5.2.3. Socio-economic position

In terms of socio-economic position, majority of the participants belonged to the managerial, administrative professional group, representing the upper middle class and middle-class strata of the society. To-date, low socioeconomic index is only considered a barrier to accessing MAA therapy (Fleury et al., 2015). The current study to-date indicates no specific socio-economic category to be associated to adherence. However, previous research concerning CPAP adherence suggests that socio-environmental factors are important in terms of patient adherence among patients with OSA (Platt et al., 2009). The lack of association in this can be implicated to the availability of limited data for analysis. Hence, further research with robust data is needed to explore the influence of socio-environmental factors on adherence to MAA therapy.

#### 4.5.2.4. Quality of life

The findings of the present study do not demonstrate a significant improvement in relation to quality of life at the end of 6 months. Again, the results can be attributed to the limited data analysed. However, the findings agree with Marklund et al. (2015) who reported no significant improvements in daytime sleepiness and quality of life from baseline to follow- up with MAA therapy when compared with a placebo device. Nonetheless, studies evaluating the quality of life benefits of MAA therapy vs placebo devices have observed positive effects on energy, fatigue, and vitality domains in patients with moderate and severe OSA (Johal, 2006, Petri et al., 2008, Doff et al., 2013b). Doff et al. (2013) showed that several subjective parameters (SF-36 and FOSQ) significantly improved with MAD therapy in the short-term (2 months) and long-term (2 years) follow-up. Similarly, Johal (2006) demonstrated a significant improvement in the physical functioning, role limitation-physical, social functioning, vitality and general health perception domains of the SF-36 QoL questionnaire. Nevertheless, quality of life and

excessive daytime sleepiness are subject to a multitude of factors, such as severity of OSA, underlying chronic disease, mental illness etc. Hence, in situations as such, adequate treatment might be insufficient to precipitate a considerable change in these parameters.

#### 4.5.2.5. Social factors

Previous research has demonstrated that social factors such as involvement of family and bed partners' satisfaction levels correlate significantly with MAA adherence (see Chapter 4 section4.5). Dieltjens et al. (2015) observed that objective adherence was significantly correlated to socially disturbing snoring. However, the results of the current study do not corroborate with the above findings. No significant association was observed between social support and adherence. Carballo et al (2016) reported similar findings; however, this should not be interpreted as an indication that social support plays no role in MAA adherence, given that the benefits of MAA therapy, in all proportions, are not only limited to patients but also extend to their bed partners. Therefore, further research is needed with robust data to explore ways of implementing social support as a resource to improve MAA adherence.

#### 4.5.3. Study design

As mentioned above, the current study is the first to assess the efficacy of a stage-matched intervention in enhancing adherence to MAA therapy. Only recently has Liu et al. (2022) evaluated the efficacy of a multifactorial intervention in enhancing patient adherence to mandibular advancement appliance. However, the effectiveness of stage-matched intervention has only been evaluated in relation to CPAP adherence. Hence, the current study's sample size was based on the non-adherence rates and clinical wearing time reported by Deng et al. (2013). Although Liu et al. (2022) had a greater sample size than the current study, both the studies exhibited similar powers. However, the multifactorial approach adopted by Liu et al. (2022) failed to consider heath beliefs (risk perception, outcome expectancy and self-efficacy) that govern adherence in patients with OSA (Stepnowsky et al., 2006, Carballo et al., 2016). Moreover, the authors delivered the intervention as a whole, rendering it difficult to assess which intervention was more effective in relation to the others. In addition, no

consideration was given to the ordered set of stages that individuals are presumed to progress while contemplating, initiating, and maintaining health behaviour change during intervention delivery.

Furthermore, in the current study, two patients were lost to follow-up, one patient discontinued treatment, one patient withdrew from the trial and one patient failed to complete treatment. The sample size was inflated to account for 15% dropouts, however due to time restraints (as a consequence of the Covid-19 pandemic) recruitment was stopped once 56 participants were enrolled in the study. Nevertheless, previous research in relation to enhancing MAA adherence has observed similar dropout rates (Pahkala and Suominen, 2021, Liu et al., 2022).

The present study enrolled individuals with a confirmed diagnosis of OSA (AHI  $\geq$  5), who were 40 years-old or above and referred for MAA therapy. Individuals with poor periodontal health, insufficient teeth for MAA fabrication, TMJ disorders, uncontrolled epilepsy and past MAA users were excluded. The prevalence of OSA is known to increase with advancing age, hence patients above 39 years age were considered eligible for the study. Nonetheless, recent survey of 493 healthy individuals ranging from 18-25 years of age indicated that 17.3% (n = 73) of participants were at increased risk of OSA using the STOP BANG questionnaire (Aggarwal et al., 2021). Therefore, further research is needed to screen for the prevalence of OSA in younger adults.

# 4.5.4. Limitations

The main limitation of the current study is the limited quantity of data that was available for the analysis. As highlighted previously, eight months of recruitment and data collection time was lost due the COVID-19 pandemic. Hence, the data might lack the robustness needed to assess the aims of the study.

Additionally, the consequence of presenting interim data, as not all the participants have completed the trial might increase the chances of type 2 error that often results from small sample sizes.

Nevertheless, the study did demonstrate results that were consistent with previous research concerning CPAP adherence (Stepnowsky et al., 2002, Deng et al., 2013). In addition, the current study does plan to follow-up the patients for over a longer period. However, further research with robust data, longer follow-up period devoid of any interruptions is imperative to explore effective ways to enhance adherence to MAA therapy.

# 4.6. Conclusion

The rationale for the current study was to help address the current shortfall in the literature in relation to methods that could be adopted to optimise MAA adherence in OSA. The current stage-matched intervention trial, to-date could not demonstrate any significant improvement in relation to MAA adherence.

However, whilst the findings of the present study should be interpreted with caution, the study did observe:

• A positive correlation between risk perception and outcome expectancy.

• Participants in the IC group had higher self-efficacy than those in the SC group Nevertheless, future research is needed to further define the role of risk perception, outcome expectancy and self-efficacy in MAA adherence.
# Chapter 5. Behaviour change techniques to enhance adherence to Mandibular advancement appliance in Patients with Obstructive Sleep Apnoea: A Qualitative study

## 5.1. Introduction

It is recognised that patient adherence to treatment in chronic conditions declines considerably after 6 months of therapy (Jin et al., 2008, Fernandez-Lazaro et al., 2019). Similarly, adherence to mandibular advancement therapy varies from 76 to 95%, while the range of MAA adherence after 33 months of use is 56–68%, and after 4 years use, declines to 32% (Hoffstein, 2007). Given that mandibular advancement appliances are removable and must be used indefinitely, adherence to treatment is of utmost importance for successful outcomes. Furthermore, adherence to treatment in patients with obstructive sleep apnoea is influenced on a multitude of factors (Tallamraju et al., 2021).

Adoption of new health behaviour, like a new physical activity routine or adhering to a prescribed medication regimen, is a challenging endeavour involving a variety of social, emotional, and cognitive factors (Schwarzer and Luszczynska, 2008). However, evidence in terms of psychological and social factors with regards to MAA adherence is highly limited in contrast with the volume of literature concerning CPAP adherence. Efforts to enhance patient education ranging from telephone support to home visits, motivational enhancement, or augmented support have been shown to improve CPAP adherence when compared to standard care (Chervin et al., 1997, Hui et al., 2000). It has also been suggested in a recent Cochrane review that educational, supportive and behavioural interventions may increase CPAP usage to varying degrees (Wozniak et al., 2014). However, no studies evaluating the efficacy of the interventions in relation to MAA adherence were identified in this review. Therefore, the aim of this study is to explore and understand the experiences of obstructive sleep apnoea (OSA) patients in relation to mandibular advancement appliance (MAA) therapy through a qualitative approach

## 5.2. Hypothesis

No hypotheses are required to undertake this study, since the qualitative nature of the study means they are generated once the gathered data has been interpreted and understood.

## 5.3. Aim

To identify behaviour change techniques influencing adherence to mandibular advancement therapy in obstructive sleep apnoea patients.

# 5.4. Methodology 5.4.1. Study design

Qualitative methodology with semi-structured, one-to-one interview of participants and analysis of data using the behaviour change taxonomy of Cane et al., (2012).

## 5.4.2. Ethical approval

Ethical approval (Appendix 3) for this study was obtained from Northwest – Greater Manchester West Research Ethics Committee (REC reference: 16/NW/0391 or 19/LO/0972), prior to the recruitment of participants.

## 5.4.3. Participant recruitment

Participants for this study were recruited from a randomised controlled trial at the Institute of Dentistry, the Barts and The London School of Medicine and Dentistry. The parent trial was undertaken to investigate the efficacy of behaviour change interventions in enhancing adherence to MAA therapy in patients with obstructive sleep apnoea.

## 5.4.4. Selection Criteria

# 5.4.4.1. Inclusion criteria Adults (≥40 years old) Confirmed diagnosis of OSA (AHI ≥ 5) Referred for MAA therapy Must be able to understand, read and write English; with the

assistance of a translator

#### 5.4.4.2. Exclusion criteria

Insufficient teeth for MAA fabrication Poor dental and/or periodontal health Symptomatic Temporomandibular disorder Previously used an MAA Patients with Epilepsy

Participants in this study were invited to take part in the interview, with verbal and written explanations provided (Appendix 15). Patients interested in participation had a week to consider, before confirming their interest with written consent (Appendix 16).

## 5.4.5. Sampling technique

A purposive sampling matrix was used and checked throughout the study to ensure that similar number of participants from both the groups, – intervention care and standardised care were interviewed. This enabled the collection of data both from adherent and non- adherent participants within both the groups (Table 5.1).

Group	Adherent	Non-adherent	Total
Intervention care	2	2	4
Standardised care	2	2	4
Total	08	08	08

Table 5.1. The sampling matrix table

#### 5.4.6. Interview setting and procedure

In view of the COVID-19 pandemic, the interviews were undertaken on an online platform (Microsoft® Teams). However, if the participants were comfortable to attend in person, the interview was to be carried out in a private seminar room. Two designated researchers conducted the interview (TN, HT). TN has previous experience in qualitative interviews, whilst HT undertook formal training and initial supervision by TN for quality assurance purposes.

On the day of interview, the interview format was briefly explained to the participants at the start. All participants were asked a standard list of questions from the topic guide (Appendix 17) to address the following topics:

- Patient's awareness of risks of OSA and the benefits of treatment
- Barriers and facilitators of MAA therapy

The interviews were recorded and transcribed by a third party service- Essential Secretary Ltd. Depending on the response, the interviewer was also permitted to ask additional questions outside the topic guide to clarify or explore their response(s) in greater details. In addition to voice recording of the interview , a notepad was used by the researchers to write down additional observations and discussions, which are otherwise not captured.

## 5.8. Results

The behaviour change taxonomy of Cane et el., (2012) comprising of sixteen clusters and 93 individual behaviour change techniques (BCTs) was employed as the coding framework to identify the influence of BCTs on adherence. The BCTs identified in the transcripts and their influence on patient adherence is summarised in tables 5.2 and 5.3

## 5.8.1. Participant characteristics

A total of eight participants were recruited for the one-to-one interviews. The sample consists of five (62.5%) males, with the mean age of 55 years (SD = 9.97) and with a mean AHI of 21.54/hours (SD = 14.80).

Table 5.2 Behaviour change techniques (BCTs) identified in the interviews.

Sr. no.	Behaviour change Technique cluster	Behaviour change techniques defining the cluster	Examples from the interviews of factors that enhance adherence	Examples from the interviews of factors that decrease adherence
1	Reward and Threat	Reward Outcome	Decrease in snoring Improved quality of sleep Decreased night sweating Less waking up in the night to go to the toilet Decreased headaches Decreased daytime fatigue	
2	Repetition and Substitution	Habit formation	Incorporate into night-time routine Wearing the splint before night cream	Disruption of routine (e.g. weekends, falling asleep before putting it in)
3	Antecedents	Distraction Restructuring the physical environment		Alcohol consumption Left the device somewhere else other than its usual place
4	Associations	Prompts and cues	Leave device on bedside table Wearing the splint before night cream	

6	Natural consequences	Information of Health consequences	Started the treatment because of the negative consequences of not starting treatment	
		Salience of consequences	Impact on health on not using the MAA	
7	Feedback and monitoring	Feedback on behaviour and Self-monitoring of behaviour	Snoring apps giving feedback	
9	Social support	Social support (emotional)	Positive feedback from the partner	
10	Comparison of outcomes	Pros and cons	Aware of the negative impact on sleep of not using the MAA	
		Comparative imagining of future outcomes	Impact on snoring on not using the MAA	
			Positive consequences of using it	

Table 5.3 Excerpts from the interview drawing upon the specific behaviour change techniques

Behaviour change techniques	Excerpts from the interviews promoting adherence	Excerpts from the interviews promoting non- adherence	
Reward Outcome	" when I've got the mouth guard in, um, I don't snore, or I don't snore like I, I do when I have haven't got it in." (Interviewee no.1)		
	"The quality of the sleep has improved a lot." (Interviewee no 3)		
	"Er, yes. Er, ah, one thing I have to say, is I just remember, sorry, so I don't forget. I used to go toilet a lot. And now I'm not going to toilet as before, maximum once." (Interviewee no 8)		
	"But I do remember it was a long time, and, um, er, when I woke up I, I realised how well I slept because I was like fresh, not yawning, and things like this, you know. And in the daytime, when I was driving the bus, I never sort of felt sleepy at all, which I could be, er, with the vibration of the bus, for example, the monotonous, er, that is hypnotising in itself, and that, even that wasn't doing anything to me at the time." (Interviewee no 4)		
	"I've certainly been much more awake during the afternoons and that sort of thing, feeling a lot better from that." (Interviewee no 7)		
Habit formation	"Like a regimented routine, of a weekend it sort of goes to pot a little bit. Um, er " (Interviewee no. 1)	" I miss it more of a weekend, I tend to miss it more of a weekend than opposed to a work day. If, if you look for any sort of pattern in that, that's" (Interview no.1)	
	"Create a routine, I would create a routine and put it very visual place like you always look in the night so you don't forget." (Interviewee no 3)		

	"It's just habit, it's just habit, and you just do it before you put your cream on." (Interviewee no 5)	"I think keep to the side of my bed is, is helping but sometimes I keep it sofa, something like that, and then changing the routine."(no 3)
Distraction		"Mm, normally when I drink too much or" (no 3)
Restructuring of the physical environment		"The only other reason I can think of, is just laziness, if I've left, washed it downstairs and it's late, and I need to sleep and I'm tired." (Interviewee 8)
Prompts and cues	"Oh, that's on my bedside table." (Interviewee no. 1)	
	"You just need a night time ritual, you need to have it on your bedside table or next to your toothbrush or something, so you remember." (Interviewee 2)	
	"Er, what I do, I leave the, er, the little box, white box you, er, gave to me, in my, er, the side of my bed." (Interviewee no 3)	
	"It's just habit, it's just habit, and you just do it before you put your cream on." (Interviewee no 5)	
Information of Health consequences	" I'm using the second device much more than I'm using the first device, er, that is, that is a definite thing. Um, part of that is, um, I, I've had it explained to me how it takes a lot of, or takes	
Salience of consequences	some stress off your heart with breathing. These micro sort of, um, interruptions and your sleep, it actually sort of, it's almost you're, you're waking up almost with a start, and that's not good for your ge your health in general. So, that is one thing that, um, I, I do bear in mind, and that has made, that has made me make a conscious effort to, to, to be, er, more diligent with using, using the mouth guard." (Interviewee no 1)	
	"I thought it was normal. And, er, few times, like, well, quite a lot of time you have conversation about I feel so tired, and my	

	<ul> <li>partner said that's not normal, you think it's but it's not normal.</li> <li>But for me it was not normal, being tired all the time. I thought it was about, about the job or anything else, I could not make a link once the sleep apnoea, once I found out." (Interviewee no 3)</li> <li>"I tolerated it quite easily because I actuallt wanted to use this device, because I knew that I had a problem") Interviewee no.</li> <li>4)</li> </ul>
Feedback on behaviour and Self- monitoring of behaviour	"So on occasion I check it and it's much lower, so I think a high score for me is like 120 or 130 and so it goes down to 60 or 40, or even lower with the device in." (Interviewee no 2)
	"I'm using the snore App, to help monitor my sleep and um, I could see there is a good pattern and this morning, it's completely gone down and I'm now sort of into single figures of the snore score and it's just slightly, on the odd day, maybe double digits in the twenties, early twenties, but nothing like it was before." (Interviewee no 5)
Pros and cons	"I'm worried that I would wake up feeling dreadful." (Interviewee no. 2)
Comparative imagining of future	"So, now I can't sleep without the appliance, because I know if I don't use it the next day, I won't be as awake and alert and functioning, so, that you know, I do use it every night." (Interviewee no 5)
outcomes	"And I have experimented without it, using it, and it's just, it's like in double digits, like nineties or something." (Interviewee no. 5)
	" And, er, I remember the first time I used it I, I don't know … er, yeah, it has to be the, the device, I had, er, the first time I had a long sleep, continuous sleep without waking up in the middle of

the night, and that's when I knew that this thing is working for me (Interviewee no 4)

## 5.8. Discussion

The study aimed to explore drivers for adherence to mandibular advancement therapy in patients with obstructive sleep apnoea. Given that adherence to a new treatment, is similar to the adoption of a new health behaviour. The Behaviour change taxonomy by Crane et al. (2012) was used to identify and compare active behaviour change techniques from the one-to-one interviews. The behaviour change taxonomy is a reliable validated tool developed, in the field of health psychology. It is used to explore and identify elements that direct behaviour change. This enabled systematic and efficient identification of specific BCTs that appeared most effective in enhancing patient adherence to treatment across the interviews.

### 5.8.1. Reward and threat

The BCT Reward (outcome) belonging to the Reward and Threat cluster to emerged in the majority of the interviews undertaken. Patient adherence was influenced by treatment benefits such as the decrease in snoring, improved quality of sleep, decreased night sweating, less waking up in the night to go the toilet, decreased headaches, and decreased daytime fatigue. The participants disregarded early side effects such as jaw ache, dryness of the mouth or excessive salivation once they started to perceive the benefits of the treatment. This is consistent with value-expectancy theories of behaviour which hypothesise that adherence to mandibular advancement therapy is enhanced if patients perceive therapy to be effective (Saglam-Aydinatay and Taner, 2018). Nevertheless, perceived effectiveness was observed to be low among an older population of obstructive sleep apnoea patients (Carballo et al., 2016). However, these findings are debatable, as studies concerning adherence to continuous positive airway pressure have reported perceived effectiveness i.e. outcome expectancy as a determinant of adherence (Stepnowsky Jr and Dimsdale, 2002, De Zeeuw et al., 2007, Olsen et al., 2010). Therefore, the issue of low perceived efficacy of the treatment should be addressed in a clinical setting as it could hamper treatment adherence.

### 5.8.2. Repetition and substitution

Previous studies in the field of health psychology have observed that if a specific behaviour is performed repeatedly in the same contextual cues, a habit will develop (Lally et al., 2010, Gardner et al., 2012). Similarly, we observed that patients used the MAA daily by incorporating it into an activity (context) that is performed regularly. This draws upon the BCT Habit formation from the Repetition and Substitution cluster. As summarised in Table 5.2 and 5.3, participants would often create a night-time routine (consistent context) that helped them to remember to wear the MAA whilst also ensuring repetition of the behaviour and enhanced treatment adherence. Therefore, any disruption of the routine translated to decreased patient adherence. Hence, studies have hypothesised that the behaviour is more likely to happen if repeated in a consistent context (Verplanken, 2005, Wood and Neal, 2007, Gardner et al., 2012). Furthermore, reviews have also regarded that repetition of behaviours in the same contextual cues may also occur in the absence of motivation, conscious control or deliberation (Ouellette and Wood, 1998, Webb and Sheeran, 2006, Gardner, 2015).

#### 5.8.3. Antecedents

In terms of antecedents, restructuring of the physical or social environment such as moving the MAA from its usual place was associated with non-adherence to treatment. Additionally, break in the routine such as weekends or alcohol consumption also lead to non-adherence. The concept of relapses and missed opportunity have been addressed in previous studies (Lally et al., 2010). In particular over a 12-week period lapses in performing the behaviour predicted poorer future performance, particularly within the first (Armitage, 2005). Therefore, habit formation may be best aided by consistent repetition of behaviour when the cue is encountered, but it is not necessary to imply that participants should give up if an occasional relapse occurs (Lally and Gardner, 2013).

#### 5.8.4. Associations

The majority of the participants made use of BCT Prompts and cues belonging to the Associations cluster in order to remember to wear the MAA every night. Hence, visual cues such as leaving the MAA on the bedside table or wearing it after applying night cream influenced habit formation

promoting adherence. Therefore, recognisable cues in the context in which a behaviour is performed consistently can come to ingrain habits (Verplanken, 2005, Wood and Neal, 2009).

#### 5.8.5. Natural consequences

In terms of the impact of wearing or not wearing the MAA, the awareness and education concerning the negative consequences of treatment discontinuation lead to increased patient adherence. This draws upon two BCTs from the natural consequences cluster, namely information about health consequences and salience of consequences. In many chronic conditions, patient education to be instrumental in improving patient adherence. Educational interventions may be advantageous in increasing the risk awareness among patients concerning their conditions (Costa et al., 2015). However, clinical trials have not demonstrated robust improvements in adherence with educational strategies solely (Wiese et al., 2005, Golay et al., 2006, Meurice et al., 2007). Hence, including a therapeutic multifaceted intervention, addressing misconceptions about OSA and barriers to treatment is necessary to enhance patient adherence to treatment (Zhang et al., 2019).

#### 5.8.6. Feedback and monitoring

Research concerning adherence to CPAP demonstrated improved patient adherence due to automated feedback services (Hwang et al., 2018). Similar trends were observed in the current study drawing upon the BCTs Feedback on behaviour and Self-monitoring of the behaviour belonging to the Feedback and monitoring cluster. Patients were able to receive feedback from mobile snoring applications which help monitor snoring. A visible reduction in the snoring level aided in treatment continuation and maintenance. A reduction in snoring is perceived by patients as a sign of therapeutic efficacy and therefore seems to promote treatment adherence (Dieltjens et al., 2015). However, further research is needed to assess the accuracy of the sleep monitoring application in relation to standard assessment techniques.

#### 5.8.7. Social support

Among the cluster, social support, positive feedback from the patient's bed partner or members of the family promoted adherence to treatment. Whilst lack of feedback from family was observed to have a neutral effect on adherence. Previous studies have reported similar observations with regard to both CPAP and MAA adherence. (McArdle et al., 2001, Attali et al., 2016). Furthermore, research concerning adherence to CPAP has observed that if the intention to seek medical intervention was not the patient's but the bed partner's, adherence is negatively influenced as the patient may not be ready to commit to therapy. Nevertheless, involving partners and members of the family in the patient's treatment, especially when treatment is patient-dependent and adherence is crucial, can have a favourable effect on the prognosis of the treatment. Given, that the benefits of OSA treatment is not only limited to the patient but also extends to their bed partner (Weaver and Grunstein, 2008).

#### 5.8.8. Comparison of outcomes

The outcome of performing a behaviour has always reinforced the continuation or discontinuation of a behaviour. Accordingly, the BCTs 'Pros and Cons' and 'Comparative imaging of future outcomes' such as the negative impact on the quality of sleep of not wearing the MAA persuaded the participants to continue with the treatment despite minor inconveniences. These observations are consistent with previous studies that have demonstrated a significant positive relationship between outcome expectancy and CPAP usage at 1 month (Baron et al., 2011a, Deng et al., 2013). Hence, participants who perceive benefits at an early stage of treatment tend to be more adherent as compared to those who do not.

#### 5.8.9. Limitations

A potential limitation of this study is the selection of participants for interview. Only 25 individuals had completed the treatment giving a small pool of potential recruitments and it is possible that those who had completed treatment and volunteered to be interviewed had a more positive experience of the intervention than those not recruited.

## 5.9. Conclusion

A varied range of behaviour change techniques was observed in the current study that aided participants in the initiation, enactment and maintenance of the behaviour. Further research is needed to better understand the application of these techniques in a clinical setting to enhance MAA adherence.

## Chapter 6. Overall conclusions and future recommendations

A mixed-methods approach was adopted in order to assess the research questions, which entailed the undertaking of a systematic review, randomised clinical trial and a qualitative study.

- I. The findings of the systematic highlighted the existence of a weak relationship between objective MAA adherence and patient and disease characteristics such as age, sex, obesity, AHI, and daytime sleepiness. Non-adherent patients reported more side effects than users and tended to discontinue treatment within the first 3 months. Increased patient adherence was identified with custom-made MAA in comparison to ready-made MAA. The review identified limited evidence concerning the influence of psychological and social factors on MAA adherence. Given that majority of the studies relied upon patient reported adherence, the review observed a considerable lack of objective adherence monitoring.
- II. The results of the randomised clinical trial indicate that the adoption of a stage-matched intervention does not appear to improve adherence to MAA. However, a positive correlation was observed between objective adherence and health beliefs such as risk perception and outcome expectancy.
- III. The qualitative study observed a varied array of behaviour change techniques which aided patients in the initiation, enactment and maintenance of the behaviour. These included reward & threat, repetition & substitution, restructuring of the physical or social environment, associations, consequences of untreated OSA, social support, feedback & monitoring and comparison of outcomes.

The observations of the above methods align closely and emphasise the importance of health psychology in enhancing MAA adherence.

The findings of the present study have paved the way for the following studies to further address the current shortcomings in the literature, in relation to optimising adherence to mandibular advancement appliance (MAA) therapy.

- I. Completion of recruitment and follow-up of the current clinical trial to further help define the role of health beliefs such as risk perception, outcome expectancy and self -efficacy with longer follow-up duration.
- II. Studies assessing ways to minimising long-term risk of tooth movement from MAA therapy.
- III. Observational studies exploring the influence of race, age and ethnicity on adherence to mandibular advancement appliance therapy.
- IV. Studies assessing adherent and non-adherent patients in relation to patient's facial phenotype.

# References:

AARAB, G., LOBBEZOO, F., HEYMANS, M. W., HAMBURGER, H. L. & NAEIJE, M. 2011. Longterm follow-up of a randomized controlled trial of oral appliance therapy in obstructive sleep apnea. *Respiration*, 82, 162-168.

ABRAHAM, C. & SHEERAN, P. 2013. Understanding and changing health behaviour: From health beliefs to self-regulation. *Understanding and changing health behaviour.* Psychology Press.

AGGARWAL, K., AKHTAR, N. & MALLICK, H. 2021. Sleep quality mediates the relationship between risk of obstructive sleep apnea and acute stress in young adults. *J Physiol Pharmacol*, 72.

AL-DHARRAB, A. 2017. A randomized cross over study comparing the efficacy of two mandibular advancement appliances in the treatment of mild-moderate obstructive sleep apnea. *Cranio-the Journal of Craniomandibular Practice*, 35, 379-384.

ALI, S. S., ONI, E. T., WARRAICH, H. J., BLAHA, M. J., BLUMENTHAL, R. S., KARIM, A., SHAHARYAR, S., JAMAL, O., FIALKOW, J., CURY, R., BUDOFF, M. J., AGATSTON, A.

S. & NASIR, K. 2014. Systematic review on noninvasive assessment of subclinical cardiovascular disease in obstructive sleep apnea: new kid on the block! *Sleep Med Rev,* 18, 379-91.

ALOIA, M. S., ARNEDT, J. T., RIGGS, R. L., HECHT, J. & BORRELLI, B. 2004. Clinical

management of poor adherence to CPAP: motivational enhancement. Behav Sleep Med,

2, 205-22.

ALOIA, M. S., ARNEDT, J. T., STANCHINA, M. & MILLMAN, R. P. 2007. How early in treatment

is PAP adherence established? Revisiting night-to-night variability. *Behavioral sleep medicine*, 5, 229-40.

ALOIA, M. S., ARNEDT, J. T., STRAND, M., MILLMAN, R. P. & BORRELLI, B. 2013. Motivational

Enhancement to Improve Adherence to Positive Airway Pressure in Patients with Obstructive Sleep Apnea: A Randomized Controlled Trial. *Sleep*, 36, 1655-1662.

ARMITAGE, C. J. 2005. Can the theory of planned behavior predict the maintenance of physical activity? *Health psychology*, 24, 235.

ARMITAGE, C. J. & ARDEN, M. A. 2002. Exploring discontinuity patterns in the transtheoretical model: An application of the theory of planned behaviour. *British journal of health psychology*, 7, 89-103.

ARNAUD, C., BOCHATON, T., PÉPIN, J.-L. & BELAIDI, E. 2020. Obstructive sleep apnoea and cardiovascular consequences: Pathophysiological mechanisms. *Archives of Cardiovascular Diseases*, 113, 350-358.

ATTALI, V., CHAUMEREUIL, C., ARNULF, I., GOLMARD, J. L., TORDJMAN, F., MORIN, L.,

GOUDOT, P., SIMILOWSKI, T. & COLLET, J. M. 2016. Predictors of long-term effectiveness to mandibular repositioning device treatment in obstructive sleep apnea patients after 1000 days. *Sleep Med*, 27-28, 107-114.

BAER, J., MARLATT, G. & QUIGLEY, L. 1995. Selfefficacy and addictive behavior. In self -efficacy in changing societies. London: Cambridge University Press.

BAKKER, J. P., WANG, R., WENG, J., ALOIA, M. S., TOTH, C., MORRICAL, M. G., GLEASON,

K. J., RUESCHMAN, M., DORSEY, C., PATEL, S. R., WARE, J. H., MITTLEMAN, M. A. &

REDLINE, S. 2016. Motivational Enhancement for Increasing Adherence to CPAP: A Randomized Controlled Trial. *Chest*, 150, 337-45.

BALACHANDRAN, J. S. & PATEL, S. R. 2014. Obstructive Sleep Apnea. Annals of internal medicine, 161, ITC5-1.

BALKRISHNAN, R. 2005. The importance of medication adherence in improving chronic-disease related outcomes: what we know and what we need to further know. *Med Care,* 43, 517-20.

BANDURA, A. 1997. *Self-efficacy: The exercise of control,* New York, NY, US, W H Freeman/Times Books/ Henry Holt & Co.

BANDURA, A. 2004. Health promotion by social cognitive means. *Health Educ Behav,* 31, 143-64.

BANDURA, A. 2005. The evolution of social cognitive theory. *Great minds in management*, 9-35.

BANNO, K. & KRYGER, M. H. 2007. Sleep apnea: clinical investigations in humans. Sleep Med,

8,400-26.

BARKDULL, G. C., KOHL, C. A., PATEL, M. & DAVIDSON, T. M. 2008. Computed tomography

imaging of patients with obstructive sleep apnea. Laryngoscope, 118, 1486-92.

BARON, K. G., BERG, C. A., CZAJKOWSKI, L. A., SMITH, T. W., GUNN, H. E. & JONES, C. R.

2011a. Self-efficacy contributes to individual differences in subjective improvements using CPAP. *Sleep and Breathing*, 15, 599-606.

BARON, K. G., BERG, C. A., CZAJKOWSKI, L. A., SMITH, T. W., GUNN, H. E. & JONES, C. R.

2011b. Self-efficacy contributes to individual differences in subjective improvements using CPAP. *Sleep & breathing = Schlaf & Atmung,* 15, 599-606.

BARRERA, J. E., PAU, C. Y., FOREST, V. I., HOLBROOK, A. B. & POPELKA, G. R. 2017.

Anatomic measures of upper airway structures in obstructive sleep apnea. *World J Otorhinolaryngol Head Neck Surg*, 3, 85-91.

BATES, C. J. & MCDONALD, J. P. 2006. Patients' and sleeping partners' experience of treatment for sleep-related breathing disorders with a mandibular repositioning splint. *British Dental Journal*, 200, 95-92.

BENJAFIELD, A. V., AYAS, N. T., EASTWOOD, P. R., HEINZER, R., IP, M. S., MORRELL, M. J.,

NUNEZ, C. M., PATEL, S. R., PENZEL, T. & PÉPIN, J.-L. 2019. Estimation of the global prevalence and burden of obstructive sleep apnoea: a literature-based analysis. *The Lancet Respiratory Medicine*, 7, 687-698.

BERRY, R. B., BUDHIRAJA, R., GOTTLIEB, D. J., GOZAL, D., IBER, C., KAPUR, V. K., MARCUS, C. L., MEHRA, R., PARTHASARATHY, S., QUAN, S. F., REDLINE, S., STROHL, K. P., DAVIDSON WARD, S. L. & TANGREDI, M. M. 2012. Rules for scoring

respiratory events in sleep: update of the 2007 AASM Manual for the Scoring of Sleep and Associated Events. Deliberations of the Sleep Apnea Definitions Task Force of the American Academy of Sleep Medicine. *J Clin Sleep Med*, 8, 597-619.

BIERBAUER, W., INAUEN, J., SCHAEFER, S., KLEEMEYER, M. M., LÜSCHER, J., KÖNIG, C.,

TOBIAS, R., KLIEGEL, M., IHLE, A. & ZIMMERLI, L. 2017a. Health behavior change in older adults: Testing the health action process approach at the inter-and intraindividual level. *Applied Psychology: Health and Well-Being*, 9, 324-348.

BIERBAUER, W., INAUEN, J., SCHAEFER, S., KLEEMEYER, M. M., LUSCHER, J., KONIG, C., TOBIAS, R., KLIEGEL, M., IHLE, A., ZIMMERLI, L., HOLZER, B. M., SIEBENHUENER,

K., BATTEGAY, E., SCHMIED, C. & SCHOLZ, U. 2017b. Health Behavior Change in Older Adults: Testing the Health Action Process Approach at the Inter- and Intraindividual Level. *Appl Psychol Health Well Being*, 9, 324-348.

BIGNOLD, J. J., DEANS-COSTI, G., GOLDSWORTHY, M. R., ROBERTSON, C. A., MCEVOY,

D., CATCHESIDE, P. G. & MERCER, J. D. 2009. Poor long-term patient compliance with the tennis ball technique for treating positional obstructive sleep apnea. *Journal of Clinical Sleep Medicine*, 5, 428-430.

BONDEMARK, L. 1999. Does 2 years' nocturnal treatment with a mandibular advancement splint in adult patients with snoring and OSAS cause a change in the posture of the mandible? *American Journal of Orthodontics and Dentofacial Orthopedics*, 116, 621-628.

BRADLEY, T. D. & FLORAS, J. S. 2009. Obstructive sleep apnoea and its cardiovascular consequences. *Lancet*, 373, 82-93.

BRETTE, C., RAMANANTSOA, H., RENOUARDIERE, J., RENOUARDIERE, R., ROISMAN, G.

& ESCOURROU, P. 2012. A mandibular advancement device for the treatment of obstructive sleep apnea: long-term use and tolerance. *Int Orthod,* 10, 363-76.

BROSTROM, A., STROMBERG, A., MARTENSSON, J., ULANDER, M., HARDER, L. &

SVANBORG, E. 2007. Association of Type D personality to perceived side effects and adherence in CPAP-treated patients with OSAS. *Journal of sleep research,* 16, 439-47.

BROSTRÖM, A., STRÖMBERG, A., MÅRTENSSON, J., ULANDER, M., HARDER, L. &

SVANBORG, E. 2007. Association of Type D personality to perceived side effects and adherence in CPAP-treated patients with OSAS. *Journal of sleep research,* 16, 439-447.

BUDHIRAJA, R., PARTHASARATHY, S., DRAKE, C. L., ROTH, T., SHARIEF, I., BUDHIRAJA,

P., SAUNDERS, V. & HUDGEL, D. W. 2007. Early CPAP use identifies subsequent adherence to CPAP therapy. *Sleep*, 30, 320-4.

BUDWEISER, S., ENDERLEIN, S., JÖRRES, R. A., HITZL, A. P., WIELAND, W. F., PFEIFER, M.

& ARZT, M. 2009. Sleep apnea is an independent correlate of erectile and sexual dysfunction. *The journal of sexual medicine*, 6, 3147-3157.

BUYSSE, D. J., REYNOLDS, C. F., 3RD, MONK, T. H., BERMAN, S. R. & KUPFER, D. J. 1989.

The Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index: a new instrument for psychiatric practice and research.

Psychiatry Res, 28, 193-213.

CAMPOS, A. I., GARCÍA-MARÍN, L. M., BYRNE, E. M., MARTIN, N. G., CUÉLLAR-PARTIDA, G.

& RENTERÍA, M. E. 2020. Insights into the aetiology of snoring from observational and genetic investigations in the UK Biobank. *Nature Communications*, 11, 817.

CARBALLO, N. J., ALESSI, C. A., MARTIN, J. L., MITCHELL, M. N., HAYS, R. D., COL, N., PATTERSON, E. S., JOULDJIAN, S., JOSEPHSON, K. & FUNG, C. H. 2016. Perceived

Effectiveness, Self-efficacy, and Social Support for Oral Appliance Therapy Among Older Veterans With Obstructive Sleep Apnea. *Clin Ther,* 38, 2407-2415.

CARBERRY, J. C., JORDAN, A. S., WHITE, D. P., WELLMAN, A. & ECKERT, D. J. 2016. Upper

Airway Collapsibility (Pcrit) and Pharyngeal Dilator Muscle Activity are Sleep Stage Dependent. *Sleep*, 39, 511-521.

CARSKADON, M. A. 1986. Guidelines for the multiple sleep latency test (MSLT): a standard measure of sleepiness. *Sleep*, 9, 519-524.

CHAKRABARTI, S. 2014. What's in a name? Compliance, adherence and concordance in chronic psychiatric disorders. *World journal of psychiatry*, 4, 30-36.

CHAMPION, V. L. 1990. Breast self-examination in women 35 and older: A prospective study.

Journal of Behavioral Medicine, 13, 523-538.

CHERVIN, R. D., THEUT, S., BASSETTI, C. & ALDRICH, M. S. 1997. Compliance with nasal

CPAP can be improved by simple interventions. *Sleep*, 20, 284-9.

CHIRINOS, J. A., GURUBHAGAVATULA, I., TEFF, K., RADER, D. J., WADDEN, T. A., TOWNSEND, R., FOSTER, G. D., MAISLIN, G., SAIF, H. & BRODERICK, P. 2014. CPAP,

weight loss, or both for obstructive sleep apnea. New England Journal of Medicine, 370, 2265-2275.

CIVELEK, S., EMRE, I. E., DIZDAR, D., CUHADAROGLU, C., EKSIOGLU, B. K., ERASLAN, A.

K. & TURGUT, S. 2012. Comparison of conventional continuous positive airway pressure to continuous positive airway pressure titration performed with sleep endoscopy. *The Laryngoscope*, 122, 691-695.

CLARK, G. T., ARAND, D., CHUNG, E. & TONG, D. 1993. Effect of anterior mandibular positioning on obstructive sleep apnea. *Am Rev Respir Dis,* 147, 624-9.

CLARK, G. T., SOHN, J. W. & HONG, C. N. 2000. Treating obstructive sleep apnea and snoring: Assessment of an anterior mandibular positioning device. *Journal of the American Dental Association*, 131, 765-771.

COELHO, G., BITTENCOURT, L., ANDERSEN, M. L., GUIMARÃES, T. M., SILVA, L. O. E., LUZ,

G. P., TUFIK, S. & HACHUL, H. 2021. Depression and obesity, but not mild obstructive sleep apnea, are associated factors for female sexual dysfunction. *Sleep Breath*.

COLLOP, N. A., ANDERSON, W. M., BOEHLECKE, B., CLAMAN, D., GOLDBERG, R.,

GOTTLIEB, D. J., HUDGEL, D., SATEIA, M. & SCHWAB, R. 2007. Clinical guidelines for the use of unattended portable monitors in the diagnosis of obstructive sleep apnea in adult patients. Portable Monitoring Task Force of the American Academy of Sleep Medicine. *Journal of clinical sleep medicine: JCSM: official publication of the American Academy of Sleep Medicine,* 3, 737-747.

CONROY, D. & HAGGER, M. S. 2018. Imagery interventions in health behavior: A meta-analysis.

Health Psychol, 37, 668-679.

CORI, J. M., O'DONOGHUE, F. J. & JORDAN, A. S. 2018. Sleeping tongue: current perspectives of genioglossus control in healthy individuals and patients with obstructive sleep apnea. *Nature and science of sleep*, 10, 169-179.

COSTA, E., GIARDINI, A., SAVIN, M., MENDITTO, E., LEHANE, E., LAOSA, O., PECORELLI,

S., MONACO, A. & MARENGONI, A. 2015. Interventional tools to improve medication adherence: review of literature. *Patient preference and adherence*, 9, 1303-1314.

COWIE, M. R., WOEHRLE, H., WEGSCHEIDER, K., ANGERMANN, C., D'ORTHO, M.-P., ERDMANN, E., LEVY, P., SIMONDS, A. K., SOMERS, V. K., ZANNAD, F. & TESCHLER,

H. 2015. Adaptive Servo-Ventilation for Central Sleep Apnea in Systolic Heart Failure. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 373, 1095-1105.

CROFT, C. B. & PRINGLE, M. 1991. Sleep nasendoscopy: a technique of assessment in snoring and obstructive sleep apnoea. *Clin Otolaryngol Allied Sci*, 16, 504-9.

CUNALI, P. A., ALMEIDA, F. R., SANTOS, C. D., VALDRICHI, N. Y., NASCIMENTO, L. S., DAL-

FABBRO, C., TUFIK, S. & BITTENCOURT, L. R. A. 2011. Mandibular exercises improve mandibular advancement device therapy for obstructive sleep apnea. *Sleep and Breathing*, 15, 717-727.

DAL-FABBRO, C., GARBUIO, S., D'ALMEIDA, V., CINTRA, F. D., TUFIK, S. & BITTENCOURT,

L. 2014. Mandibular advancement device and CPAP upon cardiovascular parameters in OSA. *Sleep and Breathing*, 18, 749-759.

DE ALMEIDA, F. R., LOWE, A. A., TSUIKI, S., OTSUKA, R., WONG, M., FASTLICHT, S. & RYAN,

F. 2005. Long-Term Compliance and Side Effects of Oral Appliances Used for the Treatment of Snoring and Obstructive Sleep Apnea Syndrome. *Journal of Clinical Sleep Medicine*, 1, 143-152.

DE CORSO, E., FIORITA, A., RIZZOTTO, G., MENNUNI, G., MEUCCI, D., GIULIANI, M., MARCHESE, M. R., LEVANTESI, L., DELLA MARCA, G. & PALUDETTI, G. 2013. The

role of drug-induced sleep endoscopy in the diagnosis and management of obstructive sleep apnoea syndrome: our personal experience. *Acta Otorhinolaryngologica Italica*, 33, 405.

DE VITO, A., CARRASCO LLATAS, M., RAVESLOOT, M. J., KOTECHA, B., DE VRIES, N., HAMANS, E., MAURER, J., BOSI, M., BLUMEN, M. & HEISER, C. 2018. European

position paper on drug-induced sleep endoscopy: 2017 update. Clinical Otolaryngology,

43, 1541-1552.

DE VITO, A., CARRASCO LLATAS, M., VANNI, A., BOSI, M., BRAGHIROLI, A., CAMPANINI, A., DE VRIES, N., HAMANS, E., HOHENHORST, W. & KOTECHA, B. T. 2014. European

position paper on drug-induced sedation endoscopy (DISE). Sleep and Breathing, 18, 453-465.

DE VRIES, G. E., HOEKEMA, A., DOFF, M. H., KERSTJENS, H. A., MEIJER, P. M., VAN DER

HOEVEN, J. H. & WIJKSTRA, P. J. 2015. Usage of positional therapy in adults with obstructive sleep apnea. *Journal of Clinical Sleep Medicine*, 11, 131-137.

DE ZEEUW, J., BABERG, H., DUCHNA, H., KEMPKENS, D., WALTHER, J., SCHULTZE-

WERNINGHAUS, G., RASCHE, K. & ORTH, M. 2007. Locus of control belief is a predictor of CPAPcompliance in patients with obstructive sleep apnea syndrome. *Pneumologie (Stuttgart, Germany)*, 61, 283-290.

DE ZEEUW, J., BABERG, H. T., KEMPKENS, D. J., SCHMALZ, O., DUCHNA, H.-W., ORTH, M., KUGLER, J., SCHULTZE-WERNINGHAUS, G. & RASCHE, K. 2003. [Improvement of

health-related quality of life in patients with obstructive sleep apnea syndrome under CPAP therapy]. Verbesserung der gesundheitsspezifischen Lebensqualitat unter CPAP-Therapie bei Patienten mit obstruktivem Schlafapnoesyndrom., 98, 181-7.

DEMPSEY, J. A., VEASEY, S. C., MORGAN, B. J. & O'DONNELL, C. P. 2010. Pathophysiology

of sleep apnea. Physiological reviews, 90, 47-112.

DENG, T., WANG, Y., SUN, M. & CHEN, B. 2013. Stage-matched intervention for adherence to CPAP in patients with obstructive sleep apnea: a randomized controlled trial. *Sleep & breathing* = *Schlaf & Atmung*, 17, 791-801.

DIELTJENS, M., BRAEM, M. J., VROEGOP, A., WOUTERS, K., VERBRAECKEN, J. A., DE BACKER, W. A., VAN DE HEYNING, P. H. & VANDERVEKEN, O. M. 2013a. Objectively

Measured vs Self-Reported Compliance During Oral Appliance Therapy for Sleep- Disordered Breathing. *Chest*, 144, 1495-1502.

DIELTJENS, M. & VANDERVEKEN, O. 2019. Oral Appliances in Obstructive Sleep Apnea.

Healthcare (Basel), 7.

DIELTJENS, M., VANDERVEKEN, O. M., VAN DEN BOSCH, D., WOUTERS, K., DENOLLET, J., VERBRAECKEN, J. A., VAN DE HEYNING, P. H. & BRAEM, M. J. 2013b. Impact of type

D personality on adherence to oral appliance therapy for sleep-disordered breathing. *Sleep and Breathing*, 17, 985-991.

DIELTJENS, M., VERBRUGGEN, A. E., BRAEM, M. J., WOUTERS, K., VERBRAECKEN, J. A., DE BACKER, W. A., HAMANS, E., VAN DE HEYNING, P. H. & VANDERVEKEN, O. M.

2015. Determinants of Objective Compliance During Oral Appliance Therapy in Patients With Sleep-Disordered Breathing A Prospective Clinical Trial. *Jama Otolaryngology-Head & Neck Surgery*, 141, 894-900.

DIJEMENI, E., D'AMONE, G. & GBATI, I. 2017. Drug-induced sedation endoscopy (DISE) classification systems: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Sleep and Breathing*, 21, 983-994.

DOFF, M. H., FINNEMA, K. J., HOEKEMA, A., WIJKSTRA, P. J., DE BONT, L. G. & STEGENGA,

B. 2013a. Long-term oral appliance therapy in obstructive sleep apnea syndrome: a controlled study on dental side effects. *Clin Oral Investig,* 17, 475-82.

DOFF, M. H. J., HOEKEMA, A., WIJKSTRA, P. J., VAN DER HOEVEN, J. H., HUDDLESTON

SLATER, J. J. R., DE BONT, L. G. M. & STEGENGA, B. 2013b. Oral appliance versus continuous positive airway pressure in obstructive sleep apnea syndrome: a 2-year follow- up. *Sleep*, 36, 1289-96.

DRAKE, C. L., DAY, R., HUDGEL, D., STEFADU, Y., PARKS, M., SYRON, M. L. & ROTH, T.

2003. Sleep during titration predicts continuous positive airway pressure compliance.

Sleep, 26, 308-311.

DZIERZEWSKI, J. M., WALLACE, D. M. & WOHLGEMUTH, W. K. 2016. Adherence to continuous

positive airway pressure in existing users: self-efficacy enhances the association between continuous positive airway pressure and adherence. *Journal of Clinical Sleep Medicine*, 12, 169-176.

ECKERT, D. J. 2018. Phenotypic approaches to obstructive sleep apnoea-new pathways for targeted therapy. *Sleep medicine reviews*, 37, 45-59.

ECKERT, D. J. & MALHOTRA, A. 2008. Pathophysiology of adult obstructive sleep apnea.

Proceedings of the American Thoracic Society, 5, 144-153.

ECKERT, D. J., MALHOTRA, A., WELLMAN, A. & WHITE, D. P. 2014. Trazodone increases the

respiratory arousal threshold in patients with obstructive sleep apnea and a low arousal threshold. *Sleep*, 37, 811-819.

ECKERT, D. J., MCEVOY, R. D., GEORGE, K. E., THOMSON, K. J. & CATCHESIDE, P. G. 2007.

Genioglossus reflex inhibition to upper-airway negative-pressure stimuli during wakefulness and sleep in healthy males. *The Journal of physiology*, 581, 1193-1205.

EDWARDS, B. A. & WHITE, D. P. 2011. Control of the pharyngeal musculature during wakefulness and sleep: implications in normal controls and sleep apnea. *Head & neck*, 33 Suppl 1, S37-S45.

EDWARDS, C., MUKHERJEE, S., SIMPSON, L., PALMER, L. J., ALMEIDA, O. P. & HILLMAN,

D. R. 2015. Depressive Symptoms before and after Treatment of Obstructive Sleep Apnea in Men and Women. *Journal of Clinical Sleep Medicine*, 11, 1029-1038.

EDWARDS, W. 1954. The theory of decision making. *Psychological bulletin*, 51, 380.

EGGENSPERGER, N., SMOLKA, W. & IIZUKA, T. 2005. Long-term changes of hyoid bone position and pharyngeal airway size following mandibular setback by sagittal split ramus osteotomy. *Journal of Cranio-Maxillofacial Surgery*, 33, 111-117.

EL SHAYEB, M., TOPFER, L.-A., STAFINSKI, T., PAWLUK, L. & MENON, D. 2014. Diagnostic

accuracy of level 3 portable sleep tests versus level 1 polysomnography for sleep- disordered breathing: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Cmaj,* 186, E25-E51.

ENGLEMAN, H. M., MARTIN, S. E., DOUGLAS, N. & DEARY, I. 1994. Effect of continuous

positive airway pressure treatment on daytime function in sleep apnoea/hypopnoea syndrome. *The Lancet,* 343, 572-575.

ENGSTRØM, M., HAGEN, K., BJØRK, M. H., STOVNER, L. J. & SAND, T. 2014. Sleep quality

and arousal in migraine and tension-type headache: the headache-sleep study. *Acta Neurol Scand Suppl*, 47-54.

EPSTEIN, L., KRISTO, D., STROLLO JR, P., FRIEDMAN, N., MALHOTRA, A., PATIL, S., RAMAR, K., ROGERS, R., SCHWAB, R. & WEAVER, E. 2009. Adult Obstructive Sleep

Apnea Task Force of the American Academy of Sleep Medicine. Clinical guideline for the evaluation, management and long-term care of obstructive sleep apnea in adults. *J Clin Sleep Med*, 5, 263-76.

EUROQOL. 2009. *EQ-5D-5L* [Online]. EuroQol Group Available: <u>https://euroqol.org/eq-5d-instruments/eq-5d-5l-about/</u> [Accessed].

FERINI-STRAMBI, L., GALBIATI, A. & COMBI, R. 2019. Sleep disorder-related headaches.

Neurol Sci, 40, 107-113.

FERNANDEZ-LAZARO, C. I., GARCÍA-GONZÁLEZ, J. M., ADAMS, D. P., FERNANDEZ-LAZARO, D., MIELGO-AYUSO, J., CABALLERO-GARCIA, A., MORENO RACIONERO,

F., CÓRDOVA, A. & MIRON-CANELO, J. A. 2019. Adherence to treatment and related

factors among patients with chronic conditions in primary care: a cross-sectional study.

BMC Family Practice, 20, 132.

FERRER, R. & KLEIN, W. M. 2015. Risk perceptions and health behavior. *Curr Opin Psychol*, 5, 85-89.

FLETCHER, E. C. & LUCKETT, R. A. 1991. The effect of positive reinforcement on hourly compliance in nasal continuous positive airway pressure users with obstructive sleep apnea. *American review of respiratory disease*, 143, 936-941.

FLEURY, M., LE VAILLANT, M. & PELLETIER-FLEURY, N. 2015. Socio-Economic Status: A

Barrier to Access to Mandibular Advancement Device Therapy for Patients with Obstructive Sleep Apnea Syndrome in France. *PLoS One,* 10, e0138689.

FORCE, A. A. O. S. M. T. 1999. Sleep-related breathing disorders in adults: recommendations for syndrome definition and measurement techniques in clinical research. The Report of an American Academy of Sleep Medicine Task Force. *Sleep* 22, 667-89.

FRANSSON, A. M., TEGELBERG, Å., SVENSON, B. A., WENNEBERG, B. & ISACSSON, G.

2003. Validation of measurements of mandibular protrusion in the treatment of obstructive sleep apnoea and snoring with a mandibular protruding device. *The European Journal of Orthodontics*, 25, 377-383.

FRIEDMAN, M., HAMILTON, C., SAMUELSON, C. G., KELLEY, K., PEARSON-CHAUHAN, K.,

TAYLOR, D., TAYLOR, R., MALEY, A. & HIRSCH, M. A. 2012. Compliance and Efficacy of Titratable Thermoplastic versus Custom Mandibular Advancement Devices. *Otolaryngology-Head and Neck Surgery*, 147, 379-386.

FRITSCH, K. M., ISELI, A., RUSSI, E. W. & BLOCH, K. E. 2001. Side effects of mandibular advancement devices for sleep apnea treatment. *American journal of respiratory and critical care medicine*, 164, 813-818.

GAGNADOUX, F., NGUYEN, X. L., LE VAILLANT, M., PRIOU, P., MESLIER, N., EBERLEIN, A., KUN-DARBOIS, J. D., CHAUFTON, C., VILLIERS, B., LEVY, M., TRZEPIZUR, W. &

LAUNOIS, S. 2017. Comparison of titrable thermoplastic versus custom-made mandibular advancement device for the treatment of obstructive sleep apnoea. *Respir Med*, 131, 35-42.

GARDNER, B. 2015. A review and analysis of the use of 'habit' in understanding, predicting and influencing health-related behaviour. *Health Psychol Rev,* 9, 277-95.

GARDNER, B., LALLY, P. & WARDLE, J. 2012. Making health habitual: the psychology of 'habit-formation' and general practice. *Br J Gen Pract,* 62, 664-6.

GAUTHIER, L., LABERGE, L., BEAUDRY, M., LAFORTE, M., ROMPRÉ, P. H. & LAVIGNE, G. J.

2011. Mandibular advancement appliances remain effective in lowering respiratory disturbance index for 2.5–4.5 years. *Sleep Medicine*, 12, 844-849.

GAY, P., WEAVER, T., LOUBE, D. & IBER, C. 2006. Evaluation of positive airway pressure treatment for sleep related breathing disorders in adults. *Sleep*, 29, 381-401.

GENTA, P. R., SCHORR, F., ECKERT, D. J., GEBRIM, E., KAYAMORI, F., MORIYA, H. T.,

MALHOTRA, A. & LORENZI-FILHO, G. 2014. Upper Airway Collapsibility is Associated with Obesity and Hyoid Position. *Sleep*, 37, 1673-1678.

GHAZAL, A., SORICHTER, S., JONAS, I. & ROSE, E. C. 2009. A randomized prospective longterm study of two oral appliances for sleep apnoea treatment. *Journal of sleep research*, 18, 321-328.

GOLAY, A., GIRARD, A., GRANDIN, S., MÉTRAILLER, J.-C., VICTORION, M., LEBAS, P.,

YBARRA, J. & ROCHAT, T. 2006. A new educational program for patients suffering from sleep apnea syndrome. *Patient education and counseling*, 60, 220-227.

GOLLWITZER, P. M. & SHEERAN, P. 2006. Implementation intentions and goal achievement: A meta-analysis of effects and processes. *Advances in experimental social psychology*, 38, 69-119.

GREWE, F. A., ROEDER, M., BRADICICH, M., SCHWARZ, E. I., HELD, U., THIEL, S., GAISL,

T., SIEVI, N. A. & KOHLER, M. 2020. Low repeatability of Epworth Sleepiness Scale after short intervals in a sleep clinic population. *J Clin Sleep Med*, 16, 757-764.

HAMILTON, G. S. & JOOSTEN, S. A. 2017. Obstructive sleep apnoea and obesity. *Aust Fam Physician*, 46, 460-463.

HARGENS, T. A., KALETH, A. S., EDWARDS, E. S. & BUTNER, K. L. 2013. Association between

sleep disorders, obesity, and exercise: a review. Nature and science of sleep, 5, 27-35.

HATTAR, A., PAL, S. & HAGGER, M. S. 2016. Predicting physical activity-related outcomes in overweight and obese adults: A health action process approach. *Applied Psychology: Health and well-being*, 8, 127-151.

HAVIV, Y., ZINI, A., ALMOZNINO, G., KESHET, N., SHARAV, Y. & AFRAMIAN, D. J. 2017.

Assessment of interfering factors in non-adherence to oral appliance therapy in severe sleep apnea. *Oral Dis*, 23, 629-635.

HAYDEN, J. A., VAN DER WINDT, D. A., CARTWRIGHT, J. L., COTE, P. & BOMBARDIER, C.

2013. Assessing bias in studies of prognostic factors. Ann Intern Med, 158, 280-6.

HEILBRUNN, E. S., SSENTONGO, P., CHINCHILLI, V. M., OH, J. & SSENTONGO, A. E. 2021.

Sudden death in individuals with obstructive sleep apnoea: a systematic review and meta- analysis. *BMJ Open Respiratory Research*, 8, e000656.

HEINZER, R., VAT, S., MARQUES-VIDAL, P., MARTI-SOLER, H., ANDRIES, D., TOBBACK, N., MOOSER, V., PREISIG, M., MALHOTRA, A., WAEBER, G., VOLLENWEIDER, P., TAFTI,

M. & HABA-RUBIO, J. 2015. Prevalence of sleep-disordered breathing in the general population: the HypnoLaus study. *The Lancet Respiratory Medicine*, 3, 310-318.

HIGGINS, J., THOMAS, J., CHANDLER, J., CUMPSTON, M., LI, T., PAGE, M. & WELCH, V.

2019. Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions.

HOET, F., LIBERT, W., SANIDA, C., VAN DEN BROECKE, S., BRUYNEEL, A. V. & BRUYNEEL,

M. 2017. Telemonitoring in continuous positive airway pressure-treated patients improves delay to first intervention and early compliance: a randomized trial. *Sleep medicine*, 39, 77-83.

HOFFSTEIN, V. 2007. Review of oral appliances for treatment of sleep-disordered breathing.

Sleep and Breathing, 11, 1-22.

HOY, C. J., VENNELLE, M., KINGSHOTT, R. N., ENGLEMAN, H. M. & DOUGLAS, N. J. 1999.

Can intensive support improve continuous positive airway pressure use in patients with the sleep apnea/hypopnea syndrome? *Am J Respir Crit Care Med*, 159, 1096-100.

HUI, D. S., CHAN, J. K., CHOY, D. K., KO, F. W., LI, T. S., LEUNG, R. C. & LAI, C. K. 2000.

Effects of augmented continuous positive airway pressure education and support on compliance and outcome in a Chinese population. *Chest*, 117, 1410-1416.

HWANG, D., CHANG, J. W., BENJAFIELD, A. V., CROCKER, M. E., KELLY, C., BECKER, K. A., KIM, J. B., WOODRUM, R. R., LIANG, J. & DEROSE, S. F. 2018. Effect of telemedicine

education and telemonitoring on continuous positive airway pressure adherence. The Tele- OSA randomized trial. *American journal of respiratory and critical care medicine,* 197, 117- 126.

IBER, C. 2007. The AASM manual for the scoring of sleep and associated events: Rules.

Terminology and Technical Specification.

IGLAY, K., CARTIER, S. E., ROSEN, V. M., ZAROTSKY, V., RAJPATHAK, S. N., RADICAN, L.

& TUNCELI, K. 2015. Meta-analysis of studies examining medication adherence, persistence, and discontinuation of oral antihyperglycemic agents in type 2 diabetes. *Curr Med Res Opin,* 31, 1283-96.

INGMAN, T., ARTE, S., BACHOUR, A., BACK, L. & MAKITIE, A. 2013. Predicting compliance for mandible advancement splint therapy in 96 obstructive sleep apnea patients. *Eur J Orthod*, 35, 752-757.

IZCI, B., MCDONALD, J. P., COLEMAN, E. L., MACKAY, T. W., DOUGLAS, N. J. & ENGLEMAN,

H. M. 2005. Clinical audit of subjects with snoring & sleep apnoea/hypopnoea syndrome fitted with mandibular repositioning splint. *Respiratory Medicine*, 99, 337-346.

JEON, Y. J., YOON, D. W., HAN, D. H., WON, T. B., KIM, D. Y. & SHIN, H. W. 2015. Low quality

of life and depressive symptoms as an independent risk factor for erectile dysfunction in patients with obstructive sleep apnea. *The journal of sexual medicine*, 12, 2168-2177.

JIN, J., SKLAR, G. E., MIN SEN OH, V. & CHUEN LI, S. 2008. Factors affecting therapeutic compliance: A review from the patient's perspective. *Ther Clin Risk Manag*, 4, 269-86.

JOHAL, A. 2006. Health-related quality of life in patients with sleep-disordered breathing: Effect of mandibular advancement appliances. *Journal of Prosthetic Dentistry*, 96, 298-302.

JOHAL, A. & AGHA, B. 2018. Ready-made versus custom-made mandibular advancement appliances in obstructive sleep apnea: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Journal of Sleep Research*, 27.

JOHAL, A. & BATTAGEL, J. 2001. Current principles in the management of obstructive sleep apnoea with mandibular advancement appliances. *British Dental Journal*, 190, 532-536.

JOHAL, A., HARIA, P., MANEK, S., JOURY, E. & RIHA, R. 2017. Ready-Made Versus Custom-

Made Mandibular Repositioning Devices in Sleep Apnea: A Randomized Clinical Trial.

Journal of Clinical Sleep Medicine, 13, 175-182.

JOHAL, A., HECTOR, M. P., BATTAGEL, J. M. & KOTECHA, B. T. 2007. Impact of sleep

nasendoscopy on the outcome of mandibular advancement splint therapy in subjects with sleeprelated breathing disorders. *The Journal of Laryngology & Otology*, 121, 668-675.

JOHAL, A., JAUHAR, P., ALQATTAN, F., KASSIM, S. & MC CLOUGHLIN, K. 2016. The Efficacy

of Mandibular Advancement Appliances as a Treatment Alternative to Continuous Positive Airway Pressure in Moderate OSAHS. *Journal of Sleep Disorders and Management,* 2.

JOHNS, M. W. 1991. A new method for measuring daytime sleepiness: the Epworth sleepiness scale. *sleep*, 14, 540-545.

JULIUS, R. J., NOVITSKY JR, M. A. & DUBIN, W. R. 2009. Medication adherence: a review of the literature and implications for clinical practice. *Journal of Psychiatric Practice*, 15, 34-44.

KASAI, T. & BRADLEY, T. D. 2011. Obstructive Sleep Apnea and Heart Failure: Pathophysiologic and Therapeutic Implications. *Journal of the American College of Cardiology*, 57, 119-127.

KAYNAK, H., KAYNAK, D. & OZTURA, I. 2004. Does frequency of nocturnal urination reflect the severity of sleep-disordered breathing? *Journal of Sleep Research*, 13, 173-176.

KAZEMEINI, E., VAN DE PERCK, E., DIELTJENS, M., WILLEMEN, M., VERBRAECKEN, J., OP

DE BEECK, S. & VANDERVEKEN, O. M. 2022. Critical to Know Pcrit: A Review on Pharyngeal Critical Closing Pressure in Obstructive Sleep Apnea. *Frontiers in Neurology*, 13, 775709.

KELLESARIAN, S. V., MALIGNAGGI, V. R., FENG, C. & JAVED, F. 2018. Association between

obstructive sleep apnea and erectile dysfunction: a systematic review and meta-analysis.

International Journal of Impotence Research, 30, 129-140.

KRIBBS, N. B., PACK, A. I., KLINE, L. R., SMITH, P. L., SCHWARTZ, A. R., SCHUBERT, N. M., REDLINE, S., HENRY, J. N., GETSY, J. E. & DINGES, D. F. 1993. Objective Measurement

of Patterns of Nasal CPAP Use by Patients with Obstructive Sleep Apnea. *American Review of Respiratory Disease*, 147, 887-895.

LALLY, P. & GARDNER, B. 2013. Promoting habit formation. *Health Psychology Review*, 7, S137-S158.

LALLY, P., VAN JAARSVELD, C. H., POTTS, H. W. & WARDLE, J. 2010. How are habits formed:

Modelling habit formation in the real world. European journal of social psychology, 40, 998-1009.

LAM, B., LAM, D. C. & IP, M. S. 2007. Obstructive sleep apnoea in Asia. Int J Tuberc Lung Dis,

11, 2-11.

LASHLEY, M. E. 1987. Predictors of breast self-examination practice among elderly women. ANS Adv Nurs Sci, 9, 25-34.

LAVIE, P., HERER, P. & HOFFSTEIN, V. 2000. Obstructive sleep apnoea syndrome as a risk factor for hypertension: population study. *BMJ*, 320, 479-482.

LECHNER, M., BREEZE, C. E., OHAYON, M. M. & KOTECHA, B. 2019. Snoring and breathing

pauses during sleep: interview survey of a United Kingdom population sample reveals a significant increase in the rates of sleep apnoea and obesity over the last 20 years-data from the UK sleep survey. *Sleep Medicine*, 54, 250-256.

LEE, J. L., CHUNG, Y., WATERS, E. & VEDAM, H. 2020. The Epworth sleepiness scale: Reliably unreliable in a sleep clinic population. *J Sleep Res,* 29, e13019.

LEE, S. D., KANG, S. H., JU, G., HAN, J. W., KIM, T. H., LEE, C. S., KIM, T., KIM, K. W. & YOON,

I. Y. 2014. The Prevalence of and Risk Factors for Sleep-Disordered Breathing in an Elderly Korean Population. *Respiration*, 87, 372-378.

LEE, W. H., WEE, J. H., LEE, C. H., KIM, M. S., RHEE, C. S., YUN, P. Y., YOON, I. Y. & KIM, J.

W. 2013. Comparison between mono-bloc and bi-bloc mandibular advancement devices for obstructive sleep apnea. *European Archives of Oto-Rhino-Laryngology*, 270, 2909- 2913.

LÉVY, P., KOHLER, M., MCNICHOLAS, W. T., BARBÉ, F., MCEVOY, R. D., SOMERS, V. K.,

LAVIE, L. & PÉPIN, J.-L. 2015. Obstructive sleep apnoea syndrome. *Nature reviews Disease primers*, 1, 1-21.

LÉVY, P., PÉPIN, J. L., DESCHAUX-BLANC, C., PARAMELLE, B. & BRAMBILLA, C. 1996.

Accuracy of oximetry for detection of respiratory disturbances in sleep apnea syndrome.

Chest, 109, 395-9.

LI, H.-Y., ENGLEMAN, H., HSU, C.-Y., IZCI, B., VENNELLE, M., CROSS, M. & DOUGLAS, N. J.

2005. Acoustic reflection for nasal airway measurement in patients with obstructive sleep apneahypopnea syndrome. *Sleep*, 28, 1554-1559.

LI, Y., YE, J., HAN, D., ZHAO, D., CAO, X., ORR, J., JEN, R., DEACON-DIAZ, N., SANDS, S. A.,

OWENS, R. & MALHOTRA, A. 2019. The Effect of Upper Airway Surgery on Loop Gain in Obstructive Sleep Apnea. *Journal of clinical sleep medicine : JCSM : official publication of the American Academy of Sleep Medicine*, 15, 907-913.

LI, Z., TANG, T., WU, W., GU, L., DU, J., ZHAO, T., ZHOU, X., WU, H. & QIN, G. 2016. Efficacy

of nasal continuous positive airway pressure on patients with OSA with erectile dysfunction and low sex hormone levels. *Respiratory medicine*, 119, 130-134.

LIM, J., LASSERSON, T. J., FLEETHAM, J. & WRIGHT, J. 2004. Oral appliances for obstructive sleep apnoea. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev*, Cd004435.

LIPPKE, S., SCHWARZER, R., ZIEGELMANN, J. P., SCHOLZ, U. & SCHUZ, B. 2010. Testing

stage-specific effects of a stage-matched intervention: a randomized controlled trial targeting physical exercise and its predictors. *Health Educ Behav,* 37, 533-46.

LIPPKE, S. & ZIEGELMANN, J. P. 2008. Theory-based health behavior change: Developing, testing, and applying theories for evidence-based interventions. *Applied Psychology*, 57, 698-716.

LIPPKE, S., ZIEGELMANN, J. P. & SCHWARZER, R. 2004. Initiation and maintenance of physical exercise: Stage-specific effects of a planning intervention. *Research in Sports Medicine*, 12, 221-240.

LITTNER, M. R., KUSHIDA, C., WISE, M., G. DAVILA, D., MORGENTHALER, T., LEE-CHIONG, T., HIRSHKOWITZ, M., LOUBE, D. L., BAILEY, D. & BERRY, R. B. 2005. Practice

parameters for clinical use of the multiple sleep latency test and the maintenance of wakefulness test. *Sleep*, 28, 113-121.

LIU, J., SHEETS, V., MAERZ, R., NI, A., MAGALANG, U., KO, C. C. & FIRESTONE, A. 2022. A

multifactorial intervention to increase adherence to oral appliance therapy with a titratable mandibular advancement device for obstructive sleep apnea: a randomized controlled trial. *Sleep Breath.* 

LIU, S. Y., HUON, L. K., LO, M. T., CHANG, Y. C., CAPASSO, R., CHEN, Y. J., SHIH, T. T. &

WANG, P. C. 2016. Static craniofacial measurements and dynamic airway collapse patterns associated with severe obstructive sleep apnoea: a sleep MRI study. *Clin Otolaryngol*, 41, 700-706.

LOEWEN, A. H. S., OSTROWSKI, M., LAPRAIRIE, J., MATURINO, F., HANLY, P. J. & YOUNES,

M. 2011. Response of genioglossus muscle to increasing chemical drive in sleeping obstructive apnea patients. *Sleep*, 34, 1061-1073.

LURIE 2011. Cardiovascular disorders associated with obstructive sleep apnea. *Adv Cardiol,* 46, 197-266.

LUSZCZYNSKA, A. 2006. Effects of an implementation intervention intervention on physical activity after MI are mediated by cognitive processes, change in forming action plans. *Social Science and Medicine*, 62, 900-908.

LUSZCZYNSKA, A., MAZURKIEWICZ, M., ZIEGELMANN, J. P. & SCHWARZER, R. 2007a.

Recovery self-efficacy and intention as predictors of running or jogging behavior: A cross- lagged panel analysis over a two-year period. *Psychology of Sport and Exercise*, 8, 247-260.

LUSZCZYNSKA, A. & SCHWARZER, R. (eds.) 2005. *Social-cognitive theory.,* Buckingham: Open University Press.: Buckingham: Open University Press.

LUSZCZYNSKA, A. & SUTTON, S. 2006. Physical activity after cardiac rehabilitation: Evidence that different types of self-efficacy are important in maintainers and relapsers. *Rehabilitation Psychology*, 51, 314.

LUSZCZYNSKA, A., TRYBURCY, M. & SCHWARZER, R. 2007b. Improving fruit and vegetable consumption: a self-efficacy intervention compared with a combined self-efficacy and planning intervention. *Health education research*, 22, 630-638.

MAHER, J. P. & CONROY, D. E. 2016. A dual-process model of older adults' sedentary behavior.

Health Psychology, 35, 262.

MAKIHARA, E., KAWANO, T., MIYAJIMA, R., MASUMI, S., ENCISO, R. & CLARK, G. T. 2016.

Assessment of oral appliance for obstructive sleep apnea patients. Clin Exp Dent Res, 2, 155-161.

MALHOTRA, A. & LOSCALZO, J. 2009. Sleep and cardiovascular disease: an overview. *Progress in cardiovascular diseases*, 51, 279.

MARGEL, D., COHEN, M., LIVNE, P. M. & PILLAR, G. 2004. Severe, but not mild, obstructive sleep apnea syndrome is associated with erectile dysfunction. *Urology*, 63, 545-549.

MARKLUND, M. 2016. Long-term efficacy of an oral appliance in early treated patients with obstructive sleep apnea. *Sleep Breath*, 20, 689-94.

MARKLUND, M., CARLBERG, B., FORSGREN, L., OLSSON, T., STENLUND, H. & FRANKLIN,

K. A. 2015. Oral appliance therapy in patients with daytime sleepiness and snoring or mild to moderate sleep apnea: a randomized clinical trial. *JAMA internal medicine*, 175, 1278-1285.

MARKLUND, M. & FRANKLIN, K. A. 2007. Long-term effects of mandibular repositioning appliances on symptoms of sleep apnoea. *J Sleep Res*, 16, 414-20.

MARKLUND, M. & FRANKLIN, K. A. 2015. Treatment of elderly patients with snoring and obstructive sleep apnea using a mandibular advancement device. *Sleep and Breathing*, 19, 403-405.

MARKLUND, M., SAHLIN, C., STENLUND, H., PERSSON, M. & FRANKLIN, K. A. 2001.

Mandibular advancement device in patients with obstructive sleep apnea: long-term effects on apnea and sleep. *Chest,* 120, 162-169.

MARKLUND, M., STENLUND, H. & FRANKLIN, K. A. 2004. Mandibular advancement devices in 630 men and women with obstructive sleep apnea and snoring: tolerability and predictors of treatment success. *Chest*, 125, 1270-1278.

MARKLUND, M., VERBRAECKEN, J. & RANDERATH, W. 2012. Non-CPAP therapies in

obstructive sleep apnoea: mandibular advancement device therapy. Eur Respir J, 39, 1241-7.

MARLATT, G. A., LARIMER, M. E. & WITKIEWITZ, K. 2011. *Harm reduction: Pragmatic strategies for managing high-risk behaviors*, Guilford Press.

MARTYNOWICZ, H., SKOMRO, R., GAĆ, P., MAZUR, G., PORĘBSKA, I., BRYŁKA, A., NOWAK, W., ZIELIŃSKI, M., WOJAKOWSKA, A. & PORĘBA, R. 2017. The influence of

hypertension on daytime sleepiness in obstructive sleep apnea. J Am Soc Hypertens, 11, 295-302.

MAZZOTTI, D. R., KEENAN, B. T., THORARINSDOTTIR, E. H., GISLASON, T. & PACK, A. I.

2022. Is the Epworth Sleepiness Scale Sufficient to Identify the Excessively Sleepy Subtype of OSA? *Chest,* 161, 557-561.

MCARDLE, N., KINGSHOTT, R., ENGLEMAN, H., MACKAY, T. & DOUGLAS, N. 2001. Partners

of patients with sleep apnoea/hypopnoea syndrome: effect of CPAP treatment on sleep quality and quality of life. *Thorax*, 56, 513-518.

MCDAID, C., GRIFFIN, S., WEATHERLY, H., DUREE, K., VAN DER BURGT, M., VAN HOUT, S., AKERS, J., DAVIES, R., SCULPHER, M. & WESTWOOD, M. 2009. Continuous

positive airway pressure devices for the treatment of obstructive sleep apnoea-hypopnoea syndrome: a systematic review and economic analysis. *Health technology assessment (Winchester, England),* 13, iii-iv, xi.

MCGOWN, A. D., MAKKER, H. K., BATTAGEL, J. M., L'ESTRANGE, P. R., GRANT, H. R. &

SPIRO, S. G. 2001. Long-term use of mandibular advancement splints for snoring and obstructive sleep apnoea: a questionnaire survey. *European Respiratory Journal*, 17, 462-466.

MEDICINE, A. A. O. S. 2005. International classification of sleep disorders. *Diagnostic and coding manual*, 51-55.

MEURICE, J.-C., INGRAND, P., PORTIER, F., ARNULF, I., RAKOTONANAHARI, D., FOURNIER, E., PHILIP-JOET, F., VEALE, D. & GROUP, T. A. W. 2007. A multicentre trial

of education strategies at CPAP induction in the treatment of severe sleep apnoea- hypopnoea syndrome. *Sleep medicine*, 8, 37-42.

MEZZANOTTE, W. S., TANGEL, D. J. & WHITE, D. P. 1992. Waking genioglossal

electromyogram in sleep apnea patients versus normal controls (a neuromuscular compensatory mechanism). *The Journal of clinical investigation*, 89, 1571-1579.

MORAN, A., EVERHART, D. E., DAVIS, C. E., WUENSCH, K. L., LEE, D. O. & DEMAREE, H. A.

2010. Predicting CPAP compliance using the behavioral inhibition system (BIS) and behavioral activation system (BAS) scales. *Sleep*, 33, A126.

MORRELL, M. J., JACKSON, M. L., TWIGG, G. L., GHIASSI, R., MCROBBIE, D. W., QUEST, R. A., PARDOE, H., PELL, G. S., ABBOTT, D. F., ROCHFORD, P. D., JACKSON, G. D., PIERCE, R. J., O'DONOGHUE, F. J. & CORFIELD, D. R. 2010. Changes in brain

morphology in patients with obstructive sleep apnoea. *Thorax*, 65, 908-914.

MORRIS, L. G., SETLUR, J., BURSCHTIN, O. E., STEWARD, D. L., JACOBS, J. B. & LEE, K. C.

2006. Acoustic rhinometry predicts tolerance of nasal continuous positive airway pressure: a pilot study. *American journal of rhinology*, 20, 133-137.

MURPHY, S., MAERZ, R., SHEETS, V., MCLAUGHLIN, V., BECK, M., JOHNSTON, W. &

FIRESTONE, A. 2020. Adherence and side effects among patients treated with oral appliance therapy for obstructive sleep apnea. *J Dent Sleep Med*, 7.

NAKASHIMA, H., KATAYAMA, T., TAKAGI, C., AMENOMORI, K., ISHIZAKI, M., HONDA, Y. &

SUZUKI, S. 2006. Obstructive sleep apnoea inhibits the recovery of left ventricular function in patients with acute myocardial infarction. *European Heart Journal*, 27, 2317-2322.

NERFELDT, P. & FRIBERG, D. 2016. Effectiveness of Oral Appliances in Obstructive Sleep Apnea with Respiratory Arousals. *Journal of Clinical Sleep Medicine*, 12, 1159-1165.

NETWORK, S. I. G. 2003. *Management of obstructive sleep apnoea/hypopnoea syndrome in adults: a national clinical guideline*, Scottish Intercollegiate Guidelines Network.

NEWTON, J. T. & ASIMAKOPOULOU, K. 2015. Managing oral hygiene as a risk factor for periodontal disease: a systematic review of psychological approaches to behaviour change for improved plaque control in periodontal management. *Journal of clinical periodontology*, 42, S36-S46.

NG, A., GOTSOPOULOS, H., DARENDELILER, A. M. & CISTULLI, P. A. 2005. Oral appliance

therapy for obstructive sleep apnea. *Treat Respir Med*, 4, 409-22.

NICE 2008. Continuous positive airway pressure for the treatment

of obstructive sleep apnoea/hypopnoea syndrome. Quick Reference Guide. 139.

NICE 2021. Obstructive sleep apnoea/hypopnoea syndrome and obesity hypoventilation syndrome in over 16s

NIETO, F. J., YOUNG, T. B., LIND, B. K., SHAHAR, E., SAMET, J. M., REDLINE, S., D'AGOSTINO, R. B., NEWMAN, A. B., LEBOWITZ, M. D. & PICKERING, T. G. 2000.

Association of sleep-disordered breathing, sleep apnea, and hypertension in a large communitybased study. Sleep Heart Health Study. *Jama*, 283, 1829-36.

NISHIGAWA, K., HAYAMA, R. & MATSUKA, Y. 2017. Complications causing patients to discontinue using oral appliances for treatment of obstructive sleep apnea. *J Prosthodont Res*, 61, 133-138.

NOAR, S. M., BENAC, C. N. & HARRIS, M. S. 2007. Does tailoring matter? Meta-analytic review of tailored print health behavior change interventions. *Psychological bulletin*, 133, 673.

NS-SEC. 2010. Available:

https://www.ons.gov.uk/methodology/classificationsandstandards/otherclassifications/the nationalstatisticssocioeconomicclassificationnssecrebasedonsoc2010 [Accessed].

OGAWA, T., ENCISO, R., SHINTAKU, W. H. & CLARK, G. T. 2007. Evaluation of cross-section airway configuration of obstructive sleep apnea. *Oral Surgery, Oral Medicine, Oral Pathology, Oral Radiology, and Endodontology*, 103, 102-108.

OGDEN, J. 2019. Health Psychology, 6e, McGraw Hill.

OHAYON, M. M., GUILLEMINAULT, C., PRIEST, R. G. & CAULET, M. 1997. Snoring and

breathing pauses during sleep: telephone interview survey of a United Kingdom population sample. *Bmj*, 314, 860.

OLSEN, S., SMITH, S., OEI, T. P. & DOUGLAS, J. 2010. Cues to starting CPAP in obstructive sleep apnea: development and validation of the cues to CPAP use questionnaire. *Journal of Clinical Sleep Medicine*, 6, 229-237.

OLSEN, S., SMITH, S. & OEI, T. P. S. 2008. Adherence to continuous positive airway pressure therapy in obstructive sleep apnoea sufferers: a theoretical approach to treatment adherence and intervention. *Clinical psychology review*, 28, 1355-71.

OUELLETTE, J. A. & WOOD, W. 1998. Habit and intention in everyday life: The multiple processes by which past behavior predicts future behavior. *Psychological bulletin*, 124, 54.

PAHKALA, R. & SUOMINEN, A. L. 2021. Adherence to oral appliance treatment and its determinants in obstructive sleep apnoea patients. *European Journal of Orthodontics*, 43, 408-414.

PAKPOUR, A. H., GELLERT, P., ASEFZADEH, S., UPDEGRAFF, J. A., MOLLOY, G. J. &

SNIEHOTTA, F. F. 2014. Intention and planning predicting medication adherence following coronary artery bypass graft surgery. *J Psychosom Res*, 77, 287-95.

PAN, L., XIE, X., LIU, D., REN, D. & GUO, Y. 2016. Obstructive sleep apnoea and risks of allcause mortality: preliminary evidence from prospective cohort studies. *Sleep Breath*, 20, 345-53.

PANTIN, C. C., HILLMAN, D. R. & TENNANT, M. 1999. Dental side effects of an oral device to treat snoring and obstructive sleep apnea. *Sleep*, 22, 237-240.

PARK, D., KIM, J. S. & HEO, S. J. 2019. Obstruction Patterns During Drug-Induced Sleep Endoscopy vs Natural Sleep Endoscopy in Patients With Obstructive Sleep Apnea. *JAMA Otolaryngology–Head & Neck Surgery*, 145, 730-734.

PARK, J. G., RAMAR, K. & OLSON, E. J. Updates on definition, consequences, and management of obstructive sleep apnea. Mayo Clinic Proceedings, 2011. Elsevier, 549-555.

PEKER, Y., CARLSON, J. & HEDNER, J. 2006. Increased incidence of coronary artery disease in sleep apnoea: a long-term follow-up. *Eur Respir J*, 28, 596-602.

PÉPIN, J.-L. D., WOEHRLE, H., LIU, D., SHAO, S., ARMITSTEAD, J. P., CISTULLI, P. A.,

BENJAFIELD, A. V. & MALHOTRA, A. 2018. Adherence to positive airway therapy after switching from CPAP to ASV: a big data analysis. *Journal of Clinical Sleep Medicine*, 14, 57-63.

PERKINS, D. O. 1999. Adherence to antipsychotic medications. The Journal of clinical psychiatry,

60, 25-30.

PETRI, N., SVANHOLT, P., SOLOW, B., WILDSCHIØDTZ, G. & WINKEL, P. 2008. Mandibular

advancement appliance for obstructive sleep apnoea: Results of a randomised placebo controlled trial using parallel group design. *Journal of Sleep Research*, 17, 221-229.

PHILLIPS, C. L., GRUNSTEIN, R. R., DARENDELILER, A., MIHAILIDOU, A., YEE, B. J. &

CISTULLI, P. A. 2011. A comparative effectiveness trial of continuous positive airway pressure (CPAP) versus oral appliance (OA) therapy in obstructive sleep apnea (OSA). *Sleep and Biological Rhythms*, 9, 294.

PHILLIPS, C. L., GRUNSTEIN, R. R., DARENDELILER, M. A., MIHAILIDOU, A. S., SRINIVASAN,

K., YEE, B. J., MARKS, G. B. & CISTULLI, P. A. 2013. Health outcomes of continuous positive airway pressure versus oral appliance treatment for obstructive sleep apnea: a randomized controlled trial. *American journal of respiratory and critical care medicine,* 187, 879-887.

PHILLIPS, C. L. & O'DRISCOLL, D. M. 2013. Hypertension and obstructive sleep apnea. *Nat Sci Sleep*, 5, 43-52.

PLATT, A. B., FIELD, S. H., ASCH, D. A., CHEN, Z., PATEL, N. P., GUPTA, R., ROCHE, D. F., GURUBHAGAVATULA, I., CHRISTIE, J. D. & KUNA, S. T. 2009. Neighborhood of

residence is associated with daily adherence to CPAP therapy. Sleep, 32, 799-806.

PRESCINOTTO, R., HADDAD, F. L. M., FUKUCHI, I., GREGÓRIO, L. C., CUNALI, P. A., TUFIK,

S. & BITTENCOURT, L. R. A. 2015. Impact of upper airway abnormalities on the success and adherence to mandibular advancement device treatment in patients with Obstructive Sleep Apnea Syndrome. *Brazilian Journal of Otorhinolaryngology*, 81, 663-670.

PRESSEAU, J., SCHWALM, J. D., GRIMSHAW, J. M., WITTEMAN, H. O., NATARAJAN, M. K.,

LINKLATER, S., SULLIVAN, K. & IVERS, N. M. 2017. Identifying determinants of medication adherence following myocardial infarction using the Theoretical Domains Framework and the Health Action Process Approach. *Psychol Health*, 32, 1176-1194.

PROCHASKA, J. O., DICLEMENTE, C. C. & NORCROSS, J. C. 1992. In search of how people

change. Applications to addictive behaviors. Am Psychol, 47, 1102-14.

PUNJABI, N. M. 2008. The epidemiology of adult obstructive sleep apnea. *Proceedings of the American Thoracic Society*, 5, 136-143.

QASEEM, A., DALLAS, P., OWENS, D. K., STARKEY, M., HOLTY, J.-E. C. & SHEKELLE, P.

2014. Diagnosis of obstructive sleep apnea in adults: a clinical practice guideline from the American College of Physicians. *Annals of internal medicine*, 161, 210-220.

QMUL 2019. Sleep apnoea and Treatment Available

QUINNELL, T. G., BENNETT, M., JORDAN, J., CLUTTERBUCK-JAMES, A. L., DAVIES, M. G., SMITH, I. E., OSCROFT, N., PITTMAN, M. A., CAMERON, M., CHADWICK, R., MORRELL, M. J., GLOVER, M. J., FOX-RUSHBY, J. A. & SHARPLES, L. D. 2014. A

crossover randomised controlled trial of oral mandibular advancement devices for obstructive sleep apnoea-hypopnoea (TOMADO). *Thorax*, 69, 938-945.

RAMAR, K., DORT, L. C., KATZ, S. G., LETTIERI, C. J., HARROD, C. G., THOMAS, S. M. &

CHERVIN, R. D. 2015. Clinical Practice Guideline for the Treatment of Obstructive Sleep Apnea and Snoring with Oral Appliance Therapy: An Update for 2015. *J Clin Sleep Med*, 11, 773-827.

RANDERATH, W. J., VERBRAECKEN, J., ANDREAS, S., BETTEGA, G., BOUDEWYNS, A., HAMANS, E., JALBERT, F., PAOLI, J. R., SANNER, B. & SMITH, I. 2011. Non-CPAP

therapies in obstructive sleep apnoea. Eur Respiratory Soc.

RASKIN, N. H. 1988. The hypnic headache syndrome. *Headache: the journal of head and face pain,* 28, 534-536.

REDDY, E. V., KADHIRAVAN, T., MISHRA, H. K., SREENIVAS, V., HANDA, K. K., SINHA, S. &

SHARMA, S. K. 2009. Prevalence and risk factors of obstructive sleep apnea among middle-aged urban Indians: A community-based study. *Sleep Medicine*, 10, 913-918.

REESOR, L., VAUGHAN, E. M., HERNANDEZ, D. C. & JOHNSTON, C. A. 2017. Addressing

outcomes expectancies in behavior change. American journal of lifestyle medicine, 11, 430-432.

REEVES-HOCHE, M. K., MECK, R. & ZWILLICH, C. W. 1994. Nasal CPAP: an objective

evaluation of patient compliance. American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine, 149, 149-154.

REJON-PARRILLA, J. C., GARAU, M. AND SUSSEX, J 2014. Obstructive Sleep Apnoea: Health Economics Report. London: Office of Health Economics.

RICHARDS, D., BARTLETT, D. J., WONG, K., MALOUFF, J. & GRUNSTEIN, R. R. 2007.

Increased adherence to CPAP with a group cognitive behavioral treatment intervention: a randomized trial. *Sleep*, 30, 635-640.

RIMER, B. K., TROCK, B., ENGSTROM, P. F., LERMAN, C. & KING, E. 1991. Why do some

women get regular mammograms? Am J Prev Med, 7, 69-74.

RINGQVIST, M., WALKER-ENGSTRÖM, M.-L., TEGELBERG, Å. & RINGQVIST, I. 2003. Dental

and skeletal changes after 4 years of obstructive sleep apnea treatment with a mandibular advancement device: a prospective, randomized study. *American journal of orthodontics and dentofacial orthopedics*, 124, 53-60.

ROBERTSON, C., HERBISON, P. & HARKNESS, M. 2003. Dental and occlusal changes during mandibular advancement splint therapy in sleep disordered patients. *The European Journal of Orthodontics*, 25, 371-376.

ROSE, E., STAATS, R., SCHULTE-MONTING, J., RIDDER, G. J. & JONAS, I. E. 2002a. Long

term compliance with an oral protrusive appliance in patients with obstructive sleep apnoea. *Deutsche Medizinische Wochenschrift*, 127, 1245-1249.

ROSE, E. C., BARTHLEN, G. M., STAATS, R. & JONAS, I. E. 2002b. Therapeutic efficacy of an oral appliance in the treatment of obstructive sleep apnea: a 2-year follow-up. *American journal of orthodontics and dentofacial orthopedics*, 121, 273-279.

ROSENBERG, R., BABSON, K., MENNO, D., MORRIS, S., BALADI, M., HYMAN, D. & BLACK,

J. 2022. Test-retest reliability of the Epworth Sleepiness Scale in clinical trial settings. *J Sleep Res*, 31, e13476.

ROUX, F., D'AMBROSIO, C. & MOHSENIN, V. 2000. Sleep-related breathing disorders and cardiovascular disease. *The American journal of medicine*, 108, 396-402.

ROZGONYI, R., DOMBI, I., JANSZKY, J., KOVÁCS, N. & FALUDI, B. 2021. Low test-retest

reliability of the Epworth Sleepiness Scale within a substantial short time frame. *J Sleep Res,* 30, e13277.

RUITER, R. A., ABRAHAM, C. & KOK, G. 2001. Scary warnings and rational precautions: A review of the psychology of fear appeals. *Psychology and health*, 16, 613-630.

RUSSELL, M. B., KRISTIANSEN, H. A. & KVÆRNER, K. J. 2014. Headache in sleep apnea

syndrome: epidemiology and pathophysiology. Cephalalgia, 34, 752-5.

RYAN, S., CRINION, S. & MCNICHOLAS, W. 2014. Obesity and sleep-disordered breathing when two 'bad guys' meet. *QJM: An International Journal of Medicine*, 107, 949-954.

SABATÉ, E. & ORGANIZATION, W. H. 2001. Adherence to long-term therapies: policy for action: meeting report, 4-5 June 2001. World Health Organization.

SAGLAM-AYDINATAY, B. & TANER, T. 2018. Oral appliance therapy in obstructive sleep apnea: Long-term adherence and patients' experiences. *Medicina Oral Patologia Oral Y Cirugia Bucal*, 23, E72-E77.

SÁNCHEZ-DE-LA-TORRE, M., CAMPOS-RODRIGUEZ, F. & BARBÉ, F. 2013. Obstructive sleep

apnoea and cardiovascular disease. Lancet Respir Med, 1, 61-72.

SAWYER, A. M., GOONERATNE, N. S., MARCUS, C. L., OFER, D., RICHARDS, K. C. &

WEAVER, T. E. 2011. A systematic review of CPAP adherence across age groups: clinical and empiric insights for developing CPAP adherence interventions. *Sleep medicine reviews*, 15, 343-356.

SCHARF, S. M., SEIDEN, L., DEMORE, J. & CARTER-POKRAS, O. 2004. Racial differences in

clinical presentation of patients with sleep-disordered breathing. *Sleep Breath*, 8, 173-83. SCHOLZ, U., SNIEHOTTA, F. F. & SCHWARZER, R. 2005. Predicting physical exercise in cardiac rehabilitation: The role of phase-specific self-efficacy beliefs. *Journal of Sport and Exercise* 

*Psychology*, 27, 135-151.

SCHÜZ, B., SNIEHOTTA, F. F., MALLACH, N., WIEDEMANN, A. U. & SCHWARZER, R. 2009.

Predicting transitions from preintentional, intentional and actional stages of change. *Health Education Research*, 24, 64-75.

SCHÜZ, B., SNIEHOTTA, F. F. & SCHWARZER, R. 2007. Stage-specific effects of an action control intervention on dental flossing. *Health Education Research*, 22, 332-341.

SCHWARTZ, M., ACOSTA, L., HUNG, Y. L., PADILLA, M. & ENCISO, R. 2018. Effects of CPAP

and mandibular advancement device treatment in obstructive sleep apnea patients: a systematic review and meta-analysis. 555-568.

SCHWARZER, R. 2008. Modeling Health Behavior Change: How to Predict and Modify the Adoption and Maintenance of Health Behaviors. *Applied Psychology*, 57, 1-29.

SCHWARZER, R. & LUSZCZYNSKA, A. 2008. How to Overcome Health-Compromising Behaviors: The Health Action Process Approach.

SCHWARZER, R. & RENNER, B. 2000. Social-cognitive predictors of health behavior: action self-efficacy and coping self-efficacy. *Health psychology*, 19, 487.

SCHWARZER, R., SCHÜZ, B., ZIEGELMANN, J. P., LIPPKE, S., LUSZCZYNSKA, A. & SCHOLZ, U. 2007. Adoption and maintenance of four health behaviors: Theory-guided longitudinal studies on dental flossing, seat belt use, dietary behavior, and physical activity. *Annals of behavioral medicine*, 33, 156-166.

SEMELKA, M., WILSON, J. & FLOYD, R. 2016. Diagnosis and Treatment of Obstructive Sleep Apnea in Adults. *Am Fam Physician*, 94, 355-60.

SENARATNA, C. V., PERRET, J. L., LODGE, C. J., LOWE, A. J., CAMPBELL, B. E., MATHESON,

M. C., HAMILTON, G. S. & DHARMAGE, S. C. 2017. Prevalence of obstructive sleep apnea in the general population: A systematic review. *Sleep Medicine Reviews*, 34, 70-81. SHARPLES, L. D., CLUTTERBUCK-JAMES, A. L., GLOVER, M. J., BENNETT, M. S.,

CHADWICK, R., PITTMAN, M. A. & QUINNELL, T. G. 2016. Meta-analysis of randomised controlled trials of oral mandibular advancement devices and continuous positive airway pressure for obstructive sleep apnoea-hypopnoea. *Sleep Med Rev*, 27, 108-24.

SHELTON, K. E., WOODSON, H., GAY, S. & SURATT, P. M. 1993. Pharyngeal fat in obstructive sleep apnea. *Am Rev Respir Dis*, 148, 462-6.

SHIN, H., RHA, Y., HAN, D. H., CHUNG, S., YOON, I.-Y., RHEE, C.-S., LEE, C., MIN, Y. & KIM,

D. Y. 2008. Erectile dysfunction and disease-specific quality of life in patients with obstructive sleep apnea. *International journal of impotence research*, 20, 549-553.

SIGN 2003. *Management of Obstructive Sleep Apnoea/hypopnoea Syndrome in Adults: A National Clinical Guideline*, Scottish Intercollegiate Guidelines Network.

SIN, D. D., MAYERS, I., MAN, G. C. & PAWLUK, L. 2002. Long-term compliance rates to continuous positive airway pressure in obstructive sleep apnea: a population-based study. *Chest*, 121, 430-435.

SOMERS, V. K., DYKEN, M. E., CLARY, M. P. & ABBOUD, F. M. 1995. Sympathetic neural

mechanisms in obstructive sleep apnea. The Journal of Clinical Investigation, 96, 1897-1904.

SOMERS, V. K., WHITE, D. P., AMIN, R., ABRAHAM, W. T., COSTA, F., CULEBRAS, A., DANIELS, S., FLORAS, J. S., HUNT, C. E., OLSON, L. J., PICKERING, T. G., RUSSELL,

R., WOO, M. & YOUNG, T. 2008. Sleep apnea and cardiovascular disease: an American Heart Association/american College Of Cardiology Foundation Scientific Statement from the American Heart Association Council for High Blood Pressure Research Professional Education Committee,
Council on Clinical Cardiology, Stroke Council, and Council On Cardiovascular Nursing. In collaboration with the National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute National Center on Sleep Disorders Research (National Institutes of Health). *Circulation*, 118, 1080-111.

STEINKE, E., PALM JOHANSEN, P., FRIDLUND, B. & BROSTRÖM, A. 2016. Determinants of

sexual dysfunction and interventions for patients with obstructive sleep apnoea: a systematic review. *Int J Clin Pract,* 70, 5-19.

STEPNOWSKY, C. J. & DIMSDALE, J. E. 2002. Dose-response relationship between CPAP compliance and measures of sleep apnea severity. *Sleep Med*, 3, 329-34.

STEPNOWSKY, C. J., JR., MARLER, M. R. & ANCOLI-ISRAEL, S. 2002. Determinants of nasal

CPAP compliance. *Sleep Med*, 3, 239-47.

STEPNOWSKY, C. J., MARLER, M. R., PALAU, J. & ANNETTE BROOKS, J. 2006. Social-

cognitive correlates of CPAP adherence in experienced users. Sleep Med, 7, 350-6.

STEPNOWSKY JR, C. J. & DIMSDALE, J. E. 2002. Dose–response relationship between CPAP compliance and measures of sleep apnea severity. *Sleep medicine*, 3, 329-334.

STRAUSZ, S., RUOTSALAINEN, S., OLLILA, H. M., KARJALAINEN, J., KIISKINEN, T., REEVE, M., KURKI, M., MARS, N., HAVULINNA, A. S., LUONSI, E., MANSOUR ALY, D., AHLQVIST, E., TEDER-LAVING, M., PALTA, P., GROOP, L., MÄGI, R., MÄKITIE, A., SALOMAA, V., BACHOUR, A., TUOMI, T., PALOTIE, A., PALOTIE, T. & RIPATTI, S.

2021. Genetic analysis of obstructive sleep apnoea discovers a strong association with cardiometabolic health. *Eur Respir J*, 57.

STRECHER, V. J., MCEVOY DEVELLIS, B., BECKER, M. H. & ROSENSTOCK, I. M. 1986. The

role of self-efficacy in achieving health behavior change. Health education quarterly, 13, 73-92.

SUGIURA, T., NODA, A., NAKATA, S., YASUDA, Y., SOGA, T., MIYATA, S., NAKAI, S. & KOIKE,

Y. 2007. Influence of nasal resistance on initial acceptance of continuous positive airway pressure in treatment for obstructive sleep apnea syndrome. *Respiration*, 74, 56-60.

SUNDARAM, S., LIM, J. & LASSERSON, T. J. 2005. Surgery for obstructive sleep apnoea in adults. *Cochrane database of systematic reviews*.

SUSARLA, S. M., ABRAMSON, Z. R., DODSON, T. B. & KABAN, L. B. 2010. Cephalometric

measurement of upper airway length correlates with the presence and severity of obstructive sleep apnea. *J Oral Maxillofac Surg*, 68, 2846-55.

SUTHERLAND, K., VANDERVEKEN, O. M., TSUDA, H., MARKLUND, M., GAGNADOUX, F.,

KUSHIDA, C. A. & CISTULLI, P. A. 2014. Oral appliance treatment for obstructive sleep apnea: an update. *Journal of Clinical Sleep Medicine*, 10, 215-227.

TALLAMRAJU, H., NEWTON, J. T., FLEMING, P. S. & JOHAL, A. 2021. Factors influencing

adherence to oral appliance therapy in adults with obstructive sleep apnea: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Journal of Clinical Sleep Medicine*, 17, 1485-1498.

TAM, W., NG, S. S., TO, K. W., KO, F. W. & HUI, D. S. 2019. The interaction between hypertension and obstructive sleep apnea on subjective daytime sleepiness. *J Clin Hypertens (Greenwich)*, 21, 390-396.

TRIPATHY, S., HANSDA, U., SETH, N., RATH, S., RAO, P. B., MISHRA, T. S., SUBBA, S. H.,

DAS, R., NAYAK, S. & KAR, N. 2015. Validation of the EuroQol Five-dimensions - Three- Level Quality of Life Instrument in a Classical Indian Language (Odia) and Its Use to Assess Quality of Life and Health Status of Cancer Patients in Eastern India. *Indian J Palliat Care,* 21, 282-8.

TSUDA, H., ALMEIDA, F. R., MASUMI, S. & LOWE, A. A. 2010. Side effects of boil and bite type oral appliance therapy in sleep apnea patients. *Sleep and Breathing*, 14, 227-232.

TSUIKI, S., LOWE, A. A., ALMEIDA, F. R., KAWAHATA, N. & FLEETHAM, J. A. 2004. Effects of

mandibular advancement on airway curvature and obstructive sleep apnoea severity. *Eur Respir J*, 23, 263-8.

TUFIK, S., SANTOS-SILVA, R., TADDEI, J. A. & BITTENCOURT, L. R. A. 2010. Obstructive Sleep

Apnea Syndrome in the Sao Paulo Epidemiologic Sleep Study. Sleep Medicine, 11, 441-446.

TURNER, K., ZAMBRELLI, E., LAVOLPE, S., BALDI, C., FURIA, F. & CANEVINI, M. P. 2019.

Obstructive sleep apnea: neurocognitive and behavioral functions before and after treatment. *Funct Neurol,* 34, 71-78.

URQUHART, J. 1996. Patient non-compliance with drug regimens: measurement, clinical correlates, economic impact. *Eur Heart J*, 17 Suppl A, 8-15.

VANDERVEKEN, O. M., DEVOLDER, A., MARKLUND, M., BOUDEWYNS, A. N., BRAEM, M. J., OKKERSE, W., VERBRAECKEN, J. A., FRANKLIN, K. A., DE BACKER, W. A. & VAN DE

HEYNING, P. H. 2008. Comparison of a custom-made and a thermoplastic oral appliance for the treatment of mild sleep apnea. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med*, 178, 197-202.

VANDERVEKEN, O. M., DIELTJENS, M., WOUTERS, K., DE BACKER, W. A., VAN DE

HEYNING, P. H. & BRAEM, M. J. 2013. Objective measurement of compliance during oral appliance therapy for sleep-disordered breathing. *Thorax*, 68, 91-6.

VANEK, J., PRASKO, J., GENZOR, S., OCISKOVA, M., KANTOR, K., HOLUBOVA, M.,

SLEPECKY, M., NESNIDAL, V., KOLEK, A. & SOVA, M. 2020. Obstructive sleep apnea, depression and cognitive impairment. *Sleep Med*, 72, 50-58.

VECCHIERINI, M.-F., ATTALI, V., COLLET, J.-M., D'ORTHO, M.-P., EL CHATER, P., KERBRAT,

J.-B., LEGER, D., MONACA, C., MONTEYROL, P.-J., MORIN, L., MULLENS, E.,

PIGEARIAS, B., MEURICE, J.-C. & ORCADES, I. 2016. A custom-made mandibular repositioning device for obstructive sleep apnoea-hypopnoea syndrome: the ORCADES study. *Sleep Med,* 19, 131-40.

VERPLANKEN, B. 2005. Habits and implementation intentions. *The ABC of behavioural change*.: Elsevier.

VERSTRAETEN, E., CLUYDTS, R., PEVERNAGIE, D. & HOFFMANN, G. 2004. Executive

function in sleep apnea: controlling for attentional capacity in assessing executive attention. *Sleep,* 27, 685-693.

VOS, W. G., DE BACKER, W. A. & VERHULST, S. L. 2010. Correlation between the severity of sleep apnea and upper airway morphology in pediatric and adult patients. *Current opinion in allergy and clinical immunology*, 10, 26-33.

WALKER-ENGSTRÖM, M.-L., TEGELBERG, Å., WILHELMSSON, B. & RINGQVIST, I. 2002. 4-

year follow-up of treatment with dental appliance or uvulopalatopharyngoplasty in patients with obstructive sleep apnea: a randomized study. *Chest*, 121, 739-746.

WALKER-ENGSTROM, M. L., TEGELBERG, A., WILHELMSSON, B. & RINGQVIST, I. 2002. 4-

year follow-up of treatment with dental appliance or uvulopalatopharyngoplasty in patients with obstructive sleep apnea: a randomized study. *Chest*, 121, 739-46.

WALKER, N. A., SUNDERRAM, J., ZHANG, P., LU, S.-E. & SCHARF, M. T. 2020. Clinical utility

of the Epworth sleepiness scale. Sleep and Breathing.

WANG, H., PARKER, J. D., NEWTON, G. E., FLORAS, J. S., MAK, S., CHIU, K.-L., RUTTANAUMPAWAN, P., TOMLINSON, G. & BRADLEY, T. D. 2007. Influence of

Obstructive Sleep Apnea on Mortality in Patients With Heart Failure. *Journal of the American College of Cardiology*, 49, 1625-1631.

WANG, L. & LIU, Y.-H. 2014. [Comparison of the efficacy of 2 types of mandibular advancement device in severe obstructive sleep apnea hypopnea syndrome]. *Shanghai Kou Qiang Yi Xue,* 23, 713-7.

WANG, Y., XIE, J., YANG, F., WU, S., WANG, H., ZHANG, X., LIU, H., DENG, X., XIE, W. & YU,

S. 2015. Comorbidity of poor sleep and primary headaches among nursing staff in north China. *The Journal of Headache and Pain,* 16, 88.

WEAVER, T. E. & GRUNSTEIN, R. R. 2008. Adherence to continuous positive airway pressure therapy: the challenge to effective treatment. *Proceedings of the American Thoracic Society*, 5, 173-178.

WEAVER, T. E., MAISLIN, G., DINGES, D. F., YOUNGER, J., CANTOR, C., MCCLOSKEY, S. &

PACK, A. I. 2003. Self-efficacy in sleep apnea: instrument development and patient perceptions of obstructive sleep apnea risk, treatment benefit, and volition to use continuous positive airway pressure. *Sleep*, 26, 727-32.

WEBB, T. L. & SHEERAN, P. 2006. Does changing behavioral intentions engender behavior change? A meta-analysis of the experimental evidence. *Psychological bulletin*, 132, 249.

WEINSTEIN, N. D. 2007. Misleading tests of health behavior theories. *Annals of Behavioral Medicine*, 33, 1-10.

WEINSTEIN, N. D., LYON, J. E., SANDMAN, P. M. & CUITE, C. L. 1998a. Experimental evidence

for stages of health behavior change: the precaution adoption process model applied to home radon testing. *Health psychology*, 17, 445.

WEINSTEIN, N. D., ROTHMAN, A. J. & SUTTON, S. R. 1998b. Stage theories of health behavior: conceptual and methodological issues. *Health psychology*, **17**, 290.

WHO. Adherence to long-term therapies: evidence for action. *In:* WHO, ed. World Health Organisation 2003, 2003 Geveva.

WHYTE, A. & BOEDDINGHAUS, R. 2020. Imaging of adult nasal obstruction. *Clin Radiol,* 75, 688-704.

WHYTE, A. & GIBSON, D. 2018. Imaging of adult obstructive sleep apnoea. *Eur J Radiol,* 102, 176-187.

WHYTE, A. & GIBSON, D. 2020. Adult obstructive sleep apnoea: pathogenesis, importance, diagnosis and imaging. *Journal of medical imaging and radiation oncology*, 64, 52-66.

WIEDEMANN, A. U., LIPPKE, S., REUTER, T., SCHÜZ, B., ZIEGELMANN, J. P. &

SCHWARZER, R. 2009. Prediction of stage transitions in fruit and vegetable intake. *Health Education Research*, 24, 596-607.

WIESE, H. J., BOETHEL, C., PHILLIPS, B., WILSON, J. F., PETERS, J. & VIGGIANO, T. 2005.

CPAP compliance: video education may help! *Sleep medicine*, 6, 171-174.

WILSON, H., SHEEHAN, M., PALK, G. & WATSON, A. 2016. Self-Efficacy, Planning, and Drink Driving: Applying the Health Action Process Approach. *Health Psychol*.

WOLKOVE, N., BALTZAN, M., KAMEL, H., DABRUSIN, R. & PALAYEW, M. 2008. Long-term

compliance with continuous positive airway pressure in patients with obstructive sleep apnea. *Canadian respiratory journal*, 15, 365-369.

WOOD, W. & NEAL, D. T. 2007. A new look at habits and the habit-goal interface. *Psychological review*, 114, 843.

WOOD, W. & NEAL, D. T. 2009. The habitual consumer. *Journal of Consumer Psychology*, 19, 579-592.

WOZNIAK, D. R., LASSERSON, T. J. & SMITH, I. 2014. Educational, supportive and behavioural interventions to improve usage of continuous positive airway pressure machines in adults with obstructive sleep apnoea. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev*, Cd007736.

YUMINO, D., TSURUMI, Y., TAKAGI, A., SUZUKI, K. & KASANUKI, H. 2007. Impact of

Obstructive Sleep Apnea on Clinical and Angiographic Outcomes Following Percutaneous Coronary Intervention in Patients With Acute Coronary Syndrome. *The American Journal of Cardiology*, 99, 26-30.

ZHANG, C. Q., ZHANG, R., SCHWARZER, R. & HAGGER, M. S. 2019. A meta-analysis of the

health action process approach. Health Psychol, 38, 623-637.

ZHANG, X.-B., LIN, Q.-C., ZENG, H.-Q., JIANG, X.-T., CHEN, B. & CHEN, X. 2016. Erectile

dysfunction and sexual hormone levels in men with obstructive sleep apnea: efficacy of continuous positive airway pressure. *Archives of sexual behavior*, 45, 235-240.

ZHOU, A., LI, H., WANG, X., ZHANG, J., ZHANG, Y., HE, J. & LIU, S. 2021a. Preliminary

comparison of the efficacy of several surgical treatments based on maxillomandibular advancement procedures in adult patients with obstructive sleep apnoea: a systematic review and network meta-analysis. *Eur Arch Otorhinolaryngol,* 278, 543-555.

ZHOU, J. & LIU, Y. H. 2012. A randomised titrated crossover study comparing two oral appliances in the treatment for mild to moderate obstructive sleep apnoea/hypopnoea syndrome. *J Oral Rehabil*, 39, 914-922.

ZHOU, J., XIA, S., LI, T. & LIU, R. 2020. Association between obstructive sleep apnea syndrome and nocturia: a meta-analysis. *Sleep Breath*.

ZHOU, X., ZHOU, B., LI, Z., LU, Q., LI, S., PU, Z. & LUO, F. 2021b. Periodic limb movements in patients with obstructive sleep apnea syndrome. *Sci Rep*, 11, 15341.

ZOZULA, R. & ROSEN, R. 2001. Compliance with continuous positive airway pressure therapy: assessing and improving treatment outcomes. *Curr Opin Pulm Med*, **7**, 391-8.

Askland, K., L. Wright, D. R. Wozniak, T. Emmanuel, J. Caston and I. Smith (2020). "Educational, supportive and behavioural interventions to improve usage of continuous positive airway pressure machines in adults with obstructive sleep apnoea." <u>Cochrane Database Syst Rev</u> **4**(4): Cd007736.

Dempsey, J. A., C. A. Smith, T. Przybylowski, B. Chenuel, A. Xie, H. Nakayama and J. B. Skatrud (2004). "The ventilatory responsiveness to CO2 below eupnoea as a determinant of ventilatory stability in sleep." <u>The Journal of physiology</u> **560**(1): 1-11.

Dempsey, J. A., S. C. Veasey, B. J. Morgan and C. P. O'Donnell (2010). "Pathophysiology of Sleep Apnea." <u>Physiological Reviews</u> **90**(1): 47-112.

Ferland, A., P. Poirier and F. Sériès (2009). "Sibutramine versus continuous positive airway pressure in obese obstructive sleep apnoea patients." <u>Eur Respir J</u> **34**(3): 694-701.

Hou, H., Y. Zhao, W. Yu, H. Dong, X. Xue, J. Ding, W. Xing and W. Wang (2018). "Association of obstructive sleep apnea with hypertension: A systematic review and meta-analysis." <u>J Glob Health</u> **8**(1): 010405.

Khoo, M. C. (2000). "Determinants of ventilatory instability and variability." <u>Respiration physiology</u> **122**(2-3): 167-182.

Khoo, M. C. (2018). <u>Physiological control systems: analysis, simulation, and estimation</u>, John Wiley & Sons.

Khot, S. P. and L. B. Morgenstern (2019). "Sleep and Stroke." <u>Stroke</u> 50(6): 1612-1617.

Martinez, D. and B. R. Basile (2005). "Sibutramine does not worsen sleep apnea syndrome: a randomized double-blind placebo-controlled study." <u>Sleep Med</u> **6**(5): 467-470.

NICE (2006). "National Collaborating Centre for Primary Care and the Centre for Public Health Excellence at the National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence. NICE Clinical Guideline 43 2006 Obesity guidance on the prevention, identification, assessment and management of overweight and obesity in adults and children.".

Ou, Q., Y. C. Chen, S. Q. Zhuo, X. T. Tian, C. H. He, X. L. Lu and X. L. Gao (2015). "Continuous Positive Airway Pressure Treatment Reduces Mortality in Elderly Patients with Moderate to Severe Obstructive Severe Sleep Apnea: A Cohort Study." <u>PLoS One</u> **10**(6): e0127775.

Phillips, C. L., B. J. Yee, M. I. Trenell, J. S. Magnussen, D. Wang, D. Banerjee, N. Berend and R. R. Grunstein (2009). "Changes in regional adiposity and cardio-metabolic function following a weight loss program with sibutramine in obese men with obstructive sleep apnea." <u>J Clin Sleep</u> <u>Med</u> **5**(5): 416-421.

Rapelli, G., G. Pietrabissa, G. M. Manzoni, I. Bastoni, F. Scarpina, I. Tovaglieri, E. Perger, S. Garbarino, P. Fanari, C. Lombardi and G. Castelnuovo (2021). "Improving CPAP Adherence in Adults With Obstructive Sleep Apnea Syndrome: A Scoping Review of Motivational Interventions." <u>Frontiers in Psychology</u> **12**.

Redline, S., G. Yenokyan, D. J. Gottlieb, E. Shahar, G. T. O'Connor, H. E. Resnick, M. Diener-West, M. H. Sanders, P. A. Wolf, E. M. Geraghty, T. Ali, M. Lebowitz and N. M. Punjabi (2010). "Obstructive sleep apnea-hypopnea and incident stroke: the sleep heart health study." <u>Am J Respir</u> <u>Crit Care Med</u> **182**(2): 269-277.

Roger, V. L., A. S. Go, D. M. Lloyd-Jones, E. J. Benjamin, J. D. Berry, W. B. Borden, D. M. Bravata, S. Dai, E. S. Ford, C. S. Fox, H. J. Fullerton, C. Gillespie, S. M. Hailpern, J. A. Heit, V. J. Howard, B. M. Kissela, S. J. Kittner, D. T. Lackland, J. H. Lichtman, L. D. Lisabeth, D. M. Makuc, G. M. Marcus, A. Marelli, D. B. Matchar, C. S. Moy, D. Mozaffarian, M. E. Mussolino, G. Nichol, N. P. Paynter, E. Z. Soliman, P. D. Sorlie, N. Sotoodehnia, T. N. Turan, S. S. Virani, N. D. Wong, D. Woo and M. B. Turner (2012). "Heart disease and stroke statistics--2012 update: a report from the American Heart Association." <u>Circulation</u> **125**(1): e2-e220.

Yee, B. J., C. L. Phillips, D. Banerjee, I. Caterson, J. A. Hedner and R. R. Grunstein (2007). "The effect of sibutramine-assisted weight loss in men with obstructive sleep apnoea." <u>Int J Obes (Lond)</u> **31**(1): 161-168.

Younes, M. (2014). "CrossTalk proposal: elevated loop gain is a consequence of obstructive sleep apnoea." <u>The Journal of Physiology</u> **592**(Pt 14): 2899.

# Appendices

## Appendix 1 Epworth sleepiness scale

## **Epworth Sleepiness Scale**

Participant identification Number for this study: \_\_\_\_\_ Date: \_\_\_\_\_

Age (Years):

Gender (Male = M, Female = F):

How likely are you to doze off or fall asleep in the following situations, in contrast to feeling just tired? This refers to your usual way of life in recent times. Even if you have not done some of these things recently try to work out how they would have affected you.

Use the following scale to choose the **most appropriate number** for each situation:

0 = would **never** doze

1 = slight chance of dozing

2 = **moderate chance** of dozing

3 = high chance of dozing

### It is important that you answer each question as best you can.

Situation	Chance of Dozing (0-3)
Sitting and reading	
Watching TV	
Sitting, inactive in a public place (e.g. a theatre or a meeting)	
As a passenger in a car for an hour without a break	
Lying down to rest in the afternoon when Circumstances permit	
Sitting and talking to someone	
Sitting quietly after a lunch without alcohol	
In a car, while stopped for a few minutes in the traffic	

### THANK YOU FOR YOUR COOPERATION

### M.W. Johns 1990

## Appendix 2 Published systematic review

#### JCSM Journal of Clinical Sleep Medicine

#### **REVIEW ARTICLES**

# Factors influencing adherence to oral appliance therapy in adults with obstructive sleep apnea: a systematic review and meta-analysis

Harishri Tallamraju, BDS1; J. Tim Newton, PhD2; Padhraig S. Fleming, PhD1; Ama Johal, PhD1

<sup>1</sup>Department of Oral Bioengineering, Institute of Dentistry, Queen Mary University of London, London, United Kingdom; <sup>2</sup>Department of Population and Patient Health, Faculty of Dentistry, Oral & Craniofacial Sciences, King's College London, London, United Kingdom

Study Objectives: The review aimed to identify the factors influencing adherence to oral appliance therapy in adults with obstructive sleep apnea. Methods: The protocol was initially registered with the International Register of Systematic Reviews (Prospero: CRD42019122615) prior to undertaking a comprehensive electronic search of databases and references without language and date restrictions. Quality assessment was undertaken using the Cochrane Collaboration's risk of bias tool and Quality in Prognosis Studies (QUIPS) tool.

Results: Studies exhibited low or unclear risk of bias for the domains assessed by the respective quality assessment tools. The influence of independent variables such as disease characteristics, patient characteristics, appliance features, and psychological and social factors on adherence levels was also as sessed. There was a total of 31 included studies, which consisted of 8 randomized controlled trials, 2 controlled dinical trial, 7 prospective cohorts, 11 retrospective cohorts, and the remaining 3 studies were a case-series, case-control, and a mixed-methods. All 31 included studies were subject to qualitative analysis, with only 4 studies included in the quantitative analysis. Results of the meta-analysis demonstrated increased adherence with custom-made appliances, with a pooled mean difference of -1.34 (-2.02 to -0.66) and low levels of heterogeneity (f = 0%).

Conclusions: A weak relationship was observed between objective adherence and patient and disease characteristics, such as age, sex, obesity, apreahypopnea index, and daytime sleepiness, to oral appliance therapy. Nonacherent patients reported more side effects with oral appliance therapy than users and tended to discontinue the treatment within the first 3 months. Custom-made oral appliances were preferred and increased adherence reported in comparison to ready-made appliances. Further research is imperative to examine the relationship between psychosocial factors and adherence to oral appliance therapy. Keywords: obstructive sleep apnea, patient adherence, oral appliance therapy, dental sleep medicine

Citation: Tallamaraju H, Newton JT, Fleming PS, Johal A. Factors influencing adherence to oral appliance therapy in adults with obstructive sleep apnea: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Clin Sleep Med. 2021;17(7):1485–1498.

#### INTRODUCTION

Obstructive sleep apnea (OSA) is a sleep-related breathing disorder characterized by the repeated episodic collapse of the upper airway during sleep, with resultant sleep deprivation.<sup>1</sup> Severe long-term effects of this disease include excessive daytime sleepiness, cognitive dysfunction, hypertension, impaired quality of life, and increased cardiovascular morbidity and mortality.<sup>2</sup>

Based on the severity of OSA there are 2 main treatment modalities, continuous positive airway pressure (CPAP) and oral appliances (OA)<sup>3</sup>. Both treatments are lifelong, with sustained adherence to treatment of paramount importance. Successful treatment may lead to improvements in quality of life, considerable cost saving to the health provider, and a reduction in the risk of motor vehicle collisions and cardiovascular disease.<sup>4</sup>

CPAP is mainly used for those with moderate to severe OSA and highly effective and regarded as the gold standard of treatment.<sup>5</sup> However, side effects such as pressure sores, mask dislodgement, claustrophobia, air leakage, and nasal congestion have made it unpopular and intolerable among patients. According to a recentupdate of the American Academy of Sleep Medicine guidelines, OA therapy (OAT) can be prescribed to those with mild to moderate OSA, particularly if they express it as a preference. OAT remains the second-line treatment of choice for patients who refuse or are unable to tolerate CPAP therapy.<sup>6</sup>

OAT reduces daytime sleepiness and improves the apneahypopnea index (AHI) by posturing the mandible and maintaining an open pharyngeal airway.<sup>7</sup> However, studies have consistently demonstrated that CPAP is more effective than OAT at reducing sleep-disordered breathing and achieving complete control of OSA.<sup>8</sup> Despite the greater effect of CPAP on objective polysomnographic parameters, it does not appear to be more effective at achieving better health outcomes. It seems that the higher efficacy of CPAP is offset by greater OAT adherence. Adherence with CPAP is reportedly over 1 h/night lower than with OA.<sup>9</sup> This discrepancy may explain why, despite the superior efficacy of CPAP, as determined by the AHI, no significant differences were observed in terms of quality of life and cognitive and functional outcomes.<sup>10</sup>

The short-term efficacy of OAT has been studied in many randomized controlled trials (RCTs), with encouraging results in all age groups.<sup>11-15</sup> However, long-term studies report an unchanged or only minor decrease in the efficacy of OAT.<sup>16-20</sup> Rose et al<sup>19</sup> observed an increase in the mean AHI, from 4.2 to 8.3 events/h after 2 years of OAT. Deterioration in OSA severity

Journal of Clinical Sleep Medicine, Vol. 17, No. 7

1485



Figure 1—A PRISMA flow diagram shows the number of articles identified at each stage of the search.

and a loss of OA efficacy were found in a small sample of patients (n = 9) treated continuously for more than 15 years.<sup>21</sup> However, OAT was reported to be effective in two-thirds of patients (n = 279) after 3 years of treatment.<sup>22</sup> Despite the limited number of long-term studies, no significant changes appear to have been detected in the efficacy of OAT.<sup>17,18,20</sup> Notwithstanding this, adecrease in blood pressure is reported from OAT compared with a placebo and equivalent to that of CPAP in the relatively small samples studied.<sup>34–27</sup>

Adherence with OAT has until recently been limited to self-reported data, with the inherent risks of overreporting. Based on this subjective reporting, adherence with OA therapy appears to decline over time, Ho ffstein et al reported a wide range of adherence (4-76%) in the first year of appliance use23. In a further study, adherence after 1 year was 83%24 declining to 62-64% after 4 to 6 years.25,26 The ability to assess adherence objectively provides a more valid measure of a treatment modality's effectiveness. With CPAP therapy, the presence of an inbuilt adherence monitor has provided valuable insight into the limitations of self-reported use, with patients overestimating by up to 1 hour.27 More recently, Vanderveken et al28 and Johal et al29 reported on the safety and feasibility, at 3 and 18 months, respectively, of objective measurement techniques with OAT in the same cohort of patients who demonstrated a range of sleepdisordered breathing from snoring to OSA.

Thus, the current review aims to assess the factors influencing adherence to OAT in adults with obstructive sleep

Journal of Clinical Sleep Medicine, Vol. 17, No. 7

apnea and the potential effectiveness of interventions to promote improved adherence.

#### METHODS

Following the registration of the protocol with the International Register of Systematic Review (Prospero: CRD42019122615), a systematic review of the literature was undertaken to identify studies exploring the factors influencing adherence to oral appliance therapy in patients. The search strategy was designed to access both published and unpublished materials and comprised three stages:

- A search of MEDLINE Ovid and Embase to identify relevant keywords contained in the title, abstract, and subject descriptors.
- Terms identified in this way and the synonyms used by respective databases were then used in an extensive search of the literature.
- 3. Reference lists and bibliographies of the articles
- collected from those identified in stage 2 were searched.

The initial search terms were "obstructive sleep apnea", "oral appliance", and "patient adherence" and "compliance." Articles indexed in the following database with no restrictions in relation to the date of publication and language of the article were searched: Ovid, Embase, Scopus, Cochrane Library, and Web of Science. Primary authors and experts in the field of sleep

1486

Sr. No.	Study	Study Design	Participants & Settings	Exposure (Patient or Disease Characteristics, Type of Appliance, Psychological or Social Factor)	Outcome (Increased/ Decreased or No effect on Adherence)	Appliance	Measurement of Adherence	Intervention for Adherence
1	Clark et al, 2000 <sup>57</sup>	Retrospective observational study	Orofacial Pain & Oral medicine, University of California (n = 53, M/F: 46/7, Mean age: 55.7 y, Mean AHI < 30 events/h)	Side effects	Decreased adherence	Herbst Appliance	Self-reported	Nil
	-			Patient Characteristics	No association with adherence			
2	McGown	Retrospective observational	Middlesex Hospital, RNTNE Hospital, RLH	Side effects	Decreased adherence	Modified Adjustable	Self-reported	NE
	et al, 2001	study	(n = 126, Mean AHI < 30 events/h)	Psychological (Self- perceived changes) and Social factors	Increased adherence	Herbst Device	56	
		Retrospective	Respiratory Care, University Hospital of	Patient & Disease Characteristics	No association with adherence	Custom-made	Self-reported	
3	et al, 2002 <sup>sa</sup> observational study	e observational Frieburg, Germany study = 188, M/F: 168/23,	Frieburg, Germany (n = 188, M/F: 168/23,	Side effects	Decreased adherence	OA (Esmarch IPG)		Nil
		Mean age: 54.4 y)	Psychological (Self- perceived Changes)	Decreased adherence				
	De Almeida et al, 2005 <sup>38</sup> Retrospective observational study	Imeida 2005 <sup>38</sup> Retrospective observational	University of British	Patient & Disease characteristics	No association with adherence	Oral Appliance	Self-reported	
4			trospective servational idy Mean age: 49.9 y, Mean AHI: 30.25 events/h)	Side effects	Decreased adherence			NI
		study		Social factors (Bed partners satisfaction)*	Increased adherence			
			Department of Sleep	Patient characteristics	No association with adherence	Mandibular Repositioning Splint	Self-reported	
5	Izci et al, 2005 <sup>51</sup>	ci al, 2005 <sup>51</sup> Retrospective observational study F: 114/30, Ma	Medicine, Edinburgh University (n = 144, M/ F: 114/30, Mean age:	Psychological factors (Marital Satisfaction)**	Increased adherence			NI
			events/h)	Side effects	Decreased adherence			
6	Bates et al, 2006 <sup>se</sup>	Prospective observational study	Department of Orthodontics, Victoria Hospital (n = 121, MF: 83/38, Mean age: 49.55 y, Mean AHI: 18.21 events/h)	Side effects	Decreased adherence	Mandibular Repositioning Splint	Self-reported	Nii
7	Vanderveken et al, 2008 <sup>41</sup>	Randomized Control trial	University of Antwerp, Belgium (n = 35, MF: 29/6, Mean age: 49 y, Mean AHI: 14 events/h)	Appliance fabrication and titration procedure (Ready-made OA vs Custom-made OA)	Increased adherence with Custom- made OA	Ready-made OA (SnoreGuard Plus) and Custom- made OA	Self-reported	Nil

Table 1-Characteristics and principal outcomes of the included studies.

Journal of Clinical Sleep Medicine, Vol. 17, No. 7

1487

Sr. No.	Study	Study Design	Participants & Settings	Exposure (Patient or Disease Characteristics, Type of Appliance, Psychological or Social Factor)	Outcome (Increased/ Decreased or No effect on Adherence)	Appliance	Measurement of Adherence	Intervention for Adherence
	Charal	Pandomized	Respiratory Care, University Hospital of Freinburg, Germany	Patient & Disease characteristics	No association with adherence	IST and Thornton		
8	et al, 2009 <sup>20</sup>	Control trial	(n = 103, M/F: 48/55, Mean age: 50.5 y, Mean AHI: 34.5 events/h)	Appliance Fabrication (IST vs TAP)	Increased adherence with IST	Anterior Positioner (TAP)	Self-reported	NI
9	Tsuda et al, 2010**	Prospective observational study	Kyushu Dental University, Japan (n = 47, M/F: 40/7, Mean age: 53.1 y, Mean AHI:	Patient & Disease Characteristics (BMI and ESS)	Decreased adherence in association with higher ESS and BMI	Boil- Bite Appliance (TheraSnore)	Self-reported	NI
			21.3 events/h)	Side effects	Decreased adherence			
10	Cunali et al, 2011 <sup>32</sup>	Randomized Control trial	Federal University of Sao Paulo, Brazil (n = 29, M/F: 10/19, Mean age: 48.5 y, Mean AHI: 17 events/h)	Intervention- Support Therapy	Increased adherence	OA (Brazilian Repositioning device BRD)	Self-reported	Support Therapy (Mandibular Exercises)
	1 Brette Prosp obser et al, 2012** study	Prospective observational study	Antoine-Beclere & Argenteuil Hospitals II (n = 140, MF: 108/32, Mean age: 62 y, Mean AHI: 27 events/h)	Patient & Disease Characteristics	Decreased adherence	Custom-made	Self-reported	
11				Social Support	Decreased adherence	adjustable device (OPM4		NII
				Appliance characteristics	Decreased adherence	o device)		
			Advanced Canks for	Side effects	Decreased adherence	Ready-made OA	Self-reported	
12	Freidman et al, 2012 <sup>55</sup>	Case series	Specialty Care, Chicago (n = 180, MF: 130/50, Mean age: 61.5y, Mean AHI: 33.9 events/h)	Appliance Fabrication (Ready- made OA vs Custom-made OA)	Increased adherence with Custom- made OA	(SomnoGuard AP) and Custom-made OA (Thomton Adjustable Positioner TAP 3)		NI
13	Zhou et al, 2012 <sup>30</sup>	Randomized Control trial	Department of Orthodontics, Tongji University (n = 16, M/ F: 13/3, Mean age: 45.23 y, Mean AHI: 38 events/h)	Appliance fabrication and titration procedure (Monobloc OA vs two-piece OA)	Increased adherence with Monobloc OA	Monobloc OA (Activator) and Bibloc OA (Silent Nite)	Self-reported	Nil
14	Dietjens et al, 2013 <sup>54</sup>	Case- control study	University of Antwerp, Belgium (n = 82, M/F: 56/26, Mean age: 49.5 y, Mean AHI: 18 events/h)	Psychological factors (Type D personality)	Decreased adherence	Custom-made Mono Bloc OA and Custom- made Bibloc titratable OA (RespiDent Butterfly)	Self-reported	Nil

(continued on following page)

#### Adherence to oral appliance therapy: systematic review

Sr. No.	Study	Study Design	Participants & Settings	Exposure (Patient or Disease Characteristics, Type of Appliance, Psychological or Social Factor)	Outcome (Increased/ Decreased or No effect on Adherence)	Appliance	Measurement of Adherence	Intervention for Adherence
15	Ingman et al, 2013 <sup>48</sup>	Retrospective observational study	Department of Oral & Maxillofacial Diseases, Helsinki University Hospital (n = 96, MF: 68/28, Mean age: 50.5 y, Mean AHI: 18.4 events/h)	Patient characteristics (length of the maxilla, mandible and soft palate, oropharyngeal space, crepitation at TMJ)	Increased adherence with shorter mesio- distal length of the maxilla and mandible, and crepitation at right TMJ	Mandibular Advancement Splint	Self-reported	Nil
16	Lee at al, 2013 <sup>35</sup>	Nonrandomized control trial	Department of Otorhinolaryngology, Secul National University (n = 153, M/ F: 138/15, Mean age: 51.2 y, Mean AHI: 32.8 events/h)	Appliance fabrication and titration procedure (Monobloc OA vs Biblioc OA)	Increased adherence with Biblicc OA	Monobloc and Bibloc OA	Self-reported	Nil
17	Quinnell et al, 2014 <sup>37</sup>	Randomized Control trial	Papworth Hospital Sleep Centre, (n = 90, M/F: 72/81, Mean age: 50.9 y, Mean AHI: 13.8 events/h)	Appliance fabrication (Boil- Bite vs Semibespoke vs Be-spoke)	Increased adherence with the Be-spoke oral appliance	Boil-bite OA (Sleep pro 1), Semibespoke OA (Sleep pro 2), and Bespoke OA	Self-reported	Nil
18	Wang et al, 2014 <sup>38</sup>	Randomized Control trial	Dept. of Otorhindogy, Hospital of Anhui Medical University (n = 22, M/F: 22/0, Mean age: 51.9 y, Mean AHI: 48.16 events/h)	Appliance Type (Adjustable OA vs Nonadjustable OA)	Increased adherence with the adjustable OA	Rod Type OA (Erkodent Silensor) and Controllable appliance (Twin Bloc)	Self-reported	NI
19	Dietjens et al, 2015 <sup>33</sup>	Prospective observational study	Antwerp University Hospital, Belgium (n = 51, M/F: 38/13, Mean age: 49.3 y, Mean AHI: 14.9/h. Mean AHI:	Patient (Anthropometric) & Disease characteristics (Polysomnographic measure)	No association with adherence	Custom-made titratable OA (RespiDent Butterfly)	ade DA (Theramon Sensors)	NI
		× 6	18.4 events/h)	Side effects	Decreased adherence			
20	Prescinotto et al, 2015 <sup>44</sup>	Retrospective observational study	Federal University of Sao Paulo, Brazil (n = 28, M/F: 9/19, Mean age: 48.8 y, Mean AHI; 17.5 events/h)	Patient characteristics (upper airway abnormalities)	No association with adherence	Custom- made OA	Self-reported	Nil
			Pité-Salpétrière,	Appliance factors	Decreased adherence	Ready-made OA (Naval		
21	Attali et al, 2016 <sup>22</sup>	Prospective observational	France (n = 279, M/F: 98/81, Mean age: 58 y, Mean AHI: 26	Side effects	Decreased adherence	Resmed) and Custom-made	Self-reported	Nil
	1997, ROSER (1997)	suuy	events/h)	Psychological factors	Decreased adherence	(Somnodent SomnoMed)		
22	Carballo et al, 2016 <sup>42</sup>	Retrospective observational study	Veterans Affairs Medical Centre, Brazil (n = 33, M/F: 32/1, Mean age: 71.4 y)	Psychological and social factors	No association with Adherence	Oral Appliance	Self-reported	Nil
23	Makihara	Retrospective	Kyushu Dental University, Japan (n =	Side effects	Decreased adherence	Boil- Bite	Soll-reported	NI
23	et al, 201658	study	48, M/F: 35/13, Mean age: 64.9 y)	Psychological factors	Decreased adherence	(TheraSnore)	Seinehoured	Nil

## Table 1-Characteristics and principal outcomes of the included studies. (continued)

Journal of Clinical Sleep Medicine, Vol. 17, No. 7

1489

#### Adherence to oral appliance therapy: systematic review

Sr. No.	Study	Study Design	Participants & Settings	Exposure (Patient or Disease Characteristics, Type of Appliance, Psychological or Social Factor)	Outcome (Increased/ Decreased or No effect on Adherence)	Appliance	Measurement of Adherence	Intervention for Adherence
24	Nerfeldt et al, 2016 <sup>43</sup>	Prospective intervention study	Department of Clinical Science, Karolinska Institute Stockholm, Swedan (n = 66, MF: 37/35, Mean Age: 48.5 y, Mean AHI: 16 events/h)	Disease Characteristics (Arousers vs Desaturaters)	Increased adherence in arousers	Monobloc titratable OA	Self-reported	Nil
25	Vecchierini et al, 2016 <sup>50</sup>	Prospective intervention study	Multicenter (n = 369, M/F: 273/96, Mean age: 52.6 y, Mean AHI: 29.5 events/h)	Side effects	Decreased adherence in the early stages of the treatment	Custom-made OA (Narval)	Self-reported	Nil
26	Al-Dharrab et al, 2017 <sup>38</sup>	Randomized Control trial	Faculty of Dentistry, King Abdul-Aziz University (n = 12, M/ F: 2/10, Mean age: 46 y, Mean AHI: 26 events/h)	Appliance fabrication and titration procedure (Titratable vs Nontitratable)	Increased adherence with Titratable appliance	Custom-made titratable OA (Foresta Dent, Bite Jumping screw) and nontitratable OA	Self-reported	NI
27	Gagnadoux et al, 2017 <sup>34</sup>	Nonrandomized control trial	University of Angers and Saint-Antoine Hospital, France (n = 158, M/F: 104/54, Mean age: 54 y, Mean AHI: 27.7 events/h)	Appliance fabrication and titration procedure (Ready-made OA vs Custom-made OA)	Increased adherence with Custom- made OA	Ready-made OA (BluePro) and Custom- made OA (Somnodent and Amo Device)	Self-reported	Nil
			Department of Oral Medicine, Hebrew	Side effects	Decreased			
28	Haviv et al, 2017 <sup>59</sup>	Mixed-methods	University (n = 52, M/ F: 48/4, Mean age: 56.75 y, Mean AHI ≤ 40 events/h)	Psychological factors	Decreased adherence	Herbst Device	Self-reported	NE
29	Johai et al, 2017 <sup>40</sup>	Randomized Control trial	Royal London Dental Hospital, Queen Mary University of London, (n = 35, M/F: 21/14, Mean age: 44.9 y, Mean AHI: 13.3 events/h)	Appliance fabrication and titration procedure (Ready-made OA vs Custom-made OA)	Increased adherence with Custom- made OA	Ready-made OA (Snoreshield) and Custom- made OA	Self-reported	Nil
		Datasart	Department of General Dentistry,	Side effects	Decreased adherence	_		
30	Nishigawa et al, 201747	observational study	Tokushima University Hospital Japan (n = 40, M/F: 28/12, Mean age: 57.8 y)	Psychological factors	Decreased adherence	Herbst Appliance	Self-reported	NE
		-	Department of Orthodontics,	Patient & Disease Characteristics	No association with adherence	Monobloc OA and Twin-		
31	Aydinatay	observational	Ankara, Turkey (n =	Side effects	Decreased adherence		Self-reported	NI
	et al, 2018**	sudy	age: 54.4 y, Mean AHI < 30 events/h)	Psychological (Self- perceived changes) and social factors	Increased adherence	DIDC OA		

Table 1—Characteristics and principal outcomes of the included studies, (continued)

Journal of Clinical Sleep Medicine, Vol. 17, No. 7

Downloaded from jesm.aastmorg by Harishri Tallannraju on May 26, 2022. For personal use only. No other uses without permission. Copyright 2022 American Academy of Sleep Medicine. All rights reserved.

1490

Table 2-Factors of influence on oral appliance adherence.

Factors	Decreased Adherence	Increased Adherence	No Significant Association with Adherence	Caveat
			Anthropometric characteristics (age, sex, obesity)	
			Disease severity	
			Baseline sleepiness	
			Polysomnographic parameters	
Patient and			Anatomical characteristics (length of the maxilla, mandible and soft palate, oropharyngeal space, crepitation at TMJ)	
disease characteristics			Upper airway or facial skeletal abnormalities	
	Desaturaters (patients with oxygen desaturations)	Arousers (patients with respiratory arousals)		Significant improvement in the ESS among the arousers
		OA therapy as the first line of treatment		Strong predictor for treatment continuation
		Complete symptom resolution		Contributes to the perception of OSA but not a strong predictor alone
	Monoblac OA	Bi-Bloc OA		Relatively free mandibular movement
Anniana fabination	Ready-made (Nontitratable) OA	Custom-made (Titratable) OA		More reported side-effects with ready-made as compared to custom-made
and stration	Patients not using the OA for > 2 years			More likely to discontinue the treatment
		Regular dental follow-up		Helps in minimizing early side effects which lead to early discontinuation of the treatment
	Lack of perceived benefits			Leads to early discontinuation of the treatment, consistent factor
social factors		Support from their bed partners		Improved sleep quality of the bed partner with OA use is associated with increased adherence

ESS = Epworth Sleepiness Scale, OA = oral appliance, TMJ = temporomandibular joint.

and respiratory medicine were contacted. The additional literature search included Google Scholar to identify any other relevant published work. An example of thesearch strategy used is shown in **Table S1** in the supplemental material.

The title and abstracts of the studies identified were assessed independently by 2 reviewers (H.T., A.J.) and were included or excluded based on the following PEO criteria:

- 1. Population: Adults with OSA receiving oral
- appliance therapy 2. Exposure of interest: Disease characteristics, patient
- characteristics, appliance features, and psychological and social factors
- 3. Outcome: Adherence
- Study design: Prognostic studies both retrospective or prospective observational in nature and randomized or nonrandomized controlled trials

Journal of Clinical Sleep Medicine, Vol. 17, No. 7

Exclusions: Studies comparing CPAP or surgical intervention with oral appliance therapy were excluded

The first 2 reviewers (H.T., A.J.) obtained full-text reports of studies meeting the selection criteria for screening, and any disagreement was resolved by consulting a third reviewer to reach a consensus (T.N.).

#### Risk of bias and quality assessment in individual studies

Two authors independently assessed the risk of bias of the included studies (H.T., A.J.; Figure 1, and any disagreements were resolved by further discussion and consensus. Due to the diversity in the design of the included studies, 2 different tools were used to assess their quality. RCTs were assessed using the Cochrane Collaboration's risk of

1491

bias tool.<sup>30</sup> The following 5 domains were considered: random sequence generation, allocation concealment, blinding of outcome assessors, incomplete outcome data, and selective reporting. The domain blinding of participants and personnel was not considered due to the nature of the questions addressed by this review. Observational studies were critically appraised using the Quality in Prognosis Studies (QUIPS) tool.<sup>31</sup> This tool assesses the risk of bias in studies of prognostic factors and comprises 6 domains: study participantion, study attrition, prognostic factor management, outcome measurement, study confounding, and statistical analysis and reporting.

#### Data items and collection

The influence of independent variables such as disease characteristics, patient characteristics, appliance features, and psychological and social factors on the outcome, ie, adherence, reported in the included studies was recorded and categorized based on these factors. The findings of the studies were synthesized in a narrative manner. Information regarding study design, sample size, participants and settings, type of oral appliance used, strategies or interventions employed to increase adherence, and method of adherence measurement (objective or self-reported) were recorded (Table 1 and Table 2).

#### Meta-analysis

A meta-analysis was performed using Review Manager (RevMan; Version 5.3. Copenhagen, The Nordic Cochrane Centre, The Cochrane Collaboration, 2014) for studies with low and/or unclear risk of bias, similar study design, and comparing 2 types (ready-made vs custom-made) oral appliances prescribed for patients with OSA in regards to patient adherence. Results were analyzed using forest plots with weighted mean differences between ready-made vs custom-made appliances in relation to patient adherence, ie, mean nightly (hours) use of the appliance. The studies were weighted using the inverse variance method and tested for heterogeneity using the Chi square test to assess the significance of heterogeneity and I2 statistics to measure the diversity between studies. Pooled studies with I2 < 25% were regarded as homogenous, and those with  $I^2 > 75\%$ were considered to demonstrate high heterogeneity. A fixedeffects model was used and a P value of less than .05 was considered statistically significant, reported along with the 95% confidence interval.

#### RESULTS

Following the removal of duplicates, 419 articles were considered eligible for screening of the title and abstract. The abstracts were assessed against the selection criteria, with 45 articles considered eligible for full-text screening. Subsequently, fourteen studies were excluded (**Table S2**), with a total of 31 studies included in the review, which consisted of 8 RCTs, 2 controlled clinical trials, 7 prospective cohorts, 11 retrospective cohorts, while the remaining 3 studies were a caseseries, case-control, and a mixed-methods study (**Figure 2**). All

Journal of Clinical Sleep Medicine, Vol. 17, No. 7

#### Adherence to oral appliance therapy: systematic review

Figure 2—Risk of bias summary: review authors' judgements about each risk of bias item for each included study.



31 included studies were subject to qualitative analysis, with 4 studies subject to a meta-analysis. All included studies were undertaken in academic medical centers or sleep centers (Table S3).

The majority of the included studies investigated the influence of side effects (45%), disease and patient characteristics (41%), and appliance characteristics (32%) on patient adherence. The efficacy of strategies or interventions to increase patient adherence to OAT in adult patients with OSA was assessed in only a single study.<sup>32</sup> While a self-reported measure of adherence was used in the majority of included studies, objective monitoring of adherence was reported in just 1 study.<sup>33</sup> Studies that considered psychological and social factors (38%) focused on the impact of constructs, such as bed-partner satisfaction levels (improvement reported in the patient's snoring by their partner), self-perceived changes, and type D

personality (a combination personality type of negative affectivity and social inhibition) on oral appliance adherence.

#### Risk of bias within studies

The risk of bias (Figure 1) assessment for random sequence generation, allocation concealment, blinding of outcome assessors, incomplete outcome data, and selective reporting was assessed for the included RCTs (n = 8) and controlled clinical trials (n=2). The majority of these studies demonstrated a low or unclear risk of bias for the above domains. Only 2 studies<sup>34,37</sup> demonstrated a high risk of bias for random sequence generation, otherwise a low risk of bias was assessed in relation to selective reporting for all included studies. In terms of allocation concealment, 5 studies<sup>20,36-38</sup> demonstrated an unclear risk of bias, 3 studies<sup>32,40,41</sup> indicated a low risk of bias, and a high risk of bias was observed in 2 studies.34,35 Due to no clear description concerning blinding of outcome assessors, 7 studies<sup>20,3</sup> exhibited an unclear risk of bias and a low risk of bias was observed in the rest of the 3 studies.34,40,41 High risk of bias for incomplete outcome data was observed in only 1 study,34 whereas the remaining 9 studies<sup>20,32,35-41</sup> exhibited a low risk of bias. The findings along with the comments for the judgement are summarized in Table S4.

Similarly, observational studies (n = 21) were found to demonstrate a low or moderate risk of bias concerning study participation, study attrition, prognostic factor management, outcome management, study confounding, and statistical analysis and reporting. Four studies<sup>42–45</sup> exhibited a moderate risk of bias for study participation, whereas the remaining studies (n= 17) indicated a low risk of bias. All studies demonstrated a low risk of bias for the domains-outcome measurement and statistical analysis and reporting. In terms of study attrition, 3 studies<sup>43,46,47</sup> exhibited a moderate risk of bias, while a low risk of bias was observed in the remaining studies. Furthermore, 8 studies<sup>33,43,46,48–50</sup> demonstrated a low risk of bias for prognostic factor measurement, and remaining studies exhibited a moderate risk of bias. The majority of the studies indicated a moderate risk of bias for study confounding, while a low risk of bias was observed in 2 studies<sup>33,51</sup> (Table S5).

#### Qualitative study analysis

#### Patient and disease characteristics

The current review identified 13 studies exploring the influence of patient and disease characteristics, which reported neither supine-dependent OSA, age, obesity, sex, or sleepiness to be related to OAT tolerability.<sup>20,26,33,43,46,48,49,51-54</sup> There were no significant sex differences detected in relation to the cessation of appliance use. Neither disease severity or baseline sleepiness was found to be a predictor of OAT adherence.<sup>26</sup> While the above-reported studies relied upon self-reported adherence, an additional single study found no correlation between objective adherence and anthropometric characteristics, polysomnographic parameters, or excessive daytime sleepiness.<sup>33</sup> Furthermore, among the 13 studies included, 1 study found no significant association between adherence and the following patient anatomical characteristics: upper airway or facial skeletal

Journal of Clinical Sleep Medicine, Vol. 17, No. 7

abnormalities, such as pharyngeal alterations (P = .62), retrognathia (P = .34), Class II dental occlusion (P = .64), craniofacial alterations (P = .44), or nasal alterations (P = .38)<sup>44</sup>. Although the findings are not statistically significant, these should be viewed carefully as the authors relied upon self-reported adherence, rather than objective adherence.

#### Appliance fabrication and titration

In terms of appliance factors, 11 studies examined the influence of appliance fabrication and titration on OAT adherence.<sup>20,34–41,54,55</sup> One study compared the modified Herb st appliance (IST) with the Thornton anterior positioner (TAP), which differed in their ability to open the mouth during sleep in a protrusive position.<sup>20</sup> Although the TAP was more effective in treating OSA, its long-term acceptance was less than that of the IST.<sup>20</sup>

Three studies comparing Mono-Bloc OA with Bi-Bloc OA, with regards to their adherence, have reported rather conflicting results.35,39,54 Zhou and Lou37 suggested that monobloc appliance should be considered, as almost half of the patients preferred the appliance to the bibloc device. However, the findings were based on a very small sample size (n = 16). On the contrary, a large prospective single-center study, with a sample size of 153 patients, observed an adherence rate of 83.3% with the Bi-BlocOA and 68.8% with the Mono-Bloc OA, at 1 year (P=.04). The authors concluded that the relatively free mandibular movement may explain the difference in adherence rates.35 Similarly, Dieltjens et al,54 while examining the association between Type D personality (a combination personality type of negative affectivity and social inhibition) and OAT adherence, observed a higher discontinuation rate with monobloc OAT in comparison to bi- or duo-bloc appliance (95% confidence interval, 1.77-47.09; P = .008) when adjusted for Type D personality, age, sex, and decrease in AHI. However, the findings of the above studies should again be interpreted with caution as they failed to assess adherence using an objective measure and the marked differences in study designs.

Seven studies evaluating the impact of ready-made (nonadjustable/nontitratable) and custom-made OAT observed an overwhelming patient-reported preference for custom-made OAT in comparison to ready-made devices.<sup>34,36-38,40,41,55</sup> The adherence was higher with the custom-made OAT despite more reported dental discomfort (P = .03).<sup>34</sup> In an additional RCT with a crossover design, Johal et al reported a response rate of only 24% with a ready-made OAT vs the 64% in the custom-made OAT<sup>39</sup>. It has to be acknowledged that adherence was assessed from self-reports and can be at risk of bias. More recently, the addition of objective adherence monitors has served to confirm the reported levels of self-reported adherence with OAT.<sup>28,29</sup>

#### Side effects

Side effects, such as dental pain, muscular pain, and excessive salivation associated with OAT may prevent early acceptance of the device and contribute to nonadherence.<sup>56</sup> Moreover, side effects arising from long-term OAT use, such as bite change, may also lead to poor patient adherence.<sup>22,33,52,57</sup> The current review identified 14 studies examining the influence of early and long-term side effects on OAT adherence.<sup>22,26,33,47,49–53,55,56-69</sup>

Figure 3—Forest plot of patient-reported adherence for custom-made oral appliance and ready-made oral appliance.

	Re	ady-made	6	Cut	stom-mad	e .		Mean Difference	Mean Difference	Risk of Bias
Study or Subgroup	Mean	\$0	Total	Mean	\$0	Total	Weight	IV, Fixed, 95% Cl	IV, Fixed, 95% CI	ABCDE
Gagnadoux 2017	6.4	27.6998	86	7.1	28.0271	72	0.6%	-0.70[-9.43, 8.03]		
Johal 2017	3	4.9765	25	5	8.2941	25	3.2%	-2.00 [ 5.79, 1.79]		
Ouinnell 2014	4.4	2.4	74	5.7	2	74	91.7%	-1.30 [-2.01, -0.59]		
Vanderveken 2008	4.6	4.658	23	6.3	6.3794	23	4.5%	-1.70 [-4.93, 1.53]		
fotal (95% CI)			208			194	100.0%	-1.34 [-2.02, -0.66]	•	
leterogeneity. Chi#=	0.20. df	= 3 (P = 0)	98). P	:0%						-
est for overall effect.	Z=3.84	(P = 0.000	(10						-10 -5 0 5 10 Exercise Costom made Exercise Readomade	
Risk of bias legend (A) Random sequenc (B) Atlocation concea (C) Blinding of outcon (D) incomplete outcoo (E) Selective reporting	te gener iment (s ne asser me data g (reporti	ation (sele election bi sament (de (attrition bi ng bias)	ction t as) etection as)	ias) n bias)						

The forest plot demonstrates 4 studies that indicate increased patient adherence with custom-made appliances in comparison to ready-made appliances. The squares represent the point estimate of the corresponding studies. The area of each square is proportional to the study's weight in the meta-analysis, and the lateral points (horizontal line) indicate the confidence intervals of the respective study. The overall effect or the summary estimate is plotted as a diamond, and the lateral points demonstrate the confidence intervals of the estimate. A mean difference of zero (vertical line) indicates no effect; studies with confidence intervals crossing the vertical line are inconclusive. Powerful studies have narrower confidence intervals. In the graph, the Quinnell study and the overall effect estimate have narrow confidence intervals that do not cross zero, indicating that the meta-analysis could be considered as statistically significant.

The most common self-reported reason for discontinuing the treatment was a lack of treatment effect or discomfort organion. OAT use, consistent with other reported studies.<sup>22,45,51,56,57</sup> Furthermore, early discontinuation (< 2 years) of treatment was observed due to side effects, discomfort, and inefficacy. In contrast, patients discontinued treatment due to no specific reasons after 2 or more years.<sup>22</sup> Additionally, the higher rates of treatment discontinuation with ready-made OAT was found to be associated with higher reported side effects in comparison to the custom-made OAT.<sup>34,37,40,41</sup>

#### Psychological and social factors

Among the 31 included studies, 12 studies<sup>22,26,42</sup> examined the influence of the psychological and social factors on OAT adherence. One study reported low rates of perceived effectiveness, self-efficacy, and social support for OAT as a cohort (n = 39) of older patients had low expectation for positive outcomes.42 However, given that other included studies identified psychological factors, such as a lack of perceived bene fits by the patients and their bed partner, and cognitive perceptions such as complete symptom resolution as influential on OAT adherence, the above findings are highly contentious.22 Likewise, 2 studies identified that social factors, such as poor marital satisfaction (marital quality and bed sharing frequency) (P < .04), support from their partner, and shame caused by the disease symptoms to be associated with continued usage of OAT.45,51 Nevertheless, the above findings should be viewed carefully due to marked differences in study designs and lack of objective assessment of adherence.

#### Quantitative analysis

A meta-analysis was undertaken in relation to the use of readymade OAT vs custom-made OAT with regards to patient adherence (Figure 3). Based on these studies,<sup>34,37,40,41</sup> increased

Journal of Clinical Sleep Medicine, Vol. 17, No. 7

adherence was observed with custom-made appliances, with a pooled mean difference of -1.34 (-2.02 to -0.66), with low levels of heterogeneity ( $\vec{F} = 0\%$ ).

#### DISCUSSION

Given that oral appliances are removable and have to be used indefinitely, adherence to treatment is of utmost importance for achieving successful therapy.<sup>6</sup> However, adherence to OAT for OSA is highly variable.<sup>14</sup> The current review observed that the relationship between OAT adherence and patient and disease characteristics such as age, sex, obesity, AHI, and daytime sleepiness is relatively weak. Furthermore, no association was observed between objective adherence and anthropometric characteristics, polysomnographic parameters, and excessive daytime sleepiness. It also appears that disease severity and sleepiness may not be associated with OAT adherence. The majority of the included studies exploring the impact of patient and disease characteristics, were retrospective in nature and highly heterogeneous in terms of study participants.

Dieltjens et al conducted a prospective clinical trial to identify the determinants of objective adherence to OAT in patients with OSA<sup>32</sup>. Previous studies on OAT adherence have relied upon patient-reported adherence, which is subject to overestimation.<sup>26,60</sup> Moreover, objective compliance monitors with OAT have only been introduced recently.<sup>28</sup> The trial (n = 51) observed no correlation between objective adherence and anthropometric characteristics, polysomnographic parameters, and excessive daytime sleepiness. Nevertheless, the authors did emphasize the influence of socially disturbing snoring, reporting objective adherence correlated significantly with a decrease in socially disturbing snoring, as reported by

1494

the partner compared with baseline visual analog scale scores for snoring without the appliance.35 Nerfeldt and Friberg43 investigated the difference between "arousers" (patients with respiratory arousals) and "desaturaters" (patients with oxygen desaturations) in terms of adherence rates. The authors observed that patients with greater numbers of arousal showed higher adherence (85%) than among the "desaturaters" (55%; P = .034). It was reasoned that the above difference in adherence rate was due to a significant improvement in the Epworth Sleepiness Score among the arousers (Epworth Sleepiness Score ≥ 10), which was not seen among the desaturaters. Furthermore, OAT as a first-line treatment was reported to be a strong predictor (odds ratio 1.77, 95% confidence interval 1.03-3.03; P = .0375) for treatment continuation.22 Similarly, complete symptom resolution (odd ratio 1.78, 95% confidence interval 1.03-3.03, P = .0384) was also a strong predictor for OAT adherence.<sup>2</sup> These findings support an important role for disease chronicity in terms of patient adherence, which was similar to those reported for other chronic diseases.<sup>61</sup> They also reinforce the link between disease chronicity and long-term treatment persistence, while indicating that patients intolerant of or nonadherent with CPAP are more likely to discontinue OAT.22 However, Izci et al51 in a large sample (n = 144) of patients with OSA demonstrated that usage of OAT was not significantly affected by whether a patient was CPAP nonadherent or a refuser (P > .3). Nonetheless, the findings of the above studies should be interpreted with caution, as the studies failed to provide an objective measure of adherence and also due to the marked differences in study design and participant settings with regards to race and ethnicity. However, Johal et al demonstrated excellent long-term objective adherence with OAT in a sample of 42 patients with OSA, who were CPAP intolerant28.

Nonetheless, it is interesting to evaluate these findings in the context of CPAP adherence. A weak association between patient and disease characteristics, such as disease severity, AHI, oxygen desaturation, and Epworth Sleepiness Score on CPAP adherence has been observed. 2-64 Although nasal resistance influences initial CPAP acceptance, nasal anatomy, not necessarily patient-reported nasal complaints, may be influential on CPAP adherence.64-67 Furthermore, initial CPAP adherence appears to be closely associated with higher neighborhood socioeconomic factors, independent of individual demographic and clinical factors.68 These findings suggest that socioenvironmental factors are important in terms of patient adherence among patients with OSA. Studies have also examined race as influential on CPAP adherence, all of which have reported lower CPAP adherence in African Americans compared with Caucasian users.69,70 Factors such as race and ethnicitybased differences in OAT adherence were not examined, as no studies have been published exploring such factors. Similarly, a low socioeconomic index is only considered a barrier to accessing OAT, as its influence on treatment adherence is yet to be explored.71 Thus, additional studies are needed to understand and help characterize the individual considerations needed for initiating and managing OA treatment within diverse patient groups.

In terms of appliance characteristics, both patient-reported adherence and preference favored the use of custom-made

Journal of Clinical Sleep Medicine, Vol. 17, No. 7

1495

#### Adherence to oral appliance therapy: systematic review

appliances. The preference was not only reflected in the higher number of nights per week but also the number of hours per night that the appliance was used.<sup>40,41</sup> The findings are consistent with a recent systematic review and meta-analysis.<sup>72</sup> Moreover, as OAT for OSA is entirely dependent on patient behavior, patient preference or acceptance cannot be disregarded. However, the majority of the studies were limited to self-reported use and lacked an objective adherence measurement. This reflects the relatively recent introduction of objective adherence monitors.<sup>28</sup> Notwithstanding this, a lack of retention with the ready-made OAT was the most frequently cited reason for discomfort and nonadherence.<sup>37,40,41,49,55</sup>

In relation to side effects, nonusers experienced 1 or more adverse effects and tend to discontinue the treatment earlier, ie, within the first 3 months, whereas those who use the device for longer periods experienced milder problems.52,58 In a questionnaire-based retrospective study, nonusers reported a higher average number of side effects than users.52 Similarly, Makihara et al58 reported that one-third of the nonusers discontinued the OAT within the first month and 40% within in the next 3 months. The most common reasons for discontinuation of treatment were discomfort or lack of treatment effects.26,52,57 Specifically, pain originating from the masticatory muscles or the temporomandibular joints may be one of the main reasons for poor adherence or abandonment.32 Consequently, Cunali et al<sup>32</sup>randomized 29 OSA adult patients with temporomandibular disorders into 2 groups, the exercise support therapy group and placebo therapy (PT) group, and they were evaluated prior to and 120 days after OAT. The authors observed higher treatment adherence in the support therapy group (P < .05) compared to the place botherapy group, as there was a significant reduction of pain intensity in the former group (P < .05) but not in the latter. Long-term occlusal changes may occur with OAT,26 as such, dental follow-up may be useful in encouraging adherence while limiting possible side effects and the risk of cessation of treatment in long-term OAT users. In terms of the influence of sex, in a retrospective study (n = 251), women experienced and reported more side effects and seemed to have a greater tendency to abandon treatment than men, as 46.8% of the women who answered a questionnaire based-survey had discontinued the use of OAT compared to the 32.8% of men.26 However, given that the study was retrospective, with data collection from patients at different time intervals, the findings should be interpreted with caution.2

Peebologiaal and social factors, such as mood and perception of treatment benefits, and bed partner satisfaction levels were significantly correlated with OAT use.<sup>51</sup> Dieltjens et al identified that self-reported adherence to OAT was significantly lower for adults with OSA and Type D personality, a combination personality type of negative affectivity and social inhibition, compared to patients with OSA without the said personality type<sup>53</sup>. These findings are in agreement with similar observations reported by Brostrometal<sup>73</sup> in regards to lower CPAP adherence with type D personality. Objective adherence was found to be significantly correlated with a more pronounced decrease in socially disturbing snoring.<sup>33</sup>

new physical activity routine or adhering to a prescribed medication regimen, is a challenging endeavor, involving a variety of social, emotional, and cognitive factors.74 However, evidence in terms of psychological and social factors with regards to OAT adherence is highly underrepresented, which contrasts with the volume of literature concerning CPAP adherence. Efforts to enhance patient education ranging from telephone support to home visits, motivational enhancement, or augmented support, 75,76 have been shown to improve CPAP adherence when compared to standard care. It has also been suggested in a recent Cochrane review that educational, supportive, and behavioral interventions may increase CPAP usage to varying degrees.77 However, no studies evaluating the efficacy of the above-mentioned interventions in relation to OAT adherence were identified in this review. Evidence concerning the impact of psychological factors, such as patient's perceptions, self-efficacy, and social support on OAT adherence is highly underrepresented in the field of sleep medicine in comparison to various sleep apnea treatments. Therefore, further research is imperative for the development of tailor-made interventions to enhance adherence in patients with low mood and/or psychological disorders.

#### Strengths and limitations

This is the first systematic review to assess the factors influencing adherence or nonadherence in adult patients with OSA on OAT. To limit publication bias, comprehensive search strategies were implemented along with the use of Covidence, a core component of Cochrane's review toolkit. The review followed the PRISMA reporting guidelines, and the Cochrane Handbook of systematic review was used for risk of bias assessment for the included RCTs.

In terms of limitations, the search yield was limited to 8 RCTs demonstrating low or unclear risk of bias. Furthermore, the application of a meta-analysis in nonrandomized controls trials leads to bias arising from methodological issues and marked differences in study designs. Another possible limitation is the limited evidence identified concerning the impact of psychological and social factors and the effect of strategies or interventions to improve OA adherence.

#### CONCLUSIONS

A weak relationship was observed between objective OAT adherence and patient and disease characteristics such as age, sex, obesity, AHI, and daytime sleepiness. Nonadherent patients reported more side effects than users and tended to discontinue treatment within the first 3 months. Increased patient adherence was identified with custom-madeOAT in comparison to ready-made OA. The review identified limited evidence concerning the influence of psychological and social factors on OAT adherence. Given that majority of the studies relied upon patientreported adherence, the review observed a considerable lack of objective adherence monitoring.

Further research would be beneficial to describe the determinants of adherence, such as risk perception, self-efficacy, and outcome expectancy and to facilitate patient education and development of tailor-made interventions to enhance

Journal of Clinical Sleep Medicine, Vol. 17, No. 7

1496

#### Adherence to oral appliance therapy: systematic review

adherence to OAT. Similarly, the lack of objective adherence monitoring necessitates the need for future studies that assess adherence objectively.

#### ABBREVIATIONS

AHI, apnea-hypopnea index

- CPAP, continuous positive airway pressure
- IST, Herbst appliance
- OA, oral appliance
- OAT, oral appliance therapy
- OSA, obstructive sleep apnea
- RCT, randomized controlled trial
- TAP, Thornton anterior positioner

#### REFERENCES

- Banno K, Kryger MH. Sleep apnea: clinical investigations in humans. Sleep Med. 2007;8(4):400–426.
- Deng T, Wang Y, Sun M, Chen B. Stage-matched intervention for adherence to CPAP in patients with obstructive sleep apnea: a randomized controlled trial. Sleep Breath. 2013;17(2):791–801.
- SIGN. Management of Obstructive Sleep Aproea/Hypoproea Syndrome in Adults: A National Clinical Quideline. Edinburgh, UK: Scottish Intercollegiste Guidelines Network; 2003.
- Rejon-Partilla JC, Garau M, Sussex J. Obstructive Sleep Aproea: Health Economics Report. London: Office of Health Economics; 2014.
- Zozula R, Rosen R. Compliance with continuous positive airway pressure therapy: assessing and improving treatment outcomes. Curr Opin Pubr Med. 2001; 7(6):391–398.
- Ramar K, Dort LC, Katz SG, Lettieri CJ, et al. Clinical practice guideline for the treatment of obstructive sleep apnea and snoring with oral appliance therapy: An update for 2015. J Clin Sleep Med. 2015;11(7):773–827.
- Lim J, Lasserson TJ, Reetham J, Wright J. Oral appliances for obstructive sleep apnoea. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2004;CD004435.
- Sharples LD, Clutterbuck-James AL, Glover MJ, et al. Meta-analysis of randomised controlled trials of oral mandibular advancement devices and continuous positive airway pressure for obstructive sleep apnoea-hypopnoea. Sleep Med Rev. 2016;27:108–124.
- Philips CL, Grunstein RR, Darende Iller MA, et al. Health outcomes of continuous positive airway pressure versus or al appliance treatment for obstructive sleep a pnear a randomized controlled trial. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2013;187(8):879–887.
- Schwartz M, Acosta L, Hung YL, Padilla M, Enciso R. Effects of CPAP and mandibular advancement device treatment in obstructive sleep agnee patients: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Sleep Breath. 2018;22(3):555–568.
- Marklund M, Franklin KA. Treatment of elderty patients with snoring and obstructive sleep apnea using a mandibular advancement device. Sleep Breath. 2015;19(1):403–405.
- Dal-Fabbro C, Garbuio S, D'Almeida V, Cintra FD, Tufik S, Bittencourt L. Mandibular advancement device and CPAP upon cardiovascular parameters in OSA. Sleep Breath. 2014;18(4):749–759.
- Marklund M, Verbraecken J, Randerath W. Non-CPAP therapies in obstructive sleep apnoea: mandibular advancement device therapy. *Eur Respir J.* 2012;39(5): 1241–1247.
- Sutherland K, Vanderveiken OM, Tsuda H, et al. Oral appliance treatment for obstructive sleep apnea: an update. J Clin Sleep Med. 2014;10(2):215–227.
- Marklund M, Catberg B, Forsgren L, Olsson T, Stenkund H, Franklin KA. Oral appliance therapy in patients with daytime sleepiness and snoring or mild to moderate sleep apnea: arandomized clinical trial. JAMA InternMed. 2015;175(8): 1278–1285.

- Aarab G, Lobbezoo F, Heymans MW, Hamburger HL, Naeije M. Long-term follow-up of a randomized controlled trial of oral appliance therapy in obstructive sleep apnea. *Respiration*. 2011;82(2):162–168.
- Gauthier L, Laberge L, Beaudry M, Laforte M, Rompré PH, Lavigne GJ. Mandibular advancement appliances remain effective in lowering respiratory disturbance index for 2.5-4.5 years. Sleep Med. 2011;12(9):844–849.
- Marklund M, Sahlin C, Stenlund H, Persson M, Franklin KA. Mandibular advancement device in patients with obstructive sleep apnea: long-term effects on apnea and sleep. Chest. 2001;120(1):162–169.
- Rose EC, Barthlen GM, Staats R, Jonas IE. Therapeutic efficacy of an oral appliance in the treatment of obstructive skeep apnea: a 2-year follow-up. Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop. 2002;121(3):273–279.
- Ghazal A, Sorichter S, Jonas I, Rose EC. A randomized prospective long-term study of two oral appliances for sleep aprocea treatment. J Sleep Res. 2009; 18(3): 321–328.
- Marklund M. Long-term efficacy of an oral appliance in early treated patients with obstructive sleep apnea. Sleep Breath. 2016;20(2):689–694.
- Attal V, Chaumereul C, Arnulf I, et al. Predictors of long-term effectiveness to mandbular repositioning device treatment in obstructive sleep apneapatients after 1000 days. Skep Med. 2016;27:28:107–114.
- Hoffstein V. Review of oral appliances for treatment of sleep-disordered breathing. Sleep Medicine. 2007; 11(1): 1-22.
- Diettjens M, Braem MJ, Vroegop AVMT, et al. Objectively measured vs selfreported compliance during onal appliance therapy for skeep-disordered breathing. *Chest.* 2013;144 (5):1495–1502.
- Walker-Engström ML, Tegeberg A, Wilhelmsson B, Rhgqvist I. 4-year followup of treatment with dental appliance or uvulopalatopharyngoplasty in patients with obstructive sleep apnea: a randomized study. Chest. 2002;121(3): 739–746.
- de Almeida FR, Lowe AA, Tauki S, et al. Long-term compliance and side effects of oral appliances used for the treatment of snoring and obstructive sleep apnea syndrome. J Clin Sleep Med. 2005;1(2):143–152.
- Kribbs NB, Pack AJ, Kline LR, et al. Objective measurement of patterns of nasal CPAP use by patients with obstructive sleep apnea. Am Rev Respir Dis. 1993; 147(4):887–895.
- Vanderveken OM, Dieltjens M, Wouters K, De Backer WA, Van de Heyning PH, Braem MJ. Objective measurement of compliance during oral appliance therapy for sleep-disordered breathing. Thorax. 2013;68(1):91–96.
- Johal A, Jauhar P, Alqattan F, Kassim S, Mc Cloughlin K. The efficacy of mandbular advancement appliances as a treatment alternative to continuous positive airway pressure in moderate OSAHS. J Sleep Disord Manage. 2016;2(2).
- Higgins J, Thomas J, Chandler J, et al. Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions. Oxford: Wiley; 2019.
- Hayden JA, van der Windt DA, Cartwright JL, Côté P, Bombardier C. Assessing bias in studies of prognostic factors. Ann Intern Med. 2013;158(4):280–286.
- Cunali PA, Almeida FR, Santos CD, et al. Mandibular exercises improve mandibular advancement device therapy for obstructive sleep apnea. Sleep Breath. 2011;15(4):717–727.
- Dietjens M, Verbruggen AE, Braem MJ, et al. Determinants of objective compliance during oral appliance therapy in patients with sleep-disordered breathing: A prospective dinical trial. JAMA Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg. 2015; 14 1(10):694–900.
- Gagnadoux F, Nguyen XL, Le Vaillant M, et al. Comparison of fitrable thermoplastic versus custom-made mandibular advancement device for the treatment of obstructive sleep apnoea. Respir Med. 2017;131:35-42.
- Lee WH, Wee JH, Lee CH, et al. Comparison between mono-bloc and bi-bloc mandbular advancement devices for obstructive sleep apnea. Eur Arch Otorhinolaryngol. 2013;270(11):2909–2913.
- Al-Dharrab A. A randomized cross over study comparing the efficacy of two mandibular advancement appliances in the treatment of mild-moderate obstructive sleep apnea. Cranic. 2017;35(6):379–384.
- Quinnell TG, Bennett M, Jordan J, et al. A crossover randomised controlled trial of oral mand bular advancement devices for obstructive size p aprocea-hypopnoea (TOMADO). Thora x. 2014;69(10):938–945.

- Wang L, Liu Y-h. [Comparison of the efficacy of 2 types of mand bular advancement device in severe obstructive sleep apnea hypopnea syndrome]. Shanghai Kou Qiang Yi Xu. 2014;23(6):713–717.
- Zhou J, Liu YH. A randomised titrated crossover study comparing two oral appliances in the treatment for mild to moderate obstructive sleep apnoea/ hypopnoea syndrome. J Oral Rehabil. 2012;39(12):914–922.
- Johal A, Haria P, Manek S, Joury E, Rha R. Ready-made versus custom-made mandibular repositioning devices in sleep apnea: A randomized dinical trial. J Clin Sleep Med. 2017;13(2):175–182.
- Vanderveken OM, Devolder A, Marklund M, et al. Comparison of a custommade and a thermoplastic oral appliance for the treatment of mild sleep apnea. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2008;178(2):197–202.
- Carbalo NJ, Alessi CA, Martin JL, et al. Perceived effectiveness, self-efficacy, and social support for oral appliance therapy amongoider veterans with obstructive sleep apnea. Clin Ther. 2016;38(11):2407–2415.
- Nerfeldt P, Friberg D. Effectiveness of oral appliances in obstructive sleep apnea with respiratory arousals. J Clin Sleep Med. 2016;12(8):1159–1165.
- 44. Prescinotio R, Haddad FLM, Fukuchi I, et al. Impact of upper airway abnomatiles on the success and adherence to mandibular advancement device treatment in patients with obstructive sleep apnea syndrome. Braz J Otorhinolarynool. 2015;81(6):683–670.
- Sagiam-Aydinatay B, Taner T. Oral appliance therapy in obstructive sizep apnea: Long-term adherence and patients experiences. Med Oral Patol Oral Cir Bucal. 2018;23(1):e72–e77.
- Brette C, Ramanantsoa H, Renouardiere J, Renouardiere R, Roisman G, Escournou P. A mandloular advancement device for the treatment of obstructive sleep apnea: long-term use and tolerance. Int Orthod. 20 12;10(4): 363–376.
- Nishigawa K, Hayama R, Matsuka Y. Complications causing patients to discontinue using oral appliances for treatment of obstructive sleep apnea. J Prosthodont Res. 2017;61(2):133–138.
- Ingman T, Arte S, Bachour A, Bäck L, Mäkite A. Predicting compliance for mandible advancement splint therapy in 96 obstructive sleep apnea patients. Eur J Orthod. 2013;35(6):752–757.
- Tsuda H, Almeida FR, Masumi S, Lowe AA. Side effects of boil and bite type oral appliance herapy in skeep apneapatients. Skeep Breath. 2010;14(3):227–232.
- Vecchiertni M-F, Attall V, Collet J-M, et al. ORCADES investigators. A custom-made mandibular repositioning device for obstructive sleep apnoea-hypopnoea syndrome: the ORCADES study. Sleep Med. 2016;19:131–140.
- Izci B, McDonald JP, Coleman EL, Mackay TW, Douglas NJ, Engleman HM. Clinical audit of subjects with snoring & sleep apnoea/hypopneea syndrome fitted with mandibular repositioning splint. *Respir Med.* 2005;99(3): 337–346.
- McGown AD, Makker HK, Battagel JM, L'Estrange PR, Grant HR, Spiro SG. Long-term use of mandibular advancement splints for snoring and obstructive sleep apnoea: a questionnalie survey. *Eur Respir J*. 2001;17(3): 462–466.
- Rose E, Staats R, Schulte-Mönting J, Ridder GJ, Jonas IE. [Long term compliance with an oral protrusive appliance in patients with obstructive sleep apnoea]. Dtsch Med Wochenschr. 2002;127(23):1245–1249.
- Dieltjens M, Vanderveken OM, Van den Bosch D, et al. Impact of type D personality on adherence to oral applian ce therapy for sleep-disordere dbreathing. Sleep Breath. 2013;17(3):985–991.
- Friedman M, Hamilton C, Samuelson CG, et al. Compliance and efficacy of titratable thermoplastic versus custom mandibular advancement devices. Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg. 2012;147(2):379–386.
- Bates CJ, McDonaid JP. Patients' and sleeping pattners' experience of treatment for sleep-related breathing disorders with a mandbular repositioning splint. Br Dent J. 2006;20(2):95–101.
- Clark GT, Sohn JW, Hong CN. Treating obstructive sleep apnea and anoring: assessment of an anterior mandibular positioning device. J Am DentAssoc 2000; 131(6):765–771.
- Makihara E, Kawano T, Miyajima R, Masumi SI, Enciso R, Clark GT. Assessment of oral appliance for obstructive sleep apnea patients. *Clin Exp Dent* Res. 2016;2(2):155–161.

- Haviv Y, Zini A, Almoznino G, Keshet N, Sharav Y, Aframian DJ. A seesement of interfering factors in non-adherence to oral appliance therapy in severe sleep apnea. Oral Dis. 2017;23 (5):629–635.
- Marklund M, Franklin KA. Long-term effects of mandbular repositioning appliances on symptoms of skep apnoea. J Skep Res. 2007;16(4):414–420.
- Iglay K, Cartier SE, Rosen VM, et al. Meta-analysis of studies examining medication adherence, persistence, and discontinuation of oral anthyperglycemic agents in type 2 diabetes. *Curr Med Res Opin.* 2015;31(7):1283–1296.
- Engleman HM, Martin SE, Deary U, Douglas NJ. Effect of continuous positive airway pressure treatment on daytime function in sleep aproea/hypopnoea syndrome. Lancet. 1994;343(8897):572–575.
- Reeves-Hoche MK, Meck R, Zwillich CW. Nasal CPAP: an objective evaluation of patient compliance. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 1994;149(1):149–154.
- SinDD, Mayers I, Man GC, Pawluk L. Long-term compliance rates to continuous positive airway pressure in obstructive sleep apnea: a population-based study. Chest. 2002;121 (2):430–435.
- Li H-Y, Engleman H, Hsu C-Y, et al. Acoustic reflection for nasal airway measurement in patients with obstructive sleep apnea-hypopnea syndrome. Sleep. 2005;28(12):1554–1559.
- Morris LG, Settur J, Burschtin OE, Steward DL, Jacobs JB, Lee KC. Acoustic rhinometry predicts tolerance of nasal continuous positive airway pressure: a pilot study. Am J Rhinol. 2006;20(2):133–137.
- Sugtura T, Noda A, Nakata S, et al. Influence of nasal resistance on initial acceptance of continuous positive airway pressure in treatment for obstructive sleep apnea syndrome. *Respiration*. 2007;74(1):56–60.
- Platt AB, Field SH, Asch DA, et al. Neighborhood of residence is associated with daily adherence to CPAP therapy. Sleep. 2009;32(6):799–806.
- Scharf SM, Seiden L, De More J, Carter-Pokras O. Racial differences in clinical presentation of patients with sleep-disordered breathing. Sleep Breath. 2004;8(4): 173–183.
- Budhiraja R, Parthasarathy S, Drake CL, et al. Early CPAP use identifies subsequent adherence to CPAP therapy. Sleep. 2007;30(3):320–324.
- Fleury M, Le Valliant M, Pelletier-Fleury N; IRSR sleep cohort group. Sodoeconomic status: A barrier to access to mandbular advancement device therapy for patients with obstructive sleep apnea syndrome in France. PLoS One. 2015; 10(9):e0138689.
- Johal A, Agha B. Ready-made versus custom-made mand bular advancement appliances in obstructive sleep apnea: A systematic review and meta-analysis. J Sleep Res. 2018;27(6):e12660.
- Broström A, Stömberg A, Mårtensson J, Ulander M, Harder L, Svanborg E. Association of Type D personality to perceived side effects and adherence in CPAP-treated patients with OSAS. J Sleep Res. 2007;16(4):439–447.

- Schwarzer R, Luszczynska A. How to overcome health-compromising behaviors: The health action process approach. Eur Psychologist. 2008;13(2): 141–151.
- Chewin RD, Theut S, Bassetti C, Aldrich MS. Compliance with nasal CPAP can be improved by simple interventions. Skep. 1997;20(4): 284–289.
- Hui DS, Chan JK, Choy DK, et al. Effects of augmented continuous positive airway pressure education and support on compliance and outcome in a Chinese population. Chest. 2000; 117(5):1410–1416.
- Askland K, Wright L, Wozniak DR, Emmanuel T, Caston J, Smith I. Educational, supportive and behavioural intreventions to improve usage of continuous positive always pressure machines in adults with obstuctive sleep apnoea. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews. 2020 (4).

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Author contributions: All authors were responsible for data collection, analysis, and interpretation as well as final manuscript preparation and approval.

#### SUBMISSION & CORRESPONDENCE INFORMATION

#### Submitted for publication September 23, 2020

Submitted in final revised form February 1, 2021 Accepted for publication February 1, 2021

Address correspondence to: Ama Johal, PhD, Department of Oral Bioengineering, Institute of Dentistry, Queen Mary University of London, Turner Street, London, E1 2AD, UK; Tel: +44 20 7882 8651; Email: a.sjohal@qmul.ac.uk

#### DISCLOSURE STATEMENT

All authors have seen and approved the manuscript. Work for this study was performed at the Department of Oral Bioengineering, Institute of Dentistry, Queen Mary University of London, London, UK. The systematic review is part of a PhD program that is university sponsored. The authors Prof. Ama Johal and Prof. Padhraig S. Fleming are salarted employees of the Centre for Oral Bioengineering, Queen Mary University of London, and Prof Tim Newton of the Department of Population and Patent Health, King's College London. The authors report no conflicts of interest. North West - Greater Manchester West Research Ethics Committee Barlow House 3rd Floor

3rd Floor 4 Minshull Street Manchester M1 3DZ

Telephone: 0207 104 8021

19 August 2019

Professor Ama Johal Queen Mary University of London Office 6, 4th Floor, Barts and The London School of Medicine and Dentistry Institute of Dentistry, Queen Mary University of London, Turner Street E1 2AD

Dear Professor Johal

 Study title:
 Intervention to enhance adherence to Mandibular advancement appliance in Patients with Obstructive Sleep Apnoea: A Randomized Control Trial

 REC reference:
 19/NW/0391

 Protocol number:
 [##IfProtocolRef##]

 IRAS project ID:
 262092

Thank you for your submission, responding to the Committee's request for further information on the above research and submitting revised documentation.

The further information has been considered on behalf of the Committee by the Vice-Chair.

#### Confirmation of ethical opinion

On behalf of the Committee, I am pleased to confirm a favourable ethical opinion for the above research on the basis described in the application form, protocol and supporting documentation as revised, subject to the conditions specified below.

#### Conditions of the favourable opinion

The REC favourable opinion is subject to the following conditions being met prior to the start of the study.

<u>Confirmation of Capacity and Capability (in England, Northern Ireland and Wales) or NHS</u> <u>management permission (in Scotland) should be sought from all NHS organisations involved in</u> <u>the study in accordance with NHS research governance arrangements.</u> Each NHS organisation must confirm through the signing of agreements and/or other documents that it has given permission for the research to proceed (except where explicitly specified otherwise).

Guidance on applying for HRA and HCRW Approval (England and Wales)/ NHS permission for research is available in the Integrated Research Application System.

For non-NHS sites, site management permission should be obtained in accordance with the procedures of the relevant host organisation.

Sponsors are not required to notify the Committee of management permissions from host

#### organisations

#### Registration of Clinical Trials

It is a condition of the REC favourable opinion that all clinical trials are registered on a publicly accessible database. For this purpose, clinical trials are defined as the first four project categories in IRAS project filter question 2. For <u>clinical trials of investigational medicinal products</u> (<u>CTIMPs</u>), other than adult phase I trials, registration is a legal requirement.

Registration should take place as early as possible and within six weeks of recruiting the first research participant at the latest. Failure to register is a breach of these approval conditions, unless a deferral has been agreed by or on behalf of the Research Ethics Committee ( see here for more information on requesting a deferral: <a href="https://www.hra.nhs.uk/planning-and-improving-research/research-planning/research-registration-research-project-identifiers/">https://www.hra.nhs.uk/planning-and-improving-research/research-project-identifiers/</a>

As set out in the UK Policy Framework, research sponsors are responsible for making information about research publicly available before it starts e.g. by registering the research project on a publicly accessible register. Further guidance on registration is available at: <a href="https://www.hra.nhs.uk/planning-and-improving-research/research-planning/transparency-responsibilities/">https://www.hra.nhs.uk/planning-and-improving-research/research-planning/transparency-responsibilities/</a>

You should notify the REC of the registration details. We will audit these as part of the annual progress reporting process.

It is the responsibility of the sponsor to ensure that all the conditions are complied with before the start of the study or its initiation at a particular site (as applicable).

#### After ethical review: Reporting requirements

The attached document "After ethical review – guidance for researchers" gives detailed guidance on reporting requirements for studies with a favourable opinion, including:

- Notifying substantial amendments
- Adding new sites and investigators
- Notification of serious breaches of the protocol
- Progress and safety reports
- Notifying the end of the study, including early termination of the study
- Final report

The latest guidance on these topics can be found at <u>https://www.hra.nhs.uk/approvals-amendments/managing-your-approval/</u>.

#### Ethical review of research sites

#### NHS/HSC sites

The favourable opinion applies to all NHS/HSC sites listed in the application subject to confirmation of Capacity and Capability (in England, Northern Ireland and Wales) or management permission (in Scotland) being obtained from the NHS/HSC R&D office prior to the start of the study (see "Conditions of the favourable opinion" below).

#### Non-NHS/HSC sites

I am pleased to confirm that the favourable opinion applies to any non-NHS/HSC sites listed in the application, subject to site management permission being obtained prior to the start of the study at the site.

#### Approved documents

The final list of documents reviewed and approved by the Committee is as follows:

Document	Version	Date
Evidence of Sponsor insurance or indemnity (non NHS Sponsors only)		27 July 2018
IRAS Application Form [IRAS_Form_28052019]		28 May 2019
IRAS Application Form XML file [IRAS_Form_28052019]		28 May 2019
IRAS Checklist XML [Checklist_28052019]		28 May 2019
Letter from sponsor		09 May 2019
Other [Daily Sleep log]	2	22 July 2019
Other [Topic Guide ]	2	22 July 2019
Other [Health Pamphlet]	2	22 July 2019
Other [Response to REC, HRA and HCRW assessments]		
Participant consent form [Consent form]	2	22 July 2019
Participant consent form [Consent form for Partner ]	01	04 February 2019
Participant consent form [Participant Consent form for One-to- one Interview]	1	22 July 2019
Participant information sheet (PIS) [PIS]	2	22 July 2019
Participant information sheet (PIS) [PIS for One-to-One interview]	1	22 July 2019
Participant information sheet (PIS) [Information sheet for Partner]	1.0	04 February 2019
Referee's report or other scientific critique report		19 February 2019
Research protocol or project proposal [Study protocol]	2	22 July 2019
Summary CV for Chief Investigator (CI) [CI's CV]	1	04 February 2019
Summary CV for student [Research Student CV]	1	04 February 2019
Validated questionnaire [SEMA]		
Validated questionnaire [EQ-5D]		
Validated questionnaire [SES]		
Validated questionnaire [SSQ]		
Validated questionnaire [ESS]	2	22 July 2019

#### Statement of compliance

The Committee is constituted in accordance with the Governance Arrangements for Research Ethics Committees and complies fully with the Standard Operating Procedures for Research Ethics Committees in the UK.

#### User Feedback

The Health Research Authority is continually striving to provide a high quality service to all applicants and sponsors. You are invited to give your view of the service you have received and the application procedure. If you wish to make your views known please use the feedback form available on the HRA website: <u>http://www.hra.nhs.uk/about-the-hra/governance/guality-assurance/</u>



North West - Greater Manchester West Research Ethics Committee

Barlow House 3rd Floor 4 Minshull Street Manchester M1 3DZ

Tel: 02071048285

11 February 2020

Dr. Harishri Tallamraju Ph.D. Student Queen Mary University of London Office 2, 4th Floor The Royal London Dental Hospital Turner Street E1 2AD

Dear Dr. Tallamraju

Study title:	Intervention to enhance adherence to Mandibular advancement appliance in Patients with Obstructive Sleep Apnoea: A Randomized Control Trial
REC reference:	19/NW/0391
Amendment number:	Amendment no. 1
Amendment date:	04 December 2019
IRAS project ID:	262092

The above amendment was reviewed by the Sub-Committee in correspondence.

#### Ethical opinion

The members of the Committee taking part in the review gave a favourable ethical opinion of the amendment on the basis described in the notice of amendment form and supporting documentation.

#### Approved documents

The documents reviewed and approved at the meeting were:

Document	Version	Date
Covering letter on headed paper		06 January 2020
Notice of Substantial Amendment (non-CTIMP)	Amendment no. 1	04 December 2019
Participant information sheet (PIS) [Patient Information Leaflet]	V3	04 December 2019
Research protocol or project proposal [Study Protocol]	V4	31 January 2020

## Appendix 4 Published protocol of the randomised clinical trial

Tallamraju et al. Trials (2021) 22:699 https://doi.org/10.1186/s13063-021-05582-1

#### STUDY PROTOCOL

Intervention to enhance adherence to mandibular advancement appliance in patients with obstructive sleep apnoea: study protocol for a randomised clinical trial

Harishri Tallamraju1\*0, J. Tim Newton2, Padhraig S. Fleming1 and Ama Johal1

#### Abstract

**Background:** Obstructive sleep apnoea (OSA) is a sleep-related breathing disorder characterised by the repeated episodic collapse of the upper airway during sleep, resulting in sleep deprivation, giving rise to apnoeas and hypopnoeas. Based on the severity of OSA, there are two primary treatment modalities, continuous positive airway pressure (CPAP) and mandibular advancement appliances (MAA); both are adherence-dependent. MAA is offered to those with mild to moderate OSA and is prescribed as an alternative to patients intolerable to CPAP. However, adherence to MAA treatment is variable and declines over time. Hence, the current study aims to assess the effectiveness of the stage-matched intervention, the Health Action Process Approach (HAPA), on adherence to MAA in patients with OSA.

Methods: A single-centre randomised clinical trial will be undertaken at Bart's Health NHS Trust. Fifty-six participants with newly diagnosed OSA are planned to be enrolled in the study and randomised to intervention care (IC) and standardised care (SC) groups. Participants in the SC group will receive routine care whilst participants in the IC group will receive the stage-matched intervention, developed using the HAPA model. Data indicating MAA adherence will be collected both objectively and subjectively, from micro-sensors embedded in the MAA design and sleep diaries, respectively at 3, 6, 18 and 36 months. In addition, a range of questionnaires designed to assess risk perception, outcome expectancy, and self-efficacy (SEMSA) and quality of sleep (PSQI and ESS) and life (EQ-5DL), socio-economic and social support scales will be used.

**Discussion:** The currently available treatments for obstructive sleep apnoea depend entirely on the patient's acceptance and use. There are several factors that affect cooperation and wear for example patients' awareness of their condition, social support and psychological behaviour. In addition, mood, such as anxiety, stress, and depression, may affect wear. At the same time, we know that interventions involving more education and behaviour approaches can help patients adapt more easily to some treatments. As a result, the present trial aims to explore the potential role of these factors to maximise treatment success and minimise side effects.

Full list of author information is available at the end of the article



@ The Author(s), 2021 Open Access: This article is learned under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License, which permits use, sharing, adaptation, distribution and reproduction in any medium or format, as long as you give appropriate credit to the original author(s) and the source, provide a link to the Creative Commons Incence, and indicate if changes were made. The images or other third party material in this article are included in the article's Creative Commons learnes, unless indicated otherwise in a credit line to the material. If material is not included in the article's Creative Commons learnes, learnes quies indicated otherwise in a credit line to the material. If material is not included in the article's Creative Commons learnes quies indicated otherwise in a credit line to the material. If material is not included in the article's Oreative Commons learnes quies indicated otherwise in a credit line to the material. If material is not included in the article's Oreative Commons learnes quies indicated otherwise in a credit line to the material. The transfer of the Common set of the Common set of the common set of the class of the

## Trials

Check for

**Open Access** 

Correspondence: h.tallamraju@qmul.ac.uk

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Centre of Oral Bioengineering, Institute of Dentistry, Queen Mary University of London, Turner Street, London E1 2AD, UK

Trial registration: ClinicalTrialsgov NCT04092660. Registered on September 6, 2019

Keywords: Obstructive sleep apnoea, Mandibular advancement appliance, Patient adherence, Health Action Process Approach, Staged-matched intervention

#### Administrative information

The order of the items has been modified to group similar items (see http://www.equator-network.org/ reporting-guidelines/spirit-2013-statement-definingstandard-protocol-items-for-clinical-trials/).

Title { 1}	Intervention to enhance adherence to mandibular advancement appliance in patients with obstructive sleep apnoea: study protocol for a randomised dinical trial (POSAT)
Trial registration {2a and 2b}.	Clinicaltrials.gov ID NCT04092660 (9/13/ 2019)
Protocol version {3}	Vesion 04, 31.01.2020
Funding {4}	Self-funded
Author details {5a}	Harishri Tallamaju (HT): Research student Prof J Tim Newton (JTN): Research supervisor Prof Padhraig S. Fleming (PSF): Research supervisor Prof Ama Johal (AJ): Chief Investigator and Research supervisor
Name and contact information for the trial sponsor {5b}	Queen Mary, University of London Contact person: Dr. Mays Jawad Research & Development Governance Operations Manager Joint Research Management Office 5 Walden Street London E1 2EF Phone: 020 7882 7275/6574 Email: research.governance@.gmul.ac.uk
Rale of spansor (54)	Data management Record retention and Archiving Monitoring and Auditing Insurance and Indemnity

#### Introduction

#### Background and rationale (6a)

Obstructive sleep apnoea (OSA) is a sleep-related breathing disorder characterised by the repeated episodic collapse of the upper airway during sleep, resulting in sleep deprivation, giving rise to apnoeas and hypopnoeas [1].

OSA is the third most common respiratory disorder in the UK, affecting up to 10% of middle-aged adults [2, 3]. Severe long-term effects of this disease include excessive daytime sleepiness, cognitive dysfunction, hypertension, impaired quality of life, and increased cardiovascular morbidity and mortality [4]. An overnight skeep study is required to establish a diagnosis of OSA and provides the apnoea-hypopnoea index (AHI), which is the sum of the average number of apnoea (complete airflow cessation) and hypopnoea (partial airflow cessation) events per hour of skeep. The AHI has been classified into the following severity grades: mild (5–15), moderate (16–30) and severe (> 30) [5].

Based on the severity of OSA, there are two primary treatment modalities- continuous positive airway pressure (CPAP) and Mandibular advancement appliance (MAA) [6, 7]. CPAP is prescribed to those suffering from moderate to severe OSA. MAA is offered to those with mild to moderate OSA and is the alternative option for patients who cannot tolerate CPAP therapy [8]. It was noted that MAA reduces daytime sleepiness and improves the AHI by protruding the mandible and thereby maintaining an open pharyngeal airway [9]. However, studies have consistently demonstrated that CPAP is more effective than MAA at reducing sleep-disordered breathing and achieving complete control of OSA (AHI < 5) [10]. Despite the greater effect of CPAP on objective polysomnographic parameter (AHI), it does not appear to be more effective at achieving better health outcomes. It seems that the higher efficacy of CPAP is offset by greater MAA adherence. Phillips et al. (2013) showed that CPAP and MAA achieved similar improvements in excessive daytime sleepiness and quality of life. Average MAA adherence was 6.5 h/night compared to 5.2 for CPAP (p < 0.0001). These findings are consistent with the results of a recent systematic review and meta-analysis [11]. The meta-analysis presented that adherence was significantly lower with CPAP than MAA by 1.1 h per night (p = 0.004).

Although initial subjective treatment adherence to MAA therapy is relatively high, it is declining over time. A phone-based survey of 69 patients with mild to moderate OSA prescribed MAA, reported a 32% adherence rate after 4 years of therapy, indicating a high level of non-adherence [12]. The study also suggested the prevention of barriers, associated with MAA therapy adherence, to improve the efficiency of the appliance and disease outcome. In a systematic review, Hoffstein et al. (2007) reported a wide range of (4–76%) adherence rates in the first year of appliance use and further studies have highlighted that adherence decreases with time [13]: 83% after 1 year [14] and 62–64% after 4–6 year [15, 16].

MAA adherence might differ depending on the type of the appliance, custom-made or ready-made, disease severity, and perhaps patient management [17]. In a recent systematic review, patient-reported adherence (6.4–7 nights per week and 5–6.3 h per night) and preference ( $p \le 0.001$ ) were strongly associated to custom-made MAA in comparison to ready-made MAA [18]. Subjective side effects such as dry mouth, excessive salivation, tooth discomfort, muscle tenderness, and jaw stiffness, have never lead to treatment discontinuation [19–22]. In addition, tooth movement and occlusal changes have been seen in objective measurements after 1 to 4 years of follow-up, but these changes have not been reported as being related to treatment withdrawal [23–27].

Dieltjens et al. (2013) were the first to investigate the impact of type D personality disorder on adherence to MAA therapy. Individuals with Type-D personality often possess a negative outlook towards life and are overwhelmed with emotions such as stress, anxiety, and anger. The study assessed 113 patients using two questionnaires: type D scale 14 and a postal questionnaire addressing side effects and adherence to MAA. The study included 83 patients with a baseline type D personality and reported a 45% non-adherence rate amongst them [14]. Patients with a type D personality had a higher discontinuation rate and lower adherence. These findings are in agreement with similar observations reported by Brostrom et al. (2007) in regards to lower CPAP adherence with type D personality [28]. Nevertheless, the study has some limitations. The first limitation of the study is the relatively small sample size (sample bias) and the non-meaningful comparison groups, which may reduce the generalisability of the findings. The second limitation is the subjective assessment of adherence and perceived side-effects rather than employing objective means of adherence measurements. A further limitation is that the characteristic negative reporting trait of the type D patients may cause them to overestimate their non-adherence [14].

Research shows that adoption of a new health behaviour, like a new physical activity routine or adhering to a prescribed medication regimen, is a challenging endeavour involving a variety of social, emotional, and cognitive factors [29]. A multicentre study examined perceived effectiveness, self-efficacy and social support among 122 adult patients with OSA aged ≥ 65 years prescribed for MAA therapy [30]. With a 30% response rate (n = 39), the study reported low rates of perceived effectiveness, self-efficacy and social support highlighting the lack of self-efficacy, expectations for positive outcomes and social support experienced by the older patients in the sample. These findings are debatable as literature has identified psychological and social factors and cognitive perceptions as determinants of CPAP adherence, including patients' risk perceptions, treatment outcome expectations, locus of control, and self-efficacy [31-33]. Another possible limitation of the study is that the questionnaires were mailed to the participants, who were only contacted once by the authors explaining the poor response rate. As a result, further research involving larger samples of men and women incorporating modes, which increase the response rate, is necessary to gain a better understanding of the patient's perception of MAA therapy. In turn, this understanding could be implemented for the development of interventions enhancing patient's adherence and experience to MAA treatment.

Interestingly, previous studies in the field of Sleep Medicine have featured an aspect of enhanced patient education ranging from telephone support to home visits, motivational enhancement, or augmented support [34, 35], which have been proven to effectively improve CPAP adherence when compared to usual care. Bakker et al. (2016) conducted a randomised controlled trial of CPAP use, with motivational enhancement (ME) or CPAP only in 83 participants, with moderate to severe OSA. The trial demonstrated a clinically significant increase in CPAP adherence in the intervention arm (CPAP with ME), supporting the use of a motivational enhancement approach to optimise the management of OSA [36].

A recent Cochrane review has also emphasised the efficiency of interventions in enhancing adherence to CPAP by stating that educational, supportive and behavioural interventions increase CPAP usage to varying degrees [37]. Stage theories such as the Health Action Process Approach (HAPA), a social cognition model for behaviour change, can be used to identify factors to target in an intervention and their interrelationships. The model-based approach often uses a quantitative, question naire-based approach to assess a small set of factors linked within a model specifying how the factors are related to behaviour and to one another. It includes self-efficacy, outcome expectancies, and riskperception as distal predictors, intention as a middlelevel mediator, and volitional factors (such as action planning) as the most proximal predictors of behaviour. All are considered as determinants of adherence in CPAP therapy [38, 39].

A number of randomised controlled trials within medicine have examined the concept of stage-matched interventions based on HAPA, for example in the context of dietary behaviours [40], physical activity [41] and dental hygiene [42]. In order to investigate the efficiency of interventions on CPAP adherence, 110 OSA (AHI  $\geq$ 15 events/h) patients were randomly assigned into staged-match intervention care (SMC) and standardised care (SC) groups [4]. The staged-match intervention care design, following the principles of HAPA, significantly improved CPAP adherence whilst facilitating intention formation and enhancing treatment self-efficacy. Although the evidence for stage theories is somewhat inconsistent, a meta-analysis [43] suggests that tailoring interventions to behavioural stages is more effective than a generic, nonstaged-tailored approach.

The above stage theory advocates that behaviour intervention takes account of the stages of change. Individuals are presumed to progress through an ordered set of stages whilst contemplating, initiating, and maintaining health behaviour change [44]. Risk perception is an antecedent, that forms an intention to adopt a precautionary action or treatment [4]. After a treatment intention develops, it transforms into detailed action plans and these plans may promote moving further into action and/or a maintenance stage [45] implies that understanding behaviour change over time, on dynamic variables instead of static variables, would achieve maximum intervention effectiveness [4]. This feature differentiates stage theories from social cognition theories, such as the theory of planned behaviour (TPB), which interpret behaviour change as a continuous process.

The approach also recommends a distinction between pre-intentional motivational processes and postintentional volitional processes [42]. The motivational phase comprises of growing risk perception and outcome expectancies, leading to the development of an intention. Although risk perception is the initial step for developing an intention, it alone is deficient and outcome expectancies, characterised by the advantages and disadvantages of the health behaviour in context are essential to promote intention formation. For example, the more a patient feels vulnerable to the possible health threats of long-term untreated OSA (hypertension, cardiovascular diseases), the more he or she will expect from the MAA therapy.

In the volitional phase, Intention and behaviour implementation (adherence to MAA) would be mediated through action planning [46]. Action planning consists of specifying when, where and how to perform the behaviour [47]. Self-efficacy is an important construct to consider for behaviour change [48] and facilitates maintenance of action [46]. For example, after a patient is provided MAA treatment, he or she would make concrete plans concerning the commencement and continuation of the treatment whilst overcoming the difficulties. Highly self-efficacious individuals are more confident in coping with setbacks and easily tackle unanticipated difficulties, as opposed to individuals with low self-efficacy (Bandura, 1997). Since patients with OSA experience different mindsets from initiation to long-term adherence, it is imperative to frame interventions to optimise adherence, tailor-made to the patients' specific psychological variables at different stages of therapy [4].

In summary, research on increasing adherence to mandibular advancement appliances in obstructive sleep apnoea patients in underrepresented, which is in sharp contrast to the literature regarding CPAP adherence. Thus, we aim to address this shortfall by identifying the factors influencing adherence to MAA in patients with OSA and simultaneously assess the effectiveness of stage theories/stage-matched intervention on subjective and objective adherence, using the HAPA model.

#### Objectives (7) Primary objective

Aims and research questions The aim and primary outcome of this study is as follows:

 To assess the effectiveness of stage-matched intervention on adherence to mandibular advancement appliances (MAA) in patients with obstructive sleep apnoea (OSA).

Secondary objectives The secondary outcomes are as follows:

- To identify the psychosocial and socio-economic indicators enhancing adherence of MAA in patients with OSA.
- Use of the indicators to develop a psychological and socio-economic predictor model.

Null hypothesis Stage-matched intervention does not enhance adherence to MAA in patients with OSA compared to standardised care.

#### Primary endpoint

Adherence i.e. the number of the hours the patient uses the appliance every night will be measured both objectively and subjectively at 3, 6, 18 and 36 months to assess the effectiveness of the interventions in enhancing adherence to MAA.

#### Secondary endpoint

Self-efficacy, risk perception, outcome expectancy, socioeconomic status and social support will be measured to assess the ability of these variables in predicting adherence.

#### Trial design (8)

This study is a single-centre, superiority, two-arm, parallel-group, individually randomised clinical trial, with 1:1 allocation, designed to test the effectiveness of stage-matched intervention in enhancing patient adherence to MAA therapy in patients with OSA. In addition, we plan to recruit patients with a confirmed OSA diagnosis, specifically referred for MAA therapy from secondary care.

Ethical approval was obtained from the Greater Manchester West Research ethics committee (REC ref: 19/LO/0972 and 19/NW/0391). Patients meeting the eligibility criteria will be provided with a patient information leaflet explaining the whole study. Interested patients will be asked to sign the informed consent, after which they will be randomly assigned into two groups- intervention care (IC) and standardised care (SC). Only the investigator and chief investigator (CI) will be aware of the participant's allocation.

Participants will be provided with a sleep diary (Additional file 1) to record their hours of sleep and MAA wear-time, which will give a subjective record of the adherence (duration of usage of MAA). The Thera-Mon\*, a micro-sensor included in the MAA design, will be used for the objective documentation of MAA adherence. TheraMon\* calculates the actual wear time by measuring temperature every 15 min and then transforms this information into wear time when the temperature ranges between two specific values. In the present study, this range is defined as 28°C to 38°C, which includes the vast majority of intraoral temperature values observed in an individual under normal conditions.

At baseline (T0), part of the routine dinical subject demographics to be collected will include age, gender, body mass index (BMI), and neck circumference. The AHI will also be recorded during the initial screening. Following an oral examination, upper and lower alginate impressions will be taken along with the participant's bite. In addition, participants will be asked to complete the following questionnaires at T (0):

- Epworth Sleepiness Scale (ESS)
- Self-efficacy measure for sleep apnoea (SEMSA) modified for oral appliance
- Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index (PSQI)
- EuroQol-5 Dimension (EQ-5D)
- · Socio-economic position questionnaire
- Social support scale

The above questionnaires will provide information concerning the participant's daytime sleepiness, personality, quality of sleep, health-related quality of life, socio-economic status and social support, respectively.

At pre-treatment T(1), participants will undergo the initial fitting of the MAA and be provided instruction on use and care.

Both IC and SC groups will be called for follow-up at 3 (T2), 6 (T3), 18 (T4) and 36 (T5) months. Any problems that the patients might be experiencing regarding MAA use will be attended to at these appointments. In addition, data indicating adherence will be collected and evaluated at the appointments both subjectively and objectively by downloading the data from the sensor using dedicated software.

Furthermore, at T(2), participants will be asked to complete the SEMSA questionnaire, whilst at T(3), participants will need to complete the ESS, SEMSA, PSQI and EQ-5D questionnaires.

One-to-one interviews will be conducted 6 months into treatment with both (n = 5-10) compliant and noncompliant patients. It will comprise of questions, which will address the following topics:

- · Patient's awareness of risks and benefits of OSA
- Barriers and facilitators of MAA therapy
- The interviews will be conducted face-to-face, recorded, and transcribed by a third-party service (Essential secretary Ltd., UK). However, due to the COVID-19 pandemic, the interviews will take place online (Microsoft\* Teams or Zoom cloud meetings) to ensure the participant's safety. Although, if the participant is comfortable travelling, the interview can be carried out in a private seminar room. Inductive content analysis will be employed to describe the experiences of OSA and MAA therapy of compliant and non-compliant patients without imposing preconceived categories and names of categories to evolve from the data [49].

#### Methods: Participants, interventions and outcomes

#### Study setting {9}

The study will be undertaken at the Royal London Dental Hospital, Bart's Health NHS Trust in line with the CONSORT guidelines.

#### Eligibility criteria (10) Inclusion criteria

- Adult (≥ 40 years old)
- Confirmed diagnosis of OSA (AHI ≥ 5)
- · Referred for MAA therapy
- Must be able to understand, read and write English; with the assistance of a translator

#### Exclusion criteria

- Insufficient teeth for MAA fabrication
- Poor dental or periodontal health
- Symptomatic temporomandibular disorder (TMD)
- Previously used an MAA
- Patients with uncontrolled epilepsy

#### Who will take informed consent? {26a}

In line with standard care, patients will be provided information regarding the study via a Participant Information sheet and what will happen to them if they agree to participate. Once the patients have agreed to participate, the research student (HT) will take written informed consent from the participants.

#### Additional consent provisions for collection and use of participant data and biological specimens {26b}

Not applicable

#### Interventions

#### Explanation for the choice of comparators (6b)

Participants in the SC group will receive the MAA and the routine care except for the staged-matched intervention.

#### Intervention description {11a}

Participants in the IC group will receive additional support in the form of behaviour change intervention. The behaviour change intervention based on the HAPA model entails delivering interventions in a staged manner. The interventions that will be provided are described in Table 1, along with the time point (Table 2).

#### Criteria for discontinuing or modifying allocated interventions (11b)

As we are comparing the benefits of supportive information on participant's use of a standard treatment undertaken by NHS, we do not see any specific criteria for discontinuing or modifying allocated interventions.

#### Strategies to improve adherence to interventions {11c}

The study specifically aims to enhance MAA therapy adherence in patients with OSA. The strategies employed to improve adherence to the intervention i.e. the MAA therapy have been designed on the principles on the behaviour change model, HAPA. These strategies are described in detailed in Table 1.

#### Relevant concomitant care permitted or prohibited during the trial {11d}

No relevant concomitant care is prohibited during the trial.

#### Provisions for post-trial care (30)

Mandibular advancement therapy will continue for all patients post the trial.

#### Outcomes {12}

#### Primary outcome

Adherence i.e. the number of hours the patient uses their appliance every night will be measured both objectively and subjectively at 3, 6, 18 and 36 months to assess the effectiveness of the interventions in enhancing adherence to MAA.

#### Secondary outcome

Self-efficacy, risk perception, outcome expectancy, socioeconomic status and social support will be measured to assess the ability of these variables in predicting adherence

#### Participant timeline {13}

The participant timeline is found in Table 3.

#### Study scheme diagram

The study scheme diagram is found in Fig. 1.

#### Sample size {14}

A minimum sample size of 56 patients distributed in two groups is proposed for given  $\alpha$  (0.01) and power (0.9), for 2 randomly assigned groups, intervention care (n = 28), standard care group (n = 28). Finally, assuming a maximum of 15% dropout, a total number of 64 patients is required.

#### Recruitment {15}

As part of the routine care for patients presenting with sleep disordered breathing, they are all diagnosed with OSA, on the basis of an overnight sleep study, performed in sleep clinics. Patients requiring mandibular advancement appliance (MAA) therapy are then referred to specific dental sleep clinics for treatment, as part of a multi-disciplinary approach to care. We plan to recruit potential patients, with a confirmed diagnosis of OSA, that are specifically referred for MAA therapy to Barts' Health NHS Trust.

#### Assignment of interventions: allocation Sequence generation (16a)

A simple computer-generated randomisation method will be performed using a restricted (10-number block) random number sequence (www.graphpad.com/ quickcalcs/randomn2.cfm) to ensure equivalence of numbers in each group. Participants will be stratified by OSA severity. In every 10-number block from the random table, the sequence will be checked to ensure the even numbers are equal to the odd numbers. Each number in the random table will be given a study number and assigned into one of the study groups.

#### Concealment mechanism (16b)

A table for the allocation of the participants in the study will be composed and kept in a sealed opaque envelope by the CL

All the documents related to the randomisation, and allocation sequence generation will be kept in a box in a

Time Point	Intervention component	Behaviour change technique	HAPA construct targeted	Content			
T(1)	Pamphlet	Information about consequences	Risk perception and outcome expectancy	The health pamphlet (Additional file 1), based on HAPA, divided into 6 sections, systematically provides information about the risk, benefits and treatment of OSA. Section 2 and 4 of the pamphlets provides spaces for the participants to discuss about risks and benefits that concern them the most. Section 3 explains the various treatments available and a brief evolunation of the mechanism of the treatment.			
		Action planning	Task self-efficacy	Sections 5 and 6 provide valuable information for participants			
		Goal setting	Task self-ellicacy	on how to begin with using the appliance and to continue			
		Problem-solving		struggle at time when starting a new habit and setting short-			
		Social support (unspecified)		term attainable goals will aid them in their struggles to adjust. The section suggests participants to seek feedback from their family, especially their sleeping partner regarding their im- provement. This type of support motivates the patient to work more towards achieving their goals.			
		Self-reward	Coping and recovery self- efficacy	In section 6, participants are told about the importance of rewarding themselves about the effort they put in to achieve their goals.			
		Relapse prevention	Recovery self-efficacy	Section 6 also advises the participants to focus on the positives and think about situations that effect their capability and then about options to avoid/cope with these situations.			
T(1)	Video	Credible source	Risk perception, outcome	Patients will be shown a video [50] of an OSA patients who			
		Social comparison	coping self-efficacy	someone who is going through the same condition as him/			
		Information about the negative and positive consequences		her. The video consists of patients talking about how OSA effected their life and its negative consequences.			
		Demonstration of behaviour		The patients will also talk about what motivated them to start the treatment, how has it changed their life and what does they do to use the appliance regularly. It will also consist of a			
		Feedback on the behaviour		specialist in the field of OSA, briefly talking about the ill effects of untreated OSA and the specific oral appliance treatment available.			
		Social support (emotional and practical)					
T(1)	Counselling	Information about health consequences	Risk perception, outcome expectancy and task self-	Participants will be given an initial counselling session in person along with their partner if they wish. During the person along the during the full the set of the section of the sec			
		Social Support (unspecified and emotional)	efficacy	<ul> <li>Session i.e. structured to int the participants needs</li> <li>Their knowledge regarding OSA will be assessed</li> <li>The above video will be shown</li> </ul>			
		Verbal persuasion about capability		<ul> <li>Osing the information provided on the partipries the rais of untreated OSA and the benefits of the treatment will be discussed</li> <li>If the partner is present at the appointment, they will be asked to complete a section of the pre-screening questionnaire which is part of the routine dinical examination. In the questionnaire, the partner will also be asked to indicate their and the participant's quality of skep. In addition, the partner will also be asked to indicate the severity of the participant's snoring and whether it has an influence on their skep.</li> </ul>			
T(2), T(3), T(4) and T(5)	Follow up at sleep clinic	Monitoring the behaviour and the outcome	Coping and recovery self- efficacy	Participants would be required to visit the sleep clinic for follow up at morths 3 and 6. Their MAA usage will be assessed both objectively and subjectively by downloading the data from the micro-sensor chip embedded in the appliance and by recording the hours from their daily sleep log respectively.			
		Focus on past success and verbal persuasion about capability	Coping and recovery self- efficacy	Feedback would be provided depending on the participant's usage. Their planning sheets would be discussed, and appropriate feedback will be provided whilst encouraging them to set more active goals and plans.			

Table 1 Intervention care content specified by behaviour change techniques and linked to constructs of the HAPA model

Table 1	Intervention	care content	specified by	behaviour	change	techniques	and	linked to	constructs of th	e HAPA	model
(Continu	ued)										

Time Point	Intervention component	Behaviour change technique	HAPA construct targeted	Content			
		Social comparison	Coping and recovery self- efficacy	To increase their emotional support other patient's feedbacks and successful treatment would be shared.			
		Problem-solving	Coping and recovery self- efficacy	Additionally, participants will be prompted to identify common factors that act as barriers for them in using the appliance and will be helped to find solutions to overcome such factors tailored to the participants needs.			
3, 6, 18, and 21 weeks	Booster phone calls	Verbal persuasion about capability	Coping and recovery self- efficacy	Participants will receive calls at weeks 3, 6, 18 and 21 approximately 10–15 min in duration, prompting them to keep working towards their goals and stating that they are capable of achieving them.			
		Social support unspecified	Coping and recovery self- efficacy	Participant's partner's experience of the treatment will also be discussed by asking them to share their thoughts on the participant's improvement.			
		Problem-solving	Coping and recovery self- efficacy	Additionally, participants will be prompted to identify common factors that act as barriers for them in using the appliance and will be helped to find solutions to overcome such factors tailored to the participants needs.			

locked cabinet away from the clinical environments in the CI's office.

#### Implementation {16c}

Research student (Harishri Tallamraju)

#### Assignment of interventions: Blinding

#### Who will be blinded {17a}

Only the research student (HT) and CI will have access to the Master file and patient allocation. Patients will be anonymised and allocated a unique study number and the data then blinded to the statistician, for analysis.

#### Procedure for unblinding if needed {17b} Not applicable

#### Data collection and management

#### Plans for assessment and collection of outcomes {18a}

- Questionnaire responses
- Mandibular advancement appliance with an in-built sensor will be used to collect objectively measured adherence

#### Plans to promote participant retention and complete follow-up {18b}

Data concerning adherence will be retained.

#### Data management {19}

The data recorded in this study will be stored securely both physically and electronically. The data will be accessed at the Queen Mary University of London by the CI and research student only and will be password protected. The personal data of the participants will be securely held within the research facilities at the Queen Mary University of London, by the chief investigator. Data transfer for analysis will be undertaken in an anonymised form, using unique ID numbers and password-protected access.

#### Confidentiality (27)

Information related to participants will be kept confidential and managed in accordance with the Data Protection Act, NHS Caldecott Principles, The Research Governance Framework for Health and Social Care, and the conditions of Research Ethics Committee Approval

Plans for collection, laboratory evaluation and storage of biological specimens for genetic or molecular analysis in this trial/future use (33) Not applicable

#### Statistical methods

#### Statistical methods for primary and secondary outcomes {20a}

Both objective and subjective data of adherence i.e. duration of the usage of the appliance will be collected at 3, 6, 18 and 36 months will be analysed to assess the effectiveness of Intervention care in comparison with standardised care.

Comparison of pre- and post-treatment scores of ESS, SEMSA, PSQI, and EQ-5D, for both the groups, will aid in identifying significant differences in terms of improvement.

Time point	Intervention care group	Standardised care group • Questionnaires • ESS, SEMSA, PSQI, EQ-5D, Socio-economic position, Social Support scale			
TO (Baseline)	Questionnaires     ESS, SEMSA (Modified for Oral Appliance) PSQI, EQ-5D, Socio-Economic     Position and Social Support				
TI (Pre-treatment)	<ul> <li>Providing instruction about how to use the MAA</li> <li>Health pamphlet based on HAPA theory</li> <li>Assessment of knowledge of OSA and involvement of the partner in education</li> <li>A brief education focusing on the benefits associated with MAA</li> <li>10-min video education about OSA, emphasising the negative consequences if OSA is untreated</li> <li>Risk perception communication</li> <li>Setting Goals and action planning (steps to facilitate the use of MAA)</li> </ul>	Providing instruction about how to use the MAA     Health pamphlet about OSA and MAA			
12 (3 months into treatment)	Phone calls to be made at 3 and 6 weeks     Problem-solving     Evaluation of the patient and partner perception of treatment     Verbal encouragement     Setting attainable goals and action planning     Follow up at Sleep Clinic     Assessment of MAA use     Problem Solving     Verbal Encouragement     -Sharing other Patient's     Feedbacks and successful treatment experiences     Questionnaire     -SEMSA	Follow up at Sleep Clinic     Problem-solving     Assessment of MAA use     Questionnaires     SEMSA			
73 (6 months into treatment)	Phone calls to be made at 18 and 21 weeks     Problem-solving     Patner involvement in treatment and family support     Verbal encouragement     Setting attainable goals and action planning     Follow up at sleep clinic     Assessment of MAA use     Problem-solving     Verbal encouragement     Sharing other patient'sfeedbacks and successful treatment experiences     Questionnaires     ESS, SEMSA, PSQL (EQ-5D     One-to-one interviews	Follow up at Sleep Clinic     Problem-solving     Assessment of MAA use     Questionnaires     ESS, SEMSA, PSQI, EQ-5D     One-to-one Interviews			
T4 (18 months into treatment)	Assessment of MAA use	Assessment of MAA use			
T5 (36 months into treatment)	Assessment of MAA use	Assessment of MAA use			

#### Table 2 Intervention care and standardised care components

Statistically, evaluate the ability of the variables -selfefficacy, risk perception, outcome expectancy, social support and socio-economic position, to predict patient adherence at 3, 6, 18 and 36 months.

#### List of statistical procedures

Assuring random assignment to groups, for this purpose, we need to test whether the observations differ in any of the time zero measurements. Indifference means there is no allocation bias.

T-test for each of the variables between SC and IC

- 1. Risk perception
- 2. Outcome expectancy

- 3. Self-efficacy
- 4. ESS time zero
- 5. PSQI time zero
- 6. EQ5D time zero
- 7. Social support
- 8. Socio-economic (ordinal) chi-square test

In case of violation of the t test assumption (normality of the error term), Wilcoxon tests will be implemented.

#### Assessing the aims of the study

In order to assess the aims of the study, we will test each of the repeated measures first by themselves

#### Table 3 Schedule of assessment

Assessment	Baseline T0	Pre-treatment T1	3 months T2	6 months T3	18 months T4	36 months T5
Questionnaires						
Epworth Sleepiness Scale (ESS)	х			х		
Self-Efficacy Measure for Sleep Apnea	х		х	х		
(SEMSA)				х		
Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index (PSQI)	х			х		
EQ-5D	х					
Socio-Economic Questionnaire	х					
Social Support Questionnaire	х					
Age	х					
Gender	х					
Body mass index (BMI)	х					
Neck circumference	х					
Objective measure of adherence			х	х	х	х
Subjective measure of adherence			х	х	х	х
One-to-one interviews				х		

using a repeated measures ANOVA controlling for groups:

- Adherence reported, times 3, 6, 18, 36 difference 3-6, 6-18, 18-36
- Adherence objective, times 3, 6, 18, 36 difference 3–6, 6–18, 18–36
- 3. ESS, time 6, difference 0-6
- 4. PSQI, time 6, difference 0-6
- 5. EQ5D, time 6, difference 0-6
- Risk perception, times 3, 6, difference 0–3, 0–6, 3–6
   Outcome expectancy, times 3, 6, difference 0–3,
- 0-6, 3-6 8. Self-efficacy, times 3, 6, difference 0-3, difference 0-6, 3-6

Once we understand the trends in the data, we can construct multiple regressions for Adherence variables. These can be the final measures from time 6 or the differences between them and previous times, 0 or 3. In these models, we will use the Psychosocial variables and socio-economic as predictors, beyond the group classification.

#### Interim analyses {21b}

The Cl will make the final decision to terminate the trial.

#### Methods for additional analyses (e.g. subgroup analyses) (20b)

Not applicable

#### Methods in analysis to handle protocol non-adherence and any statistical methods to handle missing data (20c)

All randomised participants will be included in the main analyses. An intention-to-treat analysis will be carried out relating to any protocol non-adherence or dropouts. However, due to the nature of the trial very few dropouts are anticipated. Nevertheless, sensitivity analysis will be performed for any of the missing data.

Plans to give access to the full protocol, participant leveldata and statistical code (31c) Not applicable

#### Oversight and monitoring

Composition of the coordinating centre and trial steering committee [5d] Not applicable

#### Composition of the data monitoring committee, its role and reporting structure {21a}

The data recorded in this study will be stored securely both physically and electronically. The data will be analyzed in the Queen Mary, University of London by the CI of the research student. The data will be password protected and the only the CI and the research student will have full access. The personal data of the participants will be securely held within the research facilities at the Queen Mary, University of London, by the chief investigator.

#### Tallamraju et al. Trials (2021) 22:699



#### Adverse event reporting and harms {22}

We expect no adverse events in the study, as it is questionnaire-based and relates to routine clinical care of MAA therapy in relation to OSA management.

#### Frequency and plans for auditing trial conduct {23}

The sponsor or delegate retains the right to audit any study, study site or central facility. In addition, the funders may audit any part of the study where applicable.

#### Plans for communicating important protocol amendments to relevant parties (e.g. trial participants, ethical committees) {25}

Any protocol amendments will be communicated to the sponsor (Joint Research Management Office), the relevant research ethics committee and to the study participants.

#### Dissemination plans (31a)

It is intended that the results of the research would be presented at conferences or organising/attending workshops. In addition, the results will be published in a peer-review journal.

#### Discussion

Not applicable

#### **Trial status**

Protocol version 04, Dated: 31/01/2020 Date recruitment began: December 2019

Approximate date of recruitment completion: September

2021

#### Abbreviations

AHI: Apnoea/Hypopnoea index; Cl: Chief investigator; BMI: Body mass index; CPAP. Continuous positive airway pressure; ESS: Epworth Sleepiness Scale; EQ-SD: EuroQoI-S Dimension; HAPA: Health Action Process Approach; EQSUE EuroQoli-S Unitension; INVA: Inealm Action Process Approach; IC: Intervention care; MAX: Mandbular advancement appliance; OSA Obstructive skeep aproace; PSQ: Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index QUIPS: Quality in prognosis studies; SEMSA: Self-efficacy measure for sleep aproace; SC Standardsed care; TO: Baseline; T1: Pre-treatment; T2: 3-month follow-up observation; T3: 6-month follow-up observation; T4: 18-month follow-up observation; T5: 36-month follow-up observation

#### Supplementary Information

ary material available at https://doi. ains supple drg/10.1186A13063-021-05582-1

#### Additional file 1.

Advowledgements Not applicable

#### Authors' contributions

HT and AJ conceived the study, contributed in its design and development of the original protocol. AI, PSF and JTN are research supervisors for HT. AL, PSF and TN have reviewed and advised on the final study protocol. HT and AJ will participate in data collection. HT wrote the first draft of the manuscript, with principle edits by AJ. All authors read, edited and approved the final manuscript.

Funding

Salffundad

Availability of data and materials Not applicable

#### Declarations

Ethics approval and consent to participate Ethical approval was obtained from the Greater Manchester West Research ethics committee (REC ref. 19/LQ/0972 & 19/NW0391). Written, informed consent to participate will be obtained from all participants.

#### Consent for publication

Not applicable

#### Competing interests

The authors declare that they have no competing interests.

#### Author details

"Centre of Oral Bioengineering, Institute of Dentistry, Queen Mary University of London, Turner Sneet, London E1 2AD, UK. "Department of Population and Patient Health, Faculty of Dentistry, Oral & Craniofacial Sciences, King's College London, London, UK

Received: 6 January 2021 Accepted: 31 August 2021 Published online: 13 October 2021

- Banno K, Kryger MH Sleep apnes: clinical investigations in humans. Sleep Med. 2007;8(4:400-26 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sleep.2007.03.003
- McMillan A, Bratton DJ, Faria R, Laskawiec-Sakonter M, Griffin S, Davies RJ, et al. A multicentre randomized controlled trial and economic evaluation of 2 cantinuous positive airway pressure for the treatment of obstructive sleep apricea syndrome in older people: PREDICT, Health Technol Assessment (Winchester, England). 2015;19(40):1–188.
- Peppard PE, Young T, Barnet JH, Palta M, Hagen EW, Hia KM. Increased ×. prevalence of sleep-disordered breathing in adults. Am J Epidemiol. 2013; 177(9):1006–14. https://doi.org/10.1093/aje/kws342. Deng T, Wang Y, Sun M, Chen B Stage-matched intervention for adherence
- 4 bergi, vargi, sami, clei s sagenacine de la reactive and 0 GPA in pasients with obstructive seep apreze a randomized comoled tial. Schiaf Atmung (Seep & breathing). 2013;17(2):791–801. https://doi. org/10.1007/s11325-012-0766-3
- 5 American Academy of Sleep Medicine. International dassification of sleep disorders. Diagnostic Coding Manual 2005:51-5.
- Network SIG. Management of obstructive sleep apnoea/hypopnoea syndrome in adults: a national clinical guideline: Scottish Intercollegiate 6. Guidelines Network 2003
- McDaid C, Griffin S, Weatherly H, Duree K, Van der Burgt M, Van Hout S, 7. et al. Continuous positive airway pressure devices for the treatment of obstructive sleep apnoes-hypophoea syndrome: a systematic review and economic analysis. Health Technol Assessment (Winchester, England). 2009. 13(4)tii+w, xi
- Ramar K, Dort LC, Katz SG, Lettieri CJ, Harrod CG, Thomas SM, et al Clinical 8 Practice Guideline for the Treatment of Obstructive Seep Apnea and Snoring with Oral Appliance Therapy: An Update for 2015 J Clin Sleep Med.
- 2015/11(7):773-827. http://doi.org/10.5664/com.4858. Lim J. Lasserson TJ, Fleetham J, Wright JJ. Oral appliances for obstructive 9
- seep apnoea. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2006(1). Sharples LD, Clutterbuck-James AL, Glover MJ, Bennett MS, Chadwick R, 10. Pitiman MA, et al. Meta-analysis of randomised controlled trials of oral mandibular advancement devices and continuous positive airway prefor obstructive sleep apnoea-hypopnoea. Seep Med Rev. 2016;27:108-24
- https://doi.org/10.1016/j.smv.2015.05.003. Schwartz M, Acosta L, Hung Y-L, Radilla M, Enciso R. Effects of CPAP and mandibular advancement device treatment in obstructive sleep aprea 113 patients: a systematic review and meta-analysis Sleep Breath. 2018;22(3): 555–68. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11325-017-1990-6. Saglam-Aydinatay 8, Taner T. Oral appliance therapy in obstructive sleep
- 12 apres: Long-term adherence and patients' experiences. Medicina Oral Patologia Oral Y Grugia Bucal. 2018;23(1);E72-E7.
- 13 Hoffstein V. Review of oral applances for treatment of sleep-disordered reathing. Seep Breath 2007;11(1):1-22, 1, DOI: https://doi.org/10.1007/s1132 5-006-0084-8
- 14. Dieltjens M, Vanderveken OM, Van den Bosch D, Wouters K, Denollet J, Verbraecken JA, et al. Impact of type D personality on adherence to or version of the second s
- follow-up of treatment with dental appliance or usulopalatopharyngoplasty in patients with obstactive sleep spines a national dominant study. Chest. 2002; 121(3):739-46. https://doi.org/10.1378/chest.121.3.739.
   de Almeida FR, Lowe AA, Tsulis S, Otsula R, Wong M, Fastlicht S, et al.
- Long-Term Compliance and Side Effects of Oral Appliances Used for the
ent of Snoring and Obstructive Sleep Apnes Synchrome. J Clin Sleep Med. 2005;1(2):143-52. https://doi.org/10.5664/cam.8978. 17. Haviv Y, Zini A, Almoznino G, Keshet N, Sharav Y, Aframian D. Assessment of

- Interfering factors in non-adherence to oral appliance therapy in severe sleep apnea. Ona Dis. 2017;23(3):629–35. https://doi.org/10.1111/odi.12633.
- 18. Johal A, Agha B Ready-made versus custom-made mandibular advancement appliances in obstructive sleep apnea: A systematic r and meta-analysis. J Seep Res. 2018;27(6):e12660. https://doi.org/10.1111/ jar 12660.
- 19. Pantin CC, Hilman DR, Tennant M. Dental side effects of an otal device to treat shoring and obstructive sleep apnes. Seep. 1999;22(2):237-40. https:// dai.org/10.1093/sleep/22.2.237
- Clark GT, Sohn J-W, Hong CN. Treating obstructive sleep apnee and snoring. 20. assessment of an anterior mandbular postioning device J Am Dent Assoc. 2000;131(9:765–71. https://doi.org/10.14219/jada.archive.20000275 Fritsch IM, Iseli A, Russi EW, Bloch IEE. Side effects of mandbular
- advancement devices for deep apnea treatment. Am J Repir Crit Care Med.
- Andrewski in Strategi aprice a securitier. An inspire Crickae Image 2001;164(3):SR33-8. https://doi.org/10.1164/a):crm164.52008078.
   McGown A, Makker H, Bartagel J, Estange P, Grant H, Spiro S. Long-term use of mandbular advancement splints for shoring and obstructive sleep. apnoea a questionnaire survey. Eur Respir J. 2001;13(3):462-6. https://doi org/10.1189/09031936.01.17304620
- 23. Bondemark L Does 2 years' nocturnal treatment with a mandibular advancement splint in adult patients with snoring and OSAS cause a change in the posture of the mandble? Am J Orthod Dentofac Orthop 999,116(\$:621-8. https://doi.org/10.1016/50889-5406(99)70196-4
- Franson AM, Tegeberg Å, Svenson BA, Wenneberg B, Isacson G. Validation of measurements of mandibular protrusion in the treatment of obstructive
- skep aprice and storing with a mandbular protroucing device. Sur J Orthodomics. 2003;25(4):377–83. https://doi.org/10.1093/ejo/25.4.377.
   Ringqvist M, Walke-Engström M-L, Tegelberg A, Ringqvist I. Dental and skeletal changes after 4 years of obstructive sleep aprice treatment with a mandibular advancement device: a prospective, randomized study. Am J Orthod Dentofac Orthop. 2003;124(1):53-60. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0889-540600300240-3
- Robertson C, Herbison P, Harkness M. Dental and occlusal changes during mandibular advancement splint therapy in sleep disordered patients Eur J Orthodomics. 2003;25(4:371-6. https://doi.org/10.1093/ego/25.4.371.
- Marklund M, Stenlund H, Franklin KA. Mandibular advancement devices in 27 630 men and women with obstructive sleep aprea and shoring: tolerability and predictors of treatment success. Chest. 2004;125(4):1270–8. https://doi.org/10.1378/chest.125(4.1270.
- Boström A, Stömberg A, Mårtenson J, Ulander M, Harder L, Svanborg E. Association of Type D personality to perceived side effects and adherence 28 in CPAP-treated patients with OSAS J Sleep Res. 2007;16(4:439-47. https:// dal.org/10.1111/j.1365-2869.2007.00620x.
- Schwazer R, Luszczynska A. How to overcome health-compromising behaviors: The health action process approach. Eur Psychol. 2008;13(2):141-29. 51. https://doi.org/10.1027/1016-9040.13.2.141.
- Garballo NJ, Alessi CA, Martin JL, Mitchell MN, Hays RD, Col N, et al. Perceived Effectiveness, Self-efficacy, and Social Support for Oral Appliance Therapy Among Older Veterans With Obstructive Sleep Aprea. Clin Ther. 2016;37(11):2407–15.
- 31. Stepnowsky CJ Jr, Dimsdale JE. Dose-response relationship between CPAP compliance and measures of sleep aprea sevenity. Sleep Med. 2002;3(4); 329-34. https://doi.org/10.1016/51389-9457(02)00010-2.
- 32. De Zeeuw J, Baberg H, Duchna H, Kempkens D, Walther J, Schultze Werninghaus G et al. Locus of control belief is a predictor of CPAPcompliance in patients with obstructive sleep agnea syndrome. Pneumologie (Stuttgart, Germany). 2007;61(5):283–90. 33. Olsen S, Smith S, Oel TP, Douglas J. Cues to starting CPAP in obstructive
- sleep apnea: development and validation of the cues to CPAP us guestionnaire, J Clin Seep Med. 2010;6(3):229-37. https://doi.org/10.5664/ sm27819
- 34. Chervin 8D. Theat S. Bassetti C. Aldrich MS. Compliance with nasal CPAP can be improved by simple interventions. Sleep. 1997;20(4:284-9. https:// doi.org/10.1093/sleep/20.4.284
- 35. Hui DS, Chan JK, Choy DK, Ko PW, Li TS, Leung RC, et al. Effects of augmented continuous positive airway pressure education and support on compliance and outcome in a Chinese population. Chest. 2000;117(5):1410-6. https://doi.org/101378/chest1175.1410

- 36. Bakker JP, Wang R, Weng J, Aloia MS, Toth C, Monical MG, et al. Motivational Enhancement for Increasing Adherence to CPAP: A Randomized Controlled Trial Chest. 2016;150(2):337-45. https://doi.org/10.1 016/Lthest201603019.
- Wozniak DR, Lasserson TJ, Smith J. Educational, supportive and behavioural 37 interventions to improve usage of continuous positive airway pressure machines in adults with obstructive sleep apricea. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2014/11
- Sawyer AM, Gooneratine NS, Marcus CL, Ofer D, Richards KC, Weaver TE A systematic review of CPAP adherence across age groups: dirical and empiric insights for developing CPAP adherence interventions. Seep Med.
- Rev. 2011;15(6):343-56. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.smrv.2011.01.003. Dxieszewski JM, Wallace DM, Wohlgemuth WK. Adherence to continuous 20 positive airway pressure in existing users self-efficacy enhances the sociation between continuous positive airway pressure and adherence. J
- Clin Seep Med. 2016;12(2):169-76. https://doi.org/10.5664/jcsm5478 Wiedemann AU, Lipple S, Reuter T, Schüz B, Ziegelmann JP, Schwarzer R Prediction of stage transitions in fruit and vegetable initiale. Health Educ Res. 2009;24(4:596–607. https://doi.org/10.1093/her/cyn061.
- Lippke S, Schwarzer R, Ziegelmann JP, Scholz U, Schüz B. Testing stage-41. pecific effects of a stage-matched intervention: a randomized controlled trial targeting physical exercise and its predictors. Health Educ Behav. 2010; 37(4):533-46. https://doi.org/10.1177/1090198109359386.
- 42. Schüz B, Sniehotta FF, Mallach N, Wiedemann AU, Schwatzer R. Predicting Schüz 8, Snehotta H, Matach N, Westernan HN, Schwarz M, Stranstons from preintentional intertional and actional stages of change. Health Educ Res. 2009;24(1):54–75. http://doi.org/10.1093/he/cym092.
- Noar SM, Benac CN, Harris MS. Does tailoring matter? Meta-analytic review of tailored print health behavior change interventions. Psychol Bull. 2007; Marchard P. H. Barry, Advisory Charge Charge Harvest Activity, 133(4):673–93. https://doi.org/10.1087/0031-9909.1334.673
   Weinstein ND, Rothman AJ, Sutton SR. Stage theories of health behavior.
- 44 conceptual and methodological issues. Health Psychol. 1998;17(3):290-9. ntms//doi.org/10.1037/0278-6133.17.3.290.
- Prochaska JO, DiClemente CC, Norcross JC. In search of how people 45 change. Applications to addictive behaviors Am Psychol. 1992;47(9):1102-14. https://doi.org/10.1037/0003-066X47.9.1102.
- Preseau J, Schweim J, Grimshaw JM, Witteman HO, Natarajan MK, Linklater 46 S, et al. Identifying determinants of medication adherence following myocardial infarction using the Theoretical Domains Framework and the Health Action Process Approach. Psychol Health. 2017;32(10):1176–94.
- https://doi.org/10.1080/0887044620161260724. Palpour AH, Gellert P, Azefzadeh S, Updegraff JA, Molloy GJ, Sniehotta FF. Intention and planning predicting medication adherence following coronary astery bygass graft surgey. J Psychosom Res. 2014;77(4:287–95. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psychores.2014.07.001.
- Wilson H, Sheehan M, Palk G, Watson A. Self-efficacy, planning, and drink 48 driving Applying the health action process approach. Health Psychol. 2016;
- Approximation and the process approach result regional control of the process approach result regional control of the process of the proces of the process of the process of
- com/watch?v=rub68Lxmymc&t=21\_s

#### Publisher's Note

pringer Nature remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

#### Ready to submit your research? Choose BMC and benefit from:

- fast, convenient online submission
- thorough peer review by experienced researchers in your field
- rapid publication on acceptance
- · support for research data, including large and complex data types
- gold Open Access which fosters wider collaboration and increased citations maximum visibility for your research: over 100M website views per year

#### At BMC, research is always in progress.

arn more biomedcentral.com/submissions



#### Page 13 of 13

Appendix 5 Participant information leaflet for the randomised clinical trial

# PARTICIPANT INFORMATION SHEET

(Version 3.0, 4.12.2019)



# Intervention to enhance adherence to mandibular advancement appliance in Patients with Obstructive sleep apnoea: A Randomized control trial

We would like to invite you to take part in our study in which we aim to assess whether additional support approaches will help patients use their anti-snoring (sleep apnoea) mouth guard for more hours as compared to those who receive routine care. We also will try and identify factors that help us to understand why some patients choose to wear their anti- snoring mouth guard more than others.

Please take your time to read through this participant information leaflet and only then sign the informed consent sheet if you would like to take part in this project. The information is very useful to us and the future patients being offered this treatment and very much appreciate your help. If you require any further clarification please feel free to contact the chief or principle investigator [details below].

# What is this study about?

The main purpose of this study is to assess whether additional support approaches would help patients wear their anti-snoring (sleep apnoea) mouth guard for longer periods of time, when

compared those who receive routine care. We also aim to explore the reasons behind why some patients choose to wear their anti-snoring mouth guard more than others.

Your participation would involve answering some simple questionnaires regarding your sleep condition, psychological health and about your circumstances. The Questionnaires will take

approximately 15 minutes to complete and will be given to you at your routine sleep clinic appointment.

# Why are we doing this study?

Anti-snoring mouth guards are recommended for patients with sleep apnoea and they been shown to be effective. However, they rely entirely on the patient's acceptance and use. There are thought to be a number of factors that can affect cooperation and wear. The decision to use the anti-snoring mouth guard effectively depends on factors, such as the patients' awareness of their condition, social support and psychological behaviour. Mood, such as anxiety, stress and depression may affect wear. At the same time we know that additional support approaches, which involve more education and behaviour approaches can help patients to adapt more easily to some treatments. As a result, we would like to explore the potential role of these factors to help future patients make the most of their treatment.

### Why me?

You were invited to help with this study because you are an adult, suffering from obstructive sleep apnoea and recommended to use an anti-snoring/sleep apnoea mouth guard.

### Do I have to take part?

No. Taking part in this study is completely optional. If you wish not to participate, your care will continue as normal and will not be affected. If you would like to participate in the study, we will ask you to sign a consent form.

### What happens to me if I take part?

You will be asked to complete a set of questionnaires used to assess your general health and personality-type. The questionnaires will take approximately 15 minutes to complete. Information such as age, gender, body mass index (BMI) and neck circumference will be recorded. All participants will then be given an anti-snoring (sleep apnoea) mouth guard and receive either the routine instructions on usage or be offered additional support which includes a video over the planned study period of 6 months. Initially fitting of the anti-snoring (sleep apnoea) mouth guard will take place at the first appointment. A daily sleep diary will be provided to you to keep a record of how many hours you have used the anti-snoring mouth guard.

You will be called for follow-up at 3, 6, 18 and 36 months into treatment which is part of the standard routine care. You either will receive routine instructions or be given additional support and a removable plastic retainer. The plastic retainer is used to keep the teeth in their original position and will need to be worn for one hour during the day. At follow-up appointments, you will also be required to complete questionnaires and the hours of anti-snoring/sleep apnoea mouth guard usage will be assessed.

After 6 months, some of the participants will be invited to take part in interviews to gain a better understanding of their experience of their treatment and their thoughts about what helped or prevented them from using the appliance more.

# What happens if I wish to leave the study?

You are free to withdraw from the study at any time without any reason. All the information collected will be stored safely. Once you withdraw from the study no further research

information will be collected and if you specifically request, any previous information collected can be discarded. Alternatively, previous information will be retained and analysed in an anonymous manner with the remaining patient information depending at which time point you choose to withdraw, e.g. after 1-, 3- or 6-months.

# Are there any disadvantages in not taking part?

No, your decision not to take part will not affect the care you were to receive.

# Are there any benefits in taking part?

By taking part in this study you will help us to better understand what factors are important in helping patients use their anti-snoring (sleep apnoea) mouth guard. This will in turn help us find ways to help future patients get the most out of their treatment.

# What are the possible risks of taking part in the study?

There are no risks involved in this study

# Will my taking part in this study be kept confidential?

Queen Mary University of London is the sponsor for this study based in the United Kingdom. We will be using information from you and/or your medical records in order to undertake this study and will act as the data controller for this study. This means that we are responsible for looking after your information and using it properly. Queen Mary University of London will keep identifiable information about you for 20 years after the study has finished.

Your rights to access, change or move your information are limited, as we need to manage your information in specific ways in order for the research to be reliable and accurate. If you withdraw from the study, the information about you that we have already obtained will be retained. To safeguard your rights, we will use the minimum personally-identifiable information possible.

You can find out more about how we use your information at <u>http://www.arcs.qmul.ac.uk/media/arcs/policyzone/Privacy-Notice-for-Research-Participants.pdf</u>

NHS will collect information from you and your medical records for this research study in accordance with our instructions.

NHS will use your name, NHS number and contact details to contact you about the research study, and make sure that relevant information about the study is recorded for your care, and to oversee the quality of the study. Individuals from Queen Mary University of London and regulatory organisations may look at your medical and research records to check the accuracy of the research study. NHS site will pass these details to Queen Mary University of London along with the information collected from you and your medical records. The only people in Queen Mary University of London who will have access to information that identifies you will be people who need to contact you to confirm any missing data and invite you to partake in the qualitative study or audit the data collection process. The people who analyse the information will not be able to identify you and will not be able to find out your name, NHS number or contact details.

NHS will keep identifiable information about you from this study for 20 years after the study has finished according to Queen Mary University of London/Barts Health NHS Trust policy.

The data will be archived in the Corporate Records Facility at 9 Prescot Street, London, E1 8PR.

### What will happen to the results of this study?

In order to share the knowledge gained from the study, the findings will be published in a medical journal and presented at health conferences including voluntary and support sleep apnoea patient groups.

### What if there is a problem?

Any problem that occurs during the study will be addressed appropriately. Please contact the chief investigator [contact below] to solve the problem immediately. If you remain unhappy and wish to complain formally, you can do this through the NHS complains procedure. Details can be obtained from:

http://www.nhs.uk/choiceintheNHS/Rightsandpledges/complaints/Pages/NHScomplaints.asp x

In the event that something does go wrong and you are harmed during the research due to negligence, then you may have grounds for legal action for compensation against the sponsor of this study, Queen Mary university of London. The sponsor will compensate for injury caused directly by the procedure you received during your participation.

# Who has reviewed the study?

This research project has been reviewed by a group of clinical researchers. In addition it will be looked at by an independent group of people, which includes both professionals and lay public, whose purpose is to review all NHS research to protect your interests, called a Research Ethics Committee.

# Where can I obtain Alternative means of support?

Independent advice could be obtained from: Patient Advice and Liaison Service (PALS)

For Barts Health NHS Trust hospitals: Integrated for Royal London, patient Advice Liaison Service (PALS). Telephone: 020 3594 2040, e-mail address: pals@bartshealth.nhs.uk. Service is available Monday to Friday, 9.30am-4.30pm by appointment.

Thank you very much for taking the time to read about the research. If you take part, you can help us make a difference to others in the future.

Further information and contact details

To contact the Chief investigator of the study:

Professor Ama Johal, Dental Institute, The Royal London Dental Hospital Phone: 0207 377 7686

Email: a.s.johal@qmul.ac.uk

If you would like to find out more about this study or arrange an appointment, please contact the Researcher: Dr. Harishri Tallamraju, Dental Institute, 4<sup>th</sup> floor, The Royal London Dental Hospital Email: <u>h.tallamraju@qmul.ac.uk</u>

# Appendix 6 Consent from for the randomised clinical trial

IRAS ID: 262092

Centre Number:

Study Number:

Participant Identification Number for this trial:

### **CONSENT FORM FOR PARTICIPANT**

Title of Project: Intervention to enhance adherence to mandibular advancement appliance in Patients with Obstructive sleep apnoea: A Randomized control trial

Name of Researcher:

Pleas	se
initial	box

- 2. I understand that my participation is voluntary and that I am free to withdraw at any time without giving any reason, without my medical care or legal rights being affected.
- 3. I understand that relevant sections of my medical notes and data collected during the study, may be looked at by individuals from the NHS Trust, where it is relevant to my taking part in this research. I give permission for these individuals to have access to my records.
- 4. I understand that the information collected about me will be used to support other research in the future and may be shared anonymously with other researchers.
- 5. I understand that the information held and maintained by Queen Mary, University of London may be used to help contact me or provide information about my health status.

6. I agree to take part in the above study.

Name of Participant	Date	Signature
Name of Person	Date	Signature taking consent

# Appendix 7 Sleep diary

# DAILY SLEEP LOG

# (VERSION 2.0, 22.07.2019)

Participant identification number for the study:

Title of the study: Intervention to enhance adherence to mandibular advancement appliance in Patients with Obstructive sleep apnoea: A Randomized control trial

To help us understand your sleep problems, we need a report of the times when you sleep, nap and how often you wake during sleep. In addition, we need to know the times when you drink coffee, tea and alcoholic beverages.

If medication is taken, record the time medication is needed.

IT IS IMPORTANT THAT YOU KEEP THIS RECORD FOR 7 DAYS. Each column begins a

new day; the first column is an example for you to study.

Start Date	Example	Day 1	Day 2	Day 3	Day 4	Day 5	Day 6	Day 7
Naps: times	2:00 pm							
& length you napped	45 min							
	6:30 pm							
	30 min							
Medication:	Zimovane							
Amount &	5mg x 1							
Time taken	10:30 pm							
Coffee &	C. x 1							
Tea No. of	7:00 am							
cups/time	T. x 2							
	6:30 pm							
Alcohol:	A. x 2							
No. of units/time	7:00 pm							
	A. x 1							
	10:00 pm							
Time in bed before lights out:	30 min							

Lights out:	11:00 pm				
Estimated time to fall asleep	45 min				
Estimated number of awakening in night & duration	2:00 am @20 min 4:30 am @ 1 hour				
Time of awakenings	7:30 am				
Total hours of sleep	@ 7hrs				
Overall sleep quality night: Poor= 1	3				
Average= 2 Good= 3					

If you have any queries, please contact Prof. Ama Johal via his secretary at The Royal London Hospital on 0207 377 7379.

# Appendix 8 Self-efficacy measure for sleep apnoea questionnaire

# PERCEIVED SELF-EFFICACY MEASURE FOR SLEEP APNOEA

DIRECTIONS: This survey asks you about sleep apnoea and Mandibular Advancement Appliance (MAA) or Anti-snoring mouth guard, a treatment for sleep apnoea. Please put a ( $\checkmark$ ) in the box under your answer to each question. Pick only <u>one</u> answer for each question. Please try to be as careful as possible. All information will be kept confidential.

1A. My chances of having high blood pressure compared to people my own age and sex who do not have sleep apnea are:

Very low	Low	High	Very high

2A. My chances of falling asleep while driving compared to people my own age and sex who do not have sleep apnea are:

Very low	Low	High	Very high

3A. My chances of having a heart attack compared to people my own age and sex who do not have sleep apnea are:

Very low	Low	High	Very high

4A. My chances of having difficulty concentrating compared to people my own age and sex who do not have sleep apnea are:

Very low	Low	High	Very high

5A. My chances of falling asleep during the day compared to people my own age and sex who do not have sleep apnea are:

Very low	Low	High	Very high

6A. My chances of having an accident because of falling asleep while driving compared to people my own age and sex who do not have sleep apnoea are:

Very low	Low	High	Very high

7A. My chances of being depressed compared to people my own age and sex who do not have sleep apnea are:

Very low	Low	High	Very high

8A. My chances of having problems with sexual desire or sexual performance compared

to people my own age and sex who do not have sleep apnoea are:

Very low	Low	High	Very high

These questions ask you what you think may happen to you if you do or do not use anti- snoring mouth guard nightly to treat sleep apnoea. Please put a ( $\checkmark$ ) in the box under your answer to each question for how true each statement would be for you.

1B. If I do use the anti-snoring mouth guard, I will decrease my chances of having an accident while driving.

Very low	Low	High	Very high

2B. If I use the anti-snoring mouth guard, then I will not snore.

Very low	Low	High	Very high

3B. If I do not use the anti-snoring mouth guard, I will be less alert during the day.

Very low	Low	High	Very high

4B. If I use anti- snoring mouth guard, then my job performance will improve.

Very low	Low	High	Very high

5B. If I use anti- snoring mouth guard, my relationship with my significant other and friends will improve.

Very low	Low	High	Very high

6B. If I do not use anti-snoring mouth guard, I will increase my chances of having a heart attack.

Very low	Low	High	Very high

7B. If I use anti- snoring mouth guard, my bed partner will sleep better.

Very low	Low	High	Very high

8B. If I use anti-snoring mouth guard, I will feel better.

Very low	Low	High	Very high

9B. If I use anti-snoring mouth guard I will be more active.

Very low	Low	High	Very high

10B. If I use anti-snoring mouth guard my desire and sexual performance will improve.

Very low	Low	High	Very high

# These questions ask you about wearing anti-snoring mouth guard, if it should be prescribed for you. Please put a ( $\checkmark$ ) in the box under your answer to each question that best indicates how true each statement would be for you.

1C. I would use the anti-snoring mouth guard, even if it made me feel claustrophobic.

Very low	Low	High	Very high

2C. I would use the anti-snoring mouth guard, even if it will take me longer to get ready for bed.

Very low	Low	High	Very high

3C. I would use the anti-snoring mouth guard, even when I travelled.

	Very low	Low	High	Very high
L				

4C. I would use the anti-snoring mouth guard, even when it is uncomfortable.

Very low	Low	High	Very high		

5C. I would use the anti-snoring mouth guard, even if it made my mouth dry.

Very low	Low	High	Very high

6C. I would use the anti-snoring mouth guard, even if it were a bother.

Very low	Low	High	Very high

7C. I would use the anti-snoring mouth guard, even if it disturbed my bed partner's sleep.

Very low	Low	High	Very high

8C. I would use the anti-snoring mouth guard, even if it made me feel embarrassed.

Very low	Low	High	Very high

9C. I would use the anti-snoring mouth guard, even I had to pay for some of the cost.

Very low Low	High	Very high
--------------	------	-----------

© Weaver, T. October, 1997

# Appendix 9 Pittsburgh sleep quality index questionnaire

# Sleep Quality Assessment (PSQI)

What is PSQI, and what is it measuring?

The Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index (PSQI) is an effective instrument used to measure the quality and patterns of sleep in adults. It differentiates "poor" from "good" sleep quality by measuring seven areas (components): subjective sleep quality, sleep latency, sleep duration, habitual sleep efficiency, sleep disturbances, use of sleeping medications, and daytime dysfunction over the last month.

#### **INSTRUCTIONS:**

The following questions relate to your usual sleep habits during the past month only. Your answers should indicate the most accurate reply for the majority of days and nights in the past month. Please answer all questions.

During the past month,

- 1. When have you usually gone to bed? \_
- 2. How long (in minutes) has it taken you to fall asleep each night?
- 3. What time have you usually gotten up in the morning?
- 4. How many hours of actual sleep did you get at night? \_\_\_\_

<b>5.</b> During the past month, how often have you had trouble sleeping because you	Not during the Past month (0)	Less than once a week (1)	Once or twice a week (2)	Three or more times a week (3)
A. Cannot get to sleep within 30 minutes				
B. Wake up in the middle of the night or early				
morning				
C. Have to get up to use the bathroom				
D. Cannot breathe comfortably				
E. Cough or snore loudly				
F. Feel too cold				
G. Feel too hot				
H. Have bad dreams				
I. Have pain				
J. Other reason (s), please describe:	1	1		
How often you have had trouble sleeping because of th	is reason (s):			
()Not during the past month		()Less than c	once a week	
()Once or twice a week		()Three or r	nore times a	week
6. During the past month, how would you rate your sleep quality overall?	Very Good (0	Fairly good (1)	Fairly bad (2)	Very bad (3)

7. During the past month, how often have you taken medicine (prescribed or "over the counter") to help you sleep?				
8. During the past month, how often have you had trouble staying awake while driving, eating meals, or engaging in Social activity?				
9. During the past month, how much of a problem has it been for you to keep up the enthusiasm to get things done?	Very good (0	Fairly good (1)	Fairly bad (2)	Very bad (3)

© 1989, University of Pittsburgh. All rights reserved. Developed by Buysse, D.J., Reynolds, C.F., Monk, T.H., Berman, S.R., and Kupfer, D.J. of the University of Pittsburgh using National Institute of Mental Health Funding. Buysse DJ, Reynolds CF, Monk TH, Berman SR, Kupfer DJ: Psychiatry Research, 28:193-213, 1989.

# Appendix 10 EuroQol – 5 Dimension questionnaire

# EQ-5D-5L

Under each heading, please tick the ONE box that best describes your health TODAY.

# MOBILITY

	218   P a g e
I am not anxious or depressed	
ANXIETY / DEPRESSION	
I have extreme pain or discomfort	
I have severe pain or discomfort	
I have moderate pain or discomfort	
I have slight pain or discomfort	
I have no pain or discomfort	
PAIN / DISCOMFORT	
I am unable to do my usual activities	
I have severe problems doing my usual activities	
I have moderate problems doing my usual activities	
I have slight problems doing my usual activities	
I have no problems doing my usual activities	
<b>USUAL ACTIVITIES</b> (e.g. work, study, housework, family or leisure activities)	
I am unable to wash or dress myself	
I have moderate problems washing of dressing myself	
I have slight problems washing of dressing myself	
I have no problems washing or dressing myseli	
SELF-CARE	_
I am unable to walk about	
I have severe problems in walking about	
I have moderate problems in walking about	
I have slight problems in walking about	
I have no problems in walking about	



you can imagine

© 2009 EuroQol Research Foundation. EQ-5D™ is a trade mark of the EuroQol Research Foundation. UK (English) v1.1

# Appendix 11 Socio-economic position questionnaire

1)

2)

3)

4)

SOCIO-ECONOMIC P	OSITION QUESTIONNAIRE
(Based on National Statist	ics Socio-Economic Classification)
Did you ever attend school? □ No □YES □ No, but I ca	n read and write
What was the highest degree or qualifica Elementary Primary School Secondary school with O level(s) A/AS/S levels Postgraduate	ation that you obtained? □Secondary school without O level(s) □Technical Education □University
How old were you then (when you obtain □Please specify:years old	ned your highest degree or qualification)? □Don't know
Last week, were you any of the following In training/student Full-time Employed Currently Sick/disable Part-time employed None of the options: Specify	g? □Casually Employed □Retired □I have never worked □looking after home/family

The following questions are related to your employment status. Please choose one option.

- 5) Do (did) you work as an employee or are (were) you self-employed?
   □ Employee
   □ Self-employed with employees
   □ Self-employed/freelance without employees (Go to question no. 8)
- 6) **For employees**: How many people work (worked) for your employer at the place where you work (worked)?

**For self-employed**: How many people do (did) you employ? (Go to question no. 7 when you have completed this question)

□1 to 24 □25 or more

- 7) Do (did) you supervise any other employees? (A supervisor or foreman is responsible for overseeing the work of other employees on a day-to-day basis)
   □Yes
   □No
- 8) Tick the box to show which best describes the sort of work you do. If you are not working now, please tick the box to show what you did in your last main job.

□ Modern professional occupations such as: teacher- nurse- physiotherapist- social workerwelfare officer- artist- musician- police officer (sergeant or above)- software designer

□ Clerical and intermediate occupations such as: secretary- personal assistant- clerical worker- office clerk- call center agent- nursing auxiliary- nursery nurse

□ Senior managers or administrators (usually responsible for planning, organizing and coordinating work, and for finance manager- chief executive

□ Technical and craft occupations such as: motor mechanic- fitter- inspector- plumberprinter- tool maker- electrician- gardener- train driver

□ Semi-routine manual and service occupations such as: postal worker- machine operativesecurity guard- caretaker- farm worker- catering assistant- receptionist- sales assistant

□ Routine manual and service occupations such as: HGV driver- van driver- cleaner- portersewing machinist- messenger- laborer- waiter/waitress- bar staff

□ Middle or junior managers such as: office manager- retail manager- bank manager- restaurant manager- warehouse manager- publican

□ Traditional professional occupations such as: accountant- solicitor- medical practitionerscientist- civil/mechanical engineer

Standard Occupational Classification 2010 – SOC2010

# Appendix 12 Social support questionnaire

# Social Support Questionnaire

(Stepnowsky et al., 2002)

Directions: Please indicate how much you agree or disagree

	Disagree Completely	Disagre -e	Neither Agree nor disagree	Agree	Agree Completel y
1. I have people in my life who will	1	2	3	4	5
support me in using the Anti- Snoring mouth guard regularly.					
2. I have people in my life who will encourage me to use the Anti- Snoring mouth guard even when it causes dry mouth or jaw discomfort.	1	2	3	4	5
3. I have people in my life who will encourage me to keep using the Anti-Snoring mouth guard even when it is uncomfortable.	1	2	3	4	5
<ol> <li>I have people in my life who will give me ideas for making the Anti- Snoring mouth guard more comfortable.</li> </ol>	1	2	3	4	5
<ol> <li>I have people in my life who will help me adjust to using the Anti- Snoring mouth guard.</li> </ol>	1	2	3	4	5
<ol> <li>I have people in my life who will be upset if I stopped using the Anti-Snoring mouth guard.</li> </ol>	1	2	3	4	5
<ol> <li>I have people in my life who will support me in using the Anti- Snoring mouth guard nightly.</li> </ol>	1	2	3	4	5
8. I will get the help I need to use the Anti-Snoring mouth guard nightly.	1	2	3	4	5
9. The healthcare staff will be helpful in helping me to use the Anti- Snoring mouth guard nightly.	1	2	3	4	5

# Appendix 13 Health pamphlet

- Long-term wear of an MAA carries a risk of causing small changes in the position of your teeth and how they meet together (your bite). Long-term use can therefore change your bite (or the way in which your front teeth meet).
- You must maintain a high level of tooth cleaning and regular appointments with your dentist.

#### Do any of these worry you? (Please tick)

- 1. Adapting to the anti-snoring device 🗆
- 2. Excessive saliva in the mouth
- 3. Changes in your bite 🛛
- 4. Visiting the dentist regularly

# 6. How can Self-efficacy help **YOUR** treatment?

- Self-efficacy (or Self-confidence) describes how YOU, the patient can help improve the results of your treatment.
- We have found that to help YOU adapt to this new treatment seeking Advice and Feedback from individuals who have undergone the same treatment, helps in personal motivation.
- We will help YOU to identify the relative advantages and disadvantages of undergoing this type of treatment.
- As treatment for sleep apnoea is lifelong, it can be very helpful to set short achievable goals such as to <u>"increase one hour of usage every 3</u> <u>nights"</u> to help achieve the desirable

goal of greater than 6 hours use per night.

- If the goal is achieved, praise and treat yourself! Your sleeping partner and family will certainly notice the improvement!
- Lifestyle changes such as decreased alcohol consumption & smoking and regular physical exercises for e.g. even a daily 30minute walk will help you achieve your goal and improve your sleep.



- Moods, emotions and stress levels can all influence how you feel and your personality.
- Confidence and low levels of anxiety and nervousness help improve your sense of self- efficacy.
- Always try to approach difficult tasks as challenges and avoid focusing on the negatives.

# OBSTRUCTIVE SLEEP APNOEA (OSA)



# PATIENT HEALTH PAMPHLET

NAME:		
AGE:		
SEX:		

# 1. What is Obstructive Sleep Apnoea?

Obstructive Sleep Apnoea (OSA) is a serious breathing problem where the airway at the back of the throat becomes blocked during sleep. It effects men and women. Currently, OSA is a significant health care burden in the UK, for individuals, the NHS and society as a whole. Although awareness of OSA is rising in the population, 42% of people who snore or whose partner snores have not even heard of OSA.

# 2. Why do I need to have any treatment?

You might have experienced Excessive daytime sleepiness and memory problems, as a consequence of OSA.



# Which of the following do you think are most relevant to you?

(Pleas	e tick)	
	Increased risk of Diabetes	
	Increased risk of motor vehicle	
	accidents	
	Memory problems	
•	Shorten life expectancy	
•	Weight gain	
	Depression	
	Job Impairment	
Other	(please describe):	

# 3. What are my treatment options?

Treatment of OSA depends on the severity of the disease. People with severe OSA should be treated with Nasal Continuous Positive Airway Pressure (CPAP). This acts by pushing air through the nose to keep the airway open during sleep.



Patients with mild-to-moderate sleep apnoea are treated with Mandibular Advancement Appliances [MAA] also known as Anti-snoring mouth guards or Oral appliances.



These are best made to fit and use the teeth to hold them in place during sleep. They work by moving (in a gradual fashion) the bottom jaw forward, opening the airway at the back of the



# 4. What are the benefits of wearing the appliance regularly?

Most importantly, the appliance prevents the airway at the back of your throat from collapsing and thereby **Improving** the **Quality** Of **Sleep**, whilst **reducing** the **risks** Of Heart **Disease**.



Which of the following benefits are most important to you?

- Increased daytime alertness 
   Increased concentration in daily activities
- Increased emotional well-being
- Increased life expectancy Other (Please describe):

# 5. What is it like to wear the appliance?

- The appliance, like all new things, will require a little getting used to. Most patients adapt to their appliance within a week.
- You may also experience more saliva, in the mouth at first but once you are used to the appliance, this improves.

# Appendix 14 Pre-screening questionnaire



# PRE-SCREENING QUESTIONNAIRE

# Snoring and obstructive sleep apnoea (OSA)

#### Remember:

- · All patients can be treated for snoring with a Sleepwell mandibular advancement splint (MAS)
- . Even if OSA is suspected, Sleepwell can be provided to help treat the patient's snoring
- . OSA referral is simple complete the tear off part of this questionnaire and give to the patient

Snoring and daytime sleepiness can have a profound impact on quality of life:

- · Daytime sleepiness less effectiveness at work and increased risk of accidents
- · Reduced energy poor motivation to exercise and weight gain
- · Relationship issues sleeping in different bedrooms, reduced sex life and higher stress levels
- · Hypertension those who snore or suffer from OSA have an elevated risk of high blood pressure

OSA is a serious condition in which a person stops breathing (or suffers extreme low oxygen levels) whilst asleep. It often occurs in conjunction with snoring.

Patient name:	
Address:	
Postcode:	
Telephone - home:	
Telephone - mobile:	

The following questions relate to your lifestyle and general health. Please indicate whether you have suffered with any of the below, providing further details when the answer is yes.

Heart problems	Y/N
High blood pressure	Ý/N
Diabetes	Y/N
Thyroid syndrome	Y/N
Do you take any prescribed medicines? Please indicate:	Y/N
Alcohol consumption	units/week
Smoking level	no/day

S4S (UK) Limited. 151 Rutland Road, Sheffield, S3 9PT w:s4sdental.com | t:0114 250 0176 | e:info@s4sdental.com Registered with the UK Competent Authority CA011044

# PRE-TREATMENT QUESTIONNAIRE

#### PLEASE ENSURE THAT THIS FORM IS COMPLETED USING BLACK INK AND IN CAPITALS

#### PATIENT'S MAIN CONCERNS

Please indicate if you have suffered with any of the conditions below, giving further details when required:

	Circle	Details
Headaches on waking	Y/N	
Daytime sleepiness	Y/N	
Sleepiness whilst driving	Y/N	
Snoring most nights	Y/N	
Snorting or gasping during sleep	Y/N	

#### PREVIOUS TREATMENT IN RELATION TO SLEEP DISORDERS

	Circle	Details
Lifestyle change	Y/N	$(1,1,2,\dots,1,n,n,n,n,n,n,n,n,n,n,n,n,n,n,n,n,n,n$
Nasal CPAP	Y/N	
Surgery	Y/N	
Previous sleep study	Y/N	If yes, note AHI score:

#### SLEEPING PARTNER QUESTIONNAIRE (optional, if the partner is present)

-		1.1			
Par	tne	er)	5 N	am	e: :

Please indicate <b>your</b> quality of sleep:	Please indicate your pa	Please indicate your partner's quality of sleep:				
Good Average Poor	Good Average	Poor				
How would you rate the severity of your part snoring? Please tick one box only.	ner's Does your partner's sno Please tick one box only	oring disturb your sleep? y.				
No snoring	Never					
Mild snoring	Hardly ever					
Moderate snoring	Sometimes					
Loud snoring	Usually					
Very loud snoring	Always					
FLEMONS ADJUSTED NECK CIRCUMFEREN	NCE					
Neck size - not collar (cm)		cm				
Hypertension Y /	N if YES, add 4					
Habitual shorer Y /	N if YES, add 3					
Choke or gasp most nights Y /	N if YES, add 3					
	Total					

How likely are you to doze off or fall asleep in the following situations (in contrast to just feeling tired)? Even if you haven't been in some of these situations recently, try to work out how they may affect you. Choose the most appropriate number for each situation:

0 - NEVER doze	1 · SLIGHT chance	2 - MODERATE chance	3 - HIGH chance
Sitting and reading			
Watching TV			
Sitting, inactive in a public p	place (i.e. theatre, meeting)		
As a passenger in a car for	an hour, without break		
Laying to rest in the afterno	oon, when circumstances permit		
Sitting and talking to some	one		
Sitting quietly after lunch w	hen NO alcohol has been consumed		
In a car, stationary for a fev	v minutes in traffic		
	Total (0-	24)	

DENTIST USE ONLY - Oral examination				
Incisor relationship	Class 1	Class 2 Div I	Class 2 Div II	Class 3
Overjet	mm			
Overbite	mm			
OH/Periodontal condition	Good Fair	Poor		
Tonsils - enlarged/inflamed	Y/N			
Bruxism/clenching/grinding of teeth	Y/N Sever	e/Not Severe (please	note severity on lab tick	(et)
TMJ assessment:				
Max lateral movements	L mm B.	mm		
Max opening	mm			
Max protrusion	mm			
Tenderness to palpitation	Y/N			
Pain on mandibular movement.	Y/N			
Smooth movement	Y/N			
Locking and/or luxation	Y/N			

#### CARE PATHWAY: TO DETERMINE PATIENT'S LEVEL OF OSA RISK



3

GP REFERRAL	
To - GP details	From - GDP details
	Date:
Dear Dr	
Patient name:	
Daytime sleepiness (Epworth Sleepiness Score) Reports sleepiness whilst driving	]
Stops breathing during sleep	
Flemons Adjusted Neck Circumference Score:	-
a) Shorts or gasps during sleep	-
b) Habitual snoring	
Dther Comments:	
In the reverse of this letter is a summary of the Enworth Sleer	siness Scale and Elemons Adjusted Nack Oinsumference. Eurther

Yours sincerely,

# SNORING & OBSTRUCTIVE SLEEP APNOEA

Snoring and OSA is a serious medical issue. It leads to broken sleep for snorers and their partners, can have a profound impact on quality of life, and can be highly embarrassing.

Daytime sleepiness – Less effectiveness at work and increased risk of accidents Reduced energy – Poor motivation to exercise, causing weight gain Relationships – Sleeping in different bedrooms, reduced sex life, and higher stress levels

Hypertension - Patients who snore and have OSA have an elevated risk of high blood pressure

OSA is the term used when a person stops breathing for short periods whilst asleep, before creating a gasp, snort or choking sound. Breathing interruptions, known as 'sleep apnoea', reduce oxygen levels in the blood. During sleep, the brain reacts quickly and releases adrenaline, which causes partial wakening. This cycle can occur many times, interrupting sleep and leading to daytime tiredness.

#### SCREENING & DIAGNOSIS

The NHS will not treat simple snorers due to financial constraints, and only 50% of sleep centres provide a comprehensive treatment service for OSA.

#### SNORING TREATMENT

Mandibular advancement splint therapy (MAS therapy) offers effective treatment for simple snoring and mild to moderate OSA. Continuous Positive Air Pressure (CPAP) should be offered to sufferers of severe OSA.

What is a mandibular advancement splint (MAS therapy)? This is a collective name for mouthpieces which are designed to prevent the lower jaw from dropping back during sleep, in turn reducing the risk of airway narrowing. The narrowing of the airway causes the soft tissue to vibrate, causing the sound of snoring. The role of mandibular advancement splints in the management of snoring is widely recognised (SIGN guidelines, 2003). The most clinically proven and effective mandibular advancement splint is Sleepwell - available from S4S trained dentists. Lower cost, self-diagnosis treatments are called Snoresolve and Snoreshield.

#### EPWORTH SCALE M.JOHNS Sleep, 1991 Dec; 14(06):540-5 A method for measuring daytime sleepiness: the Epworth sleepiness scale.

Johns MW. Sleep Disorders Unit, Epworth Hospital, Melbourne, Victoria, Australia.

The Epworth sleepiness scale (ESS) is a simple, self-administered questionnaire which is shown to provide a measurement of the subject's general level of daytime sleepiness.

180 adults answered the ESS, including 30 normal men and women as controls and 150 patients with a range of sleep disorders. They rated the chances that they would doze off or fall asleep when in eight different situations, commonly encountered in daily life. Total ESS scores significantly distinguished normal subjects from patients in various diagnostic groups, including OSA, narcolepsy and Idiopathic hypersomnia.

ESS scores were significantly correlated with sleep latency, measured during the multiple sleep latency test and during overnight polysomnography. In patients with OSA syndrome, ESS scores were significantly correlated with the respiratory disturbance index and the minimum SaO2 recorded overnight. ESS scores showed patients who simply snored did not differ from controls.

#### ADJUSTED NECK CIRCUMFERENCE (ANC) W Flemons N Eng J Med Vol 347 No 7 Aug 2003 p.498-504 A Screening Tool for Apnoes Prediction

An adaptation of prediction rule 12, based on neck circumference, can be used to estimate a patient's probability of having a sleep test result that is diagnostic of sleep apnoea. Neck circumference (measured in centimetres) is adjusted if the patient has hypertension (4cm in added), is a habitual snorer (3cm is added), or is reported to choke or gasp most nights (3cm is added).

A low clinical probability corresponds to an adjusted neck circumference of less than 43cm, an intermediate probability (4 to 8 times as probable as a low probability) to a neck circumference of 43 to 48 cm, and a high probability (20 times as probable) to a neck circumference of more than 48cm. Together with the consideration of the severity of symptoms, the clinical probability estimate helps guide management.

12 Flemons WW, Whitelaw WA, Brant R, Remmers JE, Likelihood ratios for a sleep apnoea clinical prediction rule. Am J Respit Crit Care Med 1994; 150:1279-1285 (Abstract).

#### PATIENT INFORMATION

Snoring results from a partial closure of the airway during sleep, and most commonly occurs in isolation (simple snoring). Less often, it can take place as part of a more serious condition, OSA, which can be potentially life-threatening. This screening questionnaire has been used by your dental practitioner to help identify your risk of OSA. However, only a sleep physician can diagnose OSA after performing an overnight sleep recording that measures your breathing patterns.

Anti-snoring dental appliances have been shown to play an effective role in the management of patients with snoring and/or OSA. The appliance will not cure the disorder, but works by temporarily repositioning the lower jaw and tongue forwards - keeping the airway open. In order to be effective, the appliance must be worn each night. If the use of the appliance is discontinued, the symptoms will recur. There is no guarantee that an appliance will be effective in every patient, due to individual variation in response. A high standard of oral hygiene is important for a successful outcome, as is the care and use of the device as per supplied instructions.

It is important that you return for assessment after the fitting of your appliance. You will be asked to complete a simple questionnaire, designed to assess your response to treatment and gain feedback from your partner. Whilst this provides valuable feedback, for OSA sufferers, a follow-up overnight sleep recording with Sleepwell in the mouth is the only way to know if your breathing has improved sufficiently.

After wearing the appliance, most patients initially report a degree of drooling, or some patients feel that their teeth do not come together (bite) properly. These are short-term effects and lessen with time. If, however, you awaken with a dry mouth sensation, the fit of the appliance may need adjusting to improve its grip on the teeth. There is a risk that long-term wear can result in a degree of movement in your teeth. It is therefore important that you maintain the health of your teeth, and, most importantly, your gums with regular dental care. Very rarely, the jaw joints may become sore. This is most typically seen in patients with a history of jaw discomfort and/or those who self-adjust their appliances too aggressively. In addition, the splint may require replacement as a result of wear or breakage.

#### PATIENT CONSENT - LOW/MODERATE RISK OF OBSTRUCTIVE SLEEP APNOEA

I have given complete and accurate replies to the questions within this document, have read the information given to me and understand how Sleepwell, made by S4S (UK) Ltd, may help my snoring and/or sleep apnoea. I understand that I would need to undergo an overnight sleep study in order to diagnose OSA.

Patient's name:	 Patient's signature:	
Date:		
Clinician's name:	 Clinician's signature:	
Date:		

#### PATIENT CONSENT - HIGH RISK OF OBSTRUCTIVE SLEEP APNOEA

I have given complete and accurate replies to the questions within this document, have read the information given to me and understand how Sleepwell, made by S4S (UK) Ltd, may help my snoring. I understand that I would need to undergo an overnight sleep study in order to diagnose OSA. I have also been made aware of the risk of having OSA and have been advised as follows:

To visit my GP with a letter provided by the dentist			
Patient's name:		Patient's signature:	
Date:			
Clinician's name:		Clinician's signature:	
Date:			

DISCLAIMER - The questionnaires being described in this handout have been obtained from published scientific literature. However, we do not endorse their sole use to establish a diagnosis of OSA. It is important to emphasise that the subjective responses upon which these questionnaires rely have the potential to be underestimated by some people. Particular care should be taken in interpreting the results for people whose occupations require high alertness, such as transport drivers. An overnight sleep study would be required to diagnose OSA.

# Appendix 15 Participant information leaflet for the qualitative study

# PARTICIPANT INFORMATION SHEET

(Version 1.0, 22.07.2019)

### Intervention to enhance adherence to mandibular advancement appliance in Patients with Obstructive sleep apnoea

We would like to invite you to take part in a one-to-one interview in which we aim to assess your perspective of what helps and/or prevents you from using your anti-snoring mouth guard. We also will try and identify factors that help us to understand why some patients choose to wear their anti-snoring mouth guard more than others do.

Please take your time to read through this participant information leaflet and only then sign the informed consent sheet if you would like to take part in this project. The information is very useful to us and the future patients being offered this treatment and very much appreciate your help. If you require any further clarification please feel free to contact the chief or principle investigator [details below].

### What is this study about?

The main purpose of this study is to assess whether additional support approaches would help patients wear their anti-snoring (sleep apnoea) mouth guard for longer periods of time, when compared those who receive routine care. The one-to-one interview will give us a deeper insight of your treatment experience.

Your participation would involve attending one-to-one interviews and answering some simple questions which will help us assess your perspective of what helps and/or prevents you from using your anti-snoring mouth guard.

### Why are we doing this study?

Anti-snoring mouth guards are recommended for patients with sleep apnoea and they have been shown to be effective. However, they rely entirely on the patient's acceptance and use. There are thought to be a number of factors that can affect cooperation and wear. The decision to use the anti-snoring mouth guard effectively depends on factors, such as the patients' awareness of their condition, social support and psychological behaviour. Mood, such as anxiety, stress and depression may affect wear. At the same time, we know that additional support approaches, which involve more education and behaviour approaches can help patients to adapt more easily to some treatments. As a result, we would like to explore the potential role of these factors to help future patients make the most of their treatment.

# Why me?

You were invited to help with this study because you are an adult, suffering from obstructive sleep apnoea and are using/used the anti-snoring mouth guard.

### Do I have to take part?

No. Taking part in this study is completely optional. If you wish not to participate, your care will continue as normal and will not be affected. If you would like to participate in the study, we will ask you to sign a consent form.

### What happens to me if I take part?

Once you agree for you to take part in the study, and after the consent form has been signed, you will be asked to attend a one-to-one interview. The interview will approximately take 60 minutes to complete. A one-to-one interview is a conversation between you and the researcher, where you will be asked questions in a meeting room in the hospital, to help us better understand what helped or prevented you from using your anti-snoring mouth guard regularly. The interview is quite flexible so that you can also ask questions for further clarification. Please be reassured that there is no right or wrong answers and we only want to gain a deeper insight of your treatment experience.

The researcher will use an audio-recording device to record the interview. Each participant will be given a unique and unidentifiable code, and recordings will be sent to a third party – Essential Secretary Ltd. - for transcription purposes. Once recordings are transcribed, the audio files will be deleted. All information that you provide will be kept confidential and anonymous.

### What happens if I wish to leave the study?

You are free to withdraw from the study at any time without any reason. All the information collected will be stored safely. Once you withdraw from the study no further research information will be collected and if you specifically request, any previous information collected can be discarded.

# Are there any disadvantages in not taking part?

No, your decision not to take part will not affect the care you are to receiving.

### Are there any benefits in taking part?

By taking part in this study you will help us to better understand what factors are important in helping patients use their anti-snoring (sleep apnoea) mouth guard. This will in turn help us find ways to help future patients get the most out of their treatment.

# What are the possible risks of taking part in the study?

There are no risks involved in this study.

# Will my taking part in this study be kept confidential?

Queen Mary University of London is the sponsor for this study based in the United Kingdom. We will be using information from you and/or your medical records in order to undertake this study and will act as the data controller for this study. This means that we are responsible for looking after your information and using it properly. Queen Mary University of London will keep identifiable information about you for 20 years after the study has finished.

Your rights to access, change or move your information are limited, as we need to manage your information in specific ways in order for the research to be reliable and accurate. If you withdraw from the study, the information about you that we have already obtained will be retained. To safeguard your rights, we will use the minimum personally-identifiable information possible.

You can find out more about how we use your information at <a href="http://www.arcs.qmul.ac.uk/media/arcs/policyzone/Privacy-Notice-for-Research-Participants.pdf">http://www.arcs.qmul.ac.uk/media/arcs/policyzone/Privacy-Notice-for-Research-Participants.pdf</a>

NHS will collect information from you and your medical records for this research study in accordance with our instructions.

NHS will use your name, NHS number and contact details to contact you about the research study, and make sure that relevant information about the study is recorded for your care, and to oversee the quality of the study. Individuals from Queen Mary University of London and regulatory organisations may look at your medical and research records to check the accuracy of the research study. NHS site will pass these details to Queen Mary University of London along with the information collected from you and your medical records. The only people in Queen Mary University of London who will have access to information that identifies you will be people who need to contact you to confirm any missing data and invite you to partake in the qualitative study or audit the data collection process. The people who analyse the information will not be able to identify you and will not be able to find out your name, NHS number or contact details.

NHS will keep identifiable information about you from this study for 20 years after the study has finished according to Queen Mary University of London/Barts Health NHS Trust policy. The data will be archived in the Corporate Records Facility at 9 Prescot Street, London, E1 8PR.

# What will happen to the results of this study?

In order to share the knowledge gained from the study, the findings will be published in a medical journal and presented at health conferences including voluntary and support sleep apnoea patient groups.

# What if there is a problem?

Any problem that occurs during the study will be addressed appropriately. Please contact the chief investigator [contact below] to solve the problem immediately. If you remain unhappy and wish to complain formally, you can do this through the NHS complains procedure. Details can

be obtained from: <u>http://www.nhs.uk/choiceintheNHS/Rightsandpledges/complaints/Pages/NHScomplaints.asp</u> <u>×</u>

In the event that something does go wrong and you are harmed during the research due to negligence, then you may have grounds for legal action for compensation against the sponsor of this study, Queen Mary university of London. The sponsor will compensate for injury caused directly by the procedure you received during your participation.

# Who has reviewed the study?

This research project has been reviewed by a group of clinical researchers. In addition it will be looked at by an independent group of people, which includes both professionals and lay public, whose purpose is to review all NHS research to protect your interests, called a Research Ethics Committee.

# Where can I obtain Alternative means of support?

Independent advice could be obtained from: Patient Advice and Liaison Service (PALS)

For Barts Health NHS Trust hospitals: Integrated for Royal London, patient Advice Liaison Service (PALS). Telephone: 020 3594 2040, e-mail address: pals@bartshealth.nhs.uk. Service is available Monday to Friday, 9.30am-4.30pm by appointment.

Thank you very much for taking the time to read about the research. If you take part, you can help us make a difference to others in the future.

Further information and contact details

To contact the Chief investigator of the study:

Professor Ama Johal, Dental Institute, The Royal London Dental Hospital Phone: 0207 377 7686

Email: <u>a.s.johal@qmul.ac.uk</u>

If you would like to find out more about this study or arrange an appointment, please contact the Researcher:

Dr. Harishri Tallamraju, Dental Institute, 4<sup>th</sup> floor, The Royal London Dental Hospital Email: h.tallamraju@qmul.ac.uk

# Appendix 16 Consent from for the qualitative study

IRAS ID: 262092 Centre Number: Study Number: Participant Identification Number for this trial:

# CONSENT FORM

Title of Project: Intervention to enhance adherence to mandibular advancement appliance in Patients with Obstructive sleep apnoea: A Randomized control trial

Name of Researcher:

### Please initial

box

- 1. I confirm that I have read the information sheet dated...... (version......) for the above study. I have had the opportunity to consider the information, ask questions and have had these answered satisfactorily.
- 2. I understand that my participation is voluntary and that I am free to withdraw at any time without giving any reason, without my medical care or legal rights being affected.
- 3. I understand that relevant sections of my medical notes and data collected during the study, may be looked at by individuals from NHS Trust, where it is relevant to my taking part in this research. I give permission for these individuals to have access to my records.
- 4. I understand that the information collected about me will be used to support other research in the future, and may be shared anonymously with other researchers.
- 5. I understand that the information held and maintained by-Queen Mary, University of London may be used to help contact me or provide information about my health status.
- 6. I agree to take part in the above study.

Name of Participant	Date	Signature
Name of Person taking consent	Date	Signature

# Appendix 17 Topic guide

### Topic Guide

Title of the study: Intervention to enhance adherence to mandibular advancement appliance in Patients with Obstructive sleep apnoea: A Randomized control trial

#### Introduction

- Presenting myself and my role in the study
- Welcome. Thank you for being here today. We would like to know about your perspective of what helps and hinders mandibular Advancement Appliance (MAA) usage, also known as Antisnoring mouth guard.
- Would you mind reading the consent form and signing it?
- The interviewed will be recorded using a digital recorder, and you will be notified about the start and end of the recording. No personally identifiable information will be collected during the interview. Your participation is voluntary, and you are free to stop me at any time of the conversation.
- It is important to note that there are no right or wrong answers.

Do you have any questions before we start?

[Turn on the recorder]

#### Topics/Questions

- 1. Your understanding of Obstructive sleep apnoea
  - Obstructive sleep apnoea
  - Various treatments that the participant is aware of?
  - What experiences had you had with the previously prescribed treatments?
- 2. Why do you feel the anti-snoring mouth guard would be of use to you?
  - Had you heard of them or see one before?
  - Do you have any understanding of how they work?
- 3. Planned usage of anti-snoring mouthguard
  - How likely are you to continue the use of the anti-snoring mouthguard?
  - What would help or what can be done to ensure this?
  - Additional support
    - Follow-up Appointments
    - Telephone support
- 4. Other reasons that might have influenced the usage of the anti-snoring mouthguard
  - Lack of motivation
    - Self-motivation
    - Family & Friends
    - Health care workers
  - Social support
  - I didn't have to pay for the appliance
- 5. Other experiences concerning the treatment

Thank you for your time!

[Turn off the recorder]